Rating Curve Editor **SKED** V 6.5 (WISKI version)

User's Guide





Copyright 2003-2007 KISTERS AG Charlottenburger Allee 5 52068 Aachen Germany Internet: www.kisters.de e-mail: info@kisters.de

Author: Ulrich Schneider MA Translation: Katja Mertesacker Creation of this manual including changes: 12.02.2008 Date of print of current edition: 12.02.2008 5. edition Last documented program version: 6.5, Service Release 370.x.x All rights reserved. It is not allowed to duplicate this manual without the approval of KISTERS AG. KISTERS AG and the author cannot guarantee that this manual is absolutely free from mistakes. KISTERS AG is not liable for damages resulting directly or indirectly from the use of the program. KISTERS AG reserves the right to change this manual without prior notice. The hardware and software designations and all further proper names used in this manual are registered trademarks and are as such to be treated.

Contents

Introduction	15
Notes on this manual	
Lavout and structure	
Hints concerning spelling and nomenclature	16
Hints concerning the ontical design of this manual	17
The SKFD Rating Curve Editor	18
Technical backaround	
Ratina curves	
The stage-discharge relation (S/Q) as a curve	23
Sinale curves	
Impoundaae value curves	
Envelope curves	
User interface	27
Main menu	
Toolbars	
Windows/dialogs and perspectives	
Context menus	32
Overview	
User administration	
A typical SKED workflow	
Rating curve management	
Loading curves into the SKED graph	
Regression analysis: Setting regression options	
Moaitying regression thresholas in the graph and/ or table	נט זר
Apply modes for regression results Po its retion of the regression and wir	رد ۶۲
Ke-netanion of the regression analysis Manual to oditing	
Savina develonment information	
Display of stored information	42
Your _quide": Overview of the rating curve types	42
Rating curve types	42
Overview/instructions for your work with the rating curve types	
SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System	51
Importina ratina curves	
Unlocking and using the XML importer	
Exporting rating curves	55

Γ

Γ

Importing and exporting rating curves in the XML format	56
Boundary conditions, background	
Prerequisites in the special information system	
Viewing and editing discharge measurements in a graph/table	
Deriving discharge time series: Specify origins	62
Defining a single plot	64
Defining an envelope curve	64
Defining a delta S procedure	64
Combination	64
Defining additional time series	65
Starting SKED	67
Starting SKED from the basic data maintenance	67
Starting SKED from the Gauge Wizard	69
Starting SKED from the Explorer of your special information system	72
Starting SKED without WISKI	76
Managing Rating Curves	
Multi usability: Checkina out ratina curves	83
The rating curve wizard	85
Composing graphs	
Extended specification options for the display of discharge measurements	
Creatina a ratina curve	
The rating curve manager	96
Starting the rating curve manager	
Creating new rating curves	
Creating versions	
Deleting rating curves and versions	
Copying rating curves and versions	104
Specifying rating curve limits	105
Setting limits in the dialog	
Editing rating curve limits graphically	
Specitying validities for rating curves	
Specifying validities in the rating curve manager	
Automatic setting of validities: The wizard for curve validities	
Showing and printing rating curves, validities and time series	
Showing rating curves	
Viewing/printing survey of validities	<u>122</u>
Showing time series	
Ierminating the rating curve management	
Setting time range	125

٦

Graphs and tables	126
Viewing rating curve and time series values in graphs/tables	126
Sorting measured values according to table columns	127
Synchronising graphs and tables	128
Printing graphs and tables	128
Setting up your printer, printer settings	
Copying graph contents	130
Activating double logarithmic display	130
Information on rating curves and results of measurements	131
Press Shift and click on a rating curve	
Press Shift and click on a validity	
Press Shift and click on a measurement	
General hints to the information windows	
Developing Rating Curves	137
Loading/selecting/filtering measurements	139
Loading measurements	
Selecting/filtering measurements	
More filter options	142
Considering influence	
Filtering/showing artificial data points	143
Gaugings according to BIBER	144
Graph presettings for gaugings	146
Specifying plot styles for gaugings	147
Editing symbol styles	
Editing symbol styles later: Adapting plot properties	149
Examples of how to set graphic styles	
Combined symbols	
Working with regressions	154
Starting the regression	154
One example	156
Shifting the regression limits graphically	159
Regression analysis: Further possible steps	160
Setting artificial data points	
Managing artificial data point types	
Creating artificial data points in the SKED	
Loading artificial data points in addition to the measurements into the graph	
Using dummy gaugings	163
Setting extrapolation points	165
Including/excluding measurements	166
Changing the colours of regression segments	167
Changing the coefficients of the regression curve	

Γ

Г

Creating rating curves manually 171 Descriptor points 174 Presetting: number and distribution of descriptor points 176 Editing: Set descriptor points more densely/thin out 176 Power law function 177 Developing rating curves with regression methods 179 Power law in sections 179 Power law in sections: 179 Power law in sections: 179 Power law in sections: 181 How to operate this functionality 181
Descriptor points 174 Presetting: number and distribution of descriptor points 176 Editing: Set descriptor points more densely/thin out 176 Power law function 177 Developing rating curves with regression methods 179 Power law in sections 179 Power law in sections: 181 How to operate this functionality 181
Presetting: number and distribution of descriptor points
Editing: Set descriptor points more densely/thin out 176 Power law function 177 Developing rating curves with regression methods 179 Power law in sections 179 Power law in sections: 179 Power law in sections: 181 How to operate this functionality 181
Power law function 177 Developing rating curves with regression methods 179 Power law in sections 179 Power law in sections: 179 How to operate this functionality 181
Developing rating curves with regression methods 179 Power law in sections. 179 Power law in sections: Manual re-editing 181 How to operate this functionality 181
Power law in sections
Power law in sections: Manual re-editing
How to operate this functionality
Straight line fit
Continuation
Extended power law method
Using the regression for manual rating curve development
Formula in sections
Using theoretical approaches for the development
Rectanaular weir
V notch weir
Formula rating curve
Envelope curves
More options for the rating curve development
Loading cross section profiles and viewing them in a graph
Editina/assessina a ratina curve in velocity mode
Extrapolating the rating curves with profile and velocity data
Regression and rating curve development via products
Specifying settings for the representation of the cross section profile
Resolution of the rating table
Power law function: Configurations
Activating settings
Viewing cross section profiles in a graph
Calculating rating curve for a fixed Eta212
Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve
Saving the regression as attempt
Recovering regressions from attempt
Applying the regression results as reference curve (in the graph)
Recovering regression from a reference curve
After applying the results: Showing the discharge measurements used for the development
Statistical evaluation of rearession
Assigning gaugings to a rating curve

٦

Assessing Rating Curves	
Showing rating curve sections in different colours	
Derivations	
Deviation graphs	
Cumulative deviation araphs	232
Analysis of fit	237
Comparing rating curves	239
Standard error (x times) confidence areas	243
Preview/temporary snapshots	
Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph	
Loading and showing plots	
Hiding plots	
Deleting plots	
Specific feature: measured value curves	253
Specifying plot ranges	
Adapting graph display	
Editing the representation of axes	
Editing the representation of plots	256
Editing the representation of the legend	257
Set units	258
Use cross hairs	
Activating the cross hair	259
Activating search function/snapping	260
Deactivating the cross hair	260
Zoom	
Viewing additional information: The control bar in SKED	
Inserting/editing descriptor points	
Editing plots	
Selecting descriptor points	
Changing descriptor points	
Adding descriptor points	266
Removing descriptor points	266
Undoing/restoring last action	266
Saving changes	266
Insert user defined graphical elements	
Inserting a graphical element	
Editing a graphical element	
Graphical elements and their property tab pages	

Γ

Г

Inserting/editing a text element	
Inserting/editing lines, rectangles, ellipses and arrows	
Inserting/editing a bitmap tile	
Copying graphical elements	//1
List of all graphical elements	2/0 001
Synchronising graphs and tables	ZŎI
Synchronisation mode UN	
Synchronisation mode UFF	
Selection of Discharge Measurements by means of predefined Criteria	285
Task	
Prerequisites	
Steps	
Editing Rating Curves	
Task	
Prerequisites	
Steps "Rating curve extrapolation"	
Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"	
Step "New rating curve with proposal"	
The Eta Method	
Parameters and time series required	319
Configuring the time series origins	ر 319 ۱۹
Program technical requirements on the stage-discharge relation	320
Application of the Eta method examplified by the Rurahora Art station	201
Application of the Era method exemplified by the borgberg-off station	JZ I 201
Configuring the time cories	JZI 202
Connigorining inte ninte series Eiret raculte of the Eta mathed	ນະມ ງາງ
FIIST results of the Eld Method	ວ_ບ ກາທ
Manaal Interventions in the Eld.F time series	JZ4
Calculating Rating Curves with the Extended Power Method	331
The concept of the extended power method	
Least square method of the logarithmic values	
Least square method according to the "Verbund"	
Prerequisites	
Creating and saving new rating curves	

Calculating Rating Curves as multi-part, shifted Power Function with the Free Formula 345

The concept of the shifted power function	
Method of the logarithmic regression	
Lauffer method	
Prerequisites	
Creating and saving new rating curves	34
nctions available for the Formula Rating Curve	
Data types supported	
Standard functions	
abs(<float>)</float>	
arctan(<float>)</float>	
cos (<float>)</float>	
exp(<float>)</float>	
frac(<float>)</float>	
if (<intbool>;<float1>;<float2>)</float2></float1></intbool>	
int(<float>)</float>	
ln(<float>)</float>	
log(<float>)</float>	
rnd()	
sign(<tloat>)</tloat>	
sin(<tloat>)</tloat>	
sqrt(<tloat>)</tloat>	
tan(<tloat>);</tloat>	
yearday(<int>)</int>	
Standard operations	
Arithmetic operators	
Logical operators	
Boolean operators	
and	
band	
bor	
0r	
not	
e rating curve type Formula in sections	
Display of inflection points for polynomial functions	
Implementation of the rating curve type Formula in sections	

Г

Г

Selection of an intercepting point as transition between sections	
Inserting a transition curve in between an existing gap	
Inserting a transition curve (general case)	
Extrapolation of rating curve using extrapolation points	
Formulae used for rating curve definition	
Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler	399
Explanations in terms of content	
Prerequisites	
Starting extrapolation	
Specifying profiles	
Selecting extrapolation parameters	
Specifying the rating curve	
Example of the Manning-Strickler extrapolation	
Intermediate saving of the extrapolation/calculation results	
Specifying graph settings	405
Editing Q and Reverse Calculation into S	409
General hints	
Procedure	
How to use the Boyer method	413
Requirements	
Definitions	
Actions	
How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method	425
Requirements	
Actions	
Summary	431
Calculating the Discharge by the Stage-Fall Method	435
Technical background, definitions	
Example scenario	
Requirements	
Step by step solution	

٦

WISKI basic data	
Creating parameters and time series in WISKI	438
Working in SKED	
Result	454
Recalibration of Q	459
Theoretical background	
Calculation method/procedure	
More working options in SKED	464
Creating Normalized Rating Curves	
Requirements	
Overview of the procedure	
Step-by-step procedure	
The wizard for the creation of rating curves	
Possible functions for editing rating curves:	473
Creating a User defined Evaluation	
Theoretical background	
Generating a simple example report	
Command reference	
Variables	
Functions	
Glossary	
Index	

Γ

Contents

Г

Introduction

In this chapter you will acquaint yourself with the **SKED** program system.

Contents of this chapter:

Notes on this manual	15
Layout and structure	15
Hints concerning spelling and nomenclature	16
Hints concerning the optical design of this manual	
The SKED Rating Curve Editor	
Technical background	21
User interface	27
A typical SKED workflow	33
Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types	42
The SKED Rating Curve Editor Technical background User interface A typical SKED workflow Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types	

Г

SKED

Γ

٦

1 Introduction

1.1 Notes on this manual

1.1.1 Layout and structure

The present user manual describes in several main chapters in detail how to operate **SKED**:

- The chapter you are currently reading explains central features of the system in order to give you a rough survey of performance, structure and operation of the system. Central controls of the user interface you work with are explained as well.
- The further chapters of this user manual explain special system contexts with typical operations being described in addition. The manual presents the basic functionalities and features of the following areas:
 - Managing Rating Curves (including creation of versions, validities and information possibilities)
 - Developing Rating Curves (development using various methods including the regression analysis)
 - Assessing Rating Curves (rating curve check by various mathematical methods, e.g. derivations, deviation graphs, x times the standard error, analysis of fit, comparison of rating curves or extrapolations)
 - Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph (with editing of descriptor points)
- The Appendices describe various problem-oriented methods:
 - Selection of Discharge Measurements by means of predefined Criteria
 - Editing Rating Curves
 - The Eta Method
 - Calculating Rating Curves with the Extended Power Method and here as a special case: Calculating Rating Curves as multi-part, shifted Power Function with the Free Formula
 - Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler
 - Editing Q and Reverse Calculation into S
 - How to use the Boyer method
 - How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method

- Calculating the Discharge by the Stage-Fall Method
- Recalibration of Q

Г

- Functions available for the Formula Rating Curve
- Representing Time Series (describing all features for the representation of time series data with the graphics and table tool of the **WISKI** suite)
- Editing Time Series Interactively (all features you need when editing time series data in the graphics and table tool of the **WISKI** suite)
- At the end of the manual you will find a glossary defining and explaining important terms and an index containing page references to significant topics.

1.1.2 Hints concerning spelling and nomenclature

All manuals of KISTERS AG are created considering the conventions stated below regarding spelling, fonts and description of computer-specific commands, entry texts by the user or menu items/functions.

TimesRoman	Text using this font is always computer specific text (e.g.names of menu items and functions, buttons or dialog titles)
CourierNew	Texts in this font always indicate entries made by the user
Important	Italic text indicates <i>particularly important</i> system or function contexts
<>	With angle brackets, keys of the keyboard are identified; thus <a> means the key with the letter A, <esc> the Escape key, <f1> the function key with the number 1, <ctrl> the Control key, etc.</ctrl></f1></esc>
	Additionally, action buttons in display forms are marked this way (example: <cancel></cancel> , <ok></ok> , <help></help>)
[]	Hints on variable strings for computer specific entries or data and their general designation (example: "[c:\tmp*.log]" or "[file name]" or "[Select letter]" stands for Accelerator keys)
<ctrl>-<c></c></ctrl>	Input of the letter C, holding the Ctrl key down; analogous: Shift>-<u></u> yields the upper case letter "U", Alt>-<d>-</d> F activates the function Open from the program option

File and <Alt>-<Ctrl>- shows the key combination for using the task manager

<**Esc**> 0 Input of the figure 0 after pressing and releasing again the **Esc** key.



Please note that commands in sub-menus are referred to using the convention "Menu option \bigcirc Function \bigcirc [poss.] sub function " is referenced. An example: **File** \bigcirc **Open**.

1.1.3 Hints concerning the optical design of this manual

To illustrate also optically what the individual text parts of this manual are important for, the following icons have been used:

This icon	means
₹\$	you will find important hints here that are to be observed
\boxtimes	you should execute steps or start actions here, respectively
αð	you are suggested tips here (e.g. how to facilitate work, how to shorten a procedure, special possibilities for operation etc.)

Tab. 1 Visual hints to improve understanding

After these remarks for the present user manual, we explain now the performance of the program and what it does serve for.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

1.2 The SKED Rating Curve Editor

The **SKED** rating curve editor serves to edit any number of rating curves you like in graphs and tables in linear and log-log scale. Here it supports different gauging-analysis and rating curve construction methods. The list of methods can be extended and reflects different methods of the users.

As it is a client-server application with a WINDOWS user interface, it allows direct access to all databases of your information system. With that, a direct communication with your information system and also with **BIBER** is ensured. It comprises all graphic functions of your special information system and offers comfortable copy&tpaste functions for graphs and tables.

SKED allows you to convert any parameters in any units. To say it more generally, it serves for a non-linear conversion of any input parameters. From the hydrological view, **SKED** can be used in combination with your information system to develop effective storage capacity curves or to create S/Q relations, for example.

When editing rating curves, you can use e.g. the single point method with spline interpolation or the power method with and without zero offset. Predefined weir functions (rectangular weir and V notch weir (Thomson)) as well as a formula editor for freely definable functions are available. Furthermore, **SKED** also supports envelope curves (using the Eta method).

SKED shares a common database with your special information system and optional components of the total system (e.g. the flow measurement program **BIBER**). This database mainly consists of the results from discharge measurements. The following information may be available, depending on the information stored with each gauging:

- Level and flow pairs
- Level and mean velocity pairs
- Level and discharge area pairs
- Level and hydraulic radius etc.

All available gauging results are stored as time series with the extension 'Gaugings' under the flow parameter of the site.

The Station Basic Data Management of your special information system shares the cross section geometry of the site with **SKED**. Standard cross section such as rectangular, trapezoidal or circular can be entered but also irregular structures can be entered in tabular form into the database. Panel depth profiles from discharge measurements are automatically applied for the representation of a combined profile.

Г

The source time series (e.g. 15-minute equidistant recorded stage data) and the target time series (e.g. 15-minute equidistant flow time series) are also shared by your special information system and **SKED**.

Using its rating curve management, **SKED** can access all existing rating curves of a station, the validities and different rating curve versions. These versions can be used to reflect the development approach to the best and final rating curve.

A powerful filter dialog can be used to select the collected measured values for the rating curve development. The following selection criteria are offered in this filter:

- Time range of the measurements
- Limitation by value range
- Season (summer and winter half-year,...)
- Limitation by assignments to curves
- etc.

You can also view additional information when creating a rating curve, like dry and wet profiles for example.

The collected measured values can be analysed in **SKED** with different regression methods:

- Linear regression
- Power law function (solution via logarithms and Lauffer method)
- Logarithmic regression
- Polynomial of 1st to 5th order
- Shifted power law function (solution via logarithms and Lauffer method)
- Exponential function

The regression analysis can be divided into up to 10 value ranges (segments) of the source parameter. The ranges may also be connected with each other or overlap.¹ The above mentioned regression functions are available for each segment. For an area sparsely occupied by measured data, the course of the regression curve can be adapted by setting up to two extrapolation points². For the rating curve creation, the extrapolation point can be used for example for the extrapolation in the flood range and the low-flow range, respectively.

The regression can be influenced by setting artificial data points ("ADP") and/or dummy gaugings (measured values without time stamp).³

Single gaugings can be excluded from the regression analysis.

The user has the possibility to store preliminary regression results as an attempt. The attempt remains plotted on the development graph and can be compared with the regression results of modified regression options.

Various plausibility features are implemented in **SKED** to check the quality of the developed rating curves:

- Show confidence intervals and evaluate them statistically
- Statistical analysis

Г

- Evaluate velocity of flow, wet and dry profiles
- Deviations of the measured value (also cumulative), compared with the rating curve (e.g. dQ(Q), dQ(S), dQ(t),...)
- 1. and 2. derivation of the rating curve
- Overlay of different rating curves (comparison of the curves)
- Product analysis of single regression functions
- Conversion preview of the target time series (preview of the calculated flow time series)
- A complete balancing module

The regression analysis comprises up to 10 *segments* of the source parameter that may also be connected with each other or overlap. The rating curve *sections* are defined by formulae. For the linear interpolation with the rating curve type **Descriptor points** for example, a section is defined by two adjacent descriptor points. The formula yields a straight line crossing the two descriptor points. For the rating curve type **Power law in sections**, formula coefficients are specified instead of points. For the rating curve type **Power law function** the formulae are automatically generated from the descriptor points. Three adjacent descriptor points each form one section/formula. The section is always defined by adjacent descriptor points with odd -> even -> odd descriptor point number:

Descriptor points 1, 2, 3: Section 1

Descriptor points 3, 4, 5: Section 2

Descriptor points 5, 6, 7: Section 3, etc.

- 2. Extrapolation points are heavily weighted (with 100,000) so that they force the regression curve to join these points.
- 3. Artificial data points and dummy gaugings are weighted as real gaugings; artificial data points are saved in the database, dummy gaugings are only saved with the regression/rating curve (so that the course of the regression analysis can be recapitulated later).

^{1.} In this manual we distinguish for reasons of clarity between "segments" of the regression and "sections" of the rating curve:

The rating curve management allows you to assign the created rating curve with validity periods. In case of two successive rating curves one can determine a transition period (see glossary entry "transition" on page 496). Here the rating curve editor offers you extensive features to create and manage rating curves.

SKED also supports the following special calculation methods for stage-discharge relations:

- Eta (dQ) for time dependent discharge corrections
- dS for time dependent corrections of depths of runoff
- USGS stage corrections (United States Geological Survey)/rating curve shift
- 3D rating curves (e.g. for rivers influenced by backwater)
- Boyer method (depending on the velocity of stage changes)
- Time dependent hysteresis
- Stage-fall method (under consideration of variable backwater conditions)

SKED is multi usable: Only one user is allowed to work with a rating curve or the validities; for this, the rating curve is marked for editing. Taking over the editing process is only possible under the same user identification. Editing activities automatically mark the rating curve or validity for editing; when saving the rating curve or the validity, it is automatically released.

1.2.1 Technical background

Whereas the parameter S (stage) is a measured value, the discharge time series of a gauge is calculated by means of a stage-discharge relation. Basis of the discharge calculation are the results of the discharge measurements (taken from the **BIBER** program, for example). The rating curve editor (**SKED**) provides tools by which you can define such stage-discharge relations.

The scope of function of **SKED** comprises methods such as splines, shifted power function, various weir formulae and free mathematical relations. With these methods you can create rating curves afterwards in form of single plots or envelope curves (Eta method).

To create the rating curve, not only single stage-discharge pairs of the discharge measurements but also further parameters like area of the humid and dry profiles, mean velocity of flow and hydraulic profile coefficients such as $c\sqrt{L}$ can be used.

Various regression models as well as an extrapolation via dry profiles ensure not only that existing rating curves can be maintained efficiently, created or extrapolated but also that they are saved statistically. Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

To control the rating curve, you can view the discharge, various deviation graphs as well as the first and second derivation of the rating curve within **SKED**.

1.2.1.1 Rating curves

Γ

With the rating curve editor, you calculate by a function of representation f(x), the rating curve relation, a set of values Y from a set of values X. So you use **SKED** for example to calculate volumes on the basis of stages.



Fig. 1 Function of representation f(x)

With the help of gaugings you can also create rating curves from stages with SKED.



Fig. 2 Example of a rating curve

1.2.1.2 The stage-discharge relation (S/Q) as a curve

For most of all actions in water management, the surface run-off is an essential basis for planning. The discharge at a water gauge is generally determined via a continuous measurement of the stage and a stage-discharge relation (S/Q relation) from single measurements (discharge measurement results).

The stage S defines the position of the water surface above or below a fixed reference horizon, e.g. the gauge datum. The discharge Q is the volume of water flowing through the discharge cross section in unit time.

Regular discharge measurements taken over a large range of stages are required to generate and control the S/Q relation. The results of such measurements (discharge at a certain stage) appear then in an S/Q graph as a scatter plot. Here, measured discharges Q (as x-coordinates) and associated stages S (as y-coordinates) are entered in a right-angled linear coordinate system. A compensating, monotonously increasing line, the stage-discharge relation (general: rating curve), is drawn through the scatter plot of these value pairs (Q, S) and extrapolated, if necessary. The curve represents the connection between the measured stage and the related discharge. In the stage-discharge table that is calculated from that curve, each stage is assigned to a discharge.



Fig. 3 The rating curve

Prerequisites for a clear rating curve are constant hydraulic conditions at the station such as a constant river bed, an unchanging backwater and a flowing discharge over the whole measuring area.

1.2.1.3 Single curves

With the single curve method you assign by the relation

Q = f(W)

Г

a discharge to a stage via the rating curve.



Fig. 4 rating curve

When weed growth does considerably influence the rating curve (which is shown by a systematic seasonal deviation from the curve), correction should be made in form of modifying values. Here one distinguishes between the impoundage value method where the above rating curve is used further but the measured stage is reduced by an impoundage value ΔW and the Eta method that uses a curve pair instead of the rating curve. The curve pair comprises the $\Omega_{0,2}$ and Ω_{z} curves that envelop the scatter plot.

1.2.1.4 Impoundage value curves

Using the impoundage value curve method you assign by the relation

$$\mathsf{Q} = \mathsf{f}(\mathsf{w} + \Delta \mathsf{W})$$

a discharge to a stage via the rating curve. Two time series are applied:

- one time series of the original stage
- one time series that is the present deviation of the stage from the single curve, for seasonal reasons for example, due to weed growth in the waters or due to construction works in downstream waters.

Without having to create a new single curve, you are in a position to define a deviation for the special period. This deviation is added to the stage before calculating the discharge (usually positively, however, sometimes it may become negative). The calculation is as follows:

$$\Delta W = W_{aktuell} - W(Q_{aktuell})$$

Q = f(W_{korrigiert}) mit W_{korrigiert} = W_{Original} - \Delta W

The impoundage values can automatically be calculated from the gaugings (e.g. discharge measurements carried out with current meters with **BIBER**) with the actual rating curves. The impoundage value calculation is used for that which calculates ΔW as:

$$\Delta W = W_{aktuell} - W(Q_{aktuell})$$

Here, an uninfluenced stage $Q_{aktuell}$ is calculated from the actually determined discharge $W(Q_{aktuell})$ by the single curve. That stage is then deducted from the actually determined stage.



Fig. 5 Calculating the modifying values impoundage method

1.2.1.5 Envelope curves

With the *envelope curve* method a discharge is assigned to a stage by the stagedischarge relation, depending on the actual condition $Q_{aktuell}$ of the river. Two curves are used that cover the whole range of non-influenced and influenced discharge conditions:

- a non-influenced envelope curveQ₀
- an influenced envelope curveQ_z.

These curves cover all discharge conditions. Here is the calculation of the actual Q:

$$Q_{aktuell}(t) = Q_0(t) + \eta(Q_3(W) - Q_1(W))$$

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

The rating table shows here two values for each stage $(Q_{_{0z}} \text{ and } Q_z)$, an additional information in form of an Eta value (in %) describes the relative position between $Q_{_{0z}}$ -or Q_z -discharge, respectively, of a certain stage.

The Eta values can automatically be calculated from the gaugings (e.g. discharge measurements carried out with current meters with **BIBER**) with the actual rating curves. The *Eta* method is used for that which calculates Eta as:

$$\eta = \frac{\Omega_0 - \Omega_{aktuell}}{\Omega_0 - \Omega_z}$$

Here, using the stage determined in the current flow measurement W_{aktuell} the respective $Q_{_{0z}}$ or Q_z is calculated and then related to the actually measured discharge Q_{aktuell} according to the above formula.



Fig. 6 Calculating the modifying values Eta

The modifying values Impoundage and Eta result from the discharge measurements and rating curve/range of rating curve fluctuation. The modifying values between these measurements are interpolated in first approximation in a linear way. Whether the range of rating curve fluctuation has to be adapted, can be seen by striking discharge measurements (Eta <0 or >100%) or by negative or positive deviations of the modifying values.

Г



Fig. 7 Evaluating modifying values: the range of rating curve fluctuations

1.2.2 User interface

SKED is equipped with a user interface that corresponds to the WINDOWS standard.

- In the header of the **SKED** program window you will find the main menu and the toolbars. With the symbols you can execute e.g. special menu functions directly.
- In the window area you are shown the individual forms of the program system. These forms contain boxes, lists and buttons and some of them even have a context menu.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor



Fig. 8 The SKED interface

1.2.2.1 Main menu

The main menu is divided into the menus File, Edit, View, Tools, Curve fitting, Window and Help (?).

Γ

Eile		Edit		⊻iew	Tools
<u>N</u> ew Ogen Close	Strg+N Strg+O	<u>U</u> ndo <u>R</u> edo	Strg+Z Strg+Y	<u>S</u> ymbol bar ✔ S <u>t</u> atusbar	<u>S</u> ettings
Save		Cut	Strg+X	<u>T</u> abular	
Print	Strg+P	Delete	Del	<u>G</u> raphics	
Page view Printer Setup		<u>C</u> opy Insert	Strg+C Strg+V		
E <u>x</u> it					
		-			



Fig. 9 Menu structure of SKED

- In the **File** menu you call functions for file and data management (e.g. the rating curve management; see the page 96ff.) or the rating curve wizard; see the page 85ff.), for the import/export of rating curves and for the printout of data.
- In the Edit menu you can choose tools for general editing.
- In the View menu you choose functions to view data and program elements.
- In the **Tools** menu you configure the program system and start the specification of curve validities with the help of the wizard (see the page 110ff.).
- The **Curve fitting** menu comprises many functions supporting you in the rating curve development (save regression as attempt, take-over of the result into the rating curve, set artificial data points, dummy gaugings and extrapolation points, Boyer method, hysteresis, etc.).
- In the menus **Window** and **Help** you control the representation of the program windows and call the online help.

1.2.2.2 Toolbars

With the toolbar functions you can execute special menu commands (e.g. $\mathbf{\underline{s}}$ for the menu function **File \bigcirc Open**) and further functions (e.g. $\mathbf{\underline{s}}$ for the representation of derivations). We distinguish between the following toolbars:

• Edit:

📗 🕮 | 💱 🛠 💩 🗞 📄 🗢 🖨 🏦 🏦 🕮 👫 🚳

In the **Edit** toolbar you can call functions to edit the curve such as Edit, Fill or Selection of range. You can also use this toolbar to undo activities.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

• File:

Г

| 🗞 🔨 🚅 | 🗉 X | 🖻 🖻 🎒 🕮 🙆 🔇 💡

In the ${\bf File}$ toolbar you call functions for general editing such as Open, Save or Copy.

• Graph:

� | ╙ 地 腔 ፼ ≝ - | | 閎 | Q Q @ 붇 | ヾ > | ₪ - ☞ -

In the **Graph** toolbar you choose functions for the layout of the graph view such as Axis layout, Zoom or Plot ranges.

• Perspective:

Schlüsselkurvenkonstruktion 🔽 🖾 💌

With the **Perspective** toolbar you can rearrange the window, select an arrangement or delete existing ones (see the page 31ff.).

• Active curve:

```
Q/SK1.V1
```

By the drop-down list Active curve you specify which plot is the active one.

• SKED:

```
| 🖿 🔤 后 控 - 121 🖂 - 1 🏙 🖻 🚩 📶 🕄 🔿 🔿 💯 🗐 👫 1 🐠 128 - 125 📷 😂 🙆
```

In the **SKED** toolbar you choose functions to edit the rating curve such as regression, deviation graphs or derivation, extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler, calculation of a rating curve with fixed ETA or display of the rating curve as v(S).

- Interval:
- 7 31 3 4 4 5 5

With the **Interval** toolbar you can set the zoom interval (a day, a week, a month or a year) and browse through the represented graph according to your specifications (i.e. forwards or backwards by the day, week, month or year); you can also jump to the first or last interval.

• Edit in the tables ("12 boxes"):

🖻 🗣 🕊 🕂 🏷 🍼 🛤 A 🎒

In the **Edit** toolbar of the tables ("12 boxes") you activate functions to edit the table like Search for single entries, Copy, Paste, Delete. You can also undo activities and print the tables.

1.2.2.3 Windows/dialogs and perspectives

There are **SKED** specific windows, dialogs and perspectives available to control the program.

Dialogs are opened either by main menu functions or by the toolbar icons. The dialogs are displayed in the window area of the program.

The windows can be moved like toolbars and are "dockable":



Fig. 10 Windows moved over the screen

- Double-click on the window border; then it can be shifted. Double-clicking again activates the docking mode.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor



Fig. 11 Load, save, delete perspectives, windows docked

Proceed as follows to change an existing perspective: load it, change the number and arrangement of your windows and toolbars and then overwrite it with the function **View C Save perspective**.

1.2.2.4 Context menus

Functions used often can be started by context menus which are opened with the right mouse button.

The functions that are offered in such context menus depend on the status of the dialog and on the cursor position.

1.2.2.5 Overview

The individual menu functions, buttons, context menus and dialogs are described in the reference part of this manual (see the page 635ff.).

1.2.2.6 User administration

SKED offers a user administration allowing you to restrict the available functions for single users and user groups. Read in this context also the separate documentation.

1.2.3 A typical SKED workflow

This chapter gives you an overview of the workflow in **SKED**, i.e. the activities carried out when creating a rating curve; you will learn how to develop a rating curve with the *power law in sections* using the regression analysis.

The workflow through **SKED** consists of the following main processes:

- Rating curve management
- the Loading curves into the SKED graph
- Regression analysis: Setting regression options
- Modifying regression thresholds in the graph and/or table (repetition (iteration) of the regression)
- Manual re-editing
- Saving development information
- Reporting



Please take also notice of the references to the single chapters indicated in the subchapters below; at these places you will find a detailed description of the workflow which is only outlined here.

1.2.3.1 Rating curve management

Within the rating curve management the user has got the ability to:

- Create new rating curves
- Create new rating curve versions
- Copy rating curve versions
- Define the active version for a rating curve⁴
- Maintain limits and remarks for rating curve versions
- Maintain the rating history (insert, delete, modify rating curve validities⁵.

Please read in this context also the explanations in "Defining additional time series" on the pages 65ff.

All possibilities in this area are explained in "The rating curve manager" on the pages 96ff..

Please read also the explanations concerning the maintenance of validities in "Specifying validities for rating curves" on the pages 107ff.

1.2.3.2 Loading curves into the SKED graph

The **SKED** graph can be opened from the rating curve management. You can view various data:

- gaugings with date and time stamp,
- artificial data points without date and time stamp,
- rating curve versions for development/information,
- validities,

Г

P

- further result parameters from the evaluation of flow measurements: crosssectional area, mean velocity of flow, profile values, roughness coefficient for the measuring cross section and the recorded cross section profile (wet profile).
- any other time series of any stations.
- If you want to display measurements, artificial data points and further result parameters, the **Filter options** form is opened.
- When a rating curve version is displayed in the graph, the version must be validated by **SKED**. You will get system messages, if
 - the segments do not join (including the offer to start the manual re-editing of the segments; see the page 179ff.)
 - two flows exist for one stage
 - flow decreases for increasing stage.

All possibilities in this area are explained in "Composing graphs" on the pages 87ff.. *Please read* also the explanations about the advanced setting options for the graph in "Extended specification options for the display of discharge measurements" on the pages 89ff.

Gr

^{5.} see the footnote 4.

1.2.3.3 Regression analysis: Setting regression options

The regression options can be set from the development graph. The regression type is set to 'Power law' as default. **SKED** will set the development of a single segment curve as default and will use the

- Upper end of the validated range and the
- Lower end of the validated range

as default for the regression thresholds. If this information does not exist for the plotted rating curve version, **SKED** will use the highest and lowest gauging or ADP instead. The regression thresholds are plotted as horizontal lines to the screen.

The user now has the possibility to proceed either graphically and/or by using the table.

All possibilities in this area are explained in "Working with regressions" on the pages 154ff.

1.2.3.4 Modifying regression thresholds in the graph and/or table

In the development graph the user can modify the position of the threshold directly with the mouse. Additionally the user can add new thresholds to the development graph. New thresholds, added graphically, will result in the insertion of a new line in the regression dialog.

How to shift thresholds graphically is explained in "Shifting the regression limits graphically" on the pages 159ff.

Furthermore, thresholds can also be changed in the **Regression** form using the arrow keys. The default increment with which the thresholds will be moved is 1 mm. To preview the new thresholds in the graph, the <**Apply**> button must be pressed.

Linking the thresholds will use one threshold as a common change point for the regression function of the upper and the lower segment. Unlinking the thresholds will provide overlapping regression functionality, where gaugings in the overlapping area will be used to evaluate the best fit for the upper and the lower segment.

All possibilities in this area are explained in "Working with regressions" on the pages 154ff.

1.2.3.5 Apply modes for regression results

If the regression yields the best fit, the regression results are applied either as

- reference curve or as an
- attempt.

Г

For non-overlapping regressions, the regression results are copied over 'as-is' (1:1 copy). The one-to-one mode will not use any functionality to join the sections of a multiple segment rating curve. The lowest and the upper section must extend to the regression threshold value. The first time the regression results must be applied as a reference curve.

For overlapping regression segments the apply mode will use the intersection points of the regression results per segment as thresholds for the rating curve. In this case, the attempt or the reference curve is joined (see "Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve" on the pages 215ff.).

By applying the regression results as a reference curve, the regression results will be copied over to the rating curve version in the database. In the background of the reference curve the regression curves are plotted (basis for re-iteration process).

After the regression results have been applied, **SKED** validates the reference curve and will alert the user with warning messages, if

- two segments are not joined
- two flow values exist for one stage ('Zorro' effect)
- flow decreases for increasing stage.

1.2.3.6 Re-iteration of the regression analysis

The start situation for the re-iteration – in order to develop the rating curve as realistic as possible – is a plotted regression curve overlaid with a reference curve; both can consist of more than one segment.


Fig. 12 Reference curve (start of re-iteration)

Functionality of the re-iteration process is

- Adding/removing measurements (see the page 139ff.)
- Including/excluding measurements (see the page 166ff.)
- Adding/removing artificial data points with and without date and time stamp (see the page 160ff.)
- Adding/moving/removing dummy gaugings (see the page 163ff.)
- Adding/moving/removing extrapolation points for regression (see the page 165ff.)
- Adding/moving/removing regression thresholds (see the page 159ff.)
- Changing coefficients of the power law function
- Changing limits (ends of validated range and ends of extrapolation) (see the page 105ff.)

Using the re-iteration functionality the regression curve(s) will be updated on the fly.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor



Fig. 13 Reference curve and regression curve in modified situation

You are offered the possibility to apply the results of the re-iteration (regression curve(s)) as an attempt (and recover the regression from the attempt) or as a new reference curve.



Fig. 14 Applying re-iterated regression curve(s) as attempt (applied-as-attempt-situation)

By repeating the regression, the regression curve will be refreshed on the fly (as in the modified situation).

Г



Fig. 15 Reference curve, attempt and re-iterated regression curve(s)

These steps can be repeated until the best fit is reached and the regression curve(s) is/ are applied as a reference curve.



Fig. 16 Reference curve (end of re-iteration)

The regression analysis workflow as a whole is explained in the next figure:

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor



- Iteration = Results of Regression options
- Attempt = Confirmed Iteration remaining on the screen
- Reference Rating Curve = stored as Rating Curve Version

Fig. 17 Schematic view of the workflow of the (repeated) regression

The workflow in the figure above shows the repeated regression to find the best fit for the upper segment of a two-segment-rating curve. In this case the lower segment is excluded in the regression dialog. The workflow remains the same if the re-iteration is carried out for more than one segment, but must be extended in order to provide a "freeze" option for segments where the best fit has already been achieved. This functionality is needed to prevent this segment to be kept in the iteration process.

1.2.3.7 Manual re-editing

The manual re-editing of segment limits is carried out on the basis of the reference curve and is used to join segments. Possibilities are:

- Straight line fit or
- Continuation of upper or lower segment.



Please note: The manual changes made to segments are lost, when the edited segments are included in the regression and the results of the regression are applied as a reference curve during the new regression.

Manual re-editing is explained in detail in "Power law in sections" on the pages 179ff.

1.2.3.8 Saving development information

Before saving the status of either a rating curve version that is still under construction or a finalised rating curve version to the database, an automatic validation is carried out. will alert the user with warning messages, if

- the segments of the rating curve do not join
- two flow values are existing for one stage
- flow decreases for increasing stage.

The following information will be stored to the database:

- The equation for each segment
- The descriptor points (three per segment)
- The segments' thresholds
- The gauging used to develop the rating curve version
- The artificial data points used to develop the rating curve version
- The dummy gaugings used to develop the rating curve version
- The extrapolation points used to develop the rating curve version.

Gaugings, artificial data points and dummy points are stored as level and flow coordinates.

1.2.3.9 Display of stored information

Г

When displaying an existing rating curve, the stored information about the items used must be shown on the screen.

The data points used (stored as level and flow coordinates) to develop the rating curve will be shown encircled, the level and flow coordinates can be overlaid with artificial data points, dummy gaugings and measurements available for the validity period.

Excluded gaugings are gaugings, which although being available during the development phase, were not used and stored together with the rating curve version. Nevertheless, in order to have all the gaugings within the validity period(s) of a rating curve version at one's disposal (for additional validation purposes), the filter criteria of the filter dialog must be extended. By overlaying the gaugings used with the available gaugings within the validity period(s) of the rating table, the excluded gaugings/data points will become visible on the screen.

1.2.4 Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types

Since the type of the rating curve depends on the used development method, you will find below a list of all rating curve types you can use.

Choose your favorite and read then the indicated chapter explaining you in detail how to construct your rating curve type. This way you will learn all about the methods of constructing these rating curve types:

- the manual construction by entering the construction point data in the table and inserting/shifting/deleting in the development graph, respectively (with interpolation between the construction points using different approaches),⁶
- by regression methods and
- by theoretical approaches which can be used for the construction of the rating curve.

1.2.4.1 Rating curve types

The following rating curve types are available:

^{6.} When applying this method, **SKED** is not needed for the actual calculation. The construction data is taken from external programs or models.

- **Descriptor points**; interpolation between the descriptor points using the following methods:
 - Akima spline
 - Cubic spline
 - Linear
 - Parametric spline
 - Step

Here you can also choose the transformation of values in a double-logarithmic view ("log-log") with subsequent linear interpolation ("domain")⁷

• **Power law** (with several segments, three descriptor points per segment, max. 21 descriptor points)

 $Q(W) = a \cdot (W - c)^b$

• Extended power law (with one branch and regression over all measuring points; included measurements are inserted via the "12 box", the rating curve power law function is determined by the least square method of the logarithmic values (and minimization according to Verbund AG/Austria⁸ respectively); you can force a *zero crossing* and shift the rating curve in parallel)

 $Q(W) = a \cdot (W - c)^{b}$

- **Power law in sections**: The rating curve may consist of up to 10 sections with one power law applying for each section; here the single sections are determined by multi-segment regression calculations,
- **Formula in sections**: The rating curve may consist of up to 10 sections with one free formula applying for each section; here the single sections are determined by multi-segment regression calculations or can be copied from free formulae respectively.
- Formula (develop rating curves by yourself using formulae)
- V notch weir

^{7.} This new rating curve type replaces from the program version 6.4 on the previous types Table (Spline), Table (linear) and Table (power law).

^{8.} Please read in this context also the hints in Appendix "Calculating Rating Curves with the Extended Power Method" on the pages 331ff. Here the chapter "Least square method of the logarithmic values" on the pages 332ff. explains in detail the background of this kind of rating curve development; the Verbund specific method is described in "Least square method according to the "Verbund"" on the pages 332ff.

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

$$Q(W) = \frac{8}{15} \cdot \mu \cdot \tan \frac{\alpha}{2} \cdot \sqrt{2 \cdot g} \cdot (W - W_0)^{5.22}$$

• rectangular weir

Г

$$Q(W) = \frac{2}{3} \cdot \mu \cdot b \cdot \sqrt{2 \cdot g} \cdot (W - W_0)^{2 \cdot 23}$$

$$b \qquad W_{max}$$

$$W_{w_0}$$

1.2.4.2 Overview/instructions for your work with the rating curve types

See the following table giving you an overview of the available rating curve types. See the chapter links for a detailed description of the single types.

Name	Minimum measured flow	see chapter	Descript or points	Remark
Descriptor points	Interpolation between 2 descriptor points, each	"Descriptor points" on the pages 174ff.	Х	Extrapolation beyond the first and the last point not possible; copying from regression always possible

Tab. 2 Overvi	ew of available	e rating curve	and version types
---------------	-----------------	----------------	-------------------

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

Name	Minimum measured flow	see chapter	Descript or points	Remark
Power law function	3 descriptor points each form one power law function	"Power law function" on the pages 177ff.	X	(in Austria: 7-point method), extrapolation beyond the first and the last point possible (but not yet supported in the current version); copying from regression is possible only if all sections are power law formulae; 3rd, 5th, 7th etc. point is used for 2 sections each; max. 10 sections with 21 points
Power law in sections	Up to 10 power sections defined by lower limit and upper limit and the coefficients of the power law function	"Power law in sections" on the pages 179ff.		Extrapolation beyond the first and the last point possible; no graphical editing (only copying from regression or entering the function parameters); copying from regression is possible only, if all sections are power law formulae; overlapping of sections possible, with the manual re-editing being activated automatically (see the page 179ff.); when copying from the regression, the intersection points between the regression segments within the overlap are automatically used as section limits of the rating curve; consideration of admissible tolerances for non-constant rating curves with regard to direction and base unit (usually [m]) of the source and target values in two successive sections

Tab. 2 Overview of available rating curve and version types

Г

٦

1

Name	Minimum measured flow	see chapter	Descript or points	Remark
extended power law	A power law function over selected measurements	"Extended power law method" on the pages 191ff.		Extrapolation up to -C and possible only up to the highest indicated measurement; the desired measurements can be edited only in a table, not in a graph; copying from regression not necessary, since simplified method is integrated
rectangular weir	Weir formula for rectangular weirs	"Rectangula r weir" on the pages 197ff.		Calculation only within the limits indicated with the formula. No copying from regression; no graphical editing
V notch weir	Weir formula according to Thomson	"V notch weir" on the pages 198ff.		Calculation only within the limits indicated with the formula. No copying from regression; no graphical editing

 Tab. 2
 Overview of available rating curve and version types

Г

Γ

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

Name	Minimum measured flow	see chapter	Descript or points	Remark
Formula in sections	Up to 10 power sections defined by lower limit and upper limit and the power formula	"Formula in sections" on the pages 194ff.		Extrapolation beyond the first and the last point possible; no graphical editing (only copying from regression or entering the function parameters); copying from regression is possible only, if all sections are power law formulae; overlapping of segments possible, with the manual re-editing being activated automatically (see the page 179ff.); when copying from the regression, the intersection points between the regression segments within the overlap are automatically used as segment limits of the rating curve; consideration of admissible tolerances for non-constant rating curves with regard to direction and base unit (usually [m]) of the source and target values in two successive sections
free formula	Free formula	"Formula rating curve" on the pages 199ff.		Calculation only within the limits indicated with the formula; copying from regression always possible

Tab. 2 Overview of available rating curve and version types

Г

Introduction The SKED Rating Curve Editor

I

Г

Γ

CHAPTER

2

SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System

In this chapter you learn all about the interaction between your hydrological information system and **SKED**.

Contents of this chapter:

	Importing rating curves	52
	Exporting rating curves	55
	Importing and exporting rating curves in the XML format	56
	Prerequisites in the special information system	58
	Viewing and editing discharge measurements in a graph/table	59
	Deriving discharge time series: Specify origins	62
	Defining a single plot	64
	Defining an envelope curve	64
	Defining a delta S procedure	64
2	Combination	64
	Defining additional time series	65
	Starting SKED	67
	Starting SKED from the basic data maintenance	67
	Starting SKED from the Gauge Wizard	69
1	Starting SKED from the Explorer of your special information	
14	system	72
1º	Starting SKED without WISKI	76
A K	비귀 부모는 것 같아.	

2 SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System

In the following you are explained how to use **SKED** together with your special information system⁹ and what are the prerequisites for that (among others, the import of rating curves).

SKED can also be operated as stand-alone version; please read in this context "Starting SKED without WISKI" on the pages 76ff.

^{9.} The term "special information system" means all hydrological special applications from KISTERS AG, such as **WISKI**, **HyAP**, **ALPIN** or **FIS-W-PG**.

2.1 Importing rating curves

Г

SKED contains an importer for rating curves. Presently, these curves can be imported from an own, descriptive format (KRCIF, KISTERS Rating Curve Interchange Format) or in XML format.

For the XML import we recommend to use always the automatic format recognition!

- Activate from the main menu the function File
 Rating curve import.

 You will get the import dialog where you choose the import file.
 - Select the desired file from the list.
 - Format group: Selection according to those format groups configured in WISKI (see the WISKI documentation).

In case you cannot open your file,

- change the file type set by default to the automatic format recognition¹⁰ in the drop-down list of the same name.
- Alternatively, you can select one of the available file types in order to open the file you want to view, with a special import filter.
- If you want the XML import to perform a stylesheet transformation, activate the <**Other format settings**> button.

The Format settings form is opened.

Enter here the XML settings and optionally the path for the XLST stylesheet used during import (see the following chapter "Importing and exporting rating curves in the XML format" on the pages 56ff.).

^{10.} The file to be opened is compared with formats which are provided with a quick check. This quick check searches for concurrences of striking information (file header, for example). If the format is not identified by that, the file is not opened.

ormat setting		×
Format name	KISTERS XML rating curve exc	ок
Type definition Validation of XML-file after export XLST-Template	Store Schema 🔽	Cancel
This option defines whether the export document type definition.	file include an embedded	Help

Fig. 18 XML settings

• Activate the **<Open>** button in the **Data import** form to start the import. All rating curves of a Q parameter are loaded.

Please note:

- The rating curve import is available to you any time. During the import of a file, all rating curves created are being opened.
- If there is a rating curve of the same name already existing, it is skipped and not imported. Hence, overwriting is not possible; the rating curve must be deleted before.

2.1.0.1 Unlocking and using the XML importer

This importer can be activated in KISTERS applications which support this functionality by the following **wiski5.ini** entries in the [Im-Exporter] section:

```
[Im-Exporter]
XML=[Name]
e.g.XML=XML files
XML_DTD=[Name]
e.g.XML_DTD=XML files with type definition (DTD)
XML_SCHEMA=[Name]
e.g.XML_SCHEMA=XML files with schema
```

```
XML_NAMESPACE=[Name]
```

```
e.g. XML_NAMESPACE=XML files with namespaces
KBDIF=[Name]
e.g. KBDIF=Kisters basic data exchange format
```

AQUACOUP BD=[Name]

```
e.g. AQUACOUP_BD=AquaCoup basic data files
```

> Please note:

Г

- The abbreviations and the importer name are separated by an equals sign. The importer name can be edited freely.
- The name entered here is then contained in the **Import format** drop-down list in the **Data import** form and in the **Export format** list in the **Data export** form after you have activated the export or import function.

2.2 Exporting rating curves

Rating curves can also be exported in the KRCIF format (KISTERS Rating Curve Interchange Format) or in XML format.

Available export formats:

- KRCIF, KISTERS Rating Curve Interchange Format
- XML Rating curve exchange format: the complete SKED information is output.
- **XML Rating curve table**: mainly the rating curve table is exported (for the exchange with external applications).
- Activate from the main menu the function **File Cating curve export**.

You will get the export dialog where you choose the export file.

The export of rating curves is available only, if one window at least is open. The export comprises all rating curves of the current Q parameter.

- Format group: Selection according to those format groups configured in WISKI (see the WISKI documentation).
- If the XML export should comprise, in addition to the pure XML file, also the export of the schema or a reference to the schema by namespaces and perform a stylesheet transformation, if required, activate the **<Other format settings**> button.

The Format settings form is opened.

Define here the export more exactly and enter, if necessary, the path for the XLST stylesheet/schema generated during the export (see also the following chapter "Importing and exporting rating curves in the XML format" on the pages 56ff.).

Please note: Rating curve export can also be performed from the rating curve management:

- When the treeview **Rating curves** entry is selected, all rating curves are exported (corresponds to the menu item **File** ⊃ **Rating curve export**).
- When a particular rating curve is selected, only this rating curve and its versions will be exported.
- Or select only a version of a rating curve to export only this version.

Please note: Rating curves are always exported with all existing decimal places. This cannot be changed! Zeros AFTER the decimal separator however are cut off.

P

ſ٢

2.2.1 Importing and exporting rating curves in the XML format

One of the frequently used formats is the XML format. You can import rating curve data from XML files. There are four different subtypes:

- XML files
- XML files (with DTD)
- XML files (with schema)
- XML files (with namespace; corresponds to the referencing of the schema)

Which file type you select depends on whether the XML file to be imported references a schema file or a DTD (document type definition). You can also choose the automatic format recognition; in this case the correct subtype is automatically identified.

2.2.1.1 Boundary conditions, background

An XML file is characterized by the fact that information is enclosed by tags. These tags describe on a comprehensive and functional level the information enclosed by these tags. An example: the tag **Station** indicates the position of the station name. As a consequence, not the position of e.g. the station name within the file corresponds with the station name, but the tag description that encloses the station name. The same applies to the time series data and other pieces of information.



Fig. 19 Example of an XML import/export file

The structure of the rating curve data is described by a schema file:

SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System Exporting rating curves

<pre>xmins="http://www.wisters.de/kmi/kisikSkatingtableFormat" xmins:xs="http://www.wis.org/2001/XMLSchema" http://www.wisters.de/kmi/kisikSkatingtableFormat" xmins:xs="http://www.wistorg/2001/XMLSchema"</pre>
accrimineratic= unduarries erementrormberaure= duarries >
VMI Architecture Scheme for reting table exchence
And Architecture schema for facing cable exchange
Purpose: This schema is used to supply the base building data structures for rating table exchange within, to and from the rating curve editor of KISTERS.
Author: Rudolf Strehle @ KISTERS
History
Version, 1.9. Dete: 2005.11.04
Version: 1.0, Date: 2003-11-04
- oliginal Kelease
<xs:element name='KISTERSRatingtable"'>>></xs:element>
<xs:complextype></xs:complextype>
<xs:sequence min0ccu<u="">rs="0" max0ccurs="unbounded"></xs:sequence>
<pre><xs:element maxoccurs="unbounded" name='(Station)minOccurs="0"'></xs:element></pre>
<xs:annotation></xs:annotation>
<pre><xs:documentation></xs:documentation></pre>
Contains Information of the station and is used to identify the station
during import.
<xs:complex1ype></xs:complex1ype>
<xs: sequence=""></xs:>
<xs:element maxuccurs="unbounded" minuccurs="0" name="" parameter=""></xs:element>
<xs: annotation=""></xs:>
<pre>constant The second secon</pre>
contains information of the parameter and is used to identify the
primeter uning import.
Lash parameter may have a unimited humber of fating turves.
(xistemence)
<pre></pre>
(xs:annotation)
<pre><ks:documentation></ks:documentation></pre>
The rating curve definition. Each rating curve
may have a unlimited number of versions but only one
version can be active.
The Validities define the moment from when the rating
curve is used.
<pre><xs:complextype></xs:complextype></pre>
<xs: sequence=""></xs:>
<pre><xs:element maxoccurs="1" name("validities")inoccurs="0"></xs:element></pre>

Fig. 20 XML schema

Γ

٦

2.3 Prerequisites in the special information system

In order to use **SKED** in your special information system, the following requirements must be met:

- The station, for the Q parameter of which you want to develop a rating curve, must have the required S and Q time series.
- The Q target time series must have the origin **Rating curves enhanced**; the source time series is the related S time series (e.g. S.15 or S.max/S.min, respectively). With that origin, an external time series may be referenced in addition which would also have an effect on the flow to be calculated.

Please note:

Г

P

- It is possible to allocate this origin for several time series of the Q parameter at the same time.
- If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.
- The time series with the discharge measurement results must be existing as well (to be identified in **WISKI** by the extension. gauging after the time series name).
- Furthermore, a delta S time series and
- an Eta time series plus the related Eta parameter may be necessary.

2.4 Viewing and editing discharge measurements in a graph/table

Discharge measurements of a river gauge are managed in your special information system in separate time series. Generally, they are named "Station.Q.Gauging". Use these discharge measurements for a first analysis and as a basis for the regression calculation when developing your rating curves (see the page 154ff.).

- To view a gauging time series in your special information system as a table, start the Explorer of your application with the a icon.
 - In the heading line of the Explorer you choose on the left-hand side in the tree view the view **Stations**.
 - On the right-hand side you select in the list view **Time series** as the type of editing.
 - Select the desired gauging time series.
 - Open the context menu with the right mouse button.
- Activate the function Graph ⊃ New graph.
 The gauging time series is shown in the graph as a hydrograph. Here you can also edit the results of the measurement. Please read in this context the hints in the User Manual of your special information system.
- To view your gaugings in a table, select the special time series and activate the context menu function Table ⊃ New table.

IX



Fig. 21 Viewing the gaugings in a table: Start from the Explorer of your special information system

- In the table you can view the gaugings and edit them. This table contains columns for the most important parameters of a discharge measurement.
- Historical data can be inserted via the clipboard or from a text file (separated by tabs).

asu	Date	Time	Quality flag:	SG	FQ [m3/s]	A [۷ [P [m	C*s	P [m	k*sq	Width [m]
1	14/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.404	2.13		2.13					
2	29/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.855	11.3		11.27					-
3	05/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.814	8.88		8.88					-
4	26/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.818	8.95		8.95					-
5	03/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.753	6.39		6.39					-
6	06/08/1971	00:03:00	G	0.932	14.6		14.55					-
7	28/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.786	7.22		7.22					-
8	03/09/1971	00:00:00	G	1.014	18.3		18.33					-
9	13/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.683	4.15		4.15					-
10	15/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.634	3.49		3.49					-
11	17/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.516	2.76		2.76					
12	20/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.467	2.12		2.12					
13	22/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.434	2.19		2.19					
14	22/09/1971	00:02:00	G	0.434	2.12		2.12					
15	27/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.373	1.79		1.79					
16	28/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.375	1.50		1.50					
17	13/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.901	12.3		12.34					
18	28/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.909	13.3		13.31					
19	03/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.754	6.42		6.42					
20	05/11/1971	00:01:00	G	0.910	14.0		14.03					
21	08/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.140	26.5		26.51					
22	12/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.4		16.35					
23	18/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.1		16.06					
24	22/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.089	24.0		24.01					

Fig. 22 Viewing the gaugings in a table of the special information system

- Select now the first empty cell of the table (on the top left).
- Open the context menu of the table with the right mouse button and
- choose the function **Insert**.
 The discharge measured values are inserted in the table.
 Finally, save the measured values in the database;
- to do so, just close the table.
 You will be asked whether to save the changed data in the central database.

2.5 Deriving discharge time series: Specify origins

To derive in the special information system a discharge time series Q from rating curves Q = f(W), allocate in your information system **Rating curve enhanced** as the origin.

- To assign this origin to a time series, open the Stations dialog with the <a>[a] icon.
 - Choose in the Stations dialog the desired station.
 - Open the tab page **Parameter**.

A. 01. 11			
m Stations			
Station name	Name: Avery		Catchment area: 0
	Divor .		Considetum: 1.000
Avery/21432	River.		Gage datum. 1.000
💼 Avery1/11294500	Number: 21432	active since: 10/13/2000	until:
Castle Hill/20100800			
Demo/A111			
Denver/20000	General Location Pos	ition Observer Water level Flow	Parameter Additional attributes
Eagle Lreek/EagleTUT	1 1 1	1 1 1	
Eureka/342423	Parameter	Type	
	AT	Air temperature	
KisPrecip/300001		Air temperature	
Kisters/20000	Eta	General parameter	
- f Madrid/200004	Precip	Precipitation	
📩 Maine/200012	Q	Flow	
	S	Stage	
💼 Memphis/200001	\$3	Stane	
Pine Creek at 0xbow/13290190		3-	
Powder River nr Richland/1328			
Powder Test/349423			
PrecipAvery/11/294501			
C paramento /199999			
Snake River or Heire/12037500			
South Fork Kuburz/0.12			
Template Shifts/-004			
Template Surface Water/-001			
📩 🚠 Test Andreas/123123	1		
	Edit		
OK Filter			Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 23 Rating curves: Specify origins

- Select the desired parameter.
- Activate <**Edit**>.
- In the Parameter dialog, open the tab page Origins.

Г

 $|X\rangle$

Тур	e	Valid from	Active	calculate	automatically
Rating Curves enhanced	- 00.	00.0000 00:1🚔			
Rating Curves enhanced					
Name:	Rating Curves enhanced				
Source:	Greim.Q.Gaugings			•	
ETA:	Greim.ETA.1.0			•	
Delta S:	Greim.S.dW			•	
External:					Selection

Fig. 24 Rating curves: Specify the origin Extended rating curve calculation

- Choose in the context menu of the table the function Insert or Add.
- Choose from the **Type** list **Rating curves enhanced** as the type of origin. In order to define the origin of a time series by a rating curve, follow one of the methods described in the following.
 - Defining a single plot
 - Defining an envelope curve
 - Defining a delta S procedure
 - Combination

Please note:

• Define additional time series

After the program launch **SKED** automatically looks for time series with the origin **Rating curves enhanced**.

\mathcal{P}

• This origin is absolutely required, if you want to work with the rating curve editor **SKED**!

• If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.

2.5.1 Defining a single plot

 \mathbf{X} In order to define a single plot as an origin,

- give a name to the origin and
- choose a source time series (usually it is the stage time series to calculate the discharge).

2.5.2 Defining an envelope curve

 \mathbf{X} In order to define an envelope curve as an origin,

- give a name to the origin,
- choose a source time series and
- an Eta time series.

2.5.3 Defining a delta S procedure

 \blacktriangleright In order to define an origin according to the delta S procedure,

- give a name to the origin,
- choose a source time series and
- a delta S time series.

2.5.4 Combination

You can also combine the origins envelope curve and delta S within this origin:



Γ

- Give a name to the origin,
- choose a source time series,
- an Eta time series and
- a delta S time series.

2.5.5 Defining additional time series

With that origin, an external time series may be referenced in addition which would also have an effect on the flow to be calculated and the active rating curve version. If, for example, different slide gate positions at a weir result in a different discharge behaviour, this can be mapped through different rating curve versions.

Which rating curve version is active and valid, respectively, depends on this additional time series: Using a drop-down list, you can set whether the default rating curve should be valid or whether discharges are to be determined by this external time series. A special case is to use this time series also to interpolate/extrapolate discharges for intermediate stages (e.g. for slide gate positions between the default values).

• To do so, activate the **Selection**> button in the field **External**. The **Selection of time series** form will be opened.

• Choose here the desired time series.

This external time series functions like the Eta time series, however, it is a little more flexible. It can be used, for example, for different slide gate positions.

Two examples:

- A S/Q calculation is to be carried out at station A which is influenced by upstream water measured at station B. Thus, the discharge depends not only on S_A, but also on S_B. Therefore, S_B is taken as external time series in the calculation. Now you can create any number of rating curve versions Q_{ASB}(S_B) you like for different S_B.
- In the field **Select function for enhanced rating curve calculation** in the rating curve management you have to set the entry **Interpolation/Extrapolation** or **only interpolation**. If the select function is the "active version", the value of the external time series is ignored.
- *Please note*: The names of the rating curve versions must be numerical (!); they stand for different S_B . Then, in the calculation, interpolation or extrapolation is carried out between two rating curve versions $Q_{ASB}(S_B)$ by means of S_B .
- The discharge is to be determined at a station below a slide gate, with the function Q(W) depending on the slide gate position. If only a certain number of slide gate positions is admissible, you set **best version** in the Select function field. For the further procedure, see the first example above.
- If the number of slide gate positions is arbitrary, you may also interpolate here. Thus, for example, if the slide gate position is 0.5, interpolation would be carried out between the values of the rating curve versions 0 and 1.

Please note:

X

SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System Deriving discharge time series: Specify origins

- In order to use an external time series that way, the name of the rating curve version must be numerical!
- This external time series can also be used for example, to map the Eta method (which is explained in detail in the Appendix "The Eta Method" on the pages 319ff.). To do so, create two rating curve versions (e.g. "0" and "1") and allocate for the Eta time series no origin in your special information system. In addition, you reference in the origin **Rating curves enhanced** of your Q discharge time series the Eta time series as external time series and choose in the rating curve management in the field **Select function for enhanced rating curve** calculation the entry Interpolation/Extrapolation.
- Thus, external time series can be combined with the dQ(Eta), the dS or the Rating Curve Harp method.
- Rating curve validities are valid further on.

Г

2.6 Starting SKED

In your special information system, there are various ways to start SKED:

- from the basic data,
- from the Gauge Wizard and
- from the Explorer of your special information system.

Which possibilities can be used depends among others on the personal configuration of your system.

In the following you will learn how to operate **SKED** independent of your special information system (e.g. **WISKI**) (see the page 76ff.).

2.6.1 Starting SKED from the basic data maintenance

- Activate the toolbar icon
 - Select in the Stations dialog the desired station.
 - Open the tab page **Parameter**.

n Stations			
Station name	Name: Avery		Catchment area: 0
	River:		Gage datum: 1.000
Avery1/11294500	Number: 21432	active since: 10/13/2000	until:
Castle Hill/20100800			
			u Parameter Additional attributes
Eagle Creek/Eagle101	General Location Pos	Ition Observer water level Ploy	W Parameter Additional attributes
	Parameter	Type	
nowa/2000031	AT	Air temperature	
KisPrecip/300001	Eta	General parameter	
Kisters/2000	Precip	Precipitation	
- main/200004	Q	Flow	
Malad River near Bliss/1315350	S	Stage	
Memphis/200001	S3	Stage	
Portland/73242342			
Powder Test/349423			
Boma/200011			I
Sacramento/199999			I
nake River nr Heise/13037500			
Temp01/2338			
Template Shifts/-004			- I
Template Surface Water/-001			
Test Andreas/123123	Edit		
OK Filter			Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 25 Starting SKED from the basic data: Select parameter

SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System Starting SKED

• Select the desired parameter.

Г

- Activate the **<Edit>** button.
- Choose in the **Parameter** dialog the high-resolution Q time series for which the S/Q calculation is to be carried out (with the origin **Rating curves enhanced**; see the page 62ff.) and
- activate the **Origins** tab.

aavT	9	Valid from	Active	calculate a	automatically
Rating Curves enhanced		00.00.0000 00:1			
Rating Curves enhanced-					
Name:	Rating Curves enhand	ced			
Source:	Greim.Q.Gaugings			-	
ETA:	Greim.ETA.1.0			-	
Delta S:	Greim S dW				
External:	1				Selection

Fig. 26 Starting SKED from the basic data: Origin Rating curves enhanced

- If you have not yet allocated the origin **Rating curves enhanced**, specify it as described in "Deriving discharge time series: Specify origins" on the pages 62ff.
- Activate the **<Call up SKED>** button.
- **SKED** is started; the rating curve specified by you is automatically started in the **SKED** graph.

2.6.2 Starting SKED from the Gauge Wizard

Activate the toolbar icon



Fig. 27 Gauge Wizard: Selection of station

• In the Selection of station dialog, activate the <Edit> button.

Gauge wizard						_ 🗆 ×
Selection			Remark			
cfdvf						
demo						
Available						
Station		Nur	nber	Riv	er	▲
BERGRIVIERSHOEK	G1H004	-A01	Berg			
BOTSWANA OXENHAM RAN	A5H003-A01		Limpopo			
Camowen Terr	201005		Camowen			
Campsie Bridge	201006	006 Drumragh				
						_
Selected						
Station	Number	, (River		
BOTSWANA STERKLOOP	A5H006-A01	1 Lim	роро			
					-	
< <u>B</u> ack <u>F</u> ilter						<u>H</u> elp

Fig. 28 Gauge Wizard: Selection of single stations

- Select the desired stations.
- To do so, create a new selection in the upper list by the context menu (to be opened with the right mouse button).
- Drag then the desired stations from the list of available stations into the list of selected stations by the Drag&Drop function.
- Finally, activate the **<Back>** button.
- In the Selection of station dialog, activate the <Next> button.

Г



Fig. 29 Gauge Wizard: Further working possibilities

 Activate in the What do you want to edit dialog the <Rating curves/validities> button.

🚹 Gauge wizard								
Rating	curv	e						
Selected stations								
Station		Number	River					
BOTSWANA STE	BOTSWANA STERKLOOP		Limpopo					
- Rating curves								
Number			Demerle			kanaduad		
Number			Remark			ransduce		
						Q		
< Back		Sho	w rating curve			Help		
		<u></u> nu	w rating curve			TTelb		

Fig. 30 Gauge Wizard: Rating curves

- Choose in the Rating Curve dialog the desired rating curve.
- Double-click to open the rating curve in SKED.

2.6.3 Starting SKED from the Explorer of your special information system

- \times Activate in your special information system the toolbar icon \square .
 - In the heading line of the Explorer choose on the left-hand side in the tree view a suitable view, e.g. **Stations** (if you want to view/edit single rating curves) or **Group types** (if you want to edit several rating curves at the same time).
 - Select in the tree view on the left the desired parameter/the group for which you want to display the rating curves.
 - Choose on the right-hand side in the list view the editing type Rating curves.

Г
- The existing rating curves will be displayed in the list view on the right. This list also shows you how many versions of the created rating curves are existing.
- Select the desired rating curve version.
- Open the context menu with the right mouse button.

🕅 WISKI Explorer			
1 View Stations 💽 Edit	Rating curves 💌		
	Rating curves o	of parameter	
	Rating curve	Number of versions	
	Nerm RC Edit RC Table RC Preview RC Validities RC 07 RC 08 RC 09 RC 10 RC 11 RC 12 RC 12 RC 13	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 3	
⊕ m GRiverGauge/14477	RC14	1	
Gtest/11477 Gtest/11/2020	1	1	
B Cakeo 10000			
Greim/200003			



- To create a new rating curve for the selected station or a new version for the selected rating curve, choose the function **Wizard**.
- **SKED** is started with the rating curve wizard (see the page 85ff.), if you have preset the use of this wizard; if not, the **Rating curve management** form is opened (see the page 96ff.).
- To open the selected version directly in SKED, choose the function Edit.

Please note the following specific features in the rating curve graphic:

- If the graphical view of a rating curve is closed in **SKED** you cannot open the rating curve again from **SKED**.
- You can open a new rating curve from your special information system.
- SKED is not opened again during the loading process.
- To display the selected rating curve in the special information system as a table, choose the function of the same name.

Coefficients	FQ(S	G) = c*(SG - a)	ſЪ		
Lower limit [m]	Upper li	C	b	a [m]	In(c
					_
<u>۱</u>					•
			_	1	

Fig. 32 Display the rating curve in the table of the special information system

• To display the current rating curve as print preview, choose the function of the same name.

<mark>⁄ (</mark> 58	KED 3	
P	rint Next Page Prey Page One Page	Zoom In Zoom Qut Close
	INT <u>NEXT Page</u> Picy Page -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS bringero -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS bringero -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS bringero -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS bringero -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS bringero -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS -/ABIB RVERATABUB CANYOS -/	-/ABBBRYERATABBCANYON -/ABBBRYERATABBCANYON Minimum Mi
	d augument (* 1897) 788 - 1887) 788 - 1887	6 aganadi 188 - 1877 3 ak 7

Fig. 33 Display the rating curve in the preview of the special information system

• To display a list of the validities of the current rating curve, choose the function of the same name.

Validities			
Valid since	at	Rating curve	
01.01.1950	00:00:00	RC1	
01.01.1970	00:00:00	RC1	
03.12.2000	00:00:00	1234	
			-
			-
			-
			-
			-
			-
			-

Fig. 34 Display validities of a rating curve

Γ

2.7 Starting SKED without WISKI

It is possible to start **SKED** without it being directly reliant on **WISKI**. Here you can choose special stations and their parameters in **SKED** without having to select the station in **WISKI** before.

• Start **SKED** with the appropriate icon without **WISKI**. The **Database connection** form is opened.

D	atabase connec	tion	×
	– Log-in informatio	n	
	User name:	produktora202a	
			Cancel
	Password:		
	Databasa:	riesling	<u>H</u> elp
	Database.	Incoming	

Fig. 35 Starting SKED without WISKI: Database connection

- Specify your user name, password and the database SKED is connected to.
- Confirm with <OK>.
- Alternatively, you can start **SKED** also via **WISKI** (e.g. via the context menu of the **WISKI** Explorer with the edit type **Rating curves** and selected rating curve for the parameter Q).
- From the SKED wizard, select one of the options e.g. the rating curve manager.
- Now close all active windows in **SKED**.
- All icons appear in grey now, only the toolbar icon 😽 (Choose target parameter) can be activated.
- Activate this icon.
 The following dialog appears:

Г

 $|X\rangle$

Choose the target paramete	er	×
	₽ ₽ River ₽ ₽ ₽ River Network	
< <u>B</u> ack	K Next> Cancel Help	

Fig. 36 Starting SKED without WISKI: Choose target parameter

- **SKED** can now be opened for any particular station by accessing the tree-view shown above. The sites, which are available, are those, which contain a time series with the origin **Rating curves enhanced** essentially this means, flow time series. If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.
- This dialog allows you to search for stations by rivers, stations and river networks. Under the Stations list entry in the list view you can view stations by the river territories assigned to them.
- The data for the river network is specified under the **Rivers** tab page of the Key list of **WISKI**. This tab page allows to specify which river flows into the next river. This way the river network is developed. The complete river network would contain all the rivers, which comprise a final river flowing into the sea.

Key list	_ [] ×
Addresses and local descriptions	Units Remote call / Alarm Description of station Reference tidal gauge
Adresses Adress properties Ri	ver Areas Districts Countries Grid references DGJ areas
AUSABLE R AUX SABLE R Abitibi R. Abitibi River Albany R. Albany R. Albany River Alder Creek Ancaster Creek Asheweig River	Long name AUSABLE R Number 989547 Flows into AUX SABLE R / 1005883 at km 290 Easting 457864322 Northing 23245678 River basin name Remark:
Ashweig R. Ashweig River Atikokan River Attawapiskat R. Attawapiskat River	CancelEep

Fig. 37 Starting SKED without WISKI: Developing the river network

- Select a station.
- Expand the station to reveal the discharge parameter (Q).
- Activate then the <**Next**> button.

The SKED wizard now becomes active to allow the selected station to be worked with.

Γ

What do you want to do?		×
P	(급)	Create new rating curve Open rating curve manager
	<u>₩</u> <u>₩</u>	Plot flow measurements Show all rating curves Show all rating curve validities
	⊥ ₩ ■	Create graph Show flow measurements (extended)
	×	Further assistance
< <u>B</u> ac	ξ	Next> Cancel Help

Fig. 38 Starting SKED without WISKI: Further works in the rating curve wizard

Г

SKED in Interaction with your Special Information System Starting SKED without WISKI

Г

Γ

3

Managing Rating Curves

In this chapter you learn all about the Rating Curve Wizard and the rating curve management.

Contents of this chapter:

	Multi usability: Checking out rating curves	83
	The rating curve wizard	
	Composing graphs	
	Extended specification options for the display of dischar	ge
	measurements	
	Creating a rating curve	90
	The rating curve manager	96
	Starting the rating curve manager	96
	Creating new rating curves	98
	Creating versions	101
	Deleting rating curves and versions	103
**	Copying rating curves and versions	104
	Specifying rating curve limits	105
	Specifying validities for rating curves	107
	Specifying validities in the rating curve manager	108
17 Y	Automatic setting of validities: The wizard for curve vali	dities
	Showing and printing rating curves, validities and time series	es 119
	Showing rating curves	119
	Viewing/printing survey of validities	122
	Showing time series	123
	Terminating the rating curve management	125
	Setting time range	125
	Graphs and tables	126
	Synchronising graphs and tables	128

Printing graphs and tables	128
Copying graph contents	130
Activating double logarithmic display	130
Information on rating curves and results of measurements	131
Press Shift and click on a rating curve	131
Press Shift and click on a validity	132
Press Shift and click on a measurement	133
General hints to the information windows	133

Г

٦

3 Managing Rating Curves

Completed rating curves or curves that are still under construction can be managed centrally within the rating curve management of **SKED**. Rating curve management information is:

- the rating curve and its status,
- the rating curve version, its definitions and comments,
- the rating history.

Managing rating curves comprises the following activities:

- create new rating curves (see page 98.),
- create new rating curve versions (see page 101.),
- copy rating curve versions (see page 104.),
- define the active version for a rating curve,
- maintain limits and remarks for rating curve versions (see page 105.),
- maintain the rating history (insert, delete, modify rating curve validities; see page 107.),
- delete rating curves (see page 103.).

You can create

- new rating curves and
- new rating curve versions

either by the rating curve wizard (see page 90.) or from the rating curve management (see page 98.).

Both procedures are explained in the following. First of all, however, we describe how the multi usability was realized.

3.1 Multi usability: Checking out rating curves

It can be important to maintain editing rights of a rating curve during the rating curve development process. That means that the person who is allowed to edit the rating curve, has exclusive write access to it; other users may view the rating curves and validities in process, however, are not allowed to edit them until the editor has finished his work. For this, the rating curve is marked for editing. Taking over the editing process is only possible under the same user identification. When rating curves

or validities are being edited, they are automatically marked for editing. When saving the rating curves or validities, they are automatically released again.

Apart from this automatic process, there is the possibility of manually marking rating curves or validities for editing and releasing them:



Г

Activate the toolbar icon \mathfrak{Q} .

The rating curves and validities being edited are locked for other users.

- Activating this icon again releases the locked rating curve. It is automatically locked when changes are made to it.
- Please note: Manual check-in is possible only if all changes have been saved (i.e. if there are no changes which have not yet been saved).

The status of a rating curve can also be viewed in the rating curve manager:

- Open the rating curve manager.
- Expand the tree view on the left and
- activate the entry **Rating curves**.
- From the right hand side of the manager open the tab page Editing status.

Rating curve management				×
🖃 🏠 / River gauge		🔗 Station 💾 Val	idities 👥 Editin	ig status
🖻 🥎 Q (Selection)		Deting and a	Computer	, Unard
		Rauny curve	Computer	User
			ASTEC	
Hiver gauge.Q.30				
S/niver gauge.5.50				
Biver gauge S dW				
Biver gauge 0 Gaugings				
Hiver gauge Q Manual values				
ETA				
River gau.Q.Extreme values Max				
🚽 🗠 River gau.Q.Extreme values Min				
River gauge.Q.30				
River gauge.Q.Baseflowline				
River gauge.Q.DayMax				
River gauge.Q.DayMean				 []
River gauge.Q.DayMin		•		
niver gauge. U. Gaugings	_ل_			
01/01/195(- to: 19/01/2005 - Plot	F	vrite Cla	ose Canca	el Apply

Fig. 39 Rating curve checked out

The currently edited rating curve is displayed. This means that it is now checked out.

- Close the dialog.
- In the graphic window, activate again the icon <u>2</u> to deactivate it.
 This will release the rating curve, allowing other users to have potential access.

3.2 The rating curve wizard

The most important SKED functions can be called via the rating curve wizard. Use it to

- create rating curves and
- versions as well as to display
- validities,
- gaugings and
- time series in graphs and tables and to print them.

To call the wizard,

 activate the <u>solution</u> icon in the toolbar of the main window. The following dialog is opened.

What do you want to do?		×
	睝	Create new rating curve
	2	Open rating curve manager
HAR	808	Plot flow measurements
HIG	K	Show all rating curves
	***	Show all rating curve validities
	1	Create graph
		Show flow measurements (extended)
	10	Further assistance
< <u>B</u> ack	<	Mext> Cancel Help

Fig. 40 The Rating Curve Wizard

X

Choose one of the following options (it depends on the operating context which options are available):

- <Create new rating curve or new version>: Activating this button starts the creation of a new rating curve or version with the help of the wizard (see page 90.)¹¹;
- <Create normalized rating curve>: This button starts the semi-automatic calculation of rating curves for standardised cross sections (e.g. tube profiles) from normalized rating curves for h (0-100%), A, v, Q (height, area, velocity and flow) (see "Creating Normalized Rating Curves" on pages 469 for details);
- <Open rating curve manager>: This button opens the rating curve manager (see page 96.);
- <Plot flow measurements>: This button corresponds to the selection of a gauging time series in the rating curve management plus activation of <Show> (by button or context menu); this loads all discharge measurements into the graph; the filter dialog is opened before (see page 139.);
- <**Show all rating curves**>: This button shows all active versions of all rating curves in the graph (see page 119.);
- <Show all rating curve validities>: This button corresponds to the selection of a curve validity in the rating curve management plus activation of <Show> (by button or context menu); this loads all validities into the graph; the filter dialog is opened before (see page 139.);
- <More assistance>: Activating this button activates further options:
 - <Compose individual graph>: This button opens the Compose graphs form where you can set the scope of time series, discharge measurement results and validities to be displayed (see "Composing graphs" on pages 87 for details);
 - **<Show flow measurements (enhanced)**>: This button offers you further specification options for the graphical display of discharge measurements (see page 89.).
 - <**Wizard for graph validities**>: Activating this button opens the wizard for the specification of validities for your rating curves (see "Automatic setting of validities: The wizard for curve validities" on pages 110 for details).
 - <**Deviation graphs**>: Activating this button allows you to create deviation graphs (see also "Deviation graphs"on pages 230).

ৢ

^{11.} Please note: New rating curves or versions can also be created via the rating curve manager (see page 98.).

- <**Cumulative deviations**>: Activating this button allows you to create cumulative deviation graphs (read also "Cumulative deviation graphs" on pages 232).
- <**Rating Curve Comparison**>: Activating this button allows you to overlay several rating curves in order to compare them with each other (see also "Comparing rating curves" on pages 239).
- <Analysis of fit>: Activating this button starts the control of your regressions with the help of various result parameters over the gaugings from the gaugings time series (Q_{reg} over Q_{meas}). With this you calculate the percental deviation of the product from the cross-sectional area flowed through and the regression over the mean velocity of flow (A_{prof}*V_{reg} over V_{meas}) from the regression over the gaugings (see "Analysis of fit" on pages 237).
- <User defined evaluation>: This button allows to generate own reports or own evaluations. This can be performed in SKED by KiBasic programs (see page 477.).

3.2.1 Composing graphs

The rating curve wizard offers you the possibility to compile discharge measurement results, validities and time series for the graphical display in any way you like.

When activating the **<Compose individual graph>** in the wizard (see Fig. 40, p. 85) the following dialog is opened:

Compose graph	×
	New graph window Measurements over time Mark. C Date Assignments Show source time series S Show validities Time range: 01/01/1950 Image: Measurements S over Q Image: show all rating curves
	< ∠urück <u>W</u> eiter > Abbrechen

Fig. 41 Composing graphs according to one's own choice

- In this dialog you can set which and how discharge measurement results, validities and time series are to be shown in the graph:
 - S gaugings (activate the **Gaugings over time/S** check box to show the stage values of the source time series (e.g. S.15);
 - Q gaugings (activate the **Gaugings over time/Q** check box ; with that, the point-by-point discharge measurements are displayed (designation in **SKED**: **Qmeas**);
 - in a new graph or in the open one (in the latter case, keep the check box **New** graph window deactivated)
 - show source and target time series (activate check boxes);
 - with validities in a certain time range (activate check box, set time range); Please note: The time range can be restricted only here! Working in the wizard (see Fig. 40, p. 85), all validities of all time ranges would be shown.
 How to set the time range by using the SKED calendar is explained in "Setting time range" on pages 125
 - show measurements S over Q (activate check box);
 - show all rating curves (activate check box).
 - Please note: The last option corresponds to the button of the same name in the wizard (see Fig. 40, p. 85).

ሲ

- Finally, activate <**Finish**>.
 - The graph is composed; you can also have the base time series displayed.
 - Please note: Position of the windows is saved on closing and restored during reopening.

3.2.2 Extended specification options for the display of discharge measurements

The analysis of flow measurements is very important when controlling and developing stage-discharge relations at gauges. In addition to stage and flow you can use further result parameters from the evaluation of flow measurements. Special programs like **BIBER** for example, that are used for the collection of flow measurements, provide a number of evaluation results such as

- cross section area
- mean flow rate
- profile values
- roughness coefficient for the measuring cross section and
- the recorded cross section (wet profile).

If you want to view these further result parameters from the evaluation of flow measurements, activate the **<Show flow measurements (extended)**> button in the wizard (see the Fig. 40, p. 85). This opens the **Filter options** form where you select the discharge measurements you want to display.

See "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on pages 139 for details.

Please note: This filter can be called up any time with the 🛅 icon!

When quitting the filter dialog, a separate time series graphic window is automatically opened for the following parameters of the gauging time series:

- Qmeas: discharge measured values,
- V_{meas}: mean measured velocity,
- A_{meas}: area,
- P_{meas}: profile value and
- mean depth: mean measuring depth.



P

Please note: Position of the windows is saved on closing and restored during reopening.

3.3 Creating a rating curve

Γ

ſ

Activating the **<Create new rating curve or new version>** button in the wizard (see Fig. 40, p. 85) starts the creation of a new rating curve or version by means of the wizard.

Please note: New rating curves or versions can also be created via the rating curve manager (see page 98.).



Fig. 42 Creating rating curves: The wizard I

- \mathbf{X} Activate the respective option button to create a new rating curve.
 - Activate <Next>.

New rating curve		×
	Status: Number/Name: Source parametergame/ Marking of the Y-Axis: Unit of gaurce: Unit of target: The units do not have to series. There is a automa Remark: test	preliminary 1234 W m m3/s be identical to the units of time tically conversion.
	< <u>Z</u> urück	Weiter > Abbrechen

Fig. 43 Creating rating curves: The wizard II

• The second step is to specify status, number, name of source parameter and units for the source and target time series as well as the height system of the rating curve.

You can choose between the following statuses for the new rating curve:

- invalid (rating curve is not used for calculation, produces gap),
- preliminary (best status for new rating curves),
- accepted (rating curve is used for calculation),
- released (rating curve can no longer be edited) and
- old (rating curve can no longer be edited and is even no longer used in the wizard for new rating curves or assignment specifications)



Please note:

- The units of the rating curve don't have to correspond to the time series. When calculating Q, first S is converted into the S unit of the rating curve, then S into Q and finally Q into the unit of the time series.
- Rating curves can work in three different height systems: relative to the gauge datum dip measurement absolute height data, usually height above mean sea level.

SKED

- One of these items must be chosen when creating a station. This height system specification then applies also to new rating curves.
- If you use the same height system for high-resolution source time series and aggregated time series (e.g. daily mean or totals time series), **SKED** always calculates on the basis of the standard system.
- However, if you select relative height data for high-resolution time series and absolute height data for time series from day level upwards as well as the rating curve, **SKED** needs to know which height system is to be used for the rating curve calculation (relative, dip measurement or absolute). During calculation each value of the source time series is converted into the height system of the rating curve; here the history of position and height data of stations and parameters is used.¹² The flow is then calculated from the rating curve with this height system data.
- Thus the height system of the time series involved may differ from the height system of the rating curve; however, both systems must have been assigned correctly.
- If required, enter an explanation regarding the new rating curve.
- Activate <Next>.

^{12.} Position and height data for stations and parameters are managed in **WISKI** in a history. To do so, you first of all specify the height systems and position states in the key lists of the station descriptions. These can then be assigned to a station or a parameter. Here you can specify validity periods so that changes in the height or position data of a station can historically be documented.



Fig. 44 Creating rating curves: The wizard III

- Define the start of validity. A validity period starts with its start date and ends automatically with the beginning of the next valid period of the following rating curve; the last validity is valid indefinitely.
- If you want to create a new version of the current rating curve, activate the **Create version** check box.
- Please note: If several versions exist for one rating curve, one of the versions must be defined as the currently valid one (see page 101.). The rating curve's validity period must be adjusted to the validity of the current version.
- Activate <Next>.

New rating curve version	×
	Type: Table (Spline) The type cannot be change afterwards! Image: Transformer in the eta method) Version/Name: 1234 Upper limit (reasonable range): 100 Lower limit (reasonable range): 20 Image: Set as active version Changing gomment
	< <u>∠</u> urück <u>W</u> eiter > Abbrechen



- Specify for the new version
 - the type (see "Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types" on pages 42),
 - the version number and
 - the upper and lower limit (if known; usually they correspond to the upper and lower threshold value of the regression analysis; read also "Specifying rating curve limits" on pages 105).

The graphics window shows the rating curve above the upper limit and below the lower limit as a broken line.

- Please note:
 - The type cannot be changed after you have defined it!
 - The Tab. 2, p. 44 gives you an overview of all rating curve types.
 - If the new version shall apply as envelope curve (used for Eta method; see also the Appendix), activate the respective check box.
 - When you have created several versions that way, define exactly one version as the active version of the respective rating curve by the <Set as active version> button.

That version appears then in *bold* letters. It is the basis for the determination of discharge over the rating curve.



Please note: If a rating curve does not have any active version, the related Q time series cannot be calculated!

- If required, enter a comment on the change.
- Activate <**Next**>.

Create rating curve versior	×
	Now you can enter data manually or via a dialog Enter data You can view and edit the rating curve also graphically. Show/edit graphically Show parameter values graphically/edit The new version will be editable also later with the help of the rating curve manager.
	< ⊒urück Fertig stellen Abbrechen

Fig. 46 Creating rating curves: The wizard V

- Finally, you can specify the following:
 - whether to enter data for the new rating curve manually in a dialog (in a table) (if yes: read the further explanations in "Creating rating curves manually" on pages 171);
 - whether to show or edit the rating curve also graphically (if yes: read the further explanations in "Showing and printing rating curves, validities and time series" on pages 119);
 - whether to display or edit also the underlying discharge measurements in a graph (if yes: read the further explanations in "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on pages 139);
 - Please note: The **Display/edit values graphically** check box is deactivated if no gaugings exist or gaugings have already been loaded into the graph!
 - whether to switch finally into the Rating curve construction perspective (see "Windows/dialogs and perspectives" on pages 31 to learn all about perspectives, dockable windows etc.).

Managing Rating Curves The rating curve manager

• Activate the special check boxes.

Г

• Finish the creation by activating < Finish>.

3.4 The rating curve manager

To calculate an S/Q relation, you can create and use several rating curves for different periods. Here the use of the rating curves during calculation is determined by the validities.

You can create rating curves in different versions. When you have created several versions that way, the respective rating curve must always have exactly one active version. If a rating curve has several versions, only the active version is used for calculation.

Each rating curve is identified by its unique name and each version by its own version name.

Different statuses are allocated to rating curves, indicating the state of editing:

- invalid (rating curve is not used for calculation, produces gap),
- preliminary (best status for new rating curves),
- accepted (rating curve is used for calculation),
- released (rating curve can no longer be edited) and
- **old** (rating curve can no longer be edited and is even no longer used in the wizard for new rating curves or assignment specifications).

Each rating curve is identified by a rating curve type; which types are available is described in "Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types" on pages 42

The rating curve manager allows you to work on a multi-gauge basis. So you can, for example, load rating curves of another station into an already existing graph. For this, the rating curve manager uses a tree view having the same organizational structure.

Furthermore, there is the possibility of loading any other time series, that might be useful for the rating curve analysis, into the graph (also from the tree view).

3.4.1 Starting the rating curve manager

You can start the rating curve management from **SKED** by the \mathbf{B} icon or via the startup dialog of the rating curve wizard (see page 85.).

Rating curve management		×
Rating curve management	Station River: Catchment area size: Distance from confluence: Cution bailet is a DD.	22900 0
	Station number: Cartesian Cartesian	HYDAT-04ME002 1175939 12589797
	urite	
01/01/195(🖵 to: 19/01/200! 🖵 🛛 Plot 🛛	protected Close	Cancel Apply

The **Rating curve management** form is divided into three areas:

Fig. 47 The rating curve management: structure

- On the left-hand side you can see in an unfoldable tree view (analogous to the WINDOWS Explorer) a list of rating curves and time series of the selected parameter.
- In the window on the top right depending on the object selected in the tree view
 – you can see the tab pages Station, Parameter, Time series, Validities,
 Versions, Rating curve and Balance group. Data on the tab pages Station,
 Parameter and Time series is for information only and cannot be edited. On the
 tab pages Validities, Versions and Rating curve you configure and manage
 rating curves and time series. On the Balance group tab page you configure the
 groups of stations that are needed for the discharge balancing (upstream and
 downstream river gauges).
- On the bottom of the dialog you will find buttons to control the rating curve management:
 - <Plot> (applies the changes and shows the currently selected entry in the SKED graph),

- <Close> (applies the changes made and closes the Rating curve management form),
- <**Cancel**> (closes the form and discards all changes made that have not yet been saved) and
- <**Apply**> (applies the changes made).
- To display time series you have to set the desired time range in the date boxes.

3.4.2 Creating new rating curves

- Set in the **Rating curve management** dialog the mouse pointer on the entry **Rating curves**.
 - Open the context menu with the right mouse button.



Fig. 48 Creating new rating curves

• Choose here the function New.

Rating curve management	×
Rating curve management	Station Rating curve Ht Validities Rating Curve Status: invalid Rating Curve Number: New Active version number:
	Source parameter name: SG Unit of Source: m v Unit of Iarget: m3/s v Select function for enhanced active version v For selected function not equal to the 'active version' the names of the versions must be numerical!
	Remark:

Fig. 49 Creating new rating curves: Specify data

- Specify on the tab page Rating curve
 - the status,
 - the number/name,
 - the name of the source parameter and
 - the units

for the source and target time series.

- The following statuses of a rating curve can be chosen:
 - invalid (rating curve is not used for calculation, produces gap),
 - preliminary (best status for new rating curves),
 - accepted (rating curve is used for calculation),
 - released (rating curve can no longer be edited) and
 - **old** (rating curve can no longer be edited and is even no longer used in the wizard for new rating curves or assignment specifications)

Please note: The units of the rating curve don't have to correspond to the time series. When calculating Q, first S is converted into the S unit of the rating curve, then S into Q and finally Q into the unit of the time series.

P

- Specify in the drop-down list box **Select function for enhanced rating curve calculation** how to determine intermediate values from external time series in the rating curve:
 - Active version (standard method): the value from the currently active rating curve version is always used; the value from the external time series is ignored.
 - **Interpolation/Extrapolation**: first the version with the next lower and the next higher version number is searched for that suits the value of the external time series at the time stamp of the discharge value to be calculated. Then the discharge is calculated for both versions and interpolated linearly.
 - **only interpolation**: like above but without extrapolation: The version numbers define the limits. No calculation is made above the highest and below the lowest value: no result
 - next smaller version: Version with the next lower version number
 - next higher version: Version with the next higher version number
 - best version: Version with the smallest distance to the intermediate value

The interpolation formula is as follows:

 $Q(h) = (Q_{higher}(h) * (h - lower) + Q_{lower}(h) * (higher - h)) / (higher - lower)$ with "higher" being the value of the next higher version number and "lower" the value of the next lower version number.

An example: At a station where the stage is influenced by a downstream river gauge (backwater) the discharge of the upstream river gauge is calculated using a rating curve with several versions. The version number is numerical (e.g. 22.1, 33, 55.1, 77.2): with interpolation and selection of the downstream river gauge as the external S time series in **WISKI**, it is checked for example for the stage of 30 cm at the downstream river gauge (in the external time series) which two versions enclose this S value. Two discharge values are determined for these two versions. Then a linear interpolation is carried out how the influence by the downstream river gauge affects the discharge of the upstream river gauge.



Fig. 50 Extended rating curve calculation for intermediate values

Please note:

- For all functions except **active version** the versions must get *numerical* names! Use a point as decimal separator!
- To define a version as the active version of the respective rating curve, activate the **<Set as active version**> button in the **Rating curve management** form, tab page **Rating curve**. That version appears then in bold letters.
- Activate the <**Apply**> button.

3.4.3 Creating versions



P

- Select in the **Rating curve management** form the rating curve for which you want to create a new version.
 - Open the context menu with the right mouse button.

Managing Rating Curves The rating curve manager

Show Apple Second
Apply time range
<u>N</u> ew version
Delete
Сору

Fig. 51 Creating versions

• Choose the function New version.

Rating curve management		X
NAUL Rating curves Rating curves Validities C1 C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 C7 New New New New New New New Ne	Station Rating curve Changing date Type: Version: Upper limit: Lower limit: Changing comment	Version Validities 07.01.2000 Table Enveloping curve New Set gs active version
4/ 1/199! ▼ until 11/25/199! ▼ <u>S</u> I	now Ok	Cancel Apply

Fig. 52 Creating version: Specify data

- Specify on the tab page Version
 - the type (see "Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types" on pages 42),
 - the version number/name and
 - the upper and lower limit (if known).¹³

The graphics window shows the rating curve above the upper limit and below the lower limit as a broken line.

^{13.} Please read in this context also the hints in "Specifying rating curve limits" on pages 105

- Finally, activate the **<Apply>** button.
- When you have created several versions that way, define exactly one version as the active version of the respective rating curve by the **<Set as active version>** button. That version appears then in bold letters.
- \mathcal{C}
- Please note: The active version is the basis for the calculation of the discharge. If a rating curve has no active version, the corresponding Q time series cannot be calculated!

3.4.4 Deleting rating curves and versions

Rating curves and inactive (!) versions can be deleted

- by selecting a rating curve in the tree view of the rating curve management and
- choose in the context menu the function Delete.
- Versions are deleted the same way.



- Please note:
- Deleting a rating curve deletes also all versions (also the active one!).
- When deleting rating curves having related validities, you can decide whether to delete or replace the related validities.



Fig. 53 Deletion of rating curves: Delete validities as well?

- Activate the respective option, depending on whether you want to
 - delete the related validities,
 - replace them by a failure identification or
 - replace them by another rating curve.

- In the latter case, select the desired replacement rating curve from the dropdown list.
- Close the dialog with <**OK**>. The rating curve is deleted.

Г

X

3.4.5 Copying rating curves and versions

Whole rating curves and/or single versions of them can be copied. Here, all necessary data is copied as well (regression methods and regression parameters (for all possibly used regression segments), rating curve limits, used measurements, artificial data points, dummy gaugings, extrapolation points).

- In order to copy a rating curve version select in the **Rating curve management** form in the tree view on the left the rating curve version you want to copy.
- Open the context menu with the right mouse button.



Fig. 54 Copying rating curves and versions

- Choose the function **Copy**. The rating curve version is now copied into the clipboard.
- To insert the version you stored intermediately, choose in the context menu of the rating curve or of the entry **Rating curves** the function **Paste**.
- When inserting a rating curve version into a rating curve, this version is added to the existing ones and gets the prefix "Copy of". If there is already a version of the same name, the new version gets an index in addition.
- If you insert the rating curve version into the entry **Rating curve** of the tree view, a copy of the whole rating curve is inserted with only the copied version. The name is allocated in the same way as when you insert a version. The inserted version is immediately set to active.
- Copying an entire rating curve is done in the same way as described above; here, all versions contained in that rating curve are inserted.



Using this function allows you to copy and paste also rating curves and rating curve versions of other stations.

- To do so, select the desired station and its rating curve/version in the tree view and
- proceed as described above.

3.4.6 Specifying rating curve limits

For each rating curve/version you can specify extrapolation ranges and validated ranges, depending on the reliability of the curve. If, for example, the stage exceeds the point of the highest gauging, the regression has to be extrapolated. Therefore the range above the highest gauging would exceed the upper end of the validated range. Consequently it would be assigned with a lower quality flag rating to reflect the higher degree of uncertainty.

Thus, you can specify an extrapolation limit for each rating curve/version. The default values assigned for the upper and lower ends of extrapolation are taken from the highest and lowest thresholds of the regression analysis. If possible, the curve is extended beyond the lowest and the highest point, if a limit is above or under it. For this, you can define four limit values:

- upper and lower limit for extrapolation and
- upper and lower limit of the validated range.

For the values lying beyond the extrapolation limits, you can specify how to proceed; you can choose between three possibilities:

- Do not calculate the flow (gap will be inserted)
- Continue extrapolation and flag with "beyond limit"
- Use the last valid flow value and flag as beyond limit

All values lying beyond the validated range are shown in the stage-discharge relation in italic.

All limits can be edited graphically (if visible in the graph) or via a dialog.

3.4.6.1 Setting limits in the dialog

The upper and lower rating limits will be displayed automatically as 2 horizontal dashed lines. They will have been automatically place at the upper and lower thresholds of the regression analysis respectively. To change these limits,



activate the toolbar icon 🗾 or

- activate the arrow next to the icon and choose from the menu the Dialog function.
- The **Rating curve limits** form is opened:

Rating curve limits	×	
These settings define the ranges of the rating curve. Flows inside the validated range will be flagged as "within rating" and all extrapolated flows are flagged as "extrapolated". Outside the extrapolatable limits the flows are "beyond the limit" of the rating curve. Below you can specify how the flows outside the extrapolatable area (beyond the limit) should be treated. The limits can also be changed in the rating curve manager. When the limits are displayed they can be moved graphically.		
Limits for Extrapolation		
Lower limit: 0.118018 Upper limit: 2		
flows beyond the limit: extrapolate and flag as beyond limit		
Limits of the validated i do not calculate flows (set gap) Lower limit: Lower limit:		
<u> </u>		

Fig. 55 Rating curve limits

- In the four boxes you have to enter the
 - upper and lower limit for extrapolation and
 - upper and lower limit of the validated range.
- In the **Limits for extrapolation** section, define in the drop-down list box **beyond the limit** how to treat the value ranges beyond the upper and lower extrapolation limit:
 - **use threshold and flag as beyond limit** (max Q, if above the upper limit or min Q, if under the lower limit),
 - extrapolate and flag as beyond limit or
 - flag values as invalid.

Please note: The results of this specification can be viewed in the graph and the control bar:

• **use threshold** has the effect that the rating curve is cut off at the defined upper and lower limit value;

- **extrapolate and flag as beyond limit** has the effect that the values beyond the limits are separately marked in the control bar;
- **flag values as invalid** has the effect that the values in the control bar are set to **invalid**.
- Confirm your specification of the limits by activating <OK>.
 The limit values (shown as a red horizontal, dashed line) are shifted

correspondingly.

Treatment beyond the plausible limits can also be controlled globally for all rating curves in the INI file (via the **WISKI** Options dialog). Then the drop-down list box is deactivated.

3.4.6.2 Editing rating curve limits graphically

Plausible rating curve limits can also be changed in the graph; they can be edited

- if they are visible in the graph,
- after having copied a regression into the rating curve,
- after having confirmed the dialog to edit the limits and
- when choosing the graphical editing by the toolbar icon 🙋 (see below).

In order to edit the limits (shown as red horizontal, dashed lines) in the graph,

- activate the arrow next to the toolbar icon 🗾 and
- choose from the menu the **Edit graphically** function.
- Check: Whether this function is active can be seen by the check mark next to the function when opening the menu again.
- Click with the right mouse button on the horizontal dashed lines (upper and lower limits) and
- drag them upwards or downwards.

3.5 Specifying validities for rating curves

Natural changes in the river channel will occur over time at the discharge measuring station. Alternatively construction works may alter the bank profile. Both these factors will have an influence on the rating curve. For such reasons several validity periods can be assigned to a rating curve so that a different rating curve will become

X

the active rating curve at the time of the new validity. A validity period continues from the start of the next valid period of the following rating curve.

In the following we describe the ways of how to specify validities for new or existing rating curve (versions); there are five ways to do that:

- when creating a new rating curve in the wizard (by entering the validity date; see page 98.);
- in the tab page Validities of the rating curve management (see page 108.);
- in the graph of validities (called from the start-up wizard; see page 85.);
- in the tabular representation of validities (edit table column as described in "Specifying validities in the rating curve manager" on pages 108) and
- by the wizard for curve validities (see page 110.).

When defining the validity ranges you can also allocate special statuses:

- Start (start date of a validity),
- Failure (gap is calculated) or
- **Transition** (results in interpolation between two rating curves; see glossary topic ""transition"" on p. 496).

These options are described at the places indicated.

3.5.1 Specifying validities in the rating curve manager

• Set in the **Rating curve management** form the mouse pointer on the entry **Validities**.
ating curve management	Station Validities			
⊡ Q ⊟ Bating curves	Valid since	at	Rati	1
Validities	11.08.1978	00:00:00	C1	
	16.08.1979	00:00:00	C2	H
	31.12.1985	00:00:00	C3 C4	
⊞ C4 ∓ C5	31.12.1987	00:00:00	C5	
± C6	10.05.1991	00:00:00	C6	
⊞ C7 ⊟ New	31.12.1994	00:00:00	C7	
New				E
⊡ · Time series ⊡ · NAUL.Q.1				
			1	
4/ 1/1995 - until 11/25/1995 - <u>S</u>	how Ok	Cancel	App	dy.

Fig. 56 Specify validity

- Specify in the tab page **Validities** (right part of the window) the start of the validity and
- the rating curve you want to use.
- To do so, double-click in the first table cell.

A validity period starts with its start date and ends automatically with the beginning of the next valid period of the following rating curve; the last validity is valid indefinitely.

- Select the desired rating curve from the drop-down list of the table column **Rating curve**.
- You may define different statuses between two rating curves in this column:
 - Start (start date of a validity),
 - Failure (gap is calculated) or
 - **Transition** (results in interpolation between two rating curves; see glossary topic ""transition"" on p. 496).
- To do so, activate the table column Rating curve and
- choose the desired entry from the drop-down list.
- Finally, activate the **<Apply>** button.

3.5.2 Automatic setting of validities: The wizard for curve validities

You can assign validities also with the wizard; it serves to automatically calculate rating curve validities on the basis of the discharge measurements (S/Q values or measurement results, respectively) and rating curves defined at the station in **WISKI**. At the end, the wizard makes a proposal for the further use of the rating curves.

The program automatically calculates the next rating curve on the basis of the discharge measurements (S/Q values or measurement results, respectively). The next automated step is to determine the validity ranges of the rating curves. The module identifies the event peaks in the stage time series between two discharge measurements and sets a necessary discontinuity of the rating curve to this highest event. In case of two or several successive measurements lying on the same rating curve, the rating curve segments are joined and defined as one validity range. To avoid breaks in the dependent Q and q time series in case of a rating curve change, the wizard calculates a transition of one day between two rating curves.

Finally, you can either accept the wizard's proposal and save the validities or cancel the changes. $^{\rm 14}$

In addition, the wizard for curve validities requires valid values in the gaugings table of the station. The measurement results must be confirmed and complete. If there are gaugings with the status /!, the wizard for curve validities cannot be used.

This is how you work with the wizard:

 \boxtimes

Г

• Activate from the main menu the function Tools **C** Wizard for rating curve validities.

The Wizard for setting of range limits form is opened.

- Alternatively, call the wizard for curve validities via the start of **SKED** from the selected station in the **WISKI** Explorer.
 - The view should be a station-related representation (e.g. Stations or Locations).
 - Choose in the Edit drop-down list the entry Rating curves.
 - Select the required downstream river gauge in the desired balancing group.

^{14.} The wizard can be used to set validities on the basis of a group of rating curves. The method can be compared with the dS or Eta methods where the variables dS or Eta, varying in time, map with few rating curves the changes in the S/Q relation that are seasonal or caused by flood (by modifying the input parameter S with the dS method or the output parameter Q with the Eta method). When using families of rating curves with many validities, the temporal change of the S/Q relation is mapped through the time-varying activation of the unaltered S/Q relations.

- Activate in the right dialog half from the context menu (to be opened with the right mouse button) the function **SKED**.
- The rating curve editor will be started. **SKED** establishes a connection to the database and the start-up dialog is opened:

	X
1	Create new rating curve
È	Open rating curve manager
808	Plot flow measurements
1	Show all rating curves
世	Show all rating curve validities
1	Create graph
	Show flow measurements (extended)
1	Further assistance
k.	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 57 Selection dialog of the rating curve editor (SKED)

• Activate the **<More assistance**> button.

What do you want to do?		×
	± ± ₩ ≤ %	Deviation graphs Cumulative deviation Rating curve comparison Analysis of fit User-defined evaluation
	~	Further assistance Next> Cancel



Activate the <Assistant for graph validities> button.
 The Wizard for setting of range limits form is opened.
 The wizard guides you now step by step through the procession.

The wizard guides you now step by step through the process of assignment.

• First of all, enter the editing range.





• Confirm with <OK>.

Please note: If you confirm later in the wizard to save the validities, all previous validities in the previously set time range are overwritten. This process cannot be undone.

The wizard creates a graph with the source time series (hydrograph of the stages) as well as the results of measurements (measured stages and measured discharges) and the calculated discharges (G time series) of the measurements.

Please note: After the calculations are finished you will see a message box and an empty window. However, the actual result window is thereunder.

• In this case, switch to the main menu Window and bring the window Station name / Q – Wizard for curve validities for ... to the top:

Please note: Possibly existing base time series of source and target parameters (e.g. S and Q) are preferred for the representation in the wizard for curve validities; otherwise the high-resolution time series of the parameters are used.

To the right of the graph, the table containing the specified validities is displayed.

- You may change the layout in the graph or enlarge areas with the well-known visualisation tools in order to check the plausibility of the input data.
- Please note: The wizard for curve validities contains the option to exclude single rating curves from the automatic recognition of validities. By default, rating curves having the status **Indefinite** or **Old** are excluded. However, they can be included manually again.
- Activate the **<In/exclude rating curves>** button.
- The Include/exclude rating curves form is opened.

P

P

P

ſ٢



Fig. 60 Include/exclude rating curves

- Activate the entries of those rating curves you want to consider for the assignment of validities; all other entries can be deactivated.
- Confirm your specifications with <OK>.
- <**Next**> guides you then to the deviation graph between the stages of the measurements and the continuous stages.



Fig. 61 Graph and table representation of the deviations

ſĿ

Please note: Including/excluding rating curves changes their status only for the current session; permanent changes are to be made via the rating curve manager. This graph shows you the stage for each measurement towards the time. Captions shown are the assigned rating curve as well as the absolute and proportional difference between the stage of the measurement and the assigned rating curve.



Fig. 62 Deviation data in the graph

Here the meaning of the single numerical values in the three lines is as follows:

Managing Rating Curves Specifying validities for rating curves

- top line: number or name, respectively, of the nearest rating curve
- middle line: absolute deviation/relative deviation from Q
- bottom line: Q in m³/s
- <Next> guides you in the next step to the validities determined automatically.



Fig. 63 Graph and table representation of the calculated rating curve validities, applied to the base time series S and the measurement results

If the related validities change between two measurements, the change is dated automatically to the highest stage between the measurements. As for the 24 hours before the change there is a transition between the validities assumed (see glossary topic ""transition"" on p. 496).

The table lists the newly-determined validities.

- Now you can edit the validity limits manually in the graph.
- Check whether the validities are selected as an element to be edited
 (♥ Boyer River/Q/Validities).
- Zoom into the transition range

- Switch to the editing mode 💉.
- Use the mouse to move the start of transition/validity to the desired time, e.g. start of transition to the beginning of flood rise.

You can also add new validities:

- Activate the insertion mode 🚓.
- Add new transitions by clicking on the desired points (since the system cannot identify the assignment yet).
- Open the context menu with the right mouse button, function **Assign rating curve**, and assign a rating curve to the new validity limit (or the status **Failure** or leave it on **transition**).



Fig. 64 Assigning rating curves to a measurement

• Use alternatively the table column **Rating curve**.

Please note: You can use the context menu only in editing mode!

- Terminate the editing mode for the validities.
- <**Next**> guides you then to the plausibility check of validities, applied to the discharge time series.
- First of all, confirm that the new validities are saved in the database.

Ø

Please note: Now at the latest you should decide whether to save the proposed rating curves and their validity ranges completely in the database or whether to adjust them manually in the table of validities or to discard them.

For this, you will be asked at the next calculation step whether to save the changes:

 Confirm with <Yes>.
 Now the discharges Q are calculated in accordance with the created origins and the valid rating curves and displayed in the lower part of the wizard, together with the results of the discharge measurements. The message window informs you about the calculation process.



Fig. 65 Display of results when assigning validities automatically

Please note: If Ω is not calculated automatically, check the created origins. If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.

P

P

- To get an optimal calculation of the discharges, you can now switch between the single editing steps with <**Back**> or <**Next**> and change the validities for example, or exclude single rating curves.
 - If the correct validities are determined,
- quit the wizard with <**Finish**>.

3.6 Showing and printing rating curves, validities and time series

You can use either the rating curve manager or the wizard to view rating curves, their validities, results of measurements and time series in a graph or table (partly) and print this representation.

So you can print, for example, a list of validity ranges including predecessor and successor – if existing – and the period of transitions for each active rating curve version. Non-active rating curve versions are not printed. In addition, an overview of all validities can be printed.

3.6.1 Showing rating curves

As an alternative to the rating curve wizard (by activating the **<Show all rating curves**> button; all active versions of all existing rating curves are displayed in a graph; see Fig. 40, p. 85), you can have displayed also single rating curves:

- \boxtimes
- Set in the **Rating curve management** form the cursor on the desired rating curve version.

Rating curve management		×
NAUL Rating curves Validities C1 C2 C3 C4 C5 C6 C7 New New New New New New New Ne	Station Rating curve Ve River: Catchment area: Distance to river mouth: Station height in m OD: Station number Latitude Longitude	Persion Validities DELVIN 37 0 61.618 08002 0 0 0 0
4/ 1/1995 v until 11/25/1995 Sho	ow Ok	Cancel Apply

Fig. 66 Selecting rating curve for the display

Activate the **<Show>** button.

If you open a new or an empty rating curve and if neither a suitable x-axis nor a suitable y-axis is shown in the graph before, the **Axis settings** form is opened first.

Axis settings
You selected an empty rating curve. To simplyfy editing you can now choose therangess of the axes. The automatic rearrangement to the rating curve will be disabled.
You can disable this modus by "Disables automatic axis rearrangement". If you don't want fix axis dimensions simply choose "Cancel".
Settings X-Axis: from: 0 unti 1
<u>Y</u> :Axis: from: <mark>-0.15</mark> unti 1.15
Ok Cancel



- In order to set descriptor points in the course of your session much easier without the axes automatically being adapted to your rating curve, you can configure the dimensions of the axes and afterwards fix these settings. You may reset that mode later in **SKED** with the **Eq** icon.
- If you want to have firm axis settings, specify here the special settings for the xand y-axis.
- Activate then <**OK**>.
- If you do not want to have firm settings, activate <**Cancel**>. The rating curve version will be shown in the graphics window.



Fig. 68 The selected rating curve is shown in the graph

• Activate <OK> to close the Rating curve management dialog.

Please note:

- The axes are scaled to zero only if
 - the minimum of the rating curve is greater or equal zero and
 - the rating curve covers at least 33% of the screen area.
 - Thus, e.g. for a rating curve lying in the range between 10–50, the axis would be scaled from 0 to 54 and for a rating curve in the range between 110–150 it would be scaled from 106 to 154. The difference of 4 to the limit results from 10% of the range.
- All sizes and positions of table and graphic windows are saved by default and reused when activating **SKED** the next time.

3.6.2 Viewing/printing survey of validities

There are various ways of viewing and printing, if required, validities:



Г

- Select in the **Rating curve management** form the desired curve validity in the tree view on the left.
- To apply the data range automatically as editing range, open the context menu in the **Rating curve management** form



Fig. 69 Viewing/printing survey of validities

- and choose the function **Apply time range**.
- Activate the <Display> button afterwards. The validity will be shown in the graphics window.
- Alternatively, use the rating curve wizard (see Fig. 40, p. 85) to create a graph with the validities for the time range for which the overview is needed.
- To do so, activate the **<Compose graph>** button; for the further procedure, please read "Composing graphs"on pages 87
- Alternatively, activate in the wizard the <Show all validities> button
- to load all validities into the graph.
- Activate the toolbar icon a to print the table of validities on the printer set before (default printer is a DIN A4 printer in portrait); SKED selects automatically only the tabular data.
- Alternatively, open a preview by the icon.
 From page 2 on you will find the respective table.
- Print the required pages of the preview.

The validities are shown in form of a **SKED** standard report with all necessary header data.



Fig. 70 Validities in the print preview

3.6.3 Showing time series

• Select in the **Rating curve management** form the desired time series in the tree view on the left.

Rating curve management		X
NAUL	Station Parameter Time series	
E∴Q ⊡∴Rating curves	Unit: m3/s	
Validities	Time range since: Tuesday, December 01, 1992	1
	until: Thursday, April 14, 1994	-
	,	1
⊡ C7		
⊡ · Time series		
e NAUL.Q.1		
12/ 3/199. 🗨 until 4/14/199. 💌 <u>S</u> h	iow Ok Cancel Apply	

Fig. 71 Selecting the time series for the display

- Specify the desired time range at the bottom.
- For this, use the **SKED** calendar; how to use it is explained in "Setting time range" on pages 125
- To apply the data range automatically as editing range, open the context menu in the **Rating curve management** dialog



Fig. 72 Showing time series

- and choose the function **Apply time range**.
- Activate the <**Display**> button afterwards.
- *Please note*: When selecting a gauging time series, the **Filter options** form will be opened first by default; here you can filter the discharge measurements. See "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on pages 139 for more information.

Γ



The time series will be shown in the graphics window.



3.6.4 Terminating the rating curve management

Activate **<OK>** to close the **Rating curve management** dialog.

3.6.5 Setting time range

In many operations – e.g. when compiling data for the representation in graphs and tables or for printout – you can specify a time range for which data is selected from the database for further use.



- Enter the upper and lower limit of the range in the format **dd.mm.yyyy** manually or
- choose the SKED calendar by the arrow button of the date box from or until.



Fig. 74 The SKED calendar

- Browse with the arrow keys in the calendar header forwards and backwards month by month.
- Click the month in the calendar header to open a drop-down list of months;
- click the year data in the calendar header to browse back and forward using buttons.
- Choose the desired day of the time range limit by just clicking on it in the calendar.
- *Please note* that you can combine these selection methods according to preference and convenience.

3.6.6 Graphs and tables

3.6.6.1 Viewing rating curve and time series values in graphs/tables

You can represent rating curve and time series values in a graph as well as in tables. The standard is the graphical representation of such values. The tabular display can be opened with the sicon.

Γ

asu	Date	Time	Quality flag:	SG	FQ [m3/s]	A [٧[P [m	C*s	P [m	k*sq	Width [m]
1	14/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.404	2.13		2.13					
2	29/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.855	11.3		11.27					
3	05/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.814	8.88		8.88					-
4	26/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.818	8.95		8.95					-
5	03/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.753	6.39		6.39					-
6	06/08/1971	00:03:00	G	0.932	14.6		14.55					-
7	28/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.786	7.22		7.22					-
8	03/09/1971	00:00:00	G	1.014	18.3		18.33					-
9	13/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.683	4.15		4.15					-
10	15/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.634	3.49		3.49					-
11	17/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.516	2.76		2.76					-
12	20/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.467	2.12		2.12					
13	22/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.434	2.19		2.19					
14	22/09/1971	00:02:00	G	0.434	2.12		2.12					
15	27/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.373	1.79		1.79					
16	28/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.375	1.50		1.50					
17	13/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.901	12.3		12.34					
18	28/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.909	13.3		13.31					
19	03/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.754	6.42		6.42					-
20	05/11/1971	00:01:00	G	0.910	14.0		14.03					-
21	08/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.140	26.5		26.51					-
22	12/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.4		16.35					-
23	18/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.1		16.06					-
24	22/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.089	24.0		24.01					-

Fig. 75 Viewing rating curve and time series values in a table

Time series are represented in the graph and/or table window. Whereas the graph gives you a survey of the time series course, the table shows you the single values exactly.

3.6.6.2 Sorting measured values according to table columns

The table allows you to sort the values according to the single columns:

- Activate the ≱↓ icon.
- When clicking on the arrow next to the icon, you can choose the value column which is the basis for sorting.

The measured values contained in the table are rearranged according to the desired column.

This way you can sort e.g. flow measurements by any column you like (stage, number of measurement, Q, size of profile area, etc.)

3.6.7 Synchronising graphs and tables

You may synchronise both table and graph to make the best use of the advantages of these types of representation. When you click in this mode on a measured value in the graph, the respective value will be shown and selected in the table. This works also vice versa: when clicking on a value in the table, the respective value will be highlighted in the graph. The synchronisation mode is activated and deactivated with the matrix icon.

Such a synchronisation of table and graph can be carried out also for results of measurements. When selecting a measurement, all represented parameters of the measurement are synchronised as well (V_{meas} , S_{meas} , Q_{meas} etc.).

3.6.8 Printing graphs and tables

In **SKED** it is possible to print graphs and tables of the rating curves, validities, results of measurements etc.

When printing the graph, the stage-discharge relation and the list of validities will also be printed for each represented rating curve.

With the toolbar icons of the main window, there are four possibilities to print your data:

- \mathbf{X} Icon **\mathbf{C}**: serves to show the current data in the print preview.
 - Button ext{Button serves to print the graphs on the printer set before (e.g. DIN A0 printer); **SKED** selects automatically only the graphical data.
 - Button f: serves to print the tables on the printer set before (default printer is a DIN A4 printer in portrait); **SKED** selects automatically only the tabular data.
 - Button 🔿: serves to print all graphical and tabular data on your system printer.
 - If your system printer is not a DIN A4 printer, the following message will appear:
 - If confirming with <**Yes**>, you will get again the WINDOWS printer setup dialog; choose another printer, if required, to print the tables; if you choose <**No**>, the tables will be printed on your system printer as well.
 - However, please note that the printout of tables on non-DIN A4 printers might possibly not be satisfactory. Although it seems to be useful to print graphs on plotters, for example, tables should be printed on A4 printers, if necessary.

SKED - [HyA	p Test 2/Q]					
Imprimir	Siguiente <u>A</u> nterior	Dos páginas Acer	car Alejar	<u>C</u> errar		
	Parameter Q	Stationsnum Gewässer: Einzugsgebie	mer: HyAp2 et: 0,00 km*	Rechtswert: Hochwert: Meßpunkthöhe:	0,00 m	-
	$\label{eq:restrict} \hline $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$	1 G [m 3/1 D] JDD D 1DD D 1DD D 15DD D 15DD D 15DD				
Página 2		Zoom-Eaktor (x(v) :	100.00%	: 3.	46 : 4.73	

Fig. 76 Print preview of your data (here e.g. discharge measurements and regressions)

3.6.8.1 Setting up your printer, printer settings

If required, you can make settings for the printout and change them, respectively.

- To do so, activate the function File C Page setup.
 The setup dialog known from WINDOWS is opened.
 - Here you can define the well-known settings like paper format, alignment, marginal settings etc.
 - Confirm with **<OK>** to activate these settings; the dialog is closed.
 - Confirm with <**Print**> to directly print your data. You will get the WINDOWS print dialog.
 - Start printing by activating <OK>.

3.6.9 Copying graph contents

By the graphics context menu (to be activated with the right mouse button) you can copy the contents of a graph into the clipboard (as meta file). It is then available to you for other applications (e.g. MS Word).

3.6.10 Activating double logarithmic display

You may choose a double logarithmic display in the graph:

- Activate the kinetic icon in the toolbar of the main window.
 - The **Double logarithmic view** form will be opened where you can define the settings for such a display.

Double logarithm	ic view			×
Scaling of x-axis		Scaling of y-axis		
From:	0	From:	20	
Until:	1000	Until:	600	
Step:	1.2.5	Step:	1,2,5	•
Offset:	0	Offset:		20
		<u>0</u> K C	ancel	Apply

Fig. 77 Activating double logarithmic display

- Define the scaling for the x- and y-axis (automatically: check box **Autoscaling** activated or manually: enter from up to limit, select step unit).
- Specify the offset (alpha value for the coordinate conversion; is deducted in the graph prior to logarithmisation).
- Confirm with < Apply> (dialog remains open) or < OK> (dialog is closed).
- The graph represents your rating curves in double logarithmic manner.

3.7 Information on rating curves and results of measurements

Hold the "Shift" key down and press the left mouse button to get information about rating curves, validities, descriptor points and measurements.

Tip: A tooltip appears in **SKED** showing you the name of the curve currently touched by the mouse; activate this window by **<Shift>** and moving the mouse.

3.7.1 Press Shift and click on a rating curve



(and

Please note: As for rating curves with descriptor points, this option functions only if you click on a descriptor point; apart from that, you can click on any point of a rating curve.

Q/RC1.V notch we

Rating curve RC1 Version V notch we Last change Mittwoch, 2. August 2000 Comment Comment W: [m] Q: [m3/s] Q(W) = 8.0 / 15.0 * 0,100000 * tan(90,000000 / 360.0 * pi) * sqrt(2.0 * 9,810000) * (W - 0,000000)*(5.0 / 2.0)

Fig. 78 Press Shift and click on a rating curve: Result

The appearance of this information window may vary, depending on the rating curve type.

Q/Eta.Potenz							
Schlüsselkurve Eta	Version	Potenz					
	Letz te Änderun	g Montag, 29. Mai 200	00				
Kommentar Berrer	kung Kommentar	Änderungskommen	tar				
Ht [cm] Q: [m3/s]							
Qo/Eta.P otenz							
-33.146386 < H < 156.	830322 Q(H) = 0.0010	001 * (H33.146386)	^2.031321				
Qz/Eta.P otenz							
-6.195057 < H < 100.3	61754 Q(H) = 0.000	110 * (H59.324203)^2.446955				
100.361754 < H < 157.	137889 Q(H) = 0.047	427 * (H- 16.278795)	^1.431296				
Gültigkeiten für Q/E	ta.Potenz						
Von Übergang ab	Gültig ab	Gültig bis	Obergang bis 1	Nach			
Test 20.02.1998 16:30:00	20.02.1998 17:00:00	20.02.1998 18:00:00	20.02.1998 19:00:00	Т			
1	20.02.1998 20:00:00						

3.7.2 Press Shift and click on a validity

Snake River below Hells Canyon Dam, Or.Q.Validities							
Selected val	Je	Rating curve lists sorted by Q(S) at S = 1,#INF ft					
Valid since	10/01/2000	Long term mean	value cannot be calculated for S				
Time	00:00:00						
Rating curve	Rating 13						
Q/Rating 1	Q/Rating 13.Envelope1						
Qo/Rating 13	3.Envelope1						
List of suppo	rting points						
s (ft)	Qo [cfi]	Statu					
4,50	2	78					
4,60	2	99					
4,30	4						
میر Qz/Rating 13	مبر — Qz/Rating 13.Envelope1						
List of suppo	rting points						
s (rt)	Qz [cfi]	Statu					

Fig. 79 Press Shift and click on a validity: Result

Please note: Validities are shown automatically, if the rating curve version is active and has validities. The information window for validities contains a systematic list of rating curves, if you have entered long-term mean values in your special information system. The lower part of the information window will be hidden, when clicking on a transition or failure.

P

3.7.3 Press Shift and click on a measurement

Omess		٦
Botum 45 04 40	00 07.25.00	
Datum 15.01.15	998 07:55:00	י
Status	b /	
W [cm]	89	
Q [m3/s]	1,01	
A [m2]	2,02	
V [m/s]	0,531	
P [m^(5/2)]		
C*sqrt(l) [m^(1/)	2)]	
Breite [cm]		
mittl. Tiefe [cm]		
Umfang [cm]		
Spende		
Im Pegelprofil		
Messung	77	

Fig. 80 Press Shift and click on a measurement: Result

3.7.4 General hints to the information windows

By the context menu of these information windows (to be activated with the right mouse button) you can copy their contents into the clipboard (as meta file). It is then available to you for other applications (e.g. MS Word).

Managing Rating Curves

Information on rating curves and results of measurements

Г

Γ

CHAPTER

4 Developing Rating Curves

This chapter explains the various ways of how to create and display rating curves.

Contents of this chapter:

Loading/selecting/filtering measurements	139
Loading measurements	139
Selecting/filtering measurements	140
More filter options	142
Graph presettings for gaugings	146
Specifying plot styles for gaugings	147
Working with regressions	154
Starting the regression	154
One example	156
Shifting the regression limits graphically	159
Regression analysis: Further possible steps	160
Setting artificial data points	160
Using dummy gaugings	163
Setting extrapolation points	165
Including/excluding measurements	166
Changing the colours of regression segments	167
Changing the coefficients of the regression curve	168
Automatic break point optimisation	169
Creating rating curves manually	171
Descriptor points	174
Power law function	177
Developing rating curves with regression methods	179
Power law in sections	179
Power law in sections: Manual re-editing	181
Extended power law method	191

Using the regression for manual rating curve development193		
Formula in sections194		
Using theoretical approaches for the development		
Rectangular weir197		
V notch weir198		
Formula rating curve199		
Envelope curves		
More options for the rating curve development203		
Loading cross section profiles and viewing them in a graph203		
Editing/assessing a rating curve in velocity mode205		
Extrapolating the rating curves with profile and velocity data 206		
Regression and rating curve development via products		
Calculating rating curve for a fixed Eta212		
Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve215		
Saving the regression as attempt215		
Recovering regressions from attempt216		
Applying the regression results as reference curve (in the graph)		
216		
Recovering regression from a reference curve		
After applying the results: Showing the discharge measurements		
used for the development218		
Statistical evaluation of regression220		
Assigning gaugings to a rating curve222		

Г

1

4 Developing Rating Curves

Which tools are available for your rating curve development depends on which method you have chosen for the generation (i.e. which type of rating curve) – do you remember the chapter "Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types" on p. 42? For a spline-interpolated rating curve, for example, the development tool is the direct editing of the descriptor points of the actual rating curve. On the other hand, for mathematical rating curve development approaches such as the power law method the best fit can be applied as the reference rating curve.

Therefore, you will find in the following a description of the worksteps for all available rating curve types:

- Descriptor points (see page 174.)¹⁵
- Power law function (see page 177.)
- Power law in sections (see page 179.)
- Extended power law method (see page 191.)
- Rectangular weir (see page 197.)
- V notch weir (see page 198.)
- Formula in sections (see page 194.)
- Free formula (see page 199.)

All these development methods can also be used to create an envelope curve (see page 202.).

Rating curve development requires access to specific gaugings (e.g. flood gaugings, low flow or mid range gaugings) at any time of the development process. For this, the desired measurements are loaded first. Special (groups of) measurements can be added or removed from the graph.

Development of rating curves in **SKED** can therefore be divided into various worksteps which are explained in detail in the chapters below:

- "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on p. 139
- "Working with regressions" on p. 154
- "Creating rating curves manually"on p. 171
- "Developing rating curves with regression methods" on p. 179
- "Using theoretical approaches for the development" on p. 197

^{15.} This new rating curve type replaces from the program version 6.4 on the previous types Table (Spline), Table (linear) and Table (power law).

- "Loading cross section profiles and viewing them in a graph" on p. 203
- "Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve"on p. 215
- "Assigning gaugings to a rating curve"on p. 222
- "Editing/assessing a rating curve in velocity mode" on p. 205
- "Calculating rating curve for a fixed Eta"on p. 212
- "Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler" on p. 399
- "Power law in sections: Manual re-editing"on p. 181

4.1 Loading/selecting/filtering measurements

Rating curve development requires access to specific gaugings (e.g. flood gaugings, low flow or mid range gaugings) at any time of the development process. For this, the desired measurements are loaded first. Special (groups of) measurements can be added or removed from the graph.

Here, it might be useful to filter the underlying gaugings for example by time range, stage range, flow range or by season.

In addition, you can also filter by

- influence
- artificial data points and
- gaugings according to BIBER

Use the corresponding tab pages.

To distinguish between these gaugings also optically, you can display them with different curve attributes (colour, style, symbols). This can be preset in the basic settings (see page 146.) or individually set or changed, respectively, for the current session (see page 147.). A template can be defined here to represent, for example a range of gaugings recorded within a certain time period. Existing templates also exist for example for excluded gaugings and standard gaugings.

If you have chosen a gauging time series, the **Filter options** form is opened before allowing you to specify which measured values you want to view in the graph.

If further information is needed, e.g. about mid range gaugings or flood gaugings, you can access the filter options again with the toolbar icon \underline{m} and add the corresponding measurements to the graph. This filter dialog can be opened whenever you need it.

4.1.1 Loading measurements

- First of all, select in SKED the desired time series (if already loaded into the graph) or
 - mark in the Explorer of your special information system the desired station and its Q parameter.
 - Activate the function Wizard from the context menu.
 - The rating curve wizard is opened. How to use it is explained in "The rating curve wizard" on p. 85

- Activate the **<Plot flow measurements>** button.
- *Please note*: This button corresponds to the selection of a gauging time series in the rating curve manager plus activation of **<Show>** (by button or context menu); i.e. it "shortens" the procedure.
 - Use the Filter options form to filter the gaugings to be shown, if necessary.

4.1.2 Selecting/filtering measurements

- Otherwise, open the filter dialog by the icon 🛅 or
- activate the main menu entry **Curve fitting Curve fitting**

Filter options	×
Selection Range Derived data points Influence BIBER	all visible and included points selected;
Time range:	
Source parameter (SG [m]): Lower limit 0.1239999 Upper limit 2 Lower limit 0.1239999 0 0.1239999 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
Lower limit 0.1597342 Upper limit 122.02400	
Season 2nd half of calendar year	
<u>Rating curve</u> OT[migrated]	
Select Add selection Remove selection	
Select all Desele <u>c</u> t all	
Selection	
Show selected only 🔽 always display selection	
Include selected only include selection for regression	
Apply plot style for selected points	
+ Standard Plot styles	Close

Fig. 81 Selecting/filtering measurements

- Choose the desired conditions for selection that are connected with each other via AND connections;
- restrict in the **Selection** section the time range for which you want to display values in the graph (from, to; corresponding to the range for which you want to develop a rating curve);

- if desired, you can also restrict the graphical display of your parameters by upper and lower limits for source and target parameters (to do so, activate the respective check boxes and enter the values into the fields for **upper limit** and **lower limit**);
- you can also decide to represent only measurement results of a certain season: to do so, activate the respective check box and choose an entry from the drop-down list;
- if you select a rating curve (activate the check box of the same name), those gaugings are selected which are assigned to the rating curve selected in the drop-down list box.
- To select the measured values according to your filter, activate the **<Select>** button.
- *Please note*: This button deletes all previously selected data from the graph! That means, if you want to maintain existing selections,
- activate the <**Add selection**> button.
- Activating **<Remove selection>** removes the data from the graph which match the criteria set in the current tab page.
- You may also select all gaugings in one step (the **<Select all**> button in the **All** section) or reset all existing selections (the **<Deselect all button**>);
- All measurements not selected will be invisible, if you activate the **<Show selected only**> button (Selection section),
- to consider only the selected measurements for calculation, activate <Include selected only>.¹⁶
- When activating the check boxes **Display selection** and **Include selection for regression**, these conditions are always valid it is not necessary to activate the two buttons specially.
- On the right side of the dialog you will find a history of your selections which is kept until all gauging time series have been removed from the graphic.
- When activating <**Close**> you activate your filter. The gaugings will be shown in the graphics window.
- Please note: You can reload the discharge measurements at any time:
- to do so, activate the icon, if the gaugings are active (if necessary, selection via the drop-down list box of the toolbar).



^{16.} Please take notice of the possibility to show the discharge measurements used for the rating curve calculation also later in the graph (see page 87.)!



Fig. 82 Show measurements

4.1.3 More filter options

In addition, you can also filter by

- Considering influence,
- Filtering/showing artificial data points and
- Gaugings according to BIBER

Use the corresponding tab pages.

4.1.3.1 Considering influence

To select discharge measured values according to their influence,

• open the **Influence** tab page.

Filter options	x
Selection Range Derived data points Influence BIBER Influences: Image: Derived data points Influence BIBER Image: Derived data points Influence BIBER BIBER Image: Derived data points Influence BIBER BIBER Image: Derived data points Influence BIBER BIBER Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data points Image: Derived data poi	all visible and included points selected; Influences/Standard remarks selected; Influences/Standard remarks selected; hide and exclude all none selected values, include and show all selected values;
Select Add selection Remove selection Select all Deselect all Deselect all	
Selection Show selected only Include selected only Include selected only	
Apply plot style for selected points	



• Choose the kind of influence according to which the gaugings should be selected. Use the check boxes (e.g. measurements influenced by backwater, measurements with special qualities or ice conditions).

4.1.3.2 Filtering/showing artificial data points

To select discharge measured values by artificial data points (see page 160.),

• open the **Artificial data points** tab page.

Filter options	X
Selection Range Derived data points Influence BIBER	all visible and included points selected;
SG [m] FQ [m3/s] Type I .250 30.0 theoretical I .700 80.0 theoretical	
Select Add selection Remove selection	
Select all Desele <u>c</u> t all	
Selection Show selected only Include selection or regression Apply plot style for selected points the Standard Standard Standard Standard	
	Close

Fig. 84 Filtering/showing artificial data points

- Activate the check boxes of the artificial data points you want to load into the graph or
- choose all existing ones with <Select all>.
- Confirm with <**Select**> and <**Add selection**> respectively, if you have already filtered gaugings.

4.1.3.3 Gaugings according to BIBER

In order to select discharge measured values via the BIBER database,

• open the **BIBER** or **BIBER 2** tab page.
ter options Selection Range Derived data Image Derived data Image Counter Image Counter Image Counter Image Counter Image Counter	points Influence BIBER S+J	all visible and included points selected; Influences/Standard remarks selected; Influences/Standard remarks selected; hide and exclude all none selected values include and show all selected values;			
Select only BIBER	Gaugings Add selection Remove selection Select all Deselect all				
Select all Deselect all Selection Image: Selected only Show selected only Image: Selection for regression Apply plot style for selected points Image: Plot styles + Standard					



- Use the check boxes to specify the criteria according to which **BIBER** gaugings should be loaded.
 - only measurements taken by a certain team;
 - only measurements taken with certain devices (counter, current meter, current meter body, suspension, propeller).
- Activate the check box **Select only BIBER gaugings**, if all criteria specified above and previously set on the other tab pages have to apply exclusively for discharge measured values from the **BIBER** database.
- All other gaugings are ignored; only the **BIBER** gaugings are treated according to the filter criteria (also those from the other tab pages!).
- In the **BIBER 2** tab page you can additionally select measurements by their assignment to a special device or evaluation program.

Please note: The **BIBER** gaugings can be used in the graph also to activate **BIBER**:

- Use the million to activate the synchronisation mode.
- Select the desired **BIBER** gauging in the graph.

- Activate the Milicon. BIBER is started with this gauging.
- **BIBER** can also be started by the icon **M**, if you have selected exactly one **BIBER** gauging in the filter dialog and displayed it in the graph.
- This process can be carried out also in the table; also here, a **BIBER** gauging must be selected.

SKED identifies automatically that this is a gauging from BIBER.

4.1.4 Graph presettings for gaugings

In the presettings, you can permanently specify the colours and symbols with which the gaugings are displayed in the graph:

• Activate in the Settings form the <Graph settings> button;

ettings	×		
- Method for calculation of the pr	ofile value		
C Manning-Strickler	<u> Binsum B</u>		
-Flow year			
Start month of the water year:	November 💌		
Rating table resolution			
C Automatically	Optimised for single steps		
C <u>E</u> ixed distance: 1			
Power law function			
Force calculation			
C No deviations			
C Deviation according Nobilis	;		
Exact solution			
1			
Graph settings Advanced settings			
OK	Cancel <u>H</u> elp		

Fig. 86 Graph presettings for gaugings

• The Graph settings dialog form is opened:

Γ



Fig. 87 Graph presettings for gaugings and symbols

• Here you can set all styles and symbols as you like.

These presettings will be considered when representing the gaugings in the graph; the gaugings will be displayed one after another with the colours and symbols specified here.

4.1.5 Specifying plot styles for gaugings

It might be useful to select the gaugings according to different time ranges and to colour these selections individually in order to get a better overview. It is possible to provide the selected gaugings with individual plot styles (colours, plot styles, symbols) so that these measurements can optically be distinguished better. A template can be defined here to represent, for example a range of gaugings recorded within a certain time period. Existing templates also exist for example for excluded gaugings and standard gaugings.

- \boxtimes
- To define the graphic styles for the gaugings, activate in the Filter options dialog the <**Plot styles**> button.

The Styles for filtered measurements form is opened.

Style for filtered measurements		×
Style + Standard + excluded from regression + Forcing point + dummy point	Symbol style Style Standard <u>S</u> ymbol: <u>C</u> olour: Fill: Symbol size:	automatically automatically automatically 2.00 2.0
<u>N</u> ew <u>D</u> elete	OK Cancel	Save as template



4.1.5.1 Editing symbol styles

- Four styles have a special meaning:
 - Standard: This style cannot be edited. It results from the options you have specified by the function Tools ⊃ Settings in the Settings form (here use the <Graph settings> button to open the Graph settings dialog form (for the detailed explanation see page 146.).
 - **excluded from regression**: This style is used for excluded measurements. It cannot be deleted, however, edited, if required.
 - **Extrapolation point**: This style is used for extrapolation points. It cannot be deleted, however, edited, if required.
 - **dummy point**: This style is used for dummy gaugings. It cannot be deleted, however, edited, if required.
- The styles **excluded from regression**, **extrapolation point**, **dummy point** cannot be used for filtering; they are implicitly determined by the properties of the gaugings.
- When setting the symbols you will see a special symbol called **automatically**. If you choose this symbol, the representation results from a combination of symbols (see "Combined symbols" on p. 152) and may differ from the symbol type shown when editing the styles.

- As for the setting of colours, you can choose the colours and also the options **automatically**, **brighter** and **darker**. If you choose one of these colours, the representation results from a combination of symbols (see above) and may differ from the colour shown when editing the styles.
- If the Symbol size field remains empty, the representation results of a combination of symbols (see above) and may differ from the symbol size shown when editing the styles.
- In order to save these settings permanently, activate the **<Save as template>** button; otherwise the changes you made are valid for the current session only.

4.1.5.2 Editing symbol styles later: Adapting plot properties

- *Please note*: You can adapt the representation of the symbol styles even after filtering; use the plot dialog for this:
- Activate from the context menu of the graph the function Plot properties or
- activate the toolbar icon <a>[widdle].
 The Plot properties form is opened.
- Open the **Symbol styles** tab page.
- Select in the **Plots** list the time series with the loaded measured values (Qmeas).
- Choose in the Used styles list the desired style and
- change the symbol style in the corresponding section.
- *Please note* the restrictions applying to the symbol styles **standard**, **excluded from regression**, **extrapolation point** and **dummy point** (see page 148.)!

P

properties	
Plots: F@ A V P C*sqrt(I) P k*sqrt(I) Width Mean depth Perimeter Specific flow VoM VoMax	Style Regression sections Symbol styles Label Grid Axis Used styles + Standard Style Standard + excluded from regression + automatically \rightary + dummy point Colour: automatically \rightary Filt automatically \rightary Symbol size: 2.00 \rightary

Fig. 89 Setting symbol styles via the plot properties

4.1.5.3 Examples of how to set graphic styles



Γ

In the following you will find two examples of how to set graphic styles. *Please note* that you either specify the required plot styles first and then select the measured values or you define the time ranges first and insert the measured values and afterwards, define the first style which can be applied to the selection.

1. Example: Specification of two plot styles for different time ranges:

Activate in the Filter options dialog the <Plot styles> button.
 The Styles for filtered measurements form is opened.

Style for filtered measurements		×
Style + Standard + excluded from regression + Forcing point + dummy point	Symbol style Standard Symbol: <u>Symbol:</u> <u>C</u> olour: Fill: Symbol size:	automatically automatically automatically 2.00 2.00
<u>N</u> ew <u>D</u> elete	OK Cancel	Save as template

Fig. 90 Styles for filtered measurements

Existing symbols are present for standard points and excluded gaugings for example. However the next step is to add a new template to represent a range of gaugings.

- Activate the **<New>** button.
- Enter a name in the Style field (e.g. 1993–1994 like in our example).
- Assign a suitable symbol e.g. a star and a colour e.g. red
- Afterwards, activate the **<Save as template>** button.
- *Please note*: Otherwise, your settings are valid only for the current session!
- Activate again the button <New>.
- This time create another template in the same way but call it 1995-. Give it a different symbol and colour (blue, for example).
- Activate <**OK**> to return to the filter dialog.
- First, specify in the filter dialog the first time range (here: from 1993 to 1994).
- Choose from the drop-down list **Apply plot style for selected points:** the entry **1993-1994**.
- Then apply the related gaugings with the **<Select>** button into the graph. The specified values have been plotted with a red symbol.
- The newer gaugings can now be added to the plot in the same way:
- Specify in the filter dialog another data time range (here: from 1995 onwards).
- Activate the< Add selection> button.

- Choose from the drop-down list **Apply plot style for selected points:** the entry **1993-1994**.
- Close the filter dialog.

Г

The specified values have been plotted with a blue symbol.

Second example: All measurements between 20 and 60 cm and between 100 and 200 cm should be represented with a new plot style **Style-1**, all measurements within the time range 1950 and 1960 with **Style-2**, artificial data points with **Style-3** and all other gaugings with the standard style.

- Open the Filter options dialog and create the styles **Style-1** to **Style-3**, if not yet existing.
- Choose the style Standard from the drop-down list and
- insert the gaugings into the graph with <Select all>.
- Choose from the drop-down list **Apply plot style for selected points** the entry **Style-1** and as lower limit of the source parameter 20 and as upper limit 60.
- Activate then the < <**Add selection**> button.
- The next step is to define 100 as lower limit and 200 as upper limit of the source parameter.
- Add this selection to the graph with <Add selection>.
- Choose **Style-2** and a time range from 1950 to 1960.
- Add this selection to the graph with <Add selection>.
- Choose **Style-3**, open the tab page **Artificial data points** and activate the **<Select all>** button.
- After that, all points should be represented in the desired style.

4.1.5.4 Combined symbols

If several symbol styles per gauging are valid, they are combined as follows:

- Standard symbol
- Symbol that was set in the filter dialog during selection
- Dummy gauging (manually added temporary point)
- Extrapolation point
- Excluded

An example:

- The standard symbol is a red cross with a size of 2mm, excluded gaugings are set as a brighter standard symbol (automatically) with a size of 1.5mm, dummy gaugings are set as a circle in standard colour without size indication, Style-1 is a triangle in the standard colour (automatically) without size indication, extrapolation points are set as a star in standard colour with a size of 3mm.
- An excluded gauging filtered with Style-1 is represented as a light red triangle with a size of 1.5mm.
- An included gauging filtered with Style-1 is represented as a red triangle with a size of 2mm.
- An included dummy gauging is represented as a red circle with a size of 2mm.
- An extrapolation point is represented as a red star with a size of 3mm.

4.2 Working with regressions

Γ

SKED offers a list of regression analysis methods to find the best fit through the plotted gaugings. The regression options provided by **SKED** allow regression analysis to be performed for a maximum of ten different segments, where segments may join or overlap each other. Single gaugings can be excluded from the regression analysis.

The regression analysis is the decisive step when developing your rating curve since the shape of the final rating curve is defined using the regression functions of **SKED**.

You generate a rating curve graphically by using the parameters Q_{meas} to create a help function; by means of its graphical course you set and save the descriptor points of the rating curve Q. You determine the help functions with the regression.

4.2.1 Starting the regression

To calculate the regression function

choose the special gauging time series.



Fig. 91 Gaugings selected for the regression

- Activate the *mathematication*
- activate the main menu entry **Curve fitting Curve Regression**.

• The **Regression** form is opened.

📲 Regression: FQ [m3	3/s] = f(SG [m])		_ □ ×
Segment		Regression		
From:	To:	Туре	Degree/Diff.	Correlation coefficient
<u>1</u> . 0.124 <u>+</u>	2 🕂	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	-	
Exclude	🗖 Link			>
2.	×.	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	•	
Exclude	🔲 Link			>
3. 🚍	<u>*</u>	Shifted Power Law (m. n. p by log. trans.)		
Exclude	🗖 Link		,	
		Total correlation co	efficient (linear)	0.797159
Statistics				
<u>Statistical Eval</u>	uation	Show no interval	•	1 -fold
ОК	Apply [2elete Cancel		<u>H</u> elp

Fig. 92 Creating a regression function

The following specifications can be made in this regression dialog:

- change the type of regression (the type specified last is set by default)
- specify regression segments (upper and lower limit)
- connect regression limits of different segments seamlessly
- exclude segments from the recalculation of regression
- change regression coefficients (with the <...>; see page 168. button)
- configure the optimisation of break points (with the **<Optimise limits**>; see page 169. button)
- statistical evaluation (with the respective button; see "Statistical evaluation of regression" on p. 220)
- Specify the regression functions for up to 10 segments. To test the regression with the **Regression** form still being open, activate the **<Apply>** button.

Whenever applying the regression (or when closing the window with $\langle OK \rangle$ respectively), the field **Correlation coefficient** shows dynamically the newly-calculated linear correlation coefficient for each segment, if possible. With that, it is checked whether the regression curve fits in the single regression segments. A coefficient of 1 means a complete correspondence between the gaugings and the

Developing Rating Curves Working with regressions

regression curve. Use the correlation coefficient as an indicator for the adaptation quality of your rating curve you are developing, if you make changes in the single segments, that's to say, change the regression coefficients (see page 168.).

Please note: If you apply non-linear regression methods, the correlation coefficient is internally converted on the basis of a linear model. Such an internal conversion is not possible for polynomials; that's why the field **Correlation coefficient** is then greyed out and empty.



Fig. 93 Regression result in the graph

4.2.2 One example

A range of stage/flow pairs will be plotted on the development screen. Regression options will be set for overlapping segments and the linked segment approach. In order to make repeated adjustments of the regression parameters possible, the regression is stored temporarily as an attempt. So it can be restored, if necessary. Finally, this example describes how to use the finished regression as a rating curve.

One requirement for this is a suitable station with existing measured values; furthermore, the rating curve must have been created already as an empty data container (see page 98.).



Ŀ

- The **Regression** form is opened.
- Complete the first two regression settings as follows:
 - 1. From: 0 To: 0.7 Type: Shifted power law [log. trans.]
 - 2. From: 0.6 To: 1 Type: Shifted power law [log. trans.]
- Activate then the <Apply> button to test the regression and to leave the Regression form open.
- When activating **<OK**>, the regression dialog is closed.
- You should now see 2 horizontal dashed lines across the graph (at 0.6 and 0.7m) at the height of the regression thresholds for each segment.



Fig. 94 Result of a regression with two segments

- The next step is to reopen the regression dialog box and link the regression sections.
- *Please note*: Linking regression segments includes that the upper limit of the lower segment and the lower limit of the upper segment are set to the same value. This procedure is useful, if the threshold is known (e.g. with an exactly measured and unaltered cross section profile).
 - Activate again the icon
 - The **Regression** form is opened.
 - Now delete possibly entered values in the **Degree/ Diff.** box.
 - Activate the check box Link in the first regression segment.

Developing Rating Curves Working with regressions

- After that, the lower limit of the second segment can no longer be edited; it is automatically set to the value of the upper limit of the first segment.
- Activate then the **<Apply>** and **<OK>** buttons.
- Now you can check the changed regression in the graph. The two segments do no longer overlap but have a common limit in the height of the stage at 0.7 m. They are still two separate regressions even if they do no longer overlap as before.



Fig. 95 Result of a regression with two linked segments

Leave the graph open and activate from the main menu the function Curve fitting
 Save fit as attempt.

The graph version will be saved and it can then be edited further without the problem of losing the original. Concerning the temporary saving see page 215.

- Using the mouse, click in the graph on the horizontal dotted line and drag it upwards or downwards.
- As the plot is changed, the original regression is retained as a dotted line. This assists when making comparisons and evaluations.
- Leave the graph open and activate from the main menu the function Curve fitting
 Recover regression from attempt (see page 216.).

The regression is reloaded in the previously saved version.

- Finally, in this use case, an iteration will be applied as a reference curve. Here a rating curve version will be accessed and opened. Some alterations will be made to the version and the curve will be applied as a reference curve.
- Open the Explorer of your special information system and
- select the station for which you have created the rating curve as well as the Q parameter under it.
- Mark in the right part of the window the desired rating curve of that station and open the context menu with the right mouse button. Choose the function **Edit**. The rating curve is displayed in the **SKED** development graph.
- Open the Rating curve management form (see page 96.).
- Choose in the tree view the level Rating curves and expand to Time series.
- Choose here the desired gauging time series.
- Activate the **<Show>** button.
- Close the gaugings filter (see page 139.) and then close the rating curve manager. With that, the gaugings have been loaded.



Please note that the drop-down list for the time series (in the toolbar) now contains the entry **Qmeas** for the gauging time series.

The regression curve can be edited and saved then as rating curve. The rating curve version which was previously empty will then have this curve assigned to it.

For how to do so, please read "Applying the regression results as reference curve (in the graph)" on p. 216

4.2.3 Shifting the regression limits graphically

As well as you can enter the regression parameters in the **Regression** form you can also change the thresholds directly in the graph:



Using the mouse, click on the horizontal dotted line and drag it upwards or downwards.

As the plot is changed, the original regression is retained as a dotted line. This assists when making comparisons and evaluations.

4.3 Regression analysis: Further possible steps

Up to now, you used only the existing (if necessary, filtered) discharge measurements for your rating curve development. In addition however, **SKED** offers you the possibility to change the regression curve by additional influences (see the single chapters for details):

- add artificial data points (see page 160.)
- additional descriptor points (for spline interpolated rating curves; see page 174. and "Inserting/editing descriptor points" on p. 263)
- add dummy gaugings (see page 163.)
- set up to two extrapolation points (for the upper and lower regression range; see page 165.)
- exclude single measured values from the regression (see page 166.).

4.3.1 Setting artificial data points

Artificial data points are for example modelled data points, estimated data points, theoretical data points or similar. They can be used by the hydrologist when a particular gauging does not exist but the value can be accurately estimated. They are weighted like normal measurements and saved with the regression curve without time stamp, i.e. they are not saved in the database. They can be used to recover a regression (see page 218.).

Artificial data points are linked to the flow parameter of a station (generally 'target' parameter). The following specifications are made here:

- assignment to the parameter,
- level value ('Source Value'),
- flow value ('Target Value') and
- origin/ type of artificial data point.

The origin/type of artificial data points are managed in the SKED key list.

Working with artificial data points is divided into three steps (see the single chapters for details):

- "Managing artificial data point types" on p. 161,
- "Creating artificial data points in the SKED"on p. 162,
- "Loading artificial data points in addition to the measurements into the graph"on p. 162.

Г

4.3.1.1 Managing artificial data point types

To manage those types of artificial data points that are selectable later,

- activate the function Tools **C** Key lists.
 - In the **Key lists** form opened now, activate the tab page **Types of artificial data points**.

Tunes of derived data point	sl			
Ni	°∣ ame		1	
nodelled		 		
estimated				Ī
heoretical				
Inknown				
				_
	_	1.		

Fig. 96 Artificial data points: Managing types

Known types are for example:

- modelled data points,
- estimated data points,
- theoretical data points (coming from weir calculations, for example),
- unknown.
- As for a new type, enter its name into the table row.
- Save with <**Apply**> (the dialog remains open) or with <**OK**> (the dialog is closed). Now the types can be selected.

X)

4.3.1.2 Creating artificial data points in the SKED

Creation of artificial data points in **SKED** requires that the measurements of the station are represented in the graph with a corresponding regression.



Г

Activate from the main menu the function Curve fitting
 Manage artificial data points.

The List of derived data points form is opened.

SG	FQ [m3/s]	Туре	Sort by
1.250	30.0	theoretical	▲ C Type
1.700	80.0	theoretical	C Flow
			Stage
			_
			_
			_
			_
			-
			-

Fig. 97 Creating artificial data points in the SKED

- Enter the following stage-flow pairs respectively as follows, for example:
 - S: 180, 190 and 200
 - Q: 1000, 1100 and 1200
- Save with <**Apply**> (the dialog remains open) or with <**OK**> (the dialog is closed).

4.3.1.3 Loading artificial data points in addition to the measurements into the graph

To select discharge measured values by artificial data points (see page 160.),

- open the Filter options form by the icon 🛅 or
- activate the main menu entry **Curve fitting Curve fitting**
- Open in the Filter options form the Artificial data points tab page.

 \mathbf{X}

Filter option	15				
Range	Derived data points	Influence	BIBER	ali visible and included points selected;	
	SG [m] FQ [m3/s] 1.250 30.0 1.700 80.0	Type theoretical theoretical			
Select	: <u>A</u> dd sel Selec	ection	Remove selection Deselect all		
Selection Show Includ Apply plot	Selection Show selected only Include selected only Apply plot style for selected points				
+	Standard		Plot styles	Close	

Fig. 98 Filter by artificial data points

- Activate the check boxes of the artificial data points you want to load into the graph or
- choose all existing ones with <**Select all**>.
- Confirm with <**Select**> and <**Add selection**> respectively, if you have already filtered gaugings.

4.3.2 Using dummy gaugings

If the graphically shown measurements do no represent the total possible stage range, you may add additional (temporary) gaugings into this area so as to influence the regression curve favourably. Dummy gaugings should be added for example, if measurements are missing between certain stages so that the regression generated from the existing measurements does not exactly reflect the probable discharge in this stage range (for example, changes at the river bank at this point are not considered).

Such additional descriptor points are weighted like normal measurements and saved with the regression curve without time stamp, i.e. they are not saved in the database. With that, they can be used to recover a regression (as for the recovery see page 218.).

Creation of dummy gaugings in **SKED** requires that the measurements of the station are represented in the graph with a corresponding regression.

- To do so, follow the instructions in "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on p. 139
 - Ensure that the plotted gaugings are clear. If not change the plot properties to ensure that the cross is black and displayed without a label.





- If not yet done, calculate a regression curve through these measurements. If the curve does not look like as you want it to,
- activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting** ⊃ **Add dummy** gaugings.
- Set the new points in a way that the course of the regression curve is changed as desired (e.g. above the curve in order to shift the curve a little more upwards).
- In order to change the position of the newly-added points,

- activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting** ⊃ **Edit dummy** gaugings or
- activate the toolbar icon 🚓
- Shift the dummy gaugings by the mouse.

4.3.3 Setting extrapolation points

For an area sparsely occupied by measured data, the course of the regression curve can be adapted by setting up to two extrapolation points¹⁷. For the rating curve creation, the extrapolation point can be used for example for the extrapolation in the flood range and the low-flow range, respectively.

Creation of extrapolation points in **SKED** requires that the measurements of the station are represented in the graph with a corresponding regression.

- \boxtimes
- To do so, follow the instructions in "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on p. 139
- To set extrapolation points, activate the icon work
- use the function **Curve fitting Set extrapolation point**.
- In this mode you set with the mouse the desired extrapolation points. Set a point for example within the lower range of the top extrapolation limit (i.e. below the upper dashed line).

For example, for a measurement where the discharge is too low for the stage, an additional extrapolation point may drag the regression downwards and with that adapt the discharge.

^{17.} An extrapolation or forcing point is a fixed point where the regression definitely goes through. In order to achieve this, this point has a weight of 100,000.



Fig. 100 Setting extrapolation point

- The regression could now be saved as a reference curve if the regression is viewed as satisfactory, alternatively it could be edited further.
- To do so, activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting > Apply regression as rating curve**.

4.3.4 Including/excluding measurements

Furthermore, it is possible to exclude single measurements from the regression resp. when saving the regression as reference curve:

- \mathbf{X} Switch to the inclusion/exclusion mode with the 🚟 icon.
 - Select the desired data points.
 - Exclude the selected data points with the olicon or
 - include excluded data points with the o icon.



Please note:

- When editing manual measurements or when including/excluding measurements, the symbols are drawn like in the 'normal' representation. Exception: selected symbols get a black point.
- The included/excluded measurements, their symbols, their colour data etc. are saved with the regression and can therefore be restored. As for the recovery of regressions or rating curve statuses, please read the chapters "Recovering

regressions from attempt"on p. 216 and "Recovering regression from a reference curve"on p. 218

4.3.5 Changing the colours of regression segments

SKED allows you to change the colour of regression segments. Simply start the plot properties to change the colour settings.

If you want to display the segments of a regression in different colours,

• activate the kinetic on the context menu of the graph (to be opened with the right mouse button) the function **Plot properties**.

The **Plot properties** form is opened. Here you can specify the regression segments and also the plot style (e.g. line and line colour), the symbol styles for the representation of the single measured values, labels of the curves and grid settings (colour and style of the current graphic grid) as well as axis settings for splitted/ merged axes of single curves.

• Open the tab page Regression sections.

Plots: Style Regression sections Symbol styles Label Grid Axis Regression sections of the regression Regression sections of the regression Section 1 automatical Section 6 automatical Section 2 Red Section 7 automatical Section 3 Purple Section 8 automatical Section 4 Green Section 9 automatical Section 5 Magente Section 10 automatical Attempt Line style for percentile/standard error Line style for percentile/standard derror Save as template OK Cancel Apply

Fig. 101 Rainbow regression: Showing regression segments in different colours

IX)

- Choose in the **Regression sections** section the line type for the regression segments from the drop-down lists.
- Specify that way in the **Attempt** section the line style for the regression attempt and
- in the **Percentile/standard error** section the line style for the standard error/ percentile.
- As for the specification of colours, you can either choose a colour or activate, i.e. apply the option **automatical**. In the latter case, the colour of the segment depends on the presettings (see page 146.).
- If you want to save the settings permanently, activate the **Save as template**> button.
- If the changes shall apply only for the current session, confirm them with **<Apply>** (dialog remains open) or **<OK>** (dialog is closed).

4.3.6 Changing the coefficients of the regression curve

You may - with great care - change the automatically determined regression coefficients so as to optimise the best fit of your regression curve (and later the rating curve, respectively).

Please note here that the automatically determined regression usually determines the optimal fit of the regression curve compared with the gaugings. Therefore, the curve coefficients should be changed only with great care. Use the correlation coefficients, the cross section geometry and the measured value deviations for orientation purposes.

- Activate in the regression dialog at the right border the <...> button for the regression segment you want to adjust.
- The **Modify regression options** form is opened.

Г

Modify R	egression Options	X
Shifted	Power Law	ОК
From:	0.124	Apply
10.]2 π * (τ. π) - Ρ	Cancel
y=	m (x · n) ·	
£=	5.32431	
<u>n</u> =	-0.803717	



- Change the values for m, n and p from the general rating curve equation $| = d \cdot (\{-f\}^e)$ as required. If a stage-discharge relation is concerned, the formula is as follows: $T(Z) = d \cdot (Z f)^e$.
- Confirm with <**Apply**> or <**OK**> respectively.
- The result of the changed regression is shown in the graph.
- If it is satisfactory to you, you can save the regression curve as attempt (see page 215.).

4.3.7 Automatic break point optimisation

The optimisation variants can be configured so as to ensure an optimal break point optimisation.

- Activate the < Optimise limits > button and
- choose between *full* optimisation and an optimisation *only by intersection point*.
- choose between full optimisation and Optimize only by intersection point.



Please note:

- The break points are immediately optimised.
- The further procedure (editing in the graph) is as usual. Specifying the behaviour at the limits of the branches manually (connecting the regression segments manually with the 🖾 icon; see page 181.) should no longer be necessary.

See the following paragraphs describing the two options of break point optimisation.

• Full optimisation:

The full optimisation varies all segment limits until an optimal solution is found. Only the number and the type of the regression segments remain unaffected. All segment limits are overwritten during optimisation.

Here are the criteria for the search of an optimal solution:

The highest priority is given to the search for intersections with the boundary condition that these points are not found with overlapping but with adjacent segment limits. The second criterion is the search for the maximum total regression coefficient.

At the search beginning, the lower limit of the first segment is set to the lowest and the upper limit of the last segment is set to the highest measurement. Intermediate segment limits are varied in a way that they are always located on or exactly in the middle of two adjacent discharge measurements. An iteration is performed for all possibilities with the exception that segment limits that would lead to a worse regression coefficient are excluded right from the start. If there is an intersection point between two adjacent measurements, the segment limits are shifted to that point and the solution found that way is favoured.

This option is meant for the fully automatic search for segment limits. Experience has shown that to favour intersection points may lead to slightly (mostly minimally) worse regression coefficients, a manual re-editing of the rating curve however is not required.

• Optimise only by intersection point:

This option searches for intersections close to segment limits and sets the segment limits to an intersection found with the boundary condition that the formulae of the segments are not changed. To meet the boundary condition, the points of intersection are searched for only between the next lower and the next higher discharge measurement.

This option is meant for the adjustment of segment limits without having to edit them manually.

Tip: The message window logs the improvement of the adaptation quality. It informs you about the values of the regression coefficient, the mean deviation and the remaining dispersion for each recalculated solution.

and)

Г

4.4 Creating rating curves manually

The following rating curve types offered in **SKED** can be created manually:

- Descriptor points¹⁸
- Power law function

These rating curve types are manually created and edited, respectively, by defining descriptor points. Such points are defined either graphically or in a table (in the "12 box").

How to develop rating curves of the types mentioned above is described in the following.

New rating curves can be created either via the rating curve manager (see page 98.)

Rating curve management	x
✓ V1 ✓ 02[migrated] ✓ V1 ✓ RC ✓ V1 ✓ RC zero flow ✓ V1 ✓ RC2 ✓ formula ✓ New ✓ New-1 ✓ New-3 ✓ V1 ✓ V2 formula ✓ V2 formula ✓ V1	Station Reling curve W Validities Bating Curve Status: invalid Rating Curve Mumber: New Active version number: Source parameter name: Source parameter name: SG Unit of Source: m Unit of Iarget: m3/s Select function for enhanced rating curve calculation: active version For selected function not equal to the 'active version' the names of the versions must be numerical! Remark: Last changed by:
01/01/195(V Ta: 19/01/2005 V Elot I	write DK Cancel Apply

Fig. 103 Creating rating curves via the rating curve manager

or the rating curve wizard (see page 90.).

^{18.} This new rating curve type replaces from the program version 6.4 on the previous types Table (Spline), Table (linear) and Table (power law).

New rating curve version	×
	Type: Table (Spine) The type cannot be change afterwards! Image: Spinor Spin
	< <u>Z</u> urück <u>W</u> eiter > Abbrechen

Fig. 104 Creating rating curves via the wizard

• After you have entered the necessary data and selected the rating curve type, activate <**Next**>. The last wizard dialog is opened.



Fig. 105 Creating rating curves

• Activate the check box Enter rating curve data manually;

this opens automatically the type specific "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

è 🖦 📲 種 🚔		↓	OK
S [cm]	Q [m*/s]		Cancel
17.02	0.045	▲	Applu
29.29	0.101		
41.55	0.189		Help
53.81	0.316		
58.36	0.374		
59.03	0.383		
60.00	0.397		
60.44	0.407		
Transformation			
<u>D</u> omain:	Log/Log-Domain		<u> </u>
Log-Offset:	0	cm	
🔲 Fit graph axes aut	omatically		

Fig. 106 Manual development of a rating curve (example: type Descriptor points)

- Enter the S/Q value pairs manually in the table.
- Or activate in the last dialog the check box **Show and edit the rating curve** graphically;

With that you can view and edit the rating curve in a graph.

• Finish the creation by activating **<Finish**>.

If the check box **Show and edit the rating curve graphically** is activated, you can add further descriptor points to your rating curve:

- Switch to the insertion mode with the 🔩 icon.
- Set new descriptor points by the mouse.
- Finally, save the new rating curve filled that way by the 🖬 icon.
- Please note:
 - Alternatively, you can fill the new rating curve also by applying the regression result (see page 215.) and

• edit the rating curve in a graph or table by the 🔤 icon of the toolbar or the 🗩 icon to edit the descriptor points.

4.4.1 Descriptor points

This new rating curve type replaces from the program version 6.4 on the previous types Table (Spline), Table (linear) and Table (power law).

- Specify for the new version the rating curve type **Descriptor points**.
- *Please read* in this context also "Your "guide": Overview of the rating curve types" on p. 42 The Tab. 2, p. 44 gives you an overview of all rating curve types.
- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter data**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

2/001.0			
) escriptor	<u> </u>		
là 🖫 📲 種 🦂	7 C M A	. ⊜	OK
S [cm]	Q [m*/s]		Cancel
17.02	0.045	▲	Applu
29.29	0.101		Арру
41.55	0.189		<u>H</u> elp
53.81	0.316		
58.36	0.374		
59.03	0.383		
60.00	0.397		
60.44	0.407	•	
Transformation			
riansionnauori			
<u>D</u> omain:	Log/Log-Domain		_
Log-Offset:	0	cm	
📕 Fit graph axes aut	omatically		
Interpolation			
Interpolation methods	Step	-	1

Fig. 107 Manual development of a rating curve (type: Descriptor points)

In the **Transformation** section you can define in the drop-down list box **Domain** the type of transformation:



- none: Interpolation according to selection below
- **Log/Log domain**: Transformation of values in a double-logarithmic view ("log-log") with subsequent linear interpolation
- *Please note*: If with interpolated descriptor points the first descriptor point is specified with any desired stage and a discharge of zero, and if the domain selected is **Log/Log** it is always interpolated between the discharge zero and the second descriptor point, irrespective of the defined interpolation type!
- **Power 2/5**: Interpolation through a power law function with a fix exponent of 2/5. Corresponding to the hydraulic base equation according to Manning-Strickler the relation between S and Q**(2/5) is a straight line. If all gaugings are transformed analogously, the rating curves can be constructed by means of straight lines or through a linear regression calculation accordingly. For the calculation of discharge the backwards transformation of the constructed straight line with the exponent 5/2 is carried out.
- Section **Interpolation**: Interpolation between the descriptor points is carried out by the following methods:
 - Akima spline
 - cubic spline
 - linear interpolation
 - parametric spline
 - step
- Specify the offset for the log/log representation (alpha value for the coordinate conversion; is deducted in the graph prior to logarithmization).
 See Activating double logarithmic display" on p. 120.

See "Activating double logarithmic display"on p. 130

- If you activate the check box **Fit graph axes automatically**, the axes in the **SKED** graph are shown in accordance with the selected type of transformation (linear axis sectioning, if no transformation was chosen, logarithmic sectioning with the log/log view).
- The transformation and interpolation with this rating curve type corresponds to the previous types Table (Spline), Table (linear) and Table (power law) as follows:
 - Table (spline): no domain, interpolation with cubic splines
 - Table (linear): no domain, linear interpolation
 - table (power law): domain log/log, linear interpolation

P

4.4.1.1 Presetting: number and distribution of descriptor points

The number and distribution of descriptor points is configurable:

- Activate the function Tools **Control** Settings.
- Activate in the **Settings** dialog the **<Advanced settings**> button.
- Specify in the **Advanced settings** dialog the total number and distribution of descriptor points on the lower and middle rating curve range. The remaining percents apply to the remaining data range. Here you also specify the calculation of the distribution (default setting: *Logarithmic (normalised)*).



Fig. 108 Presetting: number and distribution of descriptor points (type Descriptor points)

4.4.1.2 Editing: Set descriptor points more densely/thin out

For a better construction it is possible to insert or delete interpolated descriptor points automatically:



• Activate the 😹 icon to add descriptor points.

- Activate the icon to delete the additionally inserted descriptor points step-bystep.
- P
- Please note:
- Inserting or deleting such additional descriptor points has NO effect on the rating curve! They are just further editing points useful for your construction.

4.4.2 Power law function

For quite a long time, the power law function has replaced the 3-/5-/7-point method; now up to 20 points can be set.

You can make presettings for the power law method; see "Power law function: Configurations" on p. 209

- Specify for the new version the rating curve type **Power law function**.
- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

AUL/Q - Q/C	1.1				×
Support points:			Coefficents for	Q(₩) = a * (₩ · c) ^ b	
W [m]	Q [m3/s]		ln(a)	b	С
0.10	0.0000	<u> </u>	2.3987	2.6084	
0.20	0.0268		1.8213	5 2.2505	
0.30	0.1637				
0.40	0.4078				
0.50	0.7791				
					•
			•		•
		-	Coloulato	1	
			Galculate		210/20

Fig. 109 Manual development of a rating curve (type: power law function)

- Either edit manually the descriptor points in the upper table or
- activate the <Edit coefficients> button and
- edit them in the table below (the single coefficients are described in "Power law function: Configurations" on p. 209).
- Alternatively, activate the check box **Show and edit the rating curve** graphically;

With that you can view and edit the rating curve in a graph.

- Finish the creation by activating **<Finish>**. If the check box **Show and edit the rating curve graphically** is activated, you can add further descriptor points to your rating curve:
- 🗴 Switch to the insertion mode with the 🔩 icon.
 - Set new descriptor points by the mouse.

- Finally, save the new rating curve filled that way by the 🖬 icon.
- Alternatively, you can fill the new rating curve also by applying the regression result (see page 215.) and
- edit it in a graph or table (by the imes icon in the table or by the imes icon to edit the descriptor points (edit plots)).

Г

4.5 Developing rating curves with regression methods

In **SKED** you can use the following rating curve types being created with regressions:

- Power law in sections (including manual editing of the regression segments)
- Extended power law method
- Formula in sections

These methods are described in detail in the following.

4.5.1 Power law in sections

For multi-segment regressions, you can achieve a more exactly regression result if you use separate regression functions for the single rating curve segment. However, this will mean a gap in the rating curve where two regressions meet the same threshold. Two flow values exist at this point for one stage value (the "Zorro" effect). Here you need to re-edit the thresholds of the regression segments manually (see page 181.), this will solve the problem of disconnected regression sections or double flow values for one stage value. Here we distinguish between two different methods:

- Straight line fitand
- Continuation.

For the power law in sections, admissible tolerances for non-constant rating curves with regard to direction and base unit (usually [m]) of the source and target values are considered in two successive sections. These tolerances can be configured in the **Advanced settings** dialog.

The Power law in sections can be regarded as a "copy function" since the main procedure is here to copy the regression results into an attempt or into the final rating curve (see page 215.).

The Power law in sections is carried out either by regression or by manually editing the rating curve equation (using the "12 box").



These methods are described in detail in the following. See also "How to operate this functionality" on p. 181



- Specify for the new version the rating curve type **Power law in sections**.
- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**, if the coefficients of the power function are already known;

this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

Newby Bridge Fms/FQ - FQ/RC2.New-2					×
<u>C</u> oefficients	FQ(S	G) = c*(SG - a	а)^Ъ		
Lower limit [m]	Upper li	C	b	a [m]	In(c)
					<u> </u>
					-
•	· · · ·				
		<u>0</u> K		Cancel	Apply

Fig. 110 Manual development of a rating curve, type: Power law in sections

- Enter the function coefficients in the table; for example
 - Lower limit = 0.3
 - Upper limit = 1.5
 - c = 5
 - a (m) = 0.2
 - b = 1.8
- Alternatively, you can fill the new rating curve also by applying the regression result (see page 215.) and
- edit it in a graph or table (by the 🔤 icon in the toolbar or by the 💉 icon to edit the descriptor points).
 - Please note:
 - Applying by copying from the regression is possible only if all segments have been calculated with power formulae!
 - Editing the coefficients in the table using the "12 box" is possible only if the rating curve is not copied from a regression. Otherwise, the coefficients can be displayed, but not be edited. Thus, the "12 box" can be activated any time; however, it is editable only, if the rating curve is not copied from a regression.
- Activate <**Apply**>.

The graph is updated based on the new formula.

P

Г
4.5.2 Power law in sections: Manual re-editing

The manual re-editing of segment limits with the 🔟 icon is carried out on the basis of the reference curve and is used to join segments. Possibilities are:

- Straight line fitand
- Continuation.

Please note: The manual changes made to segments are lost, when the edited segments are included in the regression and the results of the regression are applied as a reference curve during the re-iteration.

4.5.2.1 How to operate this functionality



Please note the following hints:

- Manual editing is carried out for the rating curve desired; for this, the result of the regression must have been copied into the rating curve before; in addition, it is possible to save the results in the course of the rating curve development as attempt. These procedures are explained in "Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve" on p. 215
- The used gaugings can be switched off by the toolbar; for how to do so, see "Including/excluding measurements" on p. 166
- You can shift the thresholds of the regression segments (if existing and visible) graphically by the mouse; however, this is possible only, if the segments do not contact each other.

If you move the mouse pointer during the manual editing over limits of regression segments or intersections, a window is opened showing you the environment of this point including stage and discharge.



Fig. 111 Display of information of the environment of intersections and segment limits of the regression

• When editing manual measurements or when including/excluding measurements, the symbols are drawn like in the 'normal' representation. Exception: Selected symbols get a black point.

4.5.2.2 Straight line fit

In the following you will learn how to connect regression segments using the straight line fit. A regression in two segments is taken as basis (i.e. with one change-point between the segments).

The straight line fit can be activated on the basis of the reference curve and will be carried out in the log-log scale of the reference curve. Two points will be automatically added as anchor points at the end of the upper and lower segment. Both points can track each curve on either segment. During the tracking, a straight line will appear when flow increases with increasing stage.

Generally both points can be moved to join the segments. Examples for moving a single point are illustrated by the following figures.



Fig. 112 Straight line fit in log-log scale

Proceed as follows:



- Activate in the first segment the check box **Link**. With that the lower limit of the second segment is automatically set to the upper limit of the first segment.
- *Apply* the result of the regression into your rating curve (button of the same name). The regression curve is applied into the graph;
 - *Please note* that this curve is active (by selection in the drop-down list box of the toolbar).

The result could be as follows:

 \mathbf{X}

ſ



Fig. 113 Result of a regression in two segments (not overlapping)

Two flow values exist for one stage value; this is corrected by the straight line fit.

• Activate the 趏 icon.

The Manual editing form is opened.

Γ



Fig. 114 Manual editing: Straight line fit

- Click on the left anchor point for example and keep the left mouse button held down.
- Drag the point downwards.
- The illustration below shows how the anchor point is dragged down and so allows the gap to be accurately bridged.



Fig. 115 Result of the straight line fit for two regression segments

4.5.2.3 Continuation

In the following you will learn how to connect two regression segments in one rating curve by extending one segment.

The continuation algorithm will join the segments by

- Extrapolating the lower segment to join the upper segment or
- Extrapolating the upper segment to join the lower segment.

In the case of two possible intersection points, SKED will prompt the user to choose the segment to be extrapolated.

When joining the segments by continuation the threshold will be shifted accordingly.



Fig. 116 Using extrapolation to join two single segments

Proceed as follows:

 \boxtimes

ſ٢

- Create a regression in two segments with the lower limit of the first segment and the upper limit of the second segment being identical.
- Activate in the first segment the check box **Link**. With that the lower limit of the second segment is automatically set to the upper limit of the first segment.
- Apply the result of the regression into your rating curve (button of the same name). The regression curve is applied into the graph;
- *Please note* that this curve is active (by selection in the drop-down list box of the toolbar).

The result could be as follows:



Fig. 117 Result of a regression in two segments (not overlapping)

Two flow values exist for one stage value; this is corrected by extending the segments.

• Activate the 📶 icon.

The Manual editing form is opened.

Γ



Fig. 118 Manual editing: Continuation of rating curve segments

- Place the mouse on the red horizontal line and,
- with the right mouse button held down, drag the threshold value downwards. The anticipated point of intersection is shown by the black cross.
- Release the left mouse button at this point.
- Now drag the upper line to the lower cross point.
 The illustration below shows the result of this operation: The two segments of a regression have been connected by continuation.

This basically involves extrapolating one segment of the rating curve to meet the other. In this case the upper regression segment has been extrapolated downwards. However the lower segment could also be extended upwards to meet the segment above if the situation so demanded.



Fig. 119 Result of connecting two regression segments by continuation

Γ



Fig. 120 Result of the power law in sections

4.5.3 Extended power law method

Development of rating curves by the extended power law is done with one branch and regression over all measuring points; included measurements are inserted via the "12 box", the rating curve power law function is determined with the least square method of the logarithmic values (and minimisation according to Verbund AG/Austria¹⁹ respectively); you can *force a zero crossing* and shift the rating curve in parallel.



Specify for the new version the rating curve type **Extended power law**.

^{19.} Please read in this context also the hints in Appendix "Calculating Rating Curves with the Extended Power Method" on p. 331 Here the chapter "Least square method of the logarithmic values" on p. 332 explains in detail the background of this kind of rating curve development; the Verbund specific method is described in "Least square method according to the "Verbund" on p. 332

- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

/ AggerAblaul	/ <mark>Qpeg - Qpeg/18-</mark> : unkte:	Lerwpoty	na erzwinaen	Eingeschlos	sene Messungen (einfügen
Datum	Wpeg [cm]	Qpeg [m*/s]	Status	Wmess-Wber	Qber	Qmess-
						4
41						
<u> </u>						
Formel: KEINE LÖ) SUNG: Zu wenige gi	iltige Werte für versch	iobene Potena	funktion		
festes C: 1.	#J Parallelve	rschiebung: 0,00	_			
Zielfunktion: Mi	nimierung der Fehlerqu	adrate der log. Werte	· 0	k Abbrechen	Übernehmen	<u>H</u> ilfe

Fig. 121 Manual development of a rating curve (type: Extended power law)

Please note: The "12 pox" can be opened any time with the icon.

- First of all, activate the <Insert included measurements> button and
- apply the result into the graph
- If your rating curve does not look as you want it to, check whether it would be useful to select your measurements by the filter dialog! If necessary, select the measurements again and activate the **<Insert included measurements**> button.
- For this method, a fixed C can be preset (corresponds to "S+c" from the S/Q formula).

Alternatively, there is only one option:

- You can *force a zero crossing* here.
- As an additional factor of influence you can define a parallel shift in y-direction.
- Select a target function: Least squares of the log. values or minimisation according to Verbund AG/Austria.
- Finish the creation by activating **<Finish**>.
- Finally, save the new rating curve filled that way by the 🖬 icon.

Please note: This method does not require copying from the regression since a simplified method was integrated.

P

Г

 You can edit the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in a graph or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in the toolbar or table (by the million in the toolbar or by the rating curve in the table (by the million in the toolbar or by the million in the toolbar or table (by the million in the toolbar or by table (by the million in the toolbar or table (by the million in the toolbar or by table (by the table (by the table (by the table (by the table (by tabl

4.5.4 Using the regression for manual rating curve development

The following rating curve types with manual entry of the coefficients (see page 171.) can also be developed with the regression method:

- Descriptor points,
- Power law function when all segments are power law formulae,
- Power law in sections when all segments are power law formulae,
- Formula in sections when all segments are power law formulae and
- Free formula.

ዏ

Please note: Here, the regression results are applied by copying them into the rating curve version!

For the types

- Descriptor points and
- Power law function

descriptor points are generated from the regression results. The resulting rating curve may then slightly differ from the regression curve.

For the types **Power law in sections**, **Formula in sections** and **Free formula** the whole regression formula is copied. Thus, the result corresponds to the regression formula.



Please note: With the types **Formula in sections** and **Free formula** you can copy the regression and also *rating curve calculation formulae* into the rating curve. See "Formula rating curve" on p. 199



• To do so, you have to determine the desired regression first,

- then switch to the desired rating curve version (which must belong to the mentioned types) and
- activate the icon **m**.
- To control it, activate the icon 🔤 afterwards.

Depending on the version type, the table to edit is opened; for the free formula, the corresponding formula is opened:

Free formula rating curve	×
Formula	
<pre>if value(1) > 500 then result = value(1) - 500 elseif value(1) > 250 then result = value(1) - 250 else result = value(1) / 10 endif elseif value (1) < 5 then result = errorvalue else result = value(1) * 20 endif </pre>	
Lower limit 0 [cm] X. [cm] Example Formula: 1.5*(0.21-v) ^ 1.5	
Lower mile Composition Composition <thcomposition< th=""> <thcomposition< th=""></thcomposition<></thcomposition<>	5
Integration / derivation Formula integrate lower limit: [cm] View result formula View result formula deviate View result formula View result formula	
Time-dependent formula Time-dependent variable is the time Measurement grid in [s] Formula example:	
Valid from 29/01/2008 To: 29/01/2008 result = sin(t)	
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply He	lp

Fig. 122 Copy regression function (example Free formula)

4.5.5 Formula in sections

SKED is now able to construct polynomial rating curves in sections. For this, the following functionalities have been developed:

- Display of inflection points for polynomial functions
- Implementation of the rating curve type Formula in sections with the features:
 - New rating curve type Formula in sections,
 - Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections: Selection of intercepting points
 Fitting in an additional polynomial function of the third degree as a transition curve
 - Extrapolation of rating curve with a polynomial function and extrapolation points

Г

- \mathcal{P}
- *Please note*: The appendix "The rating curve type Formula in sections" on p. 379 describes these features in detail.

Note the standard workflow (analysis of gaugings and artificial data points, followed by regression analysis and rating curve construction): It is applied to the construction of rating curves of type **Formula in sections** as well.

In the main, the construction with the **Formula in sections** method is a combination of the methods **Free formula** (see page 199.) and **Power law in sections** (see page 179.).

- The calculated regression curves can be re-edited manually with the 🖆 icon in the **Manual editing** form so as to get a rating curve of good shape (see page 181.).
- In contrast to the re-editing options for the power law in sections, you can here only choose between the transition functions Linear and Cubic Hermite spline (polynomial of third order).
- You can also add descriptor points; see here the cursor: It changes to a plus sign if section limits are exceeded or subceeded.
- Please take also note of the possibility to show the reversals of the rating curves and measurements in the graph: This is an indication for the quality of your constructed rating curve. Reversals are displayed only if set so with the function Tools
 Settings in the Advanced settings dialog (can delay the representation!).

Proceed as follows to create such a rating curve:

- Specify for the new version the rating curve type Formula in sections.
- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can enter the calculation formulae for the new rating curve.

X)

st the We	st 01/FQ - FQ/	1.1	
Rating curv	e sections		
from	to	Formula	
15.8	31.0	-1.13351481 + 0.1332930245 * x - 0.005349060609 * x^2 + 9.351723594e-005	5
31.0	69.4	rem correlation coeff. = result = -0.666991527 + 0.01315997167 * x^1 + 0.0009	Э
69.4	100	rem correlation coeff. = result = -12.85980935 + 0.4639538333 * x^1 - 0.00469	4
100	121	19.25237976 - 0.2364994984 * x - 0.0003188852826 * x^2 + 1.824188517e-00)
121	170	rem correlation coeff. = result = 225.4003276 - 5.386990298 * x^1 + 0.0425731	1
Add forr	mula	Edit Delete form	ula
		OK Apply Cano	el

Fig. 123 Manual development of a rating curve (type: Formula in sections)

Please note: The "12 box" can be opened any time with the 🔤 icon.

- Activate the <Insert formula> button to record calculation formulae manually or
- use the function Edit Copy rating curve to import calculation formulae from other rating curves.

For the manual editing of the formula the same dialog is opened here as for rating curves of type **Free formula**.

- Activating < Edit> you can edit existing section formulae.
- With < Delete formula> you can reset the rating curve calculation.

When constructing rating curves by applying the Formula in sections method, admissible tolerances for non-constant rating curves with regard to direction and base unit (usually [m]) of the source and target values are considered in two successive sections. These tolerances can be configured in the **Advanced settings** dialog.

See the detailed description of how to work with free formulae in "Formula rating curve" on p. 199

That chapter also explains how to copy *rating curve calculation formulae* into rating curves of the types **Formula in sections** and **Free formula**.

Ø

Г

 \mathcal{P}

4.6 Using theoretical approaches for the development

Rating curve types in **SKED** using theoretical approaches for the development are:

- Rectangular weir
- V notch weir

IX

• Formula rating curve

4.6.1 Rectangular weir

- Specify for the new version the rating curve type Rectangular weir formula.
 - After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
 - Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

Rating cu	urve for F	ectangula	ar weirs	×
Formula				
Q =	$\frac{2}{3} \cdot \mu \cdot b$	$\sqrt{2 \cdot g}$	$\overline{\left(W - W_0 \right)^{\frac{3}{2}}} [m3/2]$	s]
Ь	0	[cm] -]	Wyngr
8	9.81	[m/s²]		
W_0	0	[cm]		W
μ	0			W_0
Wmax	1	[cm]		
			Ok Cancel	Apply

Fig. 124 Theoretical approaches for the development: Rectangular weir formula

• Edit the formula as follows:

Developing Rating Curves Using theoretical approaches for the development

• Apply your changes or close the window with <OK>.

4.6.2 V notch weir

Γ

- \times Specify for the new version the rating curve type V notch weir formula.
 - After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
 - Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.



Fig. 125 Theoretical approaches for the development: V notch weir formula

• Edit the formula as follows:

$$\mathbf{Q}(\mathbf{W}) = \frac{8}{15} \cdot \mu \cdot \tan \frac{\alpha}{2} \cdot \sqrt{2 \cdot \mathbf{g}} \cdot (\mathbf{W} - \mathbf{W}_0)^{5.22}$$

• Apply your changes or close the window with **<OK>**.

4.6.3 Formula rating curve

You can develop rating curves by yourself using formulae.

- Specify for the new version the rating curve type **Free formula**.
- After you have entered the necessary data, activate <Next>.
- Activate in the next dialog the check box **Enter rating curve data manually**; this opens automatically the "12 box" where you can manually enter data for the new rating curve in the table.

 $|X\rangle$

Free formula rating curve	×
Formula	
<pre>if value(1) > 500 then result = value(1) - 500 elseif value(1) > 250 then result = value(1) - 250 else result = value(1) / 10 endif elseif value (1) < 5 then result = errorvalue else result = value(1) * 20 endif </pre>	•
Lower limit: 0 [cm] ×: [cm] Example Formula: 1.5 * (0.21 - x) ^ 1.5	
Upper limit: 1 [cm] y: [m²/s] Example KiBasic Script: result = 1.5 * (0.21 -x) ^	1.5
Integration / derivation Formula integrate lower limit: [0 [cm] View result formula	
Time-dependent formula	
Independent variable is the time Measurement grid in [s] Formula example:	
Valid from 29/01/2008 To: 29/01/2008 result = sin(t)	
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply	<u>i</u> elp

Fig. 126 Formula rating curve

- Edit the formula as desired.
- Enter in the fields **Upper limit** and **Lower limit** the limits for the total plausible range for which the rating curve will be valid.
- Use the check boxes in the Integration/Derivation section to create a mathematical integration or derivation. Here a calculation script is generated which can be opened with the **<View result formula>** button.
- This dialog can also be used to specify a *time-dependent formula*: see the description in "How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method" on p. 425.

Please note: It is possible to import regression results and calculation formulae from any loaded rating curve, irrespective of the type, into that rating curve type:

Activate the funcion **Edit Copy rating curve**.

The Copy from rating curve dialog is opened:

Г

Co	Copy from rating curve			
Г	- Copy fron	n rating curve		
	Source	(Q/001.I Q/001.b		
	Targi	Q/001.23		
		OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp		

Fig. 127 Copy rating curves in formulae

- Select the rating curve from which you want to import the calculation formula into the current target rating curve.
- *Please note*: This is possibly only for target rating curves of the types **Formula in** sections and Free formula.
- Confirm with **<OK>** and specify in the dialog opened now whether existing rating curve sections are maintained or deleted and set again.

Only those sections are overwritten that are completely covered by the sections from the source rating curve.

All formula entries are explained in the Appendix "Functions available for the Formula Rating Curve"on p. 365

P

4.7 Envelope curves

Г

P

All methods of development mentioned above can be used to develop envelope curves. Here you develop an upper and a lower envelope curve (e.g. winter and summer curve).

This rating curve type is used in the Eta method; see also the Appendix (chapter "The Eta Method" on p. 319).

Please note: Development of envelope curves by regression methods should be carried out very carefully since it is envelope curves that must be developed instead of balance curves.

How to create an envelope curve is explained in "Creating a rating curve" on p. 90

4.8 More options for the rating curve development

When developing your rating curve, you can use further options that are important especially for the extrapolation:

- Loading cross section profiles and viewing them in a graph
- Editing/assessing a rating curve in velocity mode
- Extrapolating the rating curves with profile and velocity data
- Regression and rating curve development via products
- Calculating rating curve for a fixed Eta
- Editing/assessing a rating curve in velocity mode

Furthermore, an extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler is available as well; this is described in a separate chapter of the Appendix (see page 399.).

4.8.1 Loading cross section profiles and viewing them in a graph

To support the development of your rating curve, you can load existing cross section data (river cross section) into your graph. Here it might be helpful to represent the river cross section visually, so that the extrapolation, for example, is based on the actual geographical conditions.

- Select the special gauging time series.
 - Activate the 🚾 icon.

Cross section profiles				
Position left top (0 - 1000) Width x: 0 0 wisible y: 0 0 wisible				
Cross section profiles				
Wet profile: Wet profile (11/16/1999)				
Dry profile: Cross section profile (1/1/1980)				
Plots in layout				
✓ A [m ²]				
Profile				
OK Cancel Apply				

Fig. 128 Overlay cross section profiles

- Activate in the **Profiles** form in the **Curves in the layout** section the check box **Cross section sketch**.
- Confirm with <OK>.
- The cross section profile is loaded into the graph and overlays the rating curve, i.e. the regression result.

Γ



Fig. 129 Overlay cross section profiles: Result

4.8.2 Editing/assessing a rating curve in velocity mode

Rating curves can be represented, assessed and changed, if required (if, for example, the rating curve is not plausible) also as velocity curves (v(S)) by means of the profile area flowed through $(A_{prof(S)})$. Here, the cross section profile and the velocity are evaluated by representing the rating curve and editing it as v(S). The result of the displayed rating curve corresponds to the quotient of discharge by area (which is firmly predefined by the profile area), i.e. is the velocity. Changes based on this operation are recalculated directly into the rating curve.

This method of developing a rating curve is applied for spline interpolated curves.

Activate the toolbar icon \underline{s} . The program generates the representation of the rating curve via the formula v(W)=Q(W)/Aprof(W) under consideration of the profile area and shows it in the graph.

• After that, the graph can be edited with the standard tools.

X



Fig. 130 Considering the profile area for the rating curve representation

4.8.3 Extrapolating the rating curves with profile and velocity data

To extrapolate rating curves, you use for example A and v parameters. The product Q=A.v describes the rating curve where the A and v parameters can be extrapolated beyond the measured value range better than the actual rating curve.

Since the area values A_{meas} for high stages usually are not available, you can use here directly the "real" dry profile data (A_{prof}) instead of the extrapolation of A_{meas} . Compared with the regression via A_{meas} , this procedure should be preferred particularly at divided cross sections.

Alternatively, also the profile coefficient P_{prof} and $C\sqrt{i}$ (from the measurement) can be used. P_{prof} can be calculated from the profile data up to the extrapolation point.

A rating curve is extrapolated by determining a regression function with the parameters A for example, by determining a regression function with the parameters v, setting and saving the descriptor points of the rating curve based on the graphical

course of the product $A_{prof}^* v_{reg}$. Thus, the product is used to extrapolate the rating curve.

Create the regression functions for A and v (see page 154.). The product curve A*v will be calculated and shown immediately, provided that you have made the special settings in the Rating curve management (see page 96.). Alternatively, you can make the product curve visible via the curve dialog (see "Hiding plots" on p. 252).





- Select the rating curve.
- Switch to the insertion mode with the 🚓 icon.
- Based on the regression function you set the new descriptor points by the mouse.
- Activate the icon 🖬 to save the rating curve.

X

4.8.4 Regression and rating curve development via products

The regression cannot be carried out only via Q but also via various products; the results can be displayed as regression curve:

- A_{prof}*V_{meas}
- A_{prof}

Г

P

- P[']_{prof}*C√i
- Q_{meas}/P_{prof}
- P_{prof}
- Cross section profile

Here you define existing cross section data and represent them graphically. Special presettings are needed for this; see the following explanations.

Please note: This method can also be applied when assessing your rating curve (see page 227.).

4.8.4.1 Specifying settings for the representation of the cross section profile

Choose the menu Tools Settings.

Settings X					
Method for calculation of the profile value O Manning-Strickler O Binsum					
Flow year Start month of the water year: November					
Rating table resolution C Automatically C Eixed distance:					
Power law function					
C No deviations C Deviation according Nobilis C Exact solution					
Graph settings					
OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp					

Fig. 132 Evaluations: cross section profiles (settings)

- In the **Settings** form choose:
 - the method to calculate the profile value (Manning-Strickler or Rinsum),²⁰
 - the first month of the water year,
 - the rating table resolution (Automatically, Fixed distance or Optimised for steps of one) and
 - data concerning the power law function.

This data is explained in the following.

4.8.4.2 Resolution of the rating table

The resolution of the table influences the stage-discharge relation. In the Settings you can define the step unit of the table values. The step unit is always rounded: e.g. 0.1, 0.2, ... or 1.0, 2.0, ...

There are three settings possible:

- **Optimised for steps of one**: Smax-Smin < 10 or Smax-Smin >= 1,000 : dS is chosen in a way that between 100 and 1,000 steps are represented. Otherwise the step unit is 1.
- Automatic: dS is chosen in a way that between 100 and 1,000 steps are represented.
- **Fixed distance**: dS can be fixed.

4.8.4.3 Power law function: Configurations

In the section **Power law function**, you can preset the following parameters for rating curves of this type (where deviations at the intersections (every 2nd descriptor point) of the single rating curve branches are output):

- no deviations,
- deviation according Nobilis or
- exact solution.

With Deviation according Nobilis the following calculation instructions apply:

Y = discharge of the decriptor point

^{20.} The profile value must be calculated according to Manning-Strickler, if you want to carry out the extrapolation; see "Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler" on p. 399

L = discharge with X - 1R = discharge with X + 1

DQ1 = Y - L DQ2 = R - Y DDQabs = DQ2 - DQ1DDQrel = DDQabs * 100 / DQ1

With exact solution the following calculation instructions apply:

X = stage of the descriptor point

f ' left = Gradient of the left segment at the descriptor point in %

= 100 * b * a * (X - c) ^ (b - 1)

f'rechts = gradient of the right segment at the descriptor point in %

 $= 100 * b * a * (X - c) ^ (b - 1)$

f'links - f'rechts = difference of the gradients in %

= f'links - f'rechts

```
alpha = atan( (f'links - f'rechts) / 100) / 4 / acos(0) * 360;
```

In case of a vertical shift one can expect with both methods differences in the deviations.



Fig. 133 Evaluations: cross section profiles (power law function)

• When activating the check box **Force calculation**, a solid rating curve is always created, even if the parameters of Q = a*(S-c)^b cannot be determined by iteration.

• See the information about the power law method in "Power law function" on p. 177

4.8.4.4 Activating settings

- X A
 - Activate <**OK**>.
 - Since your settings will become effective only after a new start, you have to restart **SKED**.

4.8.4.5 Viewing cross section profiles in a graph

- Select the special rating curve.
 - Activate the 赋 icon.

Cross section profiles
Position left top (0 - 1000) Width x 0 0 Estimate y: 0 0 Estimate
Cross section profiles
Wet profile: Wet profile (11/16/1999)
Dry profile: Cross section profile (1/1/1980)
Plots in layout
OK Cancel Apply

Fig. 134 Evaluations: cross section profiles

• In the **Cross section profiles** form you choose the special humid or dry profile as well as the curves to the shown (A, P or profile).

In addition you can decide here whether to ignore wet profiles;

- to do so, activate the check box **Only dry profiles**.
- The cross section profiles, sorted in x-direction, are represented in a separate window the position and width of which can be determined by yourself.
- To do so, activate the check box Visible.

• Confirm with **<OK>**.

These are the curves (and products) which are shown in the graph:

- A_{prof}*V_{meas}
- A_{prof}
- P_{prof}*C√i
- Q_{meas}/P_{prof}
- P_{prof}
- Cross section profile

In addition, you can see for the selected cross section profile the non-equidistant stages entered for the cross section profiles.





4.8.5 Calculating rating curve for a fixed Eta

Rating curves can also be calculated for a fixed ETA:

• Select the envelope curve or

• create a new curve.

For how to create a new one, please read "Creating new rating curves" on p. 98 Compare also the information about how to develop rating curves via envelope curves (see page 202.).

- Activate the 📧 toolbar icon.
- The Rating curve generation with fixed ETA form is opened.

E	valuation of rating curve with fixed ETA-value	<
	Time range of layout Please enter the ETA value. Normally the ETA value is between 0 ad 1, but can	
	exceed these boundaries. ' You can select the time stamp also. Automatically will be searched for the fitting ETA value.	
	OK Cancel	

Fig. 136 Rating curve calculation with fixed Eta: specifications

Enter here:

- either a fixed ETA value; usually, this value is between 0 and 1 (but it can also be outside this range) or
 - enter a point of time or choose it respectively, for which the Eta value is automatically selected from the respective Eta time series and used.
 - Use the SKED calendar (see page 125.) for this.
 - Confirm your specifications with <OK>.
 The dialog is closed, SKED searches for the related Eta in the Eta time series.
 Then the rating curve is shown in a graph.



Fig. 137 Rating curve calculation with fixed Eta: Result

Γ

4.9 Applying the regression results as attempt or as reference curve

If the regression yields the best fit, the regression results are taken over either as

- reference curve or as an
- attempt.

For non-overlapping regressions, the regression results are copied over 'as-is' (1:1 copy). The one-to-one mode will not use any functionality to the join the segments of a multiple segment rating curve. The lowest and the upper segment must extend to the regression threshold value. When a rating curve is created for the first time, the regression results must be applied as reference curve.

For overlapping regression segments the apply mode will use the intersection points of the regression results per segment as thresholds for the rating curve. In this case, the attempt or the reference curve is joined.



Please note:

- When applying the regression into the rating curve type **Power law in sections** and if there are overlapping segments with exactly one intersection within this overlap, the thresholds of the segments are set to the point of intersection.
- Segments of the rating curve type **Power law in sections** which do not join, are shown interrupted.
- The stage-discharge relation contains double stages and discharges.
- When copying the regression into the rating curve, all regression results, used gaugings (see page 139.) and regressions saved as attempt are saved as well so that it is possible to restore them.
- If the curves of the single regression segments do not join, you will get a warning message first offering you to edit the segments manually (see page 182.).

4.9.1 Saving the regression as attempt

While you are developing your rating curve, it might be helpful to save regression parameters as attempt. This enables you to reset changed regression settings any time - if the new settings do not yield the best fit.



Please note: Control in the status bar the current correlation coefficient: It should be as closest to the value 1 as possible.



Leave the graph open and activate from the main menu the function Curve fitting
 Save fit as attempt.

The graph version of the regression will be saved and it can then be edited further without the problem of losing the original.

- Using the mouse, click in the graph e.g. on the horizontal dotted line and drag it upwards or downwards.
- As the plot is changed, the original regression is retained as a dotted line. This assists when making comparisons and evaluations.

The regression is reloaded in the previously saved version.

4.9.2 Recovering regressions from attempt

If the regression parameters changed by you do not yield a better result but even a worse fit, you can easily undo the changes:

 \boxtimes

Г

- Leave the graph open and
 - activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting ⊃ Recover regression from attempt**.
- *Please note*: When restoring a regression or an attempt, you restore also all symbol styles. How to set symbol styles is explained in "Changing the colours of regression segments" on p. 167

4.9.3 Applying the regression results as reference curve (in the graph)

In the course of the rating curve development, you can change the regression curve and save it then as rating curve. The rating curve version which was previously empty will then have this curve assigned to it.

Proceed as follows:



- Activate in the graph that rating curve which is assigned with the regression by selecting it in the drop-down list of the toolbar.
- Open the regression dialog by activating the regression icon of the toolbar.
- If necessary, change the regression parameters (e.g. the regression type for a hydrologically relevant range).
- Activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting > Apply regression as rating curve**.

When inserting the regression in a rating curve of the type **Descriptor points** the **Save regression as rating curve** form is opened:
Behar	dlung von überlappenden Abs	chnitten		
$\circ \frac{\ln}{0}$	ersect (only possible if a clear i erlapping range)	intersect has l	been found i	n the
\odot \lor	eighted intersection			
O Ju	np			
ال مي ما	and of elementation and inter-			
Hand	ng or descriptor points			
C D	ly apply regression to existing	descriptor poi	nts.	
D	lete existing descriptor points,	place new de	escriptor poin	ts
Ar	zahl der Stützstellen pro Absch	hnitt:	30	
C	Logarithmic distribution	1		
C	Distribute as follows			
0	third of the descriptor points	in the lower	10 % of v	alue range
0	ne third of the descriptor points	in the next	20 % of v	alue range
	The rest in the remaining value	le range		

Fig. 138 Save regression as rating curve

In this dialog you specify how to treat overlapping segments in case of multisegment regressions and how to treat descriptor points.

• The distribution of the thirds in the **Handling of descriptor points** section is applied from the **Advanced settings** dialog.

Activate in the Handling of overlapping sections section one of the options:

• **Intersect: SKED** sets the descriptor point to the intersection point of the regression segments.

Please note: This is possible only if a unique intersection point was found. Otherwise, this option button is greyed out.

Existing overlapping points are ignored.

• Weighted intersection: the overlapping area between the regression segments is divided according to the weighting: The closer the border of the segment, the stronger the weighting of the respective segment.

At the point of intersection the weighting is distributed equally.

• Jump: SKED searches for the transition from one regression segment to the other.

Please note: During the import from external programs (ZRXP for example), rating curves without descriptor points get descriptor points according to the settings.

• Confirm your specifications with **<OK**>. The dialog is closed.

With that you assigned your regression to a version and saved it as rating curve.

4.9.4 Recovering regression from a reference curve

A regression once saved can be restored (reloaded) from a rating curve version. This can be done as follows:



Г

- Close the current graph.
- Activate again the same rating curve (by the Explorer of your special information system or the rating curve manager).
- Activate the desired curve in the graph by selecting it in the drop-down list of the toolbar.
- Activate from the main menu the function **Curve fitting Curve regression from rating curve**.
- Confirm the message window opened now with <Yes>.
- *Please note*: When restoring a regression or an attempt, you restore also all symbol styles. How to set symbol styles is explained in "Changing the colours of regression segments" on p. 167

4.9.5 After applying the results: Showing the discharge measurements used for the development

If you have developed your rating curve based on discharge measurements, you can load these measurements into the rating curve graph:

• To do so, load the desired rating curve into the graph (via the rating curve manager (see page 96.), from the Explorer of your special information system or the rating curve wizard (by the **<Show all rating curves**> button; see page 119.).



Fig. 139 Showing rating curves

- Activate the icon <u>M</u>.
- The measurements used before to develop the rating curve are shown now:





4.10 Statistical evaluation of regression

You can create statistical summaries containing information about minimum and maximum stages, discharges, quality of the regression result (e.g. regarding the coefficient of determination (that is the square of the correlation coefficient)) etc. This information is then comfortably available to you for further internal or external analysis. You can publish the statistics e.g. in the internet.

- Select the desired gauging time series.
 - Activate the 🗾 icon.

Г

X

The **Regression** form is opened.

3	Regression: FQ	[m3/s] = f(S	ī [m])		
	Segment		Regression		
	From	To:	Туре	Degree/Diff.	Correlation coefficient
	<u>1</u> . 0.124	÷2	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	•	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			>
	2.	-	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	-	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			>
	3.	×	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	v	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			
			Total correlation co	efficient (linear)	0.797159
_	Statistics				
	<u>Statistical</u>	Evaluation	Show no interval	•	1 -fold
	ОК	Apply	Delete Cancel		<u>H</u> elp



 Specify the regression functions (for up to 10 segments). Activate the <Statistical evaluation> button.

SKED will create the statistical evaluation as an HTML document that is automatically opened in the Web browser being installed.

Please note: The number of decimal places of the S- and Q-values depends on the presettings in the source and target time series of the regression.

🖉 Statistical results for NAUL/Q/Qmess - N	licrosoft Int	ernet Ex	plorer			_ 🗆 ×
<u>File E</u> dit <u>V</u> iew F <u>a</u> vorites <u>T</u> ools <u>H</u> elp						1
Back Forward Stop Refresh	Home Se	arch Fav	* vorites	C (History F	nint	
🛛 Address 🙋 C:\Program Files\Kisters\Wiski\statis	tic.htm				-	🔗 Go 🔤 Links »
						<u></u>
Statistical res	ults fo	or N/	AUL	./Q/Qn	ness	
Range 1: Q(W) = 0.0437025 * 90 Range 2:)5.103 ^ V	V				
Range 3:						
	symbol	unit	total	range 1	range 2	range 3
number of measurements	N	-	123	122		
min. W of the rating curve	min W	[m]	0	0		
max. W of the rating curve	max W	[m]	1	1		
min. Q of the rating curve	min Q	[m3/s]	0.06	0.06		
max. Q of the rating curve	max Q	[m3/s]	2.60	2.60		
min. meas. W	$\min W_{\rm m}$	[m]	0	0		
mean meas. W	$mean \ W_{m}$	[m]	0.2	0.2		
max. meas. W	max W _m	[m]	1	1		
min. meas. Q	min Q _m	[m3/s]	0.14	0.14		
mean meas. Q	mean Q _m	[m3/s]	0.23	0.23		
max. meas. Q	max Q _m	[m3/s]	4.14	1.59		🔻
🕗 Done					💻 My Comp	uter //

Fig. 142 Statistical evaluations: Results

Γ

4.11 Assigning gaugings to a rating curve

Selected gaugings can be assigned to one or several rating curves (Rating Curve Harp method) The "Rating Curve Harp method" helps you with the allocation of rating curve validities.²¹

Use this function to filter the gaugings by their assignment (see page 140.).

Alternatively, the gaugings are automatically saved with the rating curve; in this case, you need not assign the gaugings to the rating curves manually.

- First of all, select in SKED the desired gauging curve (Qmeas).
 - Switch to the editing mode with the 💉 icon.
 - Select the gaugings you want to assign to the rating curve.
 - Activate either the icon or the context menu function **Assign rating curve for measurements** to open the **Relation between rating curve and measurements** form.

Please note: Measurements can be filtered and assigned to rating curves also from the table view:

- Select the desired gauging curve (Qmeas).
- Activate the table containing the gaugings with the icon

^{21.} See the Appendix of this manual for a concrete example of how to assign discharge measurements to rating curves.

asu	Date	Time	Quality flag:	SG	FQ [m3/s]	A [V [P [m	C*s	P [m	k*sq	Width [m]
1	14/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.404	2.13		2.13					
2	29/06/1971	00:00:00	G	0.855	11.3		11.27					
3	05/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.814	8.88		8.88					
4	26/07/1971	00:00:00	G	0.818	8.95		8.95					
5	03/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.753	6.39		6.39					-
6	06/08/1971	00:03:00	G	0.932	14.6		14.55					
7	28/08/1971	00:00:00	G	0.786	7.22		7.22					
8	03/09/1971	00:00:00	G	1.014	18.3		18.33					
9	13/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.683	4.15		4.15					
10	15/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.634	3.49		3.49					-
11	17/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.516	2.76		2.76					-
12	20/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.467	2.12		2.12					-
13	22/09/1971	00:01:00	G	0.434	2.19		2.19					-
14	22/09/1971	00:02:00	G	0.434	2.12		2.12					-
15	27/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.373	1.79		1.79					-
16	28/09/1971	00:00:00	G	0.375	1.50		1.50					
17	13/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.901	12.3		12.34					-
18	28/10/1971	00:00:00	G	0.909	13.3		13.31					
19	03/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.754	6.42		6.42					-
20	05/11/1971	00:01:00	G	0.910	14.0		14.03					-
21	08/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.140	26.5		26.51					
22	12/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.4		16.35					-
23	18/11/1971	00:00:00	G	0.966	16.1		16.06					
24	22/11/1971	00:00:00	G	1.089	24.0		24.01					-
				() () () () () () () () () ()								

Fig. 143 Assigning gaugings to a rating curve: Table

- Select the gaugings (rows) you want to assign to a rating curve.
- Note: Multiple selection is possible!
- Use the icon **b** to open the **Relation between rating curve and measurements** form.



ing. Itt Assigning guogings to a runng cor	Fig. 144	Assigning gaugings to (a rating curve
--	----------	-------------------------	----------------

- By activating the check boxes you specify the assignment. Confirm your assignment with the **<OK**> button (the dialog is closed) or **<Apply>** (the dialog remains open allowing you to make further assignments).
- Alternatively, click on the desired rating curve;
- the respective rating curve is marked in the assignment dialog.
- Use <**Ctrl**>-click to activate the entry.

When loading the rating curve, the measured values are not loaded automatically. However, they can be selected in the **Filter options** form and thus they can be used also for calculation of the regression.

Since it does not matter how many measurements are selected for the assignment, the selection may be ambiguous. That means that the selected measurements do not belong to the same rating curves.

An example: The measurements M1, M2, M3 are selected. M1 and M2 belong to rating curve 1 and 2, M3 belongs to rating curve 2 and 3. When opening the **Relation between rating curve and measurements** form, rating curves 1 and 3 appear in grey and rating curve 2 has a black check mark. Rating curves 1 and 3 belong to some but not to all measurements. By activating <OK> you delete the assignment to measurements for all rating curves without check mark and set it for rating curves with check mark.

CHAPTER

5 Assessing Rating Curves

In this chapter you will learn how to check the accuracy of your rating curves.

Contents of this chapter:

Showing rating curve sections in different colours	227
Derivations	229
Deviation graphs	230
Cumulative deviation graphs	232
Analysis of fit	237
Comparing rating curves	239
Standard error (x times), confidence areas	243
Preview/temporary snapshots	245



ſ

5 Assessing Rating Curves

There are various (temporary) options available to control the effects of changes at your rating curve development immediately:

- statistical evaluations,
- deviation graphs,
- derivation graphs,
- analysis of fit,
- the option to overlay several rating curves (comparison of rating curves),
- preview of calculated flow time series,
- determination of cross section profiles or
- the balancing module.

For multi-segment rating curves (power law and power law in sections), there is the possibility of Showing rating curve sections in different colours so as to allow a better visual control.

These options to check the quality of your rating curve are described in the following.

5.1 Showing rating curve sections in different colours

For multi-segment rating curves (power law and power law in sections) the points of intersection can hardly be identified, if the overlapping segments are displayed in the same colour. **SKED** allows you to change the colour of rating curve sections. Simply start the plot properties to change the colour settings.

If you want to display the segments of a rating curve in different colours,

- choose in the graph window the rating curve from the drop-down list
 Image: Constant and the graph window the rating curve from the drop-down list
- Activate the sign icon or choose from the context menu of the graph (to be opened with the right mouse button) the function Plot properties.
 The Plot properties form is opened

The **Plot properties** form is opened.

• Open the tab page **Style**.

IX

properties	×
Plots: P C*sqrt(I) P *sqrt(I) Width Mean depth Perimeter Specific flow VoMax A*V P*C*sqrt(I) ▼ F0/01 (migrated].V1	Line style Symbol Label Grid Axis Rating curve Line Standard Red V Colours for sections Section 1 darker Section 6 automatical Section 7 automatical Section 7 automatical Section 8 automatical Section 8 automatical Section 9 automatical Section 9 automatical Section 10 automatical Section 10 automatical Section 10 automatical Section 10 Section 1

Fig. 145 Rainbow regression: Showing rating curve segments in different colours

- Choose from the drop-down lists in the **Attributes** section the line type, line width and line colour for your rating curve representation.
- Specify that way in the **Regression sections** tab page the line type for the single rating curve segments.
- As for the setting of colours, you can choose the actual colours and also the options **automatically**, **brighter** and **darker**. If you choose automatically, the colour of the segment depends on the presettings (see page 146.), if you choose **brighter** and **darker**, the colour will be like that selected in the **Attributes** section.
- If you want to save the settings permanently, activate the **<Save as template>** button.
- If the changes shall apply only for the current session, confirm them with <**Apply**> (dialog remains open) or <**OK**> (dialog is closed).
- The result of your specifications could be as follows:



Fig. 146 Showing rating curve segments in different colours: Result

5.2 Derivations

You can create derivation graphs in order to check your rating curves. Here the slope and bend of the rating curve are evaluated.



•

• Select in the drop-down list the desired rating curve Darkting .

Activate the 🔝 icon.

The derivation graph is created.

Assessing Rating Curves Deviation graphs



Fig. 147 Evaluations: derivations

5.3 Deviation graphs

In order to calculate and represent deviations between included gaugings and regression and between rating curve and regression, respectively, in a graph,

• select the desired gauging time series (Qmeas) or rating curve from the drop-down list ☑ QASKIVI ☑.

Ø

Please note:

- Make sure that the graph shows gaugings and regression curve or the desired rating curve!
- The smaller the correlation coefficient in the **Regression** form, the bigger the deviations.
- The deviation graph contains only those measurements that were included in the regression.
- Activate the icon
- or activate from the main menu the function Curve fitting ⊃ Show deviation graphs> (or press the shortcut <Alt>-<K>-<W>).

The deviation graphs are created; they allow you to assess, in percentage terms, the extent to which a regression curve fits to the actual gaugings, from which it has been generated, or the rating curve. Here the relation between discharge and time and the relation between discharge and stage is taken into account.





These deviation graphs can be printed;

- to do so, open the context menu and
- choose the function **Preview**.

Apart from the graphic, the print window contains a list of the deviation and a statistical evaluation:

Assessing Rating Curves Cumulative deviation graphs



Fig. 149 Evaluations: Preview/Printout of deviation graphs

5.4 Cumulative deviation graphs

Cumulative deviation graphs show the relation between gaugings and regression and between rating curve and regression respectively. With that you can check whether rating curves have the best fit. Cumulative deviation graphs allow you to compare the rating curve with the related discharge measurements over the time or sorted according to stages.

The creation of cumulative deviation graphs requires an existing rating curve and related discharge measurements for the station.

With the rating curve being active and the gaugings displayed, open the rating curve wizard in the graph by the icon
 The following wizard dialog is opened.

What do you want to do?		×
	<u>نا</u> ط	Create new rating curve
		Plot flow measurements
H	¥	Show all rating curves of Show all rating curve validities
	¥2	Create graph Show flow measurements (extended)
	*	Further assistance
< <u>B</u> ac	<	Next> Cancel Help

Fig. 150 Create cumulative deviation graphs

- Activate the <**Further assistance**> button. This switches to further options.
- Activate the **<Cumulative deviations**> button.

The **Create cumulative deviation graph** form is opened. Specify here how to create the cumulative deviation graph.

Create cumulative deviatio	on graph 🗙
	Show graph in new window Measurements over time SG FQ Measurements over time series SG Show source time series SG Show validities Time range: 01/01/1950 To: 19/01/2005 Gascending SG order Cover time axis Calculate percentage deviation of gauged flow for according to rating his overlay with deviations OT[migrated]
	< <u>B</u> ack Finish Cancel

Fig. 151 Cumulative deviation graphs: sorted in ascending order

Deviation values can be represented for a time range to be configured, either sorted in ascending order according to stages or over the time axis. In the latter case, you can additionally show source and target time series as well as the validities. Both options are described below.

- In the first case, the deviations of the measurements from the active rating curve are displayed over the total time range. Here the measurements are sorted in ascending order according to stages on the x-axis.
- Define the time range in a way that it is possible to evaluate the desired measurements.
- Make sure that the option ascending S order is activated (see Fig. 151, p. 234).
- Choose from the drop-down list **Calculate percentage deviation of gauged flow for** your rating curve you want to compare with the current rating curve or leave the entry **according to rating history**.
- If you choose the latter option, the current rating curve will be compared with the related discharge measurements.
- Afterwards, activate the check box **Show graph in new window**. The deviation graph should look as follows, for example:



Fig. 152 Example of a cumulative deviation graph

The red line shows the deviation between the single measurements and the rating curve for each measuring point, the purple line rises with the stage increasing; in this case the rating curve does not optimally reflect the discharge event as the distance actually should become smaller.

- In the second case, the deviation of the measurements from the rating curve are displayed over the time.
- Activate the option over time axis.
- This makes the upper area **Measurements over time** editable.

Assessing Rating Curves Cumulative deviation graphs

Create cumulative deviatio	n graph 🛛 🗙
A Partie	New graph window Image: Second sec

Fig. 153 Cumulative deviation graphs: over the time

- Activate e.g. the check box **Q** in order to show discharge measurements over the time and compare them with the rating curve.
- Confirm with <**Finish**>. The deviation graph may look as follows:

Γ



Fig. 154 Cumulative deviation graph over the time: Result

- With that method it is also possible to compare different rating curves and their deviations, respectively, with each other.
- To do so, activate the check box overlay with deviations and
- choose from the drop-down list that rating curve the deviation of which is to be displayed as well.

5.5 Analysis of fit

With the analysis of fit you can use various result parameters to check your regressions over the gaugings from the gauging time series (Q_{reg} over Q_{meas}). With this you determine the percental deviation of the product from the cross-sectional area flowed through and the regression over the mean velocity of flow ($A_{prof}^*V_{reg}$ over V_{meas}) from the regression over the gaugings.



Please note:

• The cross-sectional area and the profile value can also be determined directly from a measured cross section profile. This is interesting when estimating a rating curve course.

• Cross section data is required for that!

Proceed as follows:

- Activate in the Rating Curve Wizard the <**More assistance**> button. This switches to further options.
- Activate the **<Analysis of fit>** button. The **Analysis of fit** form is opened. Specify here how to analyse the fit.

Analysis of fit	New graph window Area from Cross secil Fit to Ameas	×
	Area curves: Flow curves: Velocity curves: Deviation:	above right above left below right v below left
	k Finish C	Cancel Help

Fig. 155 Analysis of fit

- First of all you have to specify whether to show the result in a new graphic window.
- Decide then whether to carry out the analysis on the basis of the cross section data or by the adaptation to A_{meas} (cross-sectional area as a result of the evaluation of discharge measurements (calculated in **BIBER**, only displayed by **SKED**).
- The results are displayed in a graph with four plot ranges (for area curves, velocity curves, rating curves and deviations): Specify another division if necessary.
- Confirm with <**Finish**>. The adaptation results are represented in a graph. The four-part graph shows:
 - Q_{meas}: discharge measured values
 - V_{meas}: mean measured velocity
 - A_{meas}: Area
 - A_{reg}*V_{reg} (if the analysis is carried out by the adaptation to Ameas) or A_{prof}*V_{reg} (if the analysis is based on the cross section data)





Fig. 156 Analysis of fit: Result

5.6 Comparing rating curves

One possibility of evaluating your developed rating curves is to overlay several rating curves in order to compare them. An increment for the stage is specified here. You can plot the absolute or percental difference between the compared rating curves.

This requires at least two existing rating curves.

 Open the rating curve wizard with <u></u>. The following dialog is opened.

What do you want to do?		×
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Create new rating curve Open rating curve manager
	<u>₩</u> ¥	Plot flow measurements Show all rating curves Show all rating curve validities
		Create graph Show flow measurements (extended) Euther assistance
< <u>B</u> ack		Mext> Cancel Help



- Activate the <**More assistance**> button. This switches to further options.
- Activate the <Rating curve comparison> button.
 The Rating curve comparison form is opened. Specify here how to carry out the comparison.



Fig. 158 Comparing rating curves

- Choose the rating curves you want to compare from the drop-down lists.
- Set the increment for the stage (e.g. 10 mm).
- Activate the check box **Q** over **Q**.
- Activate <**Next**>.

You will get a graph showing the discharge values of the selected rating curves on the x- and y-axis respectively.

The table below shows you an example of the graph's structure.

S	Q (RC1)	Q (RC2)
10	0.8	0.8
20	1.2	1.2
30	1.3	1.35

Tab. 3 Comparison of rating curves: Structure of the graph

S	Q (RC1)	Q (RC2)
500	7	7.3
510	7.8	8.4
520	8.2	9

Tab. 3 Comparison of rating curves: Structure of the graph

The stage column contains the stages sorted in ascending order according to the previously set increment (10 mm).

Here is an example of a rating curve comparison:



Fig. 159 Comparison of rating curves: Result

The following conclusions can be drawn from the example illustration:

- With the stage increasing, the variance between the discharge values increases as well.
- If the hydrographs passed through identical points in the graph, the rating curves would be identical.
- The second possibility is to compare the rating curves regarding the absolute difference.

• Activate in addition the check box **absolute difference**. Here is an example of comparing rating curves for the absolute difference between the curves:



Fig. 160 Comparison of rating curves: Result

This graph contains:

- the already existing comparison (Q over Q) and
- a hydrograph representing the absolute difference (bent downwards) between the two rating curves.

5.7 Standard error (x times), confidence areas

In order to assess the quality of your rating curves, you can have the 95% percentiles, confidence intervals, standard errors (x times) and similar displayed in your graph. With that, you can check statistically whether your regression curve is within the extrapolation range or whether it must be modified.



- Select the desired gauging time series.
- Activate the 🗾 icon.

₩ Regression: FQ [m3/s] = f(5G [m])					
Г	Segment		Regression		
	From:	To:	Туре	Degree/Diff.	Correlation coefficient
	<u>1</u> . 0.124 🛨	2 🕂	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	•	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			>
	<u>2</u> .	÷	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	•	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			>
	3.	<u>*</u>	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	v	
	Exclude	🗖 Link			
			Total correlation co	efficient (linear)	0.797159
Г	Statistics				
	<u>Statistical Eval</u>	uation	Show no interval	•	1 -fold
	ок и	Apply [Delete Cancel		Help

Fig. 161 Specifying confidence intervals

- Specify in the **Regression** form the regression functions (for up to 10 segments).
- Choose the desired entry from the drop-down list **Show**. You can choose between standard error (x times), the 95%-percentile and no interval.
- Activate the <**Apply**> button. The desired statistical evaluation is started and the graph is updated accordingly.



Fig. 162 Evaluations: confidence intervals

- The graph shows a regression with confidence intervals where the measurements according to Student-t-Test (5%) are correct.
- *Please note*: Activating the statistical evaluation by means of the corresponding button opens a report showing the statistical evaluation in list form.

5.8 Preview/temporary snapshots

SKED allows you to simulate which effect a rating curve modification has on the flow without having to save the results in the database where the old time series would be overwritten. There are various ways to do so:

- direct calculation of the Q time series (calculate target) with the option to edit the Q time series like a normal time series and to recalculate the changes into the S time series by an inverse rating curve calculation (see page 409.),
- direct calculation of the Q time series as a snapshot ("usual" rating curve calculation),
- preview with a fixed rating curve (without considering the validities),
- preview with the currently valid rating curve ("usual" procedure),

- "snapshot" with possibly currently edited and modified rating curve or
- "snapshot" with history of changes.

Proceed as follows for the preview:

 Open in the rating curve manager the stage time series (S time series) for processing.

Please note:

Г

Æ

- The stage time series must be referenced as source of a discharge time series through the origin **Rating curves enhanced** (if this is not the case, make up for it now!).
- If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.
- When loading time series in the rating curve manager, pay always attention to the defined time range! By default, this range comprises the entire validity range of the time series. Choose here a useful range. For how to do so, please see "Setting time range" on pages 125
- You can carry out this preview also on the loaded Q time series. Here the corresponding source time series (S) is automatically searched and the temporary calculation is carried out with the modified rating curve.
- For this, load in the tree view of the rating curve manager for the rating curve the Q time series you want to check. This is done via the **Time series** entry.
- Activate in the toolbar the menu of the icon **Imporary calculation**) by clicking on the arrow next to the icon.
- Choose one of the fixed rating curves listed here.

Now a new time series having the name $_{a}Q^{*}(<$ name of the stage time series>)" is displayed. This time series can be edited like a 'normal' one, however, is not yet saved in the database.

Please note: The rating curve validity is not considered here!

• Alternatively, choose the temporary preview by means of the active, valid rating curve (version).

This corresponds to the "usual" rating curve calculation; however is not saved in the database.

Also here, the result displayed is a new time series having the name " $\Omega(<$ name of the stage time series>)". This time series can be edited like a 'normal' one, however, is not yet saved in the database.

• Or choose a preview based on the active rating curve currently being in process (which possibly has just been changed).

 \mathcal{C}

Here you can use the current status of the rating curve like in a "snapshot" and check and record the effects on the Q time series. Thus, it is the current rating curve status that is used to calculate the Q values, not the saved status.

• Alternatively, choose the function Monitor changes.

If the underlying rating curve, referenced by validities, was changed (e.g. by modifying descriptor points), a recalculation is forced immediately.

Compared with the pure "snapshot", the monitoring of changes has the advantage that you need not go back to the Q time series first and recalculate this time series via the (m) icon.

Please note: All these methods calculate and display the Q time series data temporarily without saving the data in the database.



Fig. 163 Preview of a Q time series with modified rating curves

Ŕ

Assessing Rating Curves Preview/temporary snapshots

Г

Γ

CHAPTER

6

Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph

In this chapter you will learn how to use the varied functions of the graph where you represent the regression and rating curves, results of measurements and time series as well as other parameters and data.

Contents of this chapter:

Hiding plots	252
	ງເງ
Deleting plots	.252
Specific feature: measured value curves	.253
Specifying plot ranges	253
Adapting graph display	255
Editing the representation of axes	255
Editing the representation of plots	256
Editing the representation of the legend	257
Set units	258
Use cross hairs	.259
Activating the cross hair	259
Activating search function/snapping	260
Deactivating the cross hair	260
Zoom	261
Viewing additional information: The control bar in SKED	262
Inserting/editing descriptor points	263
Editing plots	263
Selecting descriptor points	263
Changing descriptor points	.264
Adding descriptor points	266
Adding descriptor points	266

Removing descriptor points	
Undoing/restoring last action	
Saving changes	
Insert user defined graphical elements	267
Inserting a graphical element	267
Editing a graphical element	
Graphical elements and their property tab pages	272
Copying graphical elements	277
List of all graphical elements	278
Synchronising graphs and tables	
Synchronisation mode ON	
Synchronisation mode OFF	

Г

1

6 Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph

In the **SKED** graph you can represent and edit regression and rating curves, results of measurements and time series as well as other parameters and data.

Via the drop-down list 🖾 Q/SK1.V1 🔄 in the toolbar you activate for example

- rating curves,
- gauging time series,
- product curves,
- validities and
- time series

for further editing.

The drop-down list shows the current status of a curve in square brackets:

- D plot is not shown in the graph
- 🔽 plot is shown in the graph



Image: blue: plot is selected.

Note that the desired rating curves must have been selected for display so as to be able to view e.g. a product curve or the developed rating curve as the result of your regression/extrapolation (see the page 137ff.).

This chapter gives you an overview of the varied working options:

- Loading and showing plots,
- Adapting graph display,
- Use cross hairs,
- Viewing additional information: The control bar in SKED,
- Inserting/editing descriptor points,
- Insert user defined graphical elements,
- Synchronising graphs and tables,

6.1 Loading and showing plots

- \times Activate the \cong (see the page 119ff.) icon.
 - Set in the **Rating curve management** form the cursor on the entry of the desired rating curve or time series.

- When selecting a time series, specify the time range.
- Activate the **<Show**> button.
- Activate <**OK**>.

Г

6.1.1 Hiding plots

- 🗴 Activate the 🚾 icon.
 - Remove in the **Plot properties** dialog the check mark in front of the special plot.

Plot properties	×
Plot properties Plot properties W/INAUL.W.1 QUIC.1.1 Gumess	Style Symbol Label Grid Type Attributes Ino line Linestyle X/Y-Evel plot Line colour X/Y-Ber plot Line width 0.0 X/Y-Sum plot Base 0.00
	Adjustment Fill Black right Fill pattern Image: State of the sta

Fig. 164 Showing/hiding plots

Please note: If you hide the currently active plot (settable via the drop-down list $\boxed{a_{25K1,V1}}$), the rating curve available next is automatically activated in the graph.

6.1.2 Deleting plots

- Select in the drop-down list the desired plot
 □ Q/SK1.V1
 .
- Activate the 🕒 icon.

P
6.1.3 Specific feature: measured value curves

When you represent a measured value curve in **SKED**, the single gaugings are made available in several gauging time series:

- Activate the special square brackets in the drop-down list to display these gauging time series in **SKED**.
- To remove a measured value curve from **SKED**, remove each single gauging time series with the 🕒 icon.

6.1.4 Specifying plot ranges

The rating curves and time series shown in **SKED** are divided into two ranges:





To display several rating curves and several time series in several ranges,

• activate the 🗾 icon, function **Plot range** and define in the context menu the desired range configuration.

 $\left[\mathbf{X} \right]$

<u>Plot range</u> Only <u>o</u> ne plot range <u>R</u> earrange		
<u>S</u> eparate X-axis Separate Y-axis		

Fig. 166 Specifying plot ranges: Configuration

• With that, the active plot will be shifted into the specified range.



Fig. 167 Specifying plot ranges: Result

Γ

6.2 Adapting graph display

To represent time series in the graph window you can individually configure settings for

- axes (see the page 255ff.),
- plots (see the page 256ff.) and
- legend (see the page 257ff.)

Furthermore, you can set the units of the measured values (see the page 258ff.).

6.2.1 Editing the representation of axes

- Select the desired plot.
 - Activate the <u>I</u> icon or double-click on an axis or choose from the context menu of the graph (to be opened with the right mouse button) the function **Axis properties**.
 - Specify in the **Axis properties** form the type, scaling and visibility. In the zooming status, the automatic scaling cannot be deactivated.

kis properties	×
✓ 02 FQ [m3/s]	Scale
✓ 01 FQ [m3/s]	🗖 Define range
	From: 0
	End: 150
	🔲 Define grid
	Step: 25
	use rounded start values
Type Linear Axis 💌	Reflect axis Font
Position Below	Advanced settings
Title centered	OK Cancel Apply

Fig. 168 Editing the representation of axes

• Confirm your selection with **<OK>**.

6.2.2 Editing the representation of plots

For the time series represented in the graph you can specify the plot style (e.g. line style or colour), the symbols for the display of the single measured values, captions of the plots and grid settings (colour and style of the current grid):

• Select the desired plot.

Г

X

- Activate the kilon or choose from the context menu of the graph (to be opened with the right mouse button) the function **Plot properties**.
- Make in the **Plot properties** form the desired settings.
- To do so, open the special tab page and make your specifications.
- When captioning plots you can insert e.g. the date of each measurement or the current stage in the graph. Furthermore, you can draw a connecting line between caption and measuring point:
 - Open the tab page Label and
 - activate the check box Activate label.
 - Choose then an entry from the drop-down list of the Label field.
 - In order to show a connecting line between label and measuring point, activate the check box **Show line**.
- Confirm all your settings for the plot layout by activating the <**Apply**> button (the plot dialog remains open) or, when your settings are finished, with <**OK**> (the dialog is closed).

Plot properties		X
Plot properties	Style Symbol Label Grid	
	Type Attributes	
🔽 Qmess	no line Linesty	le 📃 🗸
	X/Y-Polygon plot X/Y-Level plot X/Y-Step plot	ur Pink 🔽
	X/Y-Impulse plot X/Y-Bar plot X/Y-Sum plot	th 0.0 📑 [mm]
	Bas	e 0.00
	Adjustment F	il Black 💌
	right 💌 Fill patt	ern 🔽
	ОК	Cancel <u>A</u> pply

Fig. 169 Editing the representation of plots

6.2.3 Editing the representation of the legend

- Select the desired plot.
- Activate the 🔲 icon or double-click on the legend.

Legend properties	×
Position × (0 - 1000) 164 Y (0 - 1000) 947	Font
Save as standard	
(OK) Car	ncel Apply

Fig. 170 Editing the representation of the legend

- Specify in the **Legend properties** form the desired position of the legend; enter the x- and y-coordinates (between 0 and 1000).
- If the legend shall be visible, activate the special check box.

IX)

If requested, you can save the legend position in order to use it in the next session;

- to do so, activate the **<save as standard>** button.
- It is also possible to shift the legend with the mouse.
- Confirm your selection with <OK>.

6.2.4 Set units

Г

In the graph (and in the table) you can set the unit of the values to be shown:

- \mathbf{X} Select the special plot.
 - Activate the icon.
 - Select the desired unit from the drop-down list.

You are offered those units that have been grouped in the key list Units.

The unit group is identified by the unit in which the current time series is displayed. The caption of the selected axis will be adapted automatically.

When a table with the same measured values is opened, the units in the table column for the values will be adapted automatically.

6.3 Use cross hairs

The cross-hair feature facilitates reading the values at the axes. In addition, you can activate a search function for particular points within a settable snap range.

6.3.1 Activating the cross hair

The cross hair is activated via the context menu of the graph:

• Open the context menu of the graph with the right mouse button and choose the function **Cursor**.

The Cross hair form is opened.

Cross hair	×
🗖 Show cross hair	
🔽 🔽 Use search function	
Snap radius 5.0 🚊	mm
C Search criteria / Priorities—	
Snap to gaps	high 💌
Snap to local extremes	medium 💌
Snap to break points	high 💌
OK Cancel	Apply

Fig. 171 Use cross hairs

- Activate the check box Show cross hair to switch it on.
- You can activate the cross hair for your current graph either by <**Apply**> (the dialog remains open) or by <**OK**> (the dialog is closed).

 $|X\rangle$

6.3.2 Activating search function/snapping

Besides the pure activation of the cross hair, you can activate a search function allowing an intelligent snapping to specific non-equidistant values:

- Activate the check box Use search function.
 - If requested, set the snap range in millimetres and
- define in the section Search criteria/Priorities how the cross hair should snap:
 - to gaps beginnings and ends,
 - to local extremes and/or
 - break points (these are points where the gradient changes; no reversal points in terms of mathematics).

Then you can allocate to each of these search criteria a priority for the search function (choose it from the list):

- off: deactivated
- **high**: top priority
- medium: mean priority
- low: low priority

The cross hair snaps to the points set here within the snap range. The point with the top search priority and with the smallest distance to the mouse position is snapped.



Г

IX)

Please note:

- The status bar of the graph shows you the current mouse pointer position with date and time including the actual value; when snapping to found points, the exact values are read out from the database and displayed.
- When changing into the editing mode (see the page 263ff.), the mouse pointer snaps to the points found.

6.3.3 Deactivating the cross hair

To switch off the cross-hair pointer,

- activate from the context menu of the graph again the function Cross hair and
 - deactivate the check box Show cross hair in the Cross hair form.

X

6.4 Zoom

- Select the desired plot.
 - Activate the 🕀 icon.
 - Use the mouse to draw a rectangle over that range you want to enlarge.





- To zoom back step by step, activate the 📃 icon.
- To adjust the value range automatically in zoom mode, activate the **E** icon. When you scroll in this mode with the vertical scroll bar, the displayed graphical section follows the curve automatically. The button **Value range to be adjusted automatically when zooming**> is active when the curve is in zoomed state.

6.5 Viewing additional information: The control bar in SKED

The graph allows you to activate a control bar for time series (not for rating curves!) which graphically shows you important information about the current time series. Furthermore, you can view additional information. For example:

- the source values of your time series,
- alarm thresholds or
- minimum and maximum values of your time series.

In addition, you can enter remarks and tasks for the current time series manually. These remarks appear in blue. They can be edited and deleted only by user entries. How to create remarks and tasks is explained in the user manual of your special information system.

 \boxtimes

Г

Choose in the context menu of the graph the function Additional information \bigcirc Control bar.

Now there is a control bar displayed at the bottom edge of the graph that marks areas with non-plausible values with a red line and white triangles for beginning and end.

If there are several time series in one graph, it is specified first, for which time series the control bar shall be shown.

- When moving the mouse pointer on the control bar, a window containing a brief description is opened.
- With the mouse pointer on the control bar, you can open a context menu (with the right mouse button) offering you functions to insert, change and delete remarks/ tasks for the current time series.
- Using the context menu you can also view
 - the plausibility check results in the time series display,
 - the name of the active plausibility check (e.g. Check for completeness) and
 - the limits for the Min-Max plausibility check.
- You may hide the control bar either via the context menu of the graph (activate again the function **Additional information** ⊃ **Control bar**) or via the context menu of the control bar (function **Hide control bar**).

6.6 Inserting/editing descriptor points

Descriptor points of the rating curve can be edited in a graph or table (using the "12 box") and also added for the following rating curve types.

- Descriptor points (see the page 174ff.)
- Power law (3 descriptor points each form one power law function; maxs. 10 segments, i.e. max. 21 descriptor points) (see the page 177ff.)

6.6.1 Editing plots

|X]

- Select the special rating curve.
 - Activate the 💉 icon.



Fig. 173 Editing plots

6.6.2 Selecting descriptor points

- Switch to the editing mode.
 - You select
 - a measured value by clicking on that value,

|X

Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph Inserting/editing descriptor points

• several values by clicking on these values with the <**Ctrl**> key held down.



Fig. 174 Editing descriptor points

6.6.3 Changing descriptor points

- Switch to the editing mode.
 - Descriptor points are shifted with the left mouse button,

|X|

Γ



Fig. 175 Shift descriptor points

• distorted with <Ctrl> and the left mouse button and



Fig. 176 Distort descriptor points

• flipped with <Ctrl> + <Shift> and the left mouse button.

I

Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph Inserting/editing descriptor points



Fig. 177 Flipping descriptor points

6.6.4 Adding descriptor points

- 🗙 Switch to the insertion mode with the 🔬 icon.
 - Set new descriptor points by the mouse.

6.6.5 Removing descriptor points

- Select the special descriptor points.
 - Activate the 🗎 icon.

6.6.6 Undoing/restoring last action

- 🗴 Activate 🖻 to undo your last action.
 - Activate ൳ to restore your last action.

6.6.7 Saving changes

🗙 • Activate the 🖬 icon.

Γ

6.7 Insert user defined graphical elements

In order to mark or comment on your time series representations or to make them clear, you can insert graphical elements, for example lines, arrows, texts, images etc. into the graph at any point you like. Editing them can change the appearance of these graphical elements. You can also copy these graphical elements. You can execute all works with graphical elements from an overview.

Insertion can be started by toolbar icons or via the context menu of the graph. The menu entries of the context menu exist only if the two icons are available in the toolbar.

6.7.1 Inserting a graphical element

To insert a new graphical element

- 🗙 activate the 🚯 icon.
 - alternatively, you can activate the context menu entry **Insert graphical element**. The **Insert graphical element** form is opened:

Insert graphical elements	5	×
Graphical element: Free Comment	Assigned to plot: Greim.S.15	•
Line Rectangle Ellipse Bitmap Metafile	Graph area: Plot area	
	Horizontal coordinates Plot Fixed (01000)	Vertical coordinates Plot Fixed (01000)
OK Car	ncel	<u>H</u> elp

Fig. 178 Inserting a graphical element

The Plot list box shows all time series contained in the graph.

- Choose here the time series to which the graphical element shall be added.
- Choose in the **Graphical element** list box that element that shall be added to the time series.

By the option fields in the section **Coordinates** you specify the connection of the graphical element with the time series:

- Horizontal and vertical plot: The graphical element is connected to the plot (the x- as well as the y-coordinates of the graphical element correspond to the plot coordinates), i.e. the graphical element is always exactly at the same position relatively to the plot. That means that the graphical element is also shifted when the display is enlarged or reduced or when the time series is shifted along the axes.
- **Horizontal sheet, vertical plot**: The x-direction of the graphical element depends on the plot whereas the y-direction remains constant (coordinates 0 to 1000). That means, it shifts only in x-direction, not in y-direction.
- **Horizontal plot, vertical sheet**: The y-direction of the graphical element depends on the plot whereas the x-direction remains constant (coordinates 0 to 1000). That means, it shifts only in y-direction, not in x-direction.
- **Horizontal and vertical sheet**: The graphical element remains constant at the same position in both directions, irrespective of the plot (both coordinates between 0 and 1000). That means, its position does not change when the display is enlarged or reduced or during shift along the axes.
- **Header**: The graphical element is inserted into the header. If there is no header existing yet, it will be created now. Both coordinates are from 0 to 1000.
- **Footer**: The graphical element is inserted into the footer. If there is no footer existing yet, it will be created now. Both coordinates are from 0 to 1000.
- *Please note*: The user defined graphical elements in the header and footer are assigned to the time series. If a time series is deleted from the graph, the graphical elements belonging to that time series will also be deleted from header and footer. After you have made these specifications,
- confirm with **<OK>**.

The dialog will be closed; the mouse pointer will change to a cross (<+>).

- Click the left mouse button to define the start point of the graphical element within the graphic window.
 - Hold the left mouse button down and drag the mouse in any direction you like in order to define the end point of the graphical element. While you are dragging, the graphical element and the surrounding rectangle are already shown.
 - When releasing the left mouse button, the end point of the graphical element is defined and the insertion process is finished.

ዋ

Г

• When inserting a text element, the edit window (see Fig. 183, page 273) will be opened immediately on clicking the left mouse button. In this window you enter your text and specify its layout and formatting see the page 273ff.).²²

A rectangle surrounds now the graphical element by means of which you can change the element size and position. The black squares at this rectangle are "handles".

If the mouse pointer is positioned above such a handle, it will change to a double arrow.

- By activating and pressing the left mouse button you can change the form and size of the rectangle around the graphical element.
 If the mouse pointer is positioned within the rectangle, it will change to an arrow in four directions.
- By activating and pressing the left mouse button you can shift the graphical element to another position.



Fig. 179 Inserting the graphical element by shifting the mouse

6.7.2 Editing a graphical element

To edit a graphical element



^{22.} The graphical element "Text" has only one start point. The end point depends on the text and its characteristics. That's why there is no need to draw a rectangle with the mouse here.

The icon is active now²³; the corresponding menu entry in the context menu has a check mark. With that, the graphic was changed to the mode "Edit graphical elements".



Г

Please note: Editing is possible only in this mode! If you are not in editing mode, clicking on a graphical element will have no effect.

• Select the desired graphical element (by clicking within the rectangle surrounding the element).

A selected graphical element can be identified by the rectangle around it.



Fig. 180 Graphical element with surrounding rectangle

If there are several graphical elements existing at the point where you have clicked on by the mouse, the **Graphical element** form will be opened containing a list of all graphical elements existing at that point.

- Choose here the desired graphical element. It will change to a selected element.
- Open the following context menu with the right mouse button within the selection rectangle:

^{23.} As long as you are in the mode "Edit graphical elements", neither time series dialogs nor axis property dialogs can be called by a double click.





- The menu item **Insert graphical elements** has the same functionality as the corresponding icon of the toolbar (or the menu entry of the same name in the context menu of the total graphic; see the page 267ff.).
- By choosing the menu item **Edit graphical element** (or by double-clicking within the rectangle, respectively²⁴) you will get the tab page(s) to edit the properties of the special graphical element (in the [Name of graphical element] edit dialog).
- Using the menu item **Delete graphical element** (or pressing the **Backspace** key or <**Del**>²⁵) you can delete the selected graphical element; you will not get any warning notice.
- Using the menu item **Copy graphical element** you open the **Copy graphical element** form by which you can copy a graphical element to another plot and with another assignment. For details please see "Copying graphical elements" on the pages 277ff.
- The menu item **To foreground** lets you draw the selected graphical element on top of all other elements of the same time series and the same assignment. **To background** moves the element to the lowest position.

^{24.} When clicking next to the rectangle, the selected graphical element will be deselected.

^{25.} Should you change to another application via the WINDOWS task bar and return again, the focus is no longer on the graphic window, although it seems to be so. To delete the graphical element using your keyboard (by the **-** or Backspace key), you must have clicked with the left mouse button once within the rectangle before so that the focus is again on the window.

• By the menu item **List of all graphical elements** you open the **Graphical element** form containing a list of all graphical elements; you may select, edit or delete a graphical element from this dialog (see the page 278ff.). You can get this dialog also via the normal context menu of the graph.

6.7.3 Graphical elements and their property tab pages

Each type of graphical element has a separate tab page showing the properties of the element. On these tab pages you can change the properties.

	Arrow Edit	x	
	Arrow Style		
	Coordinates of arrow		
	From 1003677654.95 [x]	Until: 1004059787.04 [x]	
	0.90415297982 [y]	0.39415767245 [y]	
	Arrow point		
	Point at begin	Angle: 30 🕂	Aperture of
Name of the	Point at end	Length:	the arrow
graphical element	Point closed		degree
			ucgree
	Name of arrow: Arrow		Length of
	OK	Abbrechen Übernehmen	in mm

Fig. 182 Tab page of a graphical element (here: arrow)

Please note the following characteristic features of the different graphical elements:

- Each graphical element is defined by position and direction coordinates.
- All elements are defined by start coordinates, but only arrows and lines are defined also by end coordinates.
- Texts are defined only by start coordinates and
- rectangles or ellipses respectively are defined by their height and width (relative coordinates beginning at the start point).
- The units of the coordinates depend on the assignment of the graphical element.

 \mathcal{P}

Г

- As already mentioned, the fixed axes are represented in a value range between 0 and 1000.
- If the x-axis is not fixed, its value range represents the number of seconds beginning at a fixed start date²⁶.
- Apart from this, an individual name can be allocated to each graphical element (in the field **Name of [element]** at the lower window border), so that it is easier to identify it later (for example in the list of graphical elements; see the page 278ff.).

6.7.3.1 Inserting/editing a text element

When you have inserted a text element, the property dialog is opened automatically; the tab page of the text (caption) contains all data that can be used for layout of the graphical text element.



Fig. 183 Defining the layout of the graphical text element

 \mathbf{X}

• Origin:

• This section contains the position and original coordinates of the graphical text element. You can enter here other coordinates manually.

^{26.} The start date is specified in the initialisation file wiski.ini.

The graphical text element will be shifted according to your definition.

• Text orientation (section):

Г

- **Angle**: Specify here the angle (in degree) of the text. 0 degree corresponds to a horizontal text orientation. The text will be turned according to the specified angle clockwise around its end point (with a rotating angle of 180° the text will be upside down).
- Drop-down list box for horizontal orientation: Specifies the origin of the text in x-direction. The following entries are possible: right, central and left.
- Drop-down list box for vertical orientation: Specifies the origin of the text in y-direction. The following entries are possible: above, central and below.

An example: "right above" means that the origin of the text is in the bottom left edge of the text (i.e. the text is oriented to the top right).

- Text (section):
 - In the text box of the section you can enter an own text; such a text can also be combined for example with punctuation marks and the variables described below.
 - In the list box **Text variables** you will find a lot of time series specific (for example time series name or station name) or preconfigured variables (operator, place of creation) that can be inserted into the text.²⁷
 - Here you can display for example the Axis time range as text element. To do so, select the variables first timestamp of axis and last timestamp of axis.
 All variables with time data²⁸ can be specified even more exactly:
 - Choose in the combo box **Formatting** active now the date format from the list or enter it manually.

Use the WINDOWS standard:

- **D**: one-digit date (without zero; e.g. 1),
- **DD**: two-digit date (with zero; e.g. 01),
- DDD: three-digit abbreviation of the weekday (e.g. Mon),
- DDDD: long name of weekday (e.g. Monday),

^{27.} For the entries **Operator** and **Place of creation** of the drop-down list **Text variables** the respective variables are read in from the initialisation file **wiski.ini** (section [**Report_Configuration**], entries InstAdministration and InstLocation).

^{28.} In addition to the axis time ranges, you can display for example also the time stamp of the first, the last or the current value of the time series as text element.

- M: one-digit month (without zero; e.g. 1),
- MM: two-digit month (with zero; e.g. 01),
- MMM: three-digit abbreviation of the month (e.g. Feb),
- MMMM: long name of month (e.g. February),
- YY: two-digit year (with zero; e.g. 01),
- **YYYY:** four-digit year (e.g. 2001).
- *Please note*: When opening the dialog, there is no date format selected yet. When selecting a text variable with date format repeatedly, the format selected last will be offered.
- Select the desired variable from the drop-down list,
- check by the display box (highlighted in grey), displaying the plain text inserted as element into the graph, whether you have defined the text element as desired and
- activate finally the <**Apply**> button.

The chosen text variable will be inserted into the text (see text box **Text entry** where the variable is displayed (can be identified by the double cross; example: **#(time series name)** or for formats with time data: **#(start time)**.

Please note: You shouldn't make any further entries within the variable; the variable contents shouldn't be changed. Perhaps the program cannot identify them when they have been changed.

When activating the **** button, you will get the usual dialog for selection of the font and its properties, as it is well-known from Windows programs.

6.7.3.2 Inserting/editing lines, rectangles, ellipses and arrows

The second tab page **Style** in the **[Name of graphical element] edit** form (not existing for Text) shows the properties of pen (section **Line style**) and brush (section **Fill mode**) of line and area (rectangles, ellipses) graphical elements. Only those graphical elements have brush properties which contain a closed area for which fill colour and pattern can be set there (lines thus do not have those properties).

P

Arrow Edit	×
Arrow Style	
Line style	
Line s	tyle:
Line o	olor: Red
Line wi	idth: 1 💌 [mm]
Fill mode	
Fill co	olor: 🗾 Green 🖵
Fill br	ush:
	Transparent filling
	OK Abbrechen Übernehmen

Fig. 184 Style property of the graphical element

- \mathbf{X} Specify the line style:
 - The drop-down list box Line style offers you a selection of various line types.
 - Select the line colour from the drop-down list.
 - Enter the line width in millimetres either manually or choose the width with the arrow keys.
 - Specify the fill mode:
 - Choose a fill colour from the drop-down list of the same name.
 - Choose from the drop-down list box **Fill pattern** the desired pattern. If the area is completely filled with a colour or if it remains white, the check box **Transparent fill pattern** is deactivated.
 - When activating this check box, the filling will become transparent.

6.7.3.3 Inserting/editing a bitmap file

You may also insert bitmaps up to a size of 1 mbyte.

First, a standard bitmap (KISTERS logo) is inserted. When double-clicking on this bitmap you can change its size. In addition you can choose a new bitmap from a file.

Г

Bitmap Edit	×
Bitmap	
Bitmap coordinates	
Fron 29,1796374883 [x] Width: 207,843127382	
237,909490212 [y] Heighl 235	
select bitmap	
Bitmap name Bitmap	
OK Abbrechen Übernehmen Hil	e

Fig. 185 Properties of the graphical element bitmap

6.7.4 Copying graphical elements

In order to avoid time-consuming repeated inserting and drawing procedures, you can copy single graphical elements:

Copy graphical element	×
New assignment of graphical elem	ent
Assigned to plot:	
Greim.S.15	•
Graph area:	
Plot area	-
Horizontal coordinates \ © Plot (© Fixed (01000) ([°] ertical coordinates ● Plot ● Fixed (01000)
Delete original	
OK Cancel	<u>H</u> elp

Fig.	186	Copying	graphical	elements
------	-----	---------	-----------	----------

I



Г

- Choose the time series/plot where the graphical element is copied to.
- Define the assignment as described in "Inserting a graphical element" on the pages 267ff.

The drop-down list box **Plots** shows you all time series of the graphic window. The time series which the graphical element to be copied belongs to, is selected. The section **Assigned to** contains the assignments specified by you when inserting the

If you want to delete the graphical element to be copied irrevocably after the copy process,

- activate the check box **Delete original**.
- Start copying by activating <OK>;

graphical element (see the page 267ff.).

afterwards, the graphical element is copied to the selected time series with the specified assignment (e.g. "Axis (vertical)").

The copied graphical element is shown approx. one centimetre on the right under the original and becomes the selected graphical element.

- *Tip*: If you want to copy a graphical element to the same time series with the same assignment, you don't need to call this dialog but
- you can copy the selected element directly by pressing the key combination $<\!Ctrl\!>\!-\!<\!E\!>.$

6.7.5 List of all graphical elements

You can have displayed any time a list of all user defined graphical elements created in the graphical window; from this list you can even edit or delete graphical elements:

 \mathbf{X}

and)

- Activate the context menu entry **List of all graphical elements** from the total graph or
- activate the toolbar icon <a>[*]
- Select the desired graphical element (by clicking within the rectangle surrounding the element).
- Open the following context menu with the right mouse button within the selection rectangle:



Fig. 187 Context menu of the graphical elements

• Activate the context menu entry **List of all graphical elements**. The **Graphical element** dialog is opened:

Vame	Туре	Graph area	Time series	
fetafile	Metafile	Plot area	Greim.S.15	

Fig. 188 List of all graphical elements

When opening the dialog, the graphical element currently marked in the graph is selected in the single fields of the list. The list entries indicate every graphical element by

- its name,
- its type,

• its assignment and

Г

Х

• the name of the time series which it has been assigned to.

Use this window to select, edit and delete an element:

- Choose the desired element from the list and
 - activate the <OK> button.

The dialog will be closed and the special graphical element becomes the selected element.

• For editing purposes, activate the Edit button.

The tab page of the selected graphical element will be opened.

To delete a graphical element from the list (as an alternative to or Backspace key for a selected element in the graph),

• activate <**Delete**>.

First, deletion is only temporary: the graphical elements will be inserted in a deletion list.

- When leaving the window by **<Cancel**>, the deletion list is emptied and none of the graphical elements is actually deleted.
- When activating <**OK**>, all elements in the deletion list are irrevocably deleted without any inquiry. When you have shifted a graphical element into the deletion list and then want to change another element by <**Edit**>, a popup dialog is opened asking you whether to delete the elements in the deletion list before editing or whether to cancel the deletion process, i.e. no element is deleted.

6.8 Synchronising graphs and tables

Time series are represented in the graph and/or table window. Whereas the graph gives you a survey of the time series course, the table shows you the single values exactly.

You may synchronise both table and graph to make the best use of these two advantages for representations. When you click in this mode on a measured value in the graph, the respective value will be highlighted in the table.

This works also vice versa: when clicking on a value in the table, the respective value will be highlighted in the graph.

6.8.1 Synchronisation mode ON

- Select the desired plot.
 - Activate the <u></u>icon.
 Alternatively, you can use the main menu.
 - Activate the function View ⊃ Show values in table. The icon is active (seems to be "pressed").
 - To display the graph and table window for example next to each other, choose the menu item **Window**, **Tile horizontally**.
 - Click on the desired value. The corresponding measured value is marked in the table.

6.8.2 Synchronisation mode OFF

- Select the desired plot.
 - Activate again the <u></u>icon.
 The icon is deactivated, the synchronisation mode is switched off again.

IX

X

Functionalities of the Rating Curve Graph Synchronising graphs and tables

Г

Γ

APPENDIX

Selection of Discharge Measurements by means of predefined Criteria

Contents of this chapter:

Task	
Prerequisites	
Steps	

ſ

Task

Selection of Discharge Measurements by means of 7 predefined Criteria

7.1 Task

On the basis of the example water gauge Unterkirchberg-Weihung, you will select the discharge measurements carried out in 1996 and 199729.

7.2 **Prerequisites**

Discharge measurements for the Unterkirchberg gauge in the database

7.3 **Steps**

4		۰.	_		L
Б	С	h			L
L	2	2	١	L	L
	-	-	2		L

٠

- Select in the Explorer of your special information system the editing mode Rating curves.
- Choose the desired station and select the *Q* parameter. ٠ In the right window you can see now the list of existing rating curves.

^{29.} The data basis for the examples has been provided by the Landesanstalt für Umweltschutz (LfU) in Karlsruhe.

🔯 WISKI Explorer			
L View Stations Edit	Rating curves	•	
	Rating curves	of parameter	
	Rating curve	Number of versions	
B -∠ RC 02 B -∠ RC 03 B -∠ RC 04 B -∠ RC 06 B -∠ RC 06 B -∠ RC 07 B -∠ RC 08 B -∠ RC 09 B -∠ RC 10 B -∠ RC 11 B -∠ RC 11 B -∠ RC 12 B -∠ RC 12	Norm Norm RC Woard RC Edk RC Preview RC Preview RC Validities RC 07 RC 08 RC 09 RC 10 RC 11 RC 11	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	<u></u>
	RC 12	1	
	RC13	3	
	RC14 1	1 1	
Greim/200003 Q			

Fig. 189 Starting the SKED

- Open the context menu in the right window and choose here the entry Wizard. The **SKED** wizard is started and supports you when building up the working environment in the **SKED**. At first, we want to display only filtered discharge measurements.
- Choose in the wizard the option <Plot discharge measurements>.

Г

What do you want to do?		×
	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	Create new rating curve Open rating curve manager
	Plot flow measurements Show all rating curves Show all rating curve validities	
	¥*	Create graph Show flow measurements (extended)
	× (Further assistance Next> Cancel Help

Fig. 190 The start-up wizard of the SKED

All discharge measurements of the selected station are loaded in the **SKED**; the filter dialog is opened automatically.

Г

Filter options	×
Selection Range Derived data points Influence BIBER Time range:	all visible and included points selected;
Lower limit 0.1597342 Upper limit 122.02400 Season 2nd half of calendar year Image: Calendar year Bating curve 01[migrated] Select Add selection	
Select all Deselect all	
Selection Show selected only Include selected only Apply plot style for selected points	
	Close

Fig. 191 Selecting the desired discharge measurements for the display

If you want to work with the unfiltered data record, close the filter dialog directly. If you want to work only with a filtered data record, you can define here various criteria in the Selection area and combine them with each other.

All criteria being active at the same time (e. g. Time range since and Lower limit source parameter) are connected by a logical AND. You can filter one data record several times in succession without having to close the dialog.

By the button

- <Select> you can replace the previous selection by the discharge measurement result meeting the criteria defined in one step,
- <Add selection> you can add the special measurements to the ones selected before (corresponds to a logical OR connection),
- <Remove selection> you can remove the special measurements from the ones selected before (corresponds to a logical AND NOT connection),
- <Select all> you can select all measurements or
- <Deselect all> deselect all measurements.
In order to select now all measurements of the years 1996 and 1997,

- activate the filter criteria Time range since and Time range until.
- Enter 01.01.1996 and 31.12.1997 as values for the selection criteria.
- Execute the selection by clicking on <Select>.

In this example, the discharge measurements between 01.01.1996 and 31.12.1997 are selected. On the right-hand side of the window you can see the selections executed by the software.

lter options	2
Selection Range Derived data points Influence BIBER Time range: ✓ Io: 18.07.1997 Source parameter (S [m]): ✓ Upper limit: 4.16 Target parameter (S [m]): ✓ Upper limit: 551 ✓ Lower limit: 2.5 ✓ Upper limit: 551 ✓ Sgason: 2nd term of calendar year ✓ Select Add selection Bernove selection Select Add selection Bernove selection Show selected only ✓ Always show selection only Include selected only ✓ Just include selection	Filter history all deselected; +S values less than or equal to 4,16 and Q values between 2,5 and 551 and all values between 16.10.1987 and 18.07.1997; hide and exclude all none selected values, include and show all selected values;
Apply plot style for selected points:	Plot in graph
+ Standard Plot styles	Close He <u>l</u> p

Fig. 192 Selecting the desired measurements: Result

When having closed the dialog, only the selected measurements are shown in the **SKED** graph and table.



Fig. 193 Filtering and showing discharge measurements: Graph

ess	Datu	ım	Zeit	Status	W [cm]	Q [A [m2]	V [P [C*	Br	mit	Um
64	15.02.	1996	09:45:00	/	27	0.38	0.975				3.85		_
65	13.08.	1996	12:15:00	P/	52	1,22	2,0008	08939	30816	31356	4,3	65302	2800
66	01.10.	1996	15:05:00	P/	25	0,32	0,929192	48418	99684	10009	3,9	38254	1086
67	05.03.	1997	00:00:00	1	27	0,41	0,98				3,9		-
68	05.03.	1997	14:55:00	P/	27	0,41	0,976414	19535	34966	41773	3,9	50363	3109
69	14.05.	1997	09:30:00	P/	24	0,29	0,866979	33136	51164	18086	3,9	22302	2073
70	18.06.	1997	14:00:00	P/	25	0,26	0,879722	99593	53787	44964	3,85	28499	9076
71	15.07.	1997	09:25:00	P/	27	0,28	0,979912	0,2869	0,422	66201	3,9	51259	156
72	07.08.	1997	15:15:00	P/	28	0,27	0,977913	0,2793	16881	55177	4,05	24146	S251
73	11.09.	1997	13:00:00	P/	26	0,22	0,897461	50492	69542	60834	3,9	30118	3078

Fig. 194 Filtering and showing discharge measurements: Table

APPENDIX

Editing Rating Curves

Contents of this chapter:

Task	293
Prerequisites	293
Steps "Rating curve extrapolation"	293
Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"	297
Step "New rating curve with proposal"	

Editing Rating Curves Task

8 Editing Rating Curves

8.1 Task

- We take the Plochingen-Fils gauge as example and want to extrapolate the rating curve 3 up to a stage of 560 cm.
- For the Plochingen-Fils gauge we want to create a new rating curve in a way that it will be shifted by 7 cm upwards in the range above 46 cm. Furthermore, the new rating curve shall go through the same zero as the existing one; that means it is to be tipped in that area and possible offsets are to be removed.
- For the Unterkirchberg-Weihung gauge we want to create a rating curve by means of the discharge measurements since 1987. A corresponding proposal shall be made here by the program.

8.2 Prerequisites

Rating curve as well as measurements for the special gauge must exist in the database.

8.3 Steps "Rating curve extrapolation"

- <u>a</u>
- Select in the Explorer of your special information system the editing mode Rating curves.
- Choose the desired station and select the *Q* parameter. In the right window you can see now the list of existing rating curves.
- Select the rating curve 3.
- Choose in the context menu of the right window the function Edit. The **SKED** is opened with the selected rating curve 3.

Editing Rating Curves Steps "Rating curve extrapolation"

🕅 WISKI Explorer			
L View Stations Edit	Rating curves]	
	Rating curves	of parameter	
B I C DC DC	Rating curve	Number of versions	
	New RC Wizerd RC Edit RC Table RC Preview RC Validities RC 07 RC 09 RC 10 RC 11 RC 12 RC 12 RC13 RC14 1	0 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
Greim/200003	I	1	
Jorenniz200000 Ja			

Fig. 195 Starting the SKED with a rating curve version

- Check whether the rating curve status allows you to edit the curve.
- Open the rating curve management (via the main menu File ⊃ Rating curve management or by ≥).
- Set the status to preliminary or accepted respectively. Apply the changes and close the dialog with <Close>.

Now you can edit the rating curve.

Please note: Do not forget to set the rating curve status to "released" again, when you have finished your editing work.

P

Rating curve management	×
Rating curve management RudiKanal Redikanal Redikanal C (Selection) Rating curves L 1 L 55 L 2 L 1 L 3 L 1 L 33 L 1 L 33 L 2	Station Rating curve The Validities Rating Curve Status: Rating Curve Number: Agtive version number: S5 Source parameter name: W Unit of Source: m Heickt ref. of BC: Rating curve The statif rational sector The statif rational sec
	Upit of Target: m3/s Units and height stati will be automatically calculated to the source and target time series during the calculation.
B ← h3	Select function for enhanced Active version rating curve calculation: For selected function not equal to the 'active version' the names of the versions must be numerical Comment: Last changed by:
□ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □ □	write OK Cancel Apply

Fig. 196 Released rating curves

The extrapolation in the flood range can be carried out best in a double-logarithmic view. By the icon \bowtie you switch from the linear axis scaling to the double-logarithmic view.

To display the rating curve as a straight line, the stage axis has to be shifted by the difference between discharge zero and gauge zero. Generally, this movement corresponds to the smallest stage of the stage-discharge relation. In addition, the *S* and *Q* axes are to be scaled according to the maximum values that are expected. When changing to the double-logarithmic scaling, the **SKED** inquires these settings automatically.

- Enter the zero shift for the Y-axis (S), if the discharge zero is unequal to the gauge zero. This is here 20 cm.
- Adapt the scaling to insert extrapolation points in the upper range. For example S from 0 to 600 cm and Q from 0 to 1,000 m³/s.

Double logarithm	ic view			×
Scaling of x-axis		Scaling of y-axis		
From:	0	From:	20	
Until:	1000	Until:	600	
Step:	1,2,5	Step:	1,2,5	•
Offset:	0	Offset:		20
	L	<u>o</u> k c	Cancel	Apply

Fig. 197 Double-logarithmic view

• Confirm your adaptation with <OK>.



Fig. 198 Double-logarithmic view: Result

- Zoom into the graph in order to optimize the display format (\oplus).
- Activate the insertion mode by the icon 🔄 in order to insert descriptor points for the extrapolation.



Fig. 199 Descriptor point for the extrapolation

Activate the editing mode by the icon *solution* in order to optimize the descriptor points for the extrapolation.

For your information, the current S and Q coordinates of the mouse are permanently shown by the **SKED** at the screen edge on the lower right.

8.4 Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"

In this example, we want to construct a new rating curve 4 that is shifted vertically in the range S > 200 cm, compared with an existing rating curve (rating curve 3 at the Plochingen gauge). The range S < 200 cm of the new rating curve is adapted by tipping.

- Select in the Explorer of your special information system the editing mode Rating curves.
- Choose the desired station and select the *Q* parameter. In the right window you can see now the list of existing rating curves.
- Select the rating curve 3.
- Choose in the context menu of the right window the function Edit. The **SKED** is opened with the selected rating curve.

Editing Rating Curves Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"



Fig. 200 Vertical shift of a rating curve

To generate a new rating curve by means of the rating curve 3, we first have to create a new rating curve.

• Choose in the wizard the top option (<Create new rating curve or new version>). The wizard guides you through the creation procedure.

What do you want to do?		×
	(음) (교급)	Create new rating curve Open rating curve manager
	<u>***</u>	Plot flow measurements
	** **	Show all rating curve validities Create graph Show flow measurements (extended)
1. Start	~	Further assistance
< <u>B</u> ack	<	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 201 Wizard: Start

• Choose the option Rating curve.



Fig. 202 Wizard: Step 1

• The second step is to set the status to preliminary and to enter a name for the rating curve (here "New"). Accept the standard proposals for source parameter and units. Remarks are optional.

New rating curve		×
	Status: Number/Name: Source parametername/ Marking of the Y-Axis: Unit of gaurce: Unit of gaurce: Unit of gaurget: The units do not have to series. There is a automa Remark: test	preliminary 1234 W m m3/s be identical to the units of time tically conversion.
	< <u>Z</u> urück	Weiter > Abbrechen

Fig. 203 Wizard: Step 2

In the third step you may enter a curve validity, if it is already known to you.

• Activate the check box anyway to create a new version and click on <Next> to continue.



Fig. 204 Wizard: Step 3

The fourth step is to define the new version.

• First of all, choose the type.

Usually, the **SKED** proposes the type Table (spline). The check box Envelope curve is used for the ETA method. In our example, however, we create a normal rating curve.

• Enter a suitable name for the new version (here "1"). Upper and lower limits are optional.

The new version is defined as the active version. Comments of change are optional.

• Activate the <Next> button.

Editing Rating Curves Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"

New rating curve version	×
	Type: Table (Spine) The type cannot be change afterwards! Image: Table (Spine) Ima
	< <u>∠</u> urück <u>W</u> eiter > Abbrechen

Fig. 205 Wizard: Step 4

• In the final step, we recommend to select the middle option Show/edit graphically for a spline construction.



Fig. 206 Wizard: Step 5

Creation of a new rating curve with an active version is finished now.

After that, we want to copy the descriptor points of the existing rating curve 3.

- First, choose the rating curve 3 from the drop-down list.
- Open a table containing descriptor points by the 🔳 icon.

/ Greim/Q - Q/1	.1	×
(cm)	Q [m3/s]	
20.00	0.0000	
51,00	7,8410	
102,00	36,5930	
153,00	79,1090	
204,00	127,8090	
255,00	178,5060	
306,00	233,7660	
357,00	293,8580	
511,61	539,1831	
561,06	633,3250	
		•
	lose	Halp
		Toth

Fig. 207 Table of descriptor points

- Copy the descriptor points into the Windows clipboard.
- Select all values either by the keyboard (<Ctrl> + <A>), the mouse or the context menu.
- Copy the selection into the clipboard either by the keyboard (<Ctrl> + <C>) or the context menu function Copy.

Synchronize table and graphic		Configu	re colum	ns	
Delete row Insert row		Font Print		Ctrl	l + d
Table	•	Select a	I	Stro	g+a
Search in column					
Restore					
Cut					
Delete					
Paste					
Сору					
1,971 22,9120,211 0.	10				

Fig. 208 Copying into the clipboard

- Close the table.
- Choose then the new rating curve from the drop-down list.

Editing Rating Curves Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"

• By the icon 🔤 you open the empty table of descriptor points of the new curve.

/ Greim/Q - Q/1.	.1		×
S [m]	Q [m	'/s]	
		_	
		_	
		_	
		_	
1	<u></u>		
	lose	Hel	p

Fig. 209 Opening the empty table

• Paste the copied values from the clipboard either by the keyboard (<Ctrl> + <V>) or the context menu function Paste.

/ Greim/Q	- Q/1.1	×
S [m]	Q [m*/s]	-
	120 25.0	- I
	Сору	
	Paste	
	Delete	
	Cut	
	Undo	
	Restore	
	Search in column	
	Table	•
	Delete row	
	Insert row	
	Synchronize table and graphic	
	Save as text file	•
	Units	+
	Rounding	
	Set status	•
	Insert gap	

Fig. 210 Pasting from the clipboard

• Close the table.

The spline calculated from these descriptor points is now shown graphically.



Fig. 211 Showing the spline calculated from descriptor points

Now we want to adjust the new (copied) rating curve to the new situation. In our example, a part of the curve is to be shifted vertically by 7 cm.

However, we first have to avoid the possibility of a horizontal shift that might be carried out by mistake.

• To do so, activate in the context menu the function Prevent horizontal shift.

Refresh	1
Axis properties Plot properties Legend properties	
Zoom + Zoom - Zoom 100% Formula	
Options •	Cross hair
Extend time range New time range	Prevent vertical shift Prevent horizontal shift
Reload current time series Update loaded time series	Fit into another time series Synchronise graph and table
Copy graphic to clipboard Save graph to file	Automatic scaling when zoomed Zoom settings

Fig. 212 Prevent horizontal shift

- To be able to edit the descriptor points of the new rating curve afterwards in the graph, switch to the editing mode ([]).
- Select all descriptor points in the range above 200 cm by the mouse. The first point can be selected by just clicking on it. Further points are added by clicking on them and pressing the <Ctrl> key.

Please note: The example says 46 cm; to illustrate the tipping process, we take 200 cm as lower limit.



Fig. 213 Selecting the descriptor points

• To shift the selected descriptor points vertically, click with the mouse on one of the selected points and move the range by 7 cm upwards with the left mouse button still kept pressed.

You can view the mouse or cross-hair pointer coordinates at the graph border on the bottom right any time. Use this information to shift the points by 7 cm.

Editing Rating Curves Steps "Vertical shift of a rating curve"



Fig. 214 Vertical shift of the rating curve

Please note: The example says 7 cm, but to illustrate the procedure, the shift made here was approx. 30 cm.

To remove the offsets, we select now the descriptor points of the new rating curve below 200 cm.

When clicking on the first descriptor point in the lower range (without <Ctrl> key), all values selected until then are deselected and only this special point is selected. After that you can add further points again by clicking on them and activating the <Ctrl> key.

• To correct the offsets, press the <Ctrl> key and move the first descriptor point below the 200 cm limit upwards in a way that it is brought into line with the upper range of the rating curve.

Since you have pressed the <Ctrl> key, the part of the curve is not shifted parallel but tipped. That means that the zero point remains unchanged.

• The zoom function allows you to work 1 more exactly.

Ŀ



Fig. 215 Vertical shift: removing offsets

You can repeat this procedure as often as required to achieve an optimal transition in the range around 200 cm. If the shift or tipping process totally failed,

- Use 🕤 to undo the change. If the adjustments suit you,
- save the new rating curve (🔲).

Editing Rating Curves Step "New rating curve with proposal"



Fig. 216 New rating curve: Result

To use the new rating curve for the calculation of discharges, you must allocate a validity period to the rating curve.

8.5 Step "New rating curve with proposal"

Γ

- Select in the Explorer of your special information system the editing mode Rating curves.
- Choose the desired station and select the *Q* parameter. In the right window you can see now the list of existing rating curves.
- Choose in the context menu of the right window the function Wizard.

🕅 WISKI Explorer			
1 View Stations Edit	Rating curves	•	
	Rating curves	of parameter	
	Rating curve	Number of versions	
	New	0	
⊞- 🗠 RC 04	R(wizard	1	
⊡- 🗹 RC 05	RC	1	
⊞-L RC 06	RC preview	1	
	RC	1	
	R(1	
	RC 07	1	
⊞-I <u>/</u> RC 11	RC 09	1	
	RC 10	1	
	RC 11	1	
	RC12 RC13	3	
GRiverGauge/14477	RC14	1	
⊕ 💼 Gtest/11477	1	1	
🖻 🎰 💼 Lake01/8080			
Oberhausen/300014			
	<u> </u>		
Greim/200003 Q			

Fig. 217 Starting the SKED with a rating curve version

- Choose in the wizard the top option (Create new rating curve or new version). The wizard guides you through the creation procedure (cf. Fig. 201, page 299).
- Choose the option Rating curve (cf. Fig. 202, page 299).
- The second step is to set the status to preliminary and to enter a name for the rating curve (here "New").
- Accept the standard proposals for source parameter and units. Remarks are optional (cf. Fig. 203, page 300).

In the third step you may enter a curve validity, if it is already known to you.

• Anyway, activate the check box to create a new version and click on <Next> to continue (cf. Fig. 204, page 301).

The fourth step is to define the new version (cf. Fig. 205, page 302).

- First of all, choose the type. Usually, the **SKED** proposes the type Table (spline). The check box Envelope curve is used for the ETA method. In our example, however, we create a normal rating curve.
- Enter a suitable name for the new version (here "1").
 Upper and lower limits are optional. The new version is defined as the active version. Comments of change are optional.

• Activate the <Next> button.

Г

• In the final step you should choose the second and the third option (Show and edit the rating curve graphically and Filter and display measurements graphically) (cf. Fig. 206, page 302).

Since you selected in the previous step the option Filter and display measurements graphically, a filter dialog is opened now.

• Click on the <Close> button to select all discharge measurements or filter the measurements respectively.

To get a rating curve proposal from the program, a simple regression is carried out through the discharge measurements.

- Constant and the set of the
- To do so, open the context menu and choose the function Regression **I** simple.

Fig. 218 Starting simple regression

• You can enter a range (*W* axis) in the regression dialog and specify the function type for regression.

As for rating curves, we recommend the following function types:

• Power law:

 $Q = a S^{b}$,

if gauge zero = discharge zero

Shifted Power (Log. transf.)
 Q = a (S-c)^b,

if gauge zero + discharge zero and the shift is known

Shifted power (according Lauffer)
 Q = a (S-c)^b,

if gauge zero + discharge zero and the shift is unknown

• Click on <Apply> to view the result.

t <mark>ta</mark> Re	egression: FQ	[m3/s] = f(S	i [m])		
Se	egment		Regression		
	From:	To:	Туре	Degree/Diff.	Correlation coefficient
	<u>1</u> . 0.124	÷ 2	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	•	<u> </u>
	🗖 Exclude	🗖 Link			>
	2.	*	Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	-	
	🗖 Exclude	🗖 Link			<u>></u>
	3.		Shifted Power Law (m, n, p by log. trans.)	~	
	🗖 Exclude	🗖 Link			
			Total correlation of	coefficient (linear)	0.797159
_ St	atistics				
C	<u>S</u> tatistical	Evaluation	Show no interval	•	1 -fold
	ок	Apply	Delete Cancel		<u>H</u> elp

Fig. 219 Specifying the regression parameter

You can adapt the type or the range as often as you like. You can also choose different regression types for the various ranges. After having specified your regression,

- click on <OK> to close the dialog and to evaluate the regression line graphically. You can adapt this regression further by including or excluding discharge measurements. Excluded discharge measurements are not considered for regression. To exclude discharge measurements,
- click on the 😹 icon.
- Select all discharge measurements you do not want to use for regression.
- To do so, press the <Ctrl> key and
- click on each special measurement.
 To exclude the selected discharge measurements definitely from the calculations,
- click on the olicon.
 To include values again that have once been excluded,

• click on the o icon.

Γ

Excluded discharge measurements can be identified in the editing mode by a cross (x) whereas included measurements are displayed with a plus (+).



Fig. 220 Including/excluding discharge measurements

If the adaptation of the regression is satisfactory, you can start creating a new rating curve by taking this proposal as basis.

- To do so, select the new rating curve in the list.
- Activate the insertion mode 🔬 to set the new descriptor points in the graph.
- Add new descriptor points for the new rating curve and use here the regression curve as guide line.



Fig. 221 Inserting new descriptor points

In addition you may open a table to edit the descriptor points there, for example to enter the discharge zero.



Fig. 222 Editing descriptor points in the table

- Use 😏 to undo the change.
- Use <u>solution</u> to shift descriptor points already set in the graph graphically-interactively. If the adjustments suit you,
- save the new rating curve (🖃).

Editing Rating Curves

Step "New rating curve with proposal"

Г

Γ

I

APPENDIX

The Eta Method

Contents of this chapter:

Parameters and time series required	319
Configuring the time series, origins	319
Program technical requirements on the stage-discharge relation	n .320
Application of the Eta method exemplified by the Burgberg-Ort	stati-
on	321
Creating the envelope curve	321
Configuring the time series	323
First results of the Eta method	323
Manual interventions in the Eta.P time series	324

Γ

9 The Eta Method

One method to calculate the discharge is the Eta method according to the German Manual for Water Level Gauging and Discharge Measurements. In this chapter we will illustrate the Eta method based on the example of the "Burgberg Ort/Hurbe" station.

9.1 Parameters and time series required

To apply the ETA method, the following parameters/time series must exist at the station:

- Eta.P
- Eta.O
- S.highresolution
- Q.highresolution
- Q.gauging

9.2 Configuring the time series, origins

Time series	Origin	Input time series
Eta.P	Copy values	Eta.O
Eta.O	Calculate Eta	Q.gauging
Q.highresolution	Rating curves enhanced	Source: S.high resolution Eta: Eta.P
Q.gauging	Unknown/BIBER	
S.highresolution	Copy values	S.highresolution.0
S.highresolution.0	Unknown/Fetch	

Tab. 4 Origin of the time series involved in the Eta method



Fig. 223 Eta method, time series organization

9.3 Program technical requirements on the stage-discharge relation

To apply the Eta method, at least one valid discharge envelope curve must exist for the station.

9.4 Application of the Eta method exemplified by the Burgberg-Ort station

In the period from 23.03.1993 to 11.11.1999 approximately 130 discharge measurements were taken at the Burgberg-Ort station. The stage was recorded continuously from 01.03.1993 on.

The following steps are to be executed in order to apply the Eta method in your special information system.

- creating the envelope curve (SKED)
- calculating the Eta time series
- calculating the Q time series

9.5 Creating the envelope curve

The varying flume hydraulics is considered for Burgberg-Ort by 12 rating curves in total (Harp method). To replace the Harp method by the Eta method, the two outer rating curves are used as Q_0 and Q_2 of the envelope curve we want to create. The created envelope curve is valid from 01.01.1950 on.

To create the envelope curves, proceed as follows:

- Select in the Explorer of your special information system the editing mode **Rating curves**.
- Choose the desired station and select the Q parameter.
 The right window possibly displays now a list of existing rating curves.
- Choose in the context menu of the right window the function **Wizard**. The **SKED** Wizard is started and helps you with the envelope curve creation.
- Choose in the wizard the top option (**Create new rating curve or new version**). Now the envelope curve is created using a wizard.
- Choose the option **Create rating curve**.
- The second step is to set the status to **preliminary** and to enter a name for the envelope curve. Accept the standard proposals for source parameter and units. Remarks are optional.
- In the third step you may enter a curve validity, if it is already known to you.
- Activate the check box anyway to create a new version and activate <**Next**> to continue.

The Eta Method

Application of the Eta method exemplified by the Burgberg-Ort station

- The fourth step is to define the new version. First of all, choose the type. Usually, **SKED** proposes the type **Descriptor points**.
- Activate the check box Limit value plot to enable SKED to create an envelope curve.
- Enter a suitable name for the new version. Upper and lower limits are optional. The new version is defined as the active version. Comments of change are optional.
- Activating <**Next**> you get to the final step.
- Here it is possible to set spline points for the new version manually in a table. Furthermore, you can display the (empty) envelope curve in a graph, for example to calculate a regression and create the rating curve graphically.
- Activate this check box anyway, since the graphical construction of the envelope curve is the most suitable method.

The last of the three options allows you to represent not only the envelope curve but also discharge measurements in the same graph.

• Activate **<Finish>** to create the (empty) envelope curve.

If you decided to show the discharge measurements, a dialog is opened now where you can filter the discharge measurements according to criteria. These criteria can be entered by yourself.

The envelope curve consists of two partial curves, Q_o and Q_z that have to be defined now (in the graph Q_z is the top partial curve and Q_o the bottom one). The steps for the creation of rating curves are common **SKED** functionalities which are not explained here in detail.

Please note here that these two partial curves must not get into contact with each other, except at the discharge zero. After you have calculated the partial curves of the envelope curves, e.g. by a regression through the discharge measurements, you have to define the validity and set the status to **released**.



Fig. 224 Envelope curve of the Burgberg-Ort station

9.6 Configuring the time series

The Burgberg-Ort station has an "ETA parameter" which the time series Eta.O and Eta.1 are defined for. The original time series Eta.O is the target time series of the Eta value calculation according to the German Manual for Water Level Gauging and Discharge Measurements (Appendix D,10.6). Eta.1, the production time series, is a copy of the calculated Eta values. Production time series with the origin **Copy values** allow to edit and process the calculated ETA values.

The target time series of the S/Q conversion ("Q.60") gets the origin **Rating curve enhanced**, input time series are S.60 and the production time series Eta.1 of the station.

9.7 First results of the Eta method

The first step for the S/Q conversion according to the Eta method is to calculate the Eta values (original) for that time range for which discharge measurements are existing. Afterwards, the Eta values are copied from the original time series into the production time series. The time series Q.60 is displayed in a graph so that you get a 'preview' of

its calculated discharges. (The latter action is sufficient to calculate all time series automatically.)

The result of the calculated discharge values are shown in the following illustration:



Fig. 225 First results of the S/Q conversion according to the Eta method

9.8 Manual interventions in the Eta.P time series

Depending on the density of the discharge measurements at the station, a "manual intervention" in the Eta.P time series may become necessary. If for example, there were no discharge measurements taken just before and straight after the weed removal of the measuring cross section, the "sudden" change of the flume condition must be expressed by additional Eta help points.

Such an event can be observed in May/June 1997. The water surface in the measuring cross section increases continuously until the weed removal on 04.06. ($6^{\circ\circ}-12^{\circ\circ}$).


Fig. 226 Weed removal of the measuring cross section

Discharge measurements were taken approx. 7 days before and after the weed removal. The weed removal event is not recorded by measurements just before and straight after the weed removal. The Eta time series' behaviour is in accordance with that (above). On the basis of the measurements that are approx. 14 days apart, the related Eta values are determined and connected linearly with each other. The time distance of the measurements is too big here so that the discharge (centre, light time series) cannot be reduced sufficiently.

The Eta.P time series is completed by help points in a way that the weed removal event is expressed sufficiently. The completion of the Eta values is an iterative process. First approximations can be achieved by a linear extrapolation of the Eta values before and after the weed removal. The duration of the weed removal event can be determined by the stage time series. The "leap" in the stage time series should be closed by Eta help points as good as possible.



Fig. 227 Effect of the Eta correction on the discharge calculation

The help points added manually in the Eta.P time series are not overwritten when updating the time series the next time, if the options **Expand**, complete gaps and overwrite valid data are set in the origin Copy values.

An example of how to create these results is explained in the following.

- Open in the Explorer of your special information system the following time series in the same graph: ETA.P, Q.60.his, Q.gauging.
- The time range should comprise at least the validity period of the rating curve. With that, the first results of the Eta method are shown in the graph; now you can decide whether it is necessary to adapt the Eta.P time series manually.

In order to correct a sudden change in the flume condition for the discharge calculation, we want to adapt the Eta.P time series. For that purpose, the Eta.P time series is extrapolated before and after the weed removal.

- To do so, choose the Eta.P time series in the list to set it active.
- Activate the <**Add values**> button to add extrapolation points directly before and after the weed removal (see Fig. 226, page 325).
- Save the changes.
- Choose for the new calculation of Q.60.his the desired time series (here Q.60.his) in the list to set it active (= current).
- Activate in the context menu the function **Reload current time series**. The program recalculates the discharge by using the new status of the Eta.P time series.

• Repeat the steps 2 and 3 until you get the desired result for the discharge time series.

Γ

The Eta Method

Г

Γ

Application of the Eta method exemplified by the Burgberg-Ort station

I

APPENDIX

Extended Power Law

Contents of this chapter:

The concept of the extended power method	331
Least square method of the logarithmic values	
Least square method according to the "Verbund"	
Prerequisites	
Creating and saving new rating curves	334

10 Calculating Rating Curves with the Extended Power Method

10.1 The concept of the extended power method

With the extended power law you can calculate rating curves semi-automatically. It is mainly used for the calculation of rating curves describing stage – discharge relations in natural flowing water where weed growth influences play a minor role.

It is not suitable for rivers influenced by backwater, such as estuaries or water reaches in the upstream of controllable weirs.

The extended power function comprises the following steps that had to be carry out manually in the past:

- select measurements,
- create regression (power regression),
- copy into rating curve.

One can approximate the rating curve of a gauge in flowing water with natural cross sections with a function of the following form.

$$T = d \cdot (Z - f)^e$$

- Q discharge in m³/s
- W water level in cm
- a factor
- b exponent
- c zero shift

To determine the coefficients a, b and c of the function for a certain gauge, discharge measurements are regularly taken at gauges. The result of such measurements for the water level read from the staff gauge is the discharge determined by the measurement and other values.

When the measurements are regularly repeated at different stages, a group of values is generated which describes the discharge behaviour over the range of the stages. Then the shifted power function is adapted to this group of values by

determining optimal coefficients. This is done by using mathematical optimisation algorithms.

The coefficients of the rating curve function are regarded as optimally adjusted, when the target function that describes the deviation of the real measured values from the rating curve becomes minimal.

Presently, two different target functions are implemented in your special information system, yielding different results, depending on the underlying measurement results. The user has to choose the appropriate target function, depending on the aims he has, for example good adaptation in the high water or low-flow range or compensation of errors over all ranges.

We cannot make any general recommendations of which target function is to be used for which tasks, because this always depends on the underlying measured values of the special station.

10.1.1 Least square method of the logarithmic values

 $\sum \left(\circ \left(T_{\text{jhphvvh}} \left(Z \right) \right) - \circ \left(T_{\text{vfko'vvkagi}} \left(Z \right) \right) \right)^{5} \rightarrow \text{plg}$

This target function was applied into the special information systems of KISTERS AG as it is a common target function in hydrology to determine the coefficients of power functions. Its origin is found in the mathematical regression calculation for non-linear problems.

10.1.2 Least square method according to the "Verbund"

$$\sum \frac{\mathrm{T}_{jhphvvh}(z) - \mathrm{T}_{vfko'vvkoph}(z)^{5}}{\mathrm{T}_{jhphvvhq}} \to plq$$

This target function has successfully been used at the Verbund AG / Austria for many years already to adapt rating curves. Due to the good experiences made regarding the convergence behaviour and due to the good adaptation of the rating curves at their

Γ

gauges, we have implemented this method as the second target function in your special information system.

Both target functions allow you to calculate all three parameters. However, it is often advisable that the target function crosses the zero point. This should be the case for example, when you know that the gauge datum is identical with the discharge zero. To calculate a rating curve with that behaviour, only the coefficients a and b are to be determined optimally. The coefficient c is set to 0.

A widespread phenomenon that can be observed in hydrometry is that the gauge zeros of the staff gauge differ from that of the water-stage recorder. This may be caused on the one hand by inaccuracies in adjustment at the gauge or by different reference systems on the other hand. Staff gauges in a local height system, data loggers of the recorder in absolute height systems (müA in Austria, m+NN in Germany, Ordnance Datum in Ireland or Sea Level in th USA). That means for the rating curve that it is calculated in the system of the staff gauge first (Q measurements and readings from staff gauge) and afterwards is transformed into the system of the water-stage recorder. Looking at the "Extended power law", this is a vertical parallel shift of the rating curve from the automatically calculated zero crossing c to a coefficient value c to be preset by the user.

10.2 Prerequisites

To calculate a rating curve by the "Extended power function", the results of at least three discharge measurements with different water levels and discharges must exist in the special information system used and saved in the parameter table of the special station. The minimum number three results from the number of free coefficients of the power function used for the process. To determine steady and well adapted rating curves, we recommend to use more measurements so that the whole range of water levels is covered.

Since the "Extended power method" requires only the read stages and calculated discharges, this method can be applied even if the database does not contain any detailed information about the measurements. Data concerning the mean velocity, the cross section area flowed through and other evaluation results supplied by **BIBER** are not needed for this method.

10.3 Creating and saving new rating curves

Creation and saving of new rating curves is done in the **SKED** rating curve editor of your information system. A wizard guides you through the creation process, inquiring the information needed.

<u>a</u>

Г

• To create a new rating curve, choose in the Explorer header of the information system as editing object the item **Rating curves**.

One of the views Regions, Sites, Stations or Rivers must be active for this.

- Select then in the tree view on the left-hand side of the Explorer that station at which you want to create a rating curve for a parameter.
- Choose this parameter at the station.

This tree view shows only parameters of a station where at least one time series has the origin **Rating curves enhanced**. If there are already rating curves existing in the database for that parameter, they are displayed in the list view on the right-hand side.

If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.

- To create a new rating curve, activate with the right mouse button in the context menu of the right-hand side of the Explorer the function **Wizard**.
- Afterwards, **SKED** starts with its start-up dialog of the **Wizard to create new** rating curves and versions.

Create new rating curve	, ×
	A rating curve can have any number of version, but at least one. However only one version can be active. Rating curve versions can be used, for example to test different variations. What would you like to create?

Fig. 228 Start-up dialog of the Rating Curve Wizard

The information that you want to create a new rating curve has already been entered in your information system and thus, it is also already preset in the Wizard.

• Activate <Next> to get to the next page of the Wizard.

Create new rating curve		×
Create new rating curve	Status: Number: Source parameter name: Unit for source time series: Elevation of RC: Unit for target time series Selection function for extended rating curve calculation:	Preliminary 321 321 5 cm felative to gauge datum for a state of the st
< <u>B</u> ac	k <u>N</u> ext>	Cancel Help

Fig. 229 Dialog to edit detailed information on the new rating curves

• Choose the rating curve status:

- invalid (rating curve is not used for calculation, produces gap) or
- preliminary (best status for new rating curves) or
- accepted (rating curve is used for calculation) or
- **released** (rating curve can no longer be edited).
- Allocate a number or a name to the rating curve.
- Check the source parameter and the units; the proposals are taken from the database and correspond to the units of the source and target time series involved. Changes are necessary only in special circumstances.
- Example: The database contains the stage in cm and the discharge in m³/s, but the rating curve is to be created in mm and l/s.
- If required, enter a remark.
- Open the next page with <Next>.
- Here you can enter the start of the validity period for the rating curve and create a first version of the new rating curve
- If you know the beginning of the validity period, activate the entry **Valid since** and enter the date.
- If you want to specify the validity later, deactivate the entry and define the validity later in the rating curve management.
- Since the actual construction of the rating curve is done in the single versions (to allow a comparison of different variants), you should create the first version here.

Create new rating curve	×
	You can now enter a validity date for this rating curve to specify from when it should be valid. Insert validity: 🔽 09/01/2008 04:19:26 💌
< <u>B</u> ac	k Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 230 Dialog to enter the validity and to create a rating curve version

- Activate the entry Create version which is preset by default.
- With <Next> you get to the details of the new version.

Create new rating curve ve	rsion	×
	Type: Number: Upper lim Lower lim Comment	Descriptor points Descriptor points Power law function Free formula Rectangular weir formula Extended power law Power law in sections Formula in sections mit: Calculate but flag as beyond limit
< <u>B</u> ack	k []	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 231 Details of a rating curve version, selection of the type "Extended power law"

SKED allows you to create rating curves according to various methods. To create a rating curve according to the "Extended power law",

- choose as rating curve type the entry **Extended power law**.
- Enter a name for the version.

Г

If this is the only version that exists for the special rating curve, it is automatically set as the active version which is used for calculation. If other versions exist, you can activate here the new version.

- Activate the entry Active version, if you want to use this version for calculation.
- If required, enter a remark.
- Open the next wizard page with <Next>.

SKED has now the total information it needs to save the rating curve including version, type and validity in the database. **SKED** offers different ways to carry out the actual construction now:

- *Enter data*: A special editor is opened where you can enter the rating curve data. This mode is preferable for the Extended power method since input and calculation are automatically combined there.
- *Show/edit graphically*: Here you can edit the descriptor points of the rating curve graphically. As for the Extended power method, this mode is suitable only for visualisation, because the rating curve determined by calculation does not have any real descriptor points.
- *Show/edit results of measurements graphically*: Since the measurement results are the basis for the rating curve calculation, they are displayed at the Extended power method automatically.



Fig. 232 Creating the rating curve and version

- To calculate the rating curve, activate all three entries (this is already set by default).
- Switch to the construction mode by <Finish>.

A graph window is opened containing all measurements numbered consecutively. In the foreground you can see the editor to calculate the rating curve.



Fig. 233 Starting the rating curve construction according to the "Extended power law"

To calculate the rating curve now, you first have to make some presettings for the calculation.

- Activate the entry **Fixed C**, if you want to preset the coefficient C firmly.
- Activate the entry Force zero point, if the rating curve shall go through zero (e.g. Q = 0 m³/s for S = 0 cm)

The next step is to apply the measurements to be used for calculation into the editor.

• Apply all measurements from the graph into the editor by **Apply included** measurements

SKED calculates the rating curve automatically and shows the result in the editor.



Fig. 234 Editor for the rating curve calculation according to the "Extended power law"

• Close the editor with **<OK**> to view the rating curve in the graph.



Fig. 235 Rating curve calculated by SKED according to the "Extended power law"

Now you can recalculate this rating curve with changed settings

- by opening the editor again
- or save the result in the database with File **C** Save.
- When closing the editor without saving, you will automatically be asked whether to save.

There are two ways to select the data record, in case you do not want to calculate the rating curve with all measurements.

One way is to select and include the desired parameters via the filter dialog in the graph. Only these selected parameters are applied in the editor.

Another way is to apply all measurements and exclude single measurements afterwards from calculation by the context menu (delete rows).

Furthermore, you can also insert help points in the calculation table (insert row). You have then to enter values for source parameter (e.g. S) and target parameter (e.g. Q) for these help points. The help points are used afterwards in the calculation like real measurements.

APPENDIX

Shifted Power Function with Free Formula Calculation

Contents of this chapter:

The concept of the shifted power function	.345
Method of the logarithmic regression	.346
Lauffer method	.346
Prerequisites	.347
Creating and saving new rating curves	.348

11 Calculating Rating Curves as multi-part, shifted Power Function with the Free Formula

11.1 The concept of the shifted power function

Based on the shifted power function you can calculate rating curves in your hydrological information system semi-automatically. It is mainly used for the calculation of rating curves describing stage – discharge relations in natural flowing water without fast changing weed growth influences.

It is not suitable for rivers influenced by backwater, such as estuaries or water reaches in the upstream of controllable weirs.

One can approximate the rating curve of a gauge in flowing water with natural cross sections with a shifted power function of the following form.

$$T = d \cdot (Z - f)^e$$

- Q discharge in m³/s
- W water level in cm
- a factor
- b exponent
- c zero shift

To determine the coefficients a, b and c of the function for a certain gauge, discharge measurements are regularly taken at gauges. The result of such measurements for the stage read from the staff gauge is the discharge determined by the measurement and other values.

When the measurements are regularly repeated at different stages, a group of values is generated which describes the discharge behaviour over the range of the stages. Then the shifted power function is adapted to this group of values by determining optimal coefficients. This is done by using mathematical optimisation algorigthms.

The coefficients of the rating curve function are regarded as optimally adjusted, when the target function that describes the deviation of the real measured values from the rating curve becomes minimal.

The "Logarithmic regression" and the "Lauffer method" presently implemented in your special information system are two different algorithms that yield different results, depending on the underlying measurement results. The user has to choose the appropriate method, depending on the aims he has, for example good adaptation in the high water or low-flow range or compensation of errors over all ranges.

We cannot make any general recommendations of which method is to be used for which tasks, because this always depends on the underlying measured values of the special station and on the procedure chosen by the editor or his organization.

11.2 Method of the logarithmic regression

In this method, the shifted power function is linearized by logarithmisation.

$$T = d \cdot (Z - f)^e \implies o(T) = oql + e \cdot o(Z - f)$$

After that the parameters are determined by minimizing the error squares of this linear function. By the linear regression you can calculate only two parameters, the zero shift c has to be preset. If it is known from a gauge survey, you can apply it; otherwise you have to determine the optimal value by varying the parameter c.

This target function was applied into your special information systems as it is a common target function in hydrology to determine the coefficients of power functions. Its origin is found in the mathematical regression calculation for non-linear problems.

11.3 Lauffer method

In this method, the shifted power function is linearized by root creation.

$$T = d \cdot \begin{pmatrix} Z & -f \end{pmatrix}^e \implies T^{\frac{4}{e}} = d \cdot^{\frac{4}{e}} \cdot Z & -d \cdot^{\frac{4}{e}} \cdot f$$

Then the parameters a and care calculated under continuous variation of the exponent b by minimizing the error squares of this linear function. The basic algorithm is here the Newtonian method of optimisation. By the Lauffer method you can calculate all three parameters; you do not have to preset the zero shift c. If it is known from a gauge survey and if the calculated parameter c differs significantly from that, the user should

try to detect the cause. Typical causes are on the one hand an unfavourable selection of the underlying measurements or changes in the river bed.³⁰

A widespread phenomenon that can be observed in hydrometry is that the gauge zeros of the staff gauge differ from that of the water-stage recorder. This may be caused on the one hand by inaccuracies in adjustment at the gauge or by different reference systems on the other hand. Staff gauges in a local height system, data loggers of the recorder in absolute height systems (müA in Austria, m+NN in Germany, Ordnance Datum in Ireland or Sea Level in the USA). That means for the rating curve that it is calculated in the system of the staff gauge first (Q measurements and readings from staff gauge) and afterwards is transformed into the system of the water-stage recorder. As for rating curves based on the shifted power function, this is a vertical parallel shift of the rating curve from the calculated zero crossing c to a coefficient value c to be preset by the user.

11.4 Prerequisites

To calculate a rating curve by the shifted power function, the results of at least **three** discharge measurements with different stages and discharges must exist in your information system used and saved in the gauging table of the special station. The minimum number three results from the number of free coefficients of the power function used for the process. To determine steady and well adapted rating curves, we recommend to use more measurements so that the whole range of water levels is covered.

Since only the read stages and calculated discharges are required for the determination of the shifted power function (see manual of the **BIBER** program system, chapter **External evaluation** or **Import of old data**), you can apply this method also if the database does not contain any detailed information on the measurements. Data concerning the mean velocity, the cross section area flowed through and other evaluation results supplied by the BIBER, are not needed for this method.

 ^{30.} Source: H. Lauffer: "Neue Erkenntnisse und Anregungen zur Pegelschlüssel-Funktion Q
 K (W-W_0)^E mit Anleitung für Taschenrechner" in "Österreichische Wasser- und Abfallwirtschaft" Issue 3/4 (1996), pages 109–121.

11.5 Creating and saving new rating curves

Creation and saving of new rating curves is done in the **SKED** rating curve editor. A wizard guides you through the creation process, inquiring the information needed.

- To create a new rating curve, choose in the Explorer header of the information system as editing object the item **Rating curve**. For this one of the views **Stations** or **River** must be active.
- Select then in the tree view on the left-hand side that station at which you want to create a rating curve for a parameter.
- Choose this parameter at the station. The tree view shows only parameters of a station where at least one time series has the origin **Rating curves enhanced**. If there are already rating curves existing in the database for that parameter, they are displayed in the list view on the right-hand side.

If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.

To create a new rating curve,

- choose in the context menu of the list view (to be opened with the right mouse button on the right-hand side of the Explorer of your information system) the function **Wizard**.
- Open the context menu in the right window and choose here the entry **Wizard**. The **SKED** wizard is started and guides you through the creation process of a new rating curve.

What do you want to do?		X
	1 1 1 1 1	Create new rating curve
H		Plot flow measurements
THE	⊯ #1	Show all rating curve validities
	¥2	Create graph
	201 X	Further assistance
< <u>₿</u> aci	<	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 236 The start-up wizard of SKED

• Choose in the wizard the option < Create new rating curve or new version>.

Create new rating curve	×
	A rating curve can have any number of version, but at least one. However only one version can be active. Rating curve versions can be used, for example to test different variations. What would you like to create?
< <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u> ext> Cancel Help	

Fig. 237 Start-up dialog of the Rating Curve Wizard

• Open the next wizard page with <Next>.

Create new rating curve		×	1
	Status: Number: Source parameter name Unit for source time series: Elevation of RC: Unit for target time series Selection function for extended rating curve calculation:	Preliminary 321 321 S cm relative to gauge datum m3/s m3/s	
< <u>B</u> ac	k <u>N</u> ext>	Cancel Help	

Fig. 238 Dialog to edit detailed information on the new rating curves

- Choose the rating curve status:
 - **Indefinite**: construction/editing of rating curve possible; calculation of target value not possible
 - **Preliminary**: construction/editing of rating curve possible; calculation of the target value possible
 - Accepted: construction/editing of rating curve possible; calculation of the target value possible
 - **Released**: construction/editing of rating curve not possible; calculation of target value possible
- Allocate a number or a name to the rating curve (mandatory field)
- Check the source parameter and the units; the proposals are taken from the database and correspond to the units of the source and target time series involved. Changes are necessary only in special circumstances
- Example: The database contains the stage in cm and the discharge in m³/s, but the rating curve is to be created in mm and l/s.
- If required, enter a remark
- Open the next page with <Next>
- Here you can enter the start of the validity period for the rating curve and create a first version of the new rating curve

- If you know the beginning of the validity period, activate the entry **valid since** and enter the date; if you want to specify the validity later, deactivate the entry and define the validity later in the rating curve management
- Since the actual construction of the rating curve is done in the single versions (to allow a comparison of different variants), you have to create the first version here.

Create new rating curve	×
	You can now enter a validity date for this rating curve to specify from when it should be valid. Insert validity: ♥ 09/01/2008 04:19:26 ♥
< <u>B</u> ac	k <u>N</u> ext > Cancel Help

Fig. 239 Dialog to enter the validity and to create a rating curve version

- Activate the entry Create version which is preset by default
- With <Next> you get to the details of the new version

Create new rating curve ve	Type: Number: Upper lim Lower lim Beyond li Comment	Descriptor points Oescriptor points Descriptor points Power law function Free formula Extended power law Power law in sections Formula in sections formula in sections mit: Calculate but flag as beyond limit
< <u>B</u> ac	k 🗌	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 240 Details of a rating curve version, selection of the type "Free formula"

- **SKED** allows you to create rating curves according to various methods. To create a rating curve according to the "shifted power method" (method of logarithmic regression or Lauffer method)
- choose free formula as the type of the rating curve
- Enter a name or a number for the version (mandatory)
- If this is the only version that exists for the special rating curve, it is automatically set as the active version which is used for calculation. If other versions exist, you can activate here the new version.
- Activate the entry Active version, if you want to use this version for calculation
- If required, enter a remark
- Open the next wizard page with <Next>
- **SKED** has now the total information it needs to save the rating curve including version, type and validity in the database. **SKED** offers different ways to carry out the actual construction now:
- *Enter data*: A special editor is opened where you can enter the rating curve data. This mode is not recommended for a rating curve of free formula type, as the formula has to be calculated first from the regression according to one of the two methods described above.

- *Show/edit graphically*: Here you can edit the descriptor points of the rating curve graphically. As for the shifted power function, this mode is suitable only for visualisation, because the rating curve determined by calculation does not have any real descriptor points.
- *Show/edit results of measurements graphically*: Since the gaugings are the basis for the regression calculation, they must be shown in the graph here.

Create new rating curve version 🗙		
	You can now enter data tabularly by hand or via a dialog. Enter data:	
< <u>B</u> ac	k Finish Cancel Help	

Fig. 241 Creating the rating curve and version

- To continue with the rating curve calculation, deactivate the first entry and activate the two bottom entries
- Switch to the construction mode by <Finish>
- A dialog is opened now where you can select the existing measurements by various criteria (time range, summer winter, value range).

Calculating Rating Curves as multi-part, shifted Power Function with the Free Formula Creating and saving new rating curves

Filter options	×
Selection	all visible and included points selected:
Range Derived data points Influence BIBER	
Time range:	
Source parameter (SG [m]):	
Lower limit 0.1239999 🗖 Upper limit 2	
Target parameter (FQ [m3/s]):	
Lower limit 0.1597342 Upper limit 122.02400	
Season 2nd half of calendar year	
Bating curve 01[migrated]	
Select Add selection Remove selection	
Select all Desele <u>c</u> t all	
Selection	
Show selected only 🔽 always display selection	
Include selected only	
Apply plot style for selected points	
+ Standard Plot styles	Close

Fig. 242 Filter options

• Select all measurements by activating the <**Select all**> button and quitting the dialog with <**Close**>

A graph window is opened showing all measurements (Qmeas) numbered consecutively. In addition the new created rating curve, example power, is shown as empty rating curve, as you can see by the legend entry.



Fig. 243 Showing the value pairs Qmeas in the SKED

- To calculate the rating curve now, you first have to call the function for the regression calculation.
- Make sure that the measurements Qmeas are selected as the current curve in the **SKED** editing bar.



Fig. 244 Selecting the desired plot

Activate the toolbar icon
 A dialog for the regression calculation Q [m3/s] = f(S [cm]) is opened where you specify the calculation settings.

von	bis	Тур 0	irad/Versch	Konelations- koeffizient r
1, 2420	2570	Verschobene Potenz (Log. Transf.) 💌	2388	
value('Q [n	3/sĵ) = 3,12985e-0	08 Keine Regression		0,896975
2		Othogonal [
` <u> </u>		Polynom Potenz		
_		Verschobene Potenz (Log. Transf.)		
×I		Exponential		
		Logaithmus		
4.		Keine Regression 💌		
5.		Keine Regression		
<u> </u>		,		
<i>,</i>				
	Lin	earer Korrelationskoeffizient für den gesamten	Datenbereich	0,87203
Statistik				
Konfidenzi	ntervalle darstellen	Statistische Auswertung		
December of				
	Los a di	Environ 1 Carrow 1		

Fig. 245 Settings for the regression through the gaugings

- Choose as regression type the entry Shifted Power (Log. transf.).
- With that the shifted power function is created by the linearized logarithmisation or according to the Lauffer method described above.
- Enter as regression settings under **from** and **until** the stage range for which the regression is calculated
- Enter under **Degree/Diff.** the zero shift (coefficient c) that is valid for regression (only for logarithmic transformation)
- When calculating the regression coefficients according to the Lauffer method, the coefficient c is determined by calculation and thus cannot be preset.
- Apply the settings by <**Apply**>.
- SKED calculates now automatically the regression through the gaugings and shows the result in the graph. The shifted power function is shown as formula in the regression window as well (in our example: value('Q [m3/s]') = 3,12985e-008 * (value('S [cm]') - 2388)^ 3,48449).



Fig. 246 Result of the regression calculation of the shifted power function

• Close the regression dialog with **<OK>**.

Now you have to apply the calculated regression curve as active rating curve.

• Choose in the editing bar the rating curve version as active curve.



Fig. 247 Selecting the rating curve version as active curve

Choose the menu item Copies the formula from regression

A dialog is opened where you are asked whether to copy the regression function into the selected rating curve version.

• Confirm with <Yes>

Г

Open the rating curve table to edit by the icon
 The dialog to edit the rating curve version of free formula type is opened:

Free formula rating curve				
Form				
if (((x >= 2420) and (x <= 2570)); 3,12985e-008 ★ (x - 2388)^ 3,48449; 0				
Lower limit 2420 [cm] ×: [cm] Example Formula: 1.5 * (0.21 · x) ^ 1.5 Upper limit: 2570 [cm] y: [m²/s] Example KiBasic Script: result = 1.5 * (0.21 · x) ^ 1.5				
Integration / derivation Formula integrate lower limit: 0 cm] View result formula				
Time-dependent formula				
Independent variable is the time Measurement grid in [s] Formula example:				
Valid from 23/01/2008 To: 29/01/2008 result = sin(t)				
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply Help				

Fig. 248 Table to edit the free formula rating curve

The formula field contains the equation from the regression. The regression limits have also been integrated into the formula, taken from your settings. The formula in the example is: if ((($x \ge 2420$) and ($x \le 2570$)); 3,12985e-008 * (x - 2388)^ 3,48449; 0); limits for S: 2420 and 2570.

• Confirm this data by activating <**Apply**> and close the window with <**Ok**>. In the **SKED** graph you can now view your rating curve (here as red line).



Fig. 249 Rating curve applied from regression according to the shifted power function

- Now you can recalculate this rating curve with changed settings of the coefficients
 - by opening the rating curve table again to edit it with **■** or or save the result in the database with **File ⊃ Save**.
- Close **SKED** or the graph;

if you do not save your changes before, the system will ask you whether to save.

There are two ways to select the data record, in case you do not want to calculate the rating curve with all measurements.

- One way is to select and include the desired gaugings via the filter dialog (
) in the graph. Only these gaugings are applied then for regression calculation.
- Another way is to apply and include all measurements in the filter dialog (<u>E</u>) and exclude single measurements in the graph afterwards from calculation with the function **Exclude single measurements** (<u>)</u>.
- Furthermore, you can also insert an extrapolation point for the regression calculation (≥).

When calculating the regression, it is possible to calculate different regressions for different stage ranges. For this purpose, you can specify the partial ranges in the dialog for regression calculation Q [m3/s] = f(S [cm]).

In our example, the first partial range of the shifted power function according to Lauffer includes the stages from 2420 to 2500. The regression for the second stage range from 2500 to 2570 is calculated by means of the logarithmic transformation.



Fig. 250 Regression calculation result of the shifted power function with two partial ranges and different methods

If the formulae are copied from the regression into the rating curve as described above, the formula changes accordingly.
Free formula rating curve	×
Formula	
if $(((\mathbf{x} >= 2420) \text{ and } (\mathbf{x} <= 2500));$ 6.27801==019 * ($\mathbf{x} == 2276, 611^\circ 7, 57142;$ if $(((\mathbf{x} >= 2500) \text{ and } (\mathbf{x} <= 2570));$ 0,00615939 * ($\mathbf{x} = 2463$)^ 1,27127; 0)	A
Lower limit: 2420 [cm] Example Formula: 1.5 * (0.21 · x) ^ 1.5 Upper limit: 2570 [cm] y: [m ² /s] Example KiBasic Script: result = 1.5 * (0.21 · x) ^ 1.5	5
Integration / derivation Formula integrate lower limit: 0 [cm] View result formula	
Time-dependent formula Measurement grid in [s] Formula example: x = t Valid from 29/01/2008 To: 29/01/2008 result = sin(t)	
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply He	lp

Fig. 251 Editing the free formula rating curve with various partial ranges

- Activate the <**Apply**> button to calculate the rating curve according to the new formula and view it in the graph.
- In our example, the composed formula for the rating curve is as follows:
- if (((x >= 2420) and (x <= 2500)); 6,27801e-019 * (x 2276,61)^ 7,57142; if (((x >= 2500) and (x <= 2570)); 0,00615939 * (x 2463)^ 1,27127; 0))

Calculating Rating Curves as multi-part, shifted Power Function with the Free Formula Creating and saving new rating curves

Г

Γ

APPENDIX

Functions available for the Formula Rating Curve

Contents of this chapter:

Data types supported	
Standard functions	
Standard operations	372
Arithmetic operators	372
Logical operators	373
Boolean operators	374

12 Functions available for the Formula Rating Curve

If you develop the rating curve by applying the theoretical approach of a free formula, you can use the extensive functions of the formula editor of your special application. A separate documentation exists for the formula editor which can be made available to you by Kisters on request.

Apart from the functions and operators mentioned below, you can also use **KiBasic**, an easy-to-learn script language. **KiBasic** is documented in detail within the scope of the formula editor documentation.

12.1 Data types supported

The formula system supports different data types:

– integer	<int></int>	integer	4 byte
- float	<float></float>	real number	12 byte float
- string	character st	rings	
- date	integer	4 byte integ	er, as distance from 01.01.0000
- timestamp	<float></float>	float	as distance to a defined 0-point
	which corres	sponds to the	MS EXCEL [™] program.
- boolean	<intbool></intbool>	integer	4 byte, true = 1 or false = 0

12.2 Standard functions

12.2.0.1 abs(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function abs(<float>) returns the absolute value of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	Input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float

Example:	abs(value(1))
	The absolute value of the time series defined under 1 is
	written into the result time series.
See also:	value

12.2.0.2 arctan(<float>)

Г

Brief description:	The function $\arctan(< float>)$ returns the arc tangent of
	<float>.</float>
Arguments:	Input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	arctan(value(1))
	The arc tangent of the time series defined under 1 is
	written into the result time series.
See also:	value, sin, cos

12.2.0.3 cos (<float>)

Brief description:	The function cos(<float>) returns the co-sine of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	Input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	cos(value(1))
	The co-sine of the time series defined under 1 is written
	into the result time series.
See also:	value, sin

12.2.0.4 exp(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function $exp()$ returns the power with the Fuler's number e as basis and the argument $$ as
	exponent.
Arguments:	' Input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	exp(value(1))
	The power of the Euler's number of the time series defined
	under 1 is written into the result time series.
See also:	Constant e
12.2.0.5 frac(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function frac(<float>) yields the decimal part of a real</float>
	number.
Arguments:	frac(real number)
	The input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	frac(10.25)
	A constant number with the value 0.25 is written into the
	result time series.
See also:	int

```
12.2.0.6 if (<intBool>;<float1>;<float2>)
```

Brief description:	$The \ \ function \ \ if(<\!intBool\!>;<\!float1\!>;<\!float2\!>) \ \ yields$
	<float1>, if the expression $\langle intBool \rangle$ is true, otherwise</float1>
	<float2>.</float2>
Arguments:	if(true / false expression; real number; real number)
	<intbool> is a logical argument. For <float1> and <float2></float2></float1></intbool>
	you can use functions or real numbers.
Return value:	float
Example:	if(value(1) > 30 ; value(1) ; 25.3)
	If the value of the time series defined under 1 is greater
	than 30, it is written into the result time series, otherwise
	the constant 25.3 is entered.
Note:	If one of the three function arguments yields an invalid
	status, the function will also yield an invalid status.
	Example: if(1 < 2; 0; 1/0)
	Here, the function does not return the value 0, as you may
	have expected; the result is an invalid status, since the
	expression $1/0$ is also evaluated. This makes the total result
	invalid.
See also:	value,logical operators
12.2.0.7 int(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function int(<float>) yields the integer part of a real</float>
	number.
Arguments:	int(real number)
	The input value can be any real number.

Г Γ

Return value:	float
Example:	int(25.123)
	The value 25.0 is written into the result time series.
See also:	frac
12.2.0.8 ln(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function $\ln(\langle float \rangle)$ yields the natural logarithm of
Arguments:	<ironal>.</ironal>
	The input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	ln(value(1))
	The natural logarithm of all values of the time series
	defined under 1 is written into the result time series.
See also:	Constant e
12.2.0.9 log(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function log(<float>) yields the logarithm of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	log(real number)
	The input value can be any positive real number greater
	than zero.
Return value:	float
Example:	log(value(1))
	The logarithm of all values of the time series defined under
	1 is written into the result time series.

See also: value

12.2.0.10rnd()

Г

Brief description:	The function rnd() yields a uniformly distributed random
	number between 0 and 1.
Arguments:	The function doesn't need any arguments, however, the
	brackets must be indicated.
Return value:	float
Example:	rnd()*10
	In this example, random numbers between 0 and 10 are
	written into the result time series.

12.2.0.11sign(<float>)

Brief description:	The function sign(<float>) returns the sign of <float>,</float></float>
	-1 for values < 0, 0 for values=0 and 1 for values > 0.
Arguments:	sign(real number)
	The input value can be any real number.
Return value:	integer
Example:	sign(-125.35)Result -1
	sign(0) Result 0
	sign(1523.40)Result 1

12.2.0.12sin(<float>)

Brief description:	The function sin(<float>) returns the sine of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	sin(real number)

	The input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	sin(value(1))
	The sine of the time series defined under 1 is written into
	the result time series.
See also:	value, arctan, cos
12.2.0.13sqrt(<float>)</float>	
Brief description:	The function sqrt(<float>) returns the square root of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	sqrt(real number)
	The input value must be a positive real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	sqrt(value(1))
	The root of the time series defined under 1 is written into
	the result time series.
See also: value	
12.2.0.14tan(<float>);</float>	
Brief description:	The function tan(<float>) returns the tangent of <float>.</float></float>
Arguments:	tan(real number)
	The input value can be any real number.
Return value:	float
Example:	tan(value(1))

See also:	The tangent of the time series defined under 1 is written into the result time series. value, arctan, cos, sin
12.2.0.15yearday(<int>)</int>	
Brief description:	The function yearday(<int>) yields the number of days since the beginning of the year for a number of days since 01.01.0000.</int>
Arguments:	yearday(integer) The input value must be a positive integer.
Return value:	integer
Example:	yearday(date(2003;1;11))
	In this example, the function yearday yields the result 11
	which is written into the result time series.
See also:	Functions for date and time calculation

12.3 Standard operations

12.3.1 Arithmetic operators

Formulae are generated according to the well-known rules with constants, functions, operators and brackets with the usual object hierarchy – potentiation before multiplication/division before addition/subtraction – being valid. When entering constants and variables, please pay attention that the system distinguishes different data types. The expression 1/2 as division of two integer values yields the result 0.0 whereas 1.0/2.0 as division of two float values yields the result 0.5. If the data type of an argument is not correct, a type conversion from float to integer or vice versa is

automatically carried out. Conversion from float to integer is done by separating the decimal places. The following arithmetic operators are available:

Symbol	Arithmetic operation
+	Addition
-	Subtraction
*	Multiplication
1	Division
^	Exponentiation

Example:

value(1) + value(2)

The time series defined under 1 and 2 are added up.

12.3.2 Logical operators

Logical operators serve to distinguish between various cases. By means of the if function you can compare values with each other. The result is either true (1) or false (0). The following comparisons are possible.

<	less
<=	less or equal
=	equal
=>	greater or equal
>	greater
<>	unequal

Example:

 $if(value(1) \le 100; value(1); value(2))$

In this case, the if function distinguishes as follows:

If the value of the time series defined under 1 less or equal 100, this value is saved in the target time series, otherwise the corresponding value of the time series defined under 2 is saved in the target time series.

12.3.3 Boolean operators

By means of the Boolean operators you can link and negate true/false expressions. Operators available are and, band, bor, or and not.

12.3.3.1 and

Г

Brief description:	The operator and links two or more true/false expressions.
	The operator returns the result true (1), if all conditions are
	true, otherwise the result is false (0).
Example:	if(value(1)<=100 and value(2)<=50 ; value(1) ; value(2))
	The condition checks whether a value of the time series
	defined under 1 is less or equal 100 and a value of the time
	series defined under 2 less or equal 50. If both conditions
	are met, the value of the time series 1 is saved in the target
	time series, otherwise the value of the time series 2.
See also:	value, if
12.3.3.2 band	
Brief description:	The operator band links two or more integer expressions.
	The link is calculated binary and does not yield a true/false
	expression, but an integer. This kind of link can be used to
	check the status of a value.
	Example of the internal calculation procedure:
	Integer:

4 band 12 yields 4Binary:1100 band 0100 yields 0100

Example:	if(valuestat	e(1) band pf	_missing <> 0; 0 ; value(1))
	In this exan	nple it is che	cked whether a value of the time
	series define	ed under 1 is	existing. In this case, this value is
	saved in the	target time s	series. otherwise a zero is saved.
See also:	Functions for	or status det	ermination if functions for data
	dotorminati	on from cour	a tima corias, status constants
	ucicininatio		ce time series, status constants
12.3.3.3 bor			
Brief description:	The operato	r bor links tw	o or more integer expressions. The
	link is calcu	ulated binary	and does not yield a true/false
	expression,	but an intege	er. This kind of link can be used to
	check the st	atus of a valu	Je.
	Example of	the internal c	alculation procedure:
	Integer:		
	4	bor 8	yields 12
	Binary:		
	1000	bor 0100	yields 1100
Example:	if(valuestate	e(1) band ad	f_edited bor adf_autoverific <> 0;
	0; value(1)))	
	In this exan	nple it is che	cked whether a value of the time
	series define	ed under 1 is o	edited or checked. In this case, this
	value is save	ed in the targ	get time series, otherwise a zero is
	saved.		
See also:	Functions for	or status det	ermination, if, functions for data
	determinatio	on from sourc	ce time series, status constants

12.3.3.4 or

Brief description:	The operator or links two or more true/false expressions.
	The operator returns the result true (1), if one of the
	conditions is true, otherwise the result is false (0). The
	operators and and or can also be combined, thus allowing
	complex differentiation.
Example:	if(value(1)<=100 and value(2)<=50 or value(2)>200;
	value(1); value(2))
	The condition checks whether a value of the time series
	defined under 1 is less or equal 100 and a value of the time
	series defined under 2 less or equal 50. If this is the case,
	the condition is true. The total expression is also true, if the
	value of the time series 2 is greater than 200. In these
	cases, the value of the time series 1 is saved in the target
	time series, otherwise the value of the time series 2.
See also:	value, if
12.3.3.5 not	
Brief description:	The operator not negates a true/false expression.
Example:	not value(1)=2
	The condition becomes true for all values unequal 2 of the
	time series defined under 1.
See also:	value

The rating curve type Formula in sections

This appendix explains how to construct polynomial rating curves in sections.

Contents of this chapter:

13 The rating curve type Formula in sections

SKED is now able to construct polynomial rating curves in sections. For this, the following functionalities have been developed:

- Display of inflection points for polynomial functions
- Implementation of the rating curve type Formula in sections with the features:
 - New rating curve type Formula in sections,
 - Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections: Selection of intercepting points (see page 386.)
 Fitting in an additional polynomial function of the third degree as a transition curve (see page 388.)
 - Extrapolation of rating curve with a polynomial function and extrapolation points (see page 393.)
 - Finally we have a look at the formulae created (see page 394.).

Note the standard workflow (analysis of gaugings and artificial data points, followed by regression analysis and rating curve construction): It is applied to the construction of rating curves of type **Formula in sections** as well.

13.1 Display of inflection points for polynomial functions

Polynomial functions may have inflection points. Since inflection points normally are not desired to have in rating curves, they can be marked with a symbol in order to point them out.





Inflections are marked automatically in **SKED** for regression functions found during regression analysis, but also for transition functions defined in manual editing dialog as described in chapter "Implementation of the rating curve type Formula in sections" on pages 382

Since this functionality may confuse other users using regression analysis, it has to be activated in **SKED** advanced settings.

- To open advanced setting, choose the entry **Tools C Settings** from main menu.
- Click on the <Advanced settings> button in the Settings dialog.

Settings	×
Method for calculation of the pr	ofile value ⓒ <u>B</u> insum
Flow year <u>S</u> tart month of the water year:	November
Rating table resolution C Automatically C Fixed distance:	Optimised for single steps
Power law function Force calculation No deviations Deviation according Nobilis	\$
Exact solution Graph settings	Advanced settings
OK	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 253 Settings, advanced settings

• In the advanced settings window, choose Yes for Show inflection points.

1978(7)DDS	<u> </u>	
Boyer-Method	no	
Stage-fall method	no	Lancei
how inflexion points	yes	
kind of rating curves		
Formula in sections		
Allowed deviation of the source value	1e-005	
Allowed deviation of the target value	0.0001	
Interpolated rating curve		
Distribution of skeletal points	Logarithmic (normalised fro	
Lower range with 1/3 of the values (%)	10	
Middle range with 1/3 of the points (%)	20	
Total number of supporting points	30 🚽	

Fig. 254 Show inflection points

I

13.2 Implementation of the rating curve type Formula in sections

Creating a new rating curve version, you can select **Formula in sections** as rating curve type.

- Rating curve construction of the type Formula in sections is based on regression analysis. You can choose various function types for curve fit in regression analysis.
 SKED is capable of polynomial functions from first to fifth degree.
- Regression analysis is carried out on the results of flow measurements (*Qmeas*) and artificial data points. For regression analysis, the regression dialog is used as shown in the figure below.



Fig. 255 Rating curve type Formula in sections: regression results

In **SKED**, regression functions can be set up for up to ten sections. You can define sections which are overlapping, directly linked or having a gap in between. Dependent on this, the transition from one section to the next has to be handled differently in the process of rating curve construction.

If two sections are overlapping, they can theoretically have more than one intercepting point. In this case, you have the choice to select one of the intercepting points or to insert a gap, which will be later filled with a transition curve. If two sections are directly linked, it is likely that they have an inconsistency

in the fit between the two sections (jump). In this case, you need the functionality to move the transition point between the two sections to an intercepting point (if there is one) or to introduce a gap between the two sections to later insert a transition curve. If the two sections are having a gap in between, you can either eliminate the gap by editing the boundaries of the sections or he may insert a transition curve.

The selection of intercepting points, the shift of the transition point between two sections and the creation of a transition curve is described in the following chapter.

After the regression analysis, you can save the results of the regression analysis to a rating curve. To do this, the (empty) rating curve version (see chapter 2.3.1) has to be plotted in the **SKED** graph window. As a next step, the rating curve version has to be chosen as active curve. By using **Curve fitting** \supseteq **Save regression as reference curve** regression results are copied to the rating curve.

Copy regression into rating curve	×
Handling of existing sections F Hold existing sections Overwrite sections which are covered completely by the new sections only .	
C Delete existing sections before starting the copy process.	
OK Cancel	

Fig. 256 Copy regression into rating curve

You have to decide whether he wants to delete all existing section of the rating curve version or whether he only wants to overwrite the sections which are completely covered be the new sections from regression analysis. The most commonly used option will be to delete existing sections.



Fig. 257 Copy regression into rating curve: result

After regression results are copied into the rating curve version, you can edit the transition between sections or the extrapolation of the rating curve at both ends. For this, the manual editing is used. Manual editing is started by clicking on the symbol \mathbf{M} .



Fig. 258 Manual editing of rating curve type Formula in sections

The manual editing provides you with a magnified view of the transitions between sections. Manual editing is capable of the functionality to handle crossovers and transition between sections as described in the following chapter. In the right section of the window, you can switch between the individual section transitions. By selecting one section transition, the magnified view will jump to the selected transition. If you want to individually adjust the displayed range, the automatic axis rearrangement has to be deactivated clicking on the poutton. By using R and R, the displayed range can be adjusted. Using the button, double logarithmic view or linear view can be chosen. Using the button, the flow measurements can be shown or hidden.

Working with manual editing dialog, you always have the option to undo the last editing step (⇒) or redo this step again (<).

13.3 Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections

Since rating curves have to be continuous and consistent, inconsistencies at transition points between sections have to be eliminated. In order to get a proper solution for transitions between rating curve sections, you have the options described in the next chapters.

13.4 Selection of an intercepting point as transition between sections

If there are one or more than one intercepting points, you may decide to choose one of the interception points, as transition between the sections. In manual editing dialog, intercepting points are marked with a black cross.



Fig. 259 Selection of an intercepting point

• By clicking on the cross, the intercepting point is chosen as transition point.

Γ



Fig. 260 Selection of an intercepting point: result

• If you decide not to choose the intercepting point as transition point, a gap may be introduced by moving the boundaries of the two sections. This is done by clicking on the dotted line marking the boundary and shifting it vertically.

The rating curve type Formula in sections Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections



Fig. 261 Not selecting an intercepting point as transition point: gap produced

13.5 Inserting a transition curve in between an existing gap

- If there is a gap between two sections, you can insert a transition curve in order to create a continuous rating curve.
- As function type to be inserted, you can choose between a linear function and "Cubic hermitian spline" (= polynomial functions of the third degree).



Fig. 262 Inserting a transition curve in between an existing gap

• To insert the transition curve into the gap, you can click on either end of the neighbouring sections (marked with a black cross).

Then **SKED** calculates a polynomial transition curve for the gap.

The rating curve type Formula in sections Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections



Fig. 263 Inserting a transition curve in between an existing gap: result

13.6 Inserting a transition curve (general case)

• If there is a gap or a jump between two sections, you can insert a transition curve in order to create a continuous rating curve.

Γ



Fig. 264 Inserting a transition curve (general case) 1

• To insert the transition curve, you can click on either end of the neighbouring sections (marked with a black cross) and move the mouse along the section.

The rating curve type Formula in sections Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections



Fig. 265 Inserting a transition curve (general case) 2

By this, a polynomial (or linear) function will be inserted within the selected range.

Γ



Fig. 266 Inserting a transition curve (general case): result

13.7 Extrapolation of rating curve using extrapolation points

Rating curves can be extrapolated at both ends. The extrapolation is carried out in manual editing dialog using polynomial functions of the third degree. For the construction of an extrapolation curve, two extrapolation points have to be set. The extrapolation curve is directly attached to the neighbouring section of the rating curve and has the same gradient (tangential condition). Additionally, it goes through the two extrapolation points.

As a first step to construct an extrapolation curve, you have to zoom to the end of the existing rating curve. If the mouse is moved beyond an existing section of the rating curve, the mouse pointer symbol will change to symbol. By clicking, an extrapolation point can be set. The rating curve type Formula in sections Functionality to handle crossovers/transition between sections



Fig. 267 Extrapolation of rating curve using extrapolation points

When two extrapolation points are defined, the extrapolation curve will be plotted. The shape of the extrapolation curve can be adjusted using the undo button and setting extrapolation points again.

13.8 Formulae used for rating curve definition

After rating curve construction using manual editing has been completed, the functions used for rating curve definition can be shown and edited.

To open the window with the formulae, click on the <a>[mu]-button.

,	e sections		
from	to	Formula	
5.8	31.0	-1.13351481 + 0.1332930245 * x - 0.005349060609 * x^2 + 9.351723594	le-005
31.0	69.4	rem correlation coeff. = result = -0.666991527 + 0.01315997167 * x^1 + 0).0009
59.4	100	rem correlation coeff. = result = -12.85980935 + 0.4639538333 * x^1 - 0.0	004694
100	121	19.25237976 - 0.2364994984 * x - 0.0003188852826 * x^2 + 1.82418851	7e-00
121	170	rem correlation coeff. = result = 225.4003276 - 5.386990298 * x^1 + 0.04	25731

Fig. 268 Formulae used for rating curve definition

- In the window, a listing of the formulae used for the individual sections is shown. In this window, you have the option to either add a formula, delete a formula, or to edit an existing formula or the limits of the formula.
- When an existing formula is to be edited, click on the <**Edit**> button.

I

Free formula rating curve	×
Formula	
<pre>if value(1) > 500 then result = value(1) - 500 elseif value(1) > 250 then result = value(1) - 250 else result = value(1) / 10 endif elseif value (1) < 5 then result = errorvalue else result = value(1) * 20</pre>	
endit 4	▶
Lower limit: 0 (cm) ×: [cm] Example Formula: 1.5 * (0.21 - x) ^ 1.5 Upper limit: 1 [cm] y: [m²/s] Example KiBasic Script: result = 1.5 * (0.21 - x) ^ 1	.5
Integration / derivation Formula integrate lower limit: 0 [cm] View result formula View result formula deviate View result formula View result formula	
Time-dependent formula Formula example: Independent variable is the time Measurement grid in [s] Valid from 29/01/2008 To: 29/01/2008	
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply H	elp

Fig. 269 Editing of formulae used for rating curve definition

Γ
A P P E N D I X

Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler

Contents of this chapter:

Explanations in terms of content	399
Prerequisites	399
Starting extrapolation	400
Specifying profiles	401
Selecting extrapolation parameters	402
Specifying the rating curve	402
Example of the Manning-Strickler extrapolation	403
Intermediate saving of the extrapolation/calculation results	404
Specifying graph settings	405

Г

14 Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler

14.1 Explanations in terms of content

The rating curve calculation according to Manning-Strickler is useful, if you want to estimate the top branch of the rating curve, that is not covered by flow measurements but is very important for the flood event. The only parameter that is known for this case and that can be measured in advance, is the *profile area*. Therefore, you don't use for the calculation according to Strickler any regression from the Amess points but that curve that was actually measured in the field – the gauge profile curve.

The rating curve is generated for that position in the water where the stage is recorded – that is the gauge profile. That's the reason why only those humid and dry profiles shall be used for the calculation according to Strickler that have been recorded in the gauge profile. V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I) of the gauging table may be used only by those measurements having been carried out in the gauge profile. Q is used by all measurements.

The table below gives you a survey of the relation between known and unknown plots.

2 known plots	2 plots to be calculated
Aprof – V _{meas}	Q=Aprof*V _{meas} -k*sqrt(I)=V _{meas} /^R2/3
Aprof – k*sqrt(I)	$Q = A prof^* V_{meas} - V_{meas} = k^* sqrt(I)^* R^2/3$
Aprof – Qmeas	k*sqrt(I)=V _{meas} /R2/3 - V _{meas} =Qmeas/Aprof
Aprof – SK	k^* sqrt(I) = $V_{meas}/R2/3 - V_{meas}$ =SK/Aprof

Tab. 5	Extrapolation	according to	Manning-Strickle	er: known and	d unknown plots
--------	---------------	--------------	------------------	---------------	-----------------

14.2 Prerequisites

Please note: You can activate the function switch Strickler only, if the method "Manning-Strickler" has been specified in the **Settings** form (to be called by the main menu item **Tools**):

P

ettings	X
- Method for calculation of the profil	e value
○ <u>M</u> anning-Strickler 0	• <u>R</u> insum
Flow year	
Start month of the water year:	November 💌
Rating table resolution	
C <u>A</u> utomatically (Optimised for single steps
C Eixed distance: 1	
Power law function	
Force calculation	
C No deviations	
Deviation according Nobilis	
Exact solution	
Graph settings	Ivanced settings
ОК	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 270 The correct presettings for the extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler

- Activate the option **Manning-Strickler** as the method to calculate the profile value.
 - Since your settings will become effective only after a new start, you have to start the **SKED** anew.

14.3 Starting extrapolation

This is how to carry out the extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler:

Activate from the graph the Strickler function switch .
 The function switch activates the logical interplay between area-, V_{meas}-, k*sqrt(I)-

and ${\tt Q}$ curve. This is kept up as long as the switch is active.

The **Extrapolation parameter** form is opened showing you clearly the necessary steps for the selection of profiles, plot points and plots. While the Strickler icon is active, the dialog replaces the plot drop-down list box and the icon \mathbf{x} for the integration of wet and dry profiles via the **Cross section profiles** form, to which this dialog corresponds on the whole.

Extrapolationsparameter
Position Generalization Breite <u>x</u> 135 437 Sichtbar <u>y</u> 112 524 Sichtbar
Profile
Eeuchtprofil:
Irockenprofil: Querprofil (01/01/1960)
🗖 Profil in Grafik darstellen
vorhanden von: 11/11/1987 09:3 bis: 23/01/1998 19:3
anzeigen von: 11/11/1987 💌 bis: 23/01/1998 💌
Extrapolationsparameter Kurvenentwurf
C Qmess Q(ber.) zwischenspeichern
Vmess V(ber,) zwischenspeichern
C c structure in the second se
Grafikvorgaben
OK Abbrechen Ü <u>b</u> ernehmen

Fig. 271 Specifying the extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler

14.4 Specifying profiles

- In the **Profiles** rubric you select if existing a humid profile from the drop-down list. In this case, the dry profile lying before the selected humid profile is set automatically; therefore, the drop-down list box is deactivated. If no humid profile is existing, you can choose a dry profile from the drop-down list.
- Specify the time range in the fields show from and until.
- Use here the **SKED** calendar. How to use it is explained in the chapter "Setting time range" on pages 125ff.

This specification influences the filter dialog, corresponding to the time restriction.

• When activating the check box **Visible**, the cross section profiles are displayed in a separate window in the **SKED** graphic the position and width of which can be determined by yourself.

14.5 Selecting extrapolation parameters

- In the **Extrapolation parameter** rubric you specify whether to carry out extrapolation via
 - Q_{meas}
 - V_{meas} or
 - k*sqrt(l)
- As for the extrapolation of V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I), only points of measurements in the gauge profile are allowed to be used. For Qmeas all points may be selected.
- Only one parameter each can be selected.
- For the selected extrapolation parameter you can extrapolate a plot using the available tools. The extrapolated plot is shown in the colour of the measuring points as a solid line.
- For the other two parameters, the plots are calculated according to the hydraulic Manning-Strickler basics. Here the area curve of the selected profile and the extrapolated curve of the selected parameter are taken as a basis. The calculated curves are shown as dashed lines in the colour of the measuring points.

14.6 Specifying the rating curve

- In the rubric **Extrapolation parameter** you can specify by analogy with the selection of extrapolation parameters whether the rating curve editing is activated and which rating curve can be edited. The drop-down list contains those rating curves that have been selected before via the rating curve management.
- If the drop-down list **Rating curve** is active, all tools required to edit rating curves, are available. The option **Rating curve** blocks the possibility of choosing between the 3 extrapolation parameters Qmeas, V_{meas}, k*sqrt(I). If the option **Rating curve** is active, the curves for V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I) are calculated after having confirmed the selection dialog with <**OK**> or <**Apply**>, depending on the area curve of the selected profile and the Q values of the selected rating curve.

14.7 Example of the Manning-Strickler extrapolation

In the first step, the extrapolation parameter V_{meas} was chosen for the gauge profile. A curve was extrapolated over the V_{meas} points up to the overtopping point. The program calculates from this and from the area curve of the selected gauge profile an A^*V_{meas} and a k*sqrt(I) curve.

The second step is to set the rating curve in the selection dialog active and to choose that rating curve you want to generate again by means of the calculated A^*V_{meas} design.

In the **Curve design** rubric the check box Q(ber) save is activated and with that the $Q(=A^*V_{meas})$ curve. With that, this curve design is maintained after confirming the selection dialog.

Now you can set your rating curve points with the corresponding functions along this design. Since the option **Rating curve** is active in the **Extrapolation parameter** rubric, the curves V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I) of the new rating curve are calculated and displayed automatically. In that example, it is no longer possible to compare these calculated curves V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I) with the curves of the previous design, since the function **Save** was not activated in the selection dialog for V_{meas} and k*sqrt(I) so that the two curves were deleted from the graph after having confirmed the selection dialog with **<OK>**.



Fig. 272 Example graph for the extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler

14.8 Intermediate saving of the extrapolation/calculation results

In the rubric **Curve design** of the **Extrapolation parameter** form you can specify that the extrapolation and calculation results of the curves

- Q=A_{prof}*V_{meas}
- V_{meas} and
- $P_{prof}^*C\sqrt{i}$

of the previous calculation procedure are kept up, also when having changed the selection of extrapolation parameters or the rating curve. The previous design is always maintained, even if the extrapolation parameters are changed several times.

• To do so, activate the special check box in the **Curve design** rubric.

14.9 Specifying graph settings

When working with the Strickler function, many points and curves are displayed in the graph. For purposes of a better overview, you can specify a lot of settings regarding the colours and line styles in the graph.



Click in the **Extrapolation parameter** form on the **<Graph settings>** button; The **Properties** form will be opened.

Grafikvoreinstellungen	X			
Farben				
Q Punkte und A*vm Kurve:	Rot 🗸			
k*sqrt(I) Punkte und Kurve:	Grün 👻			
vm Punkte und Kurve:	Hellblau 👻			
Amess Punkte und Flächenkurve:	Magenta 👻			
vorhergehende Kurvenentwürfe ('zwische	ensp.'): Hellgrau 👻			
Position				
Schlüsselkurven, Q Punkte und A*vm Ku	urve: links unten 💌			
k*sqrt(I) Punkte und Kurve:	links oben 💌			
vm Punkte und Kurve:	rechts unten 💌			
Amess Punkte und Flächenkurve:	rechts oben 💌			
Abbrechen				

Fig. 273 Graph settings

- In the Colour rubric you specify the appearance of the various plots.
- Select the colour from the drop-down list. The graph window is divided into four tiles (two upper and two lower tiles).
- Specify the tile arrangement using the drop-down lists in the **Position** rubric. This arrangement will be applied when saving the graph layout. Default settings are:
 - 1. tile contains Qmeas points and A^*V_{meas} plot as well as the rating curve
 - 2. tile contains k*sqrt(l) points and plot
 - 3. tile contains V_{meas} points and plot
 - 4. tile contains Ameas points and the area curve of the selected profile and if selected the representation of the profile.
- The colour presettings for plots and points are as follows:

- Qmeas points and A*V_{meas} plot: red
- k*sqrt(l) points and plot: light green
- V_{meas} points and plot: light blue
- Ameas points and the area curve of the selected profile: magenta
- previous plot designs (function 'save temporarily'): light grey
- The line types are preset as follows:
 - rating curves, area curves, calculated extrapolation curve: solid lines
 - curves of the two calculated extrapolation parameters: dashed lines
- When having finished the Strickler function, a dialog will be opened asking you whether to apply the changes made during the session at the graph settings for this function (graph layout saving).

APPENDIX

Editing Q and Reverse Calculation into S

Contents of this chapter:

General hints	
Procedure	

Г

15 Editing Q and Reverse Calculation into S

15.1 General hints

You can do the rating curve calculation also reversely: by reverse calculation of the S time series on the basis of the Q time series.

15.2 Procedure

IX

ſ٢

P

Overview of the process:

- Open in the rating curve manager the stage time series (S time series) for processing.
- Deactivate the write protection by the check box write protected.
- Please note: The stage time series must be referenced as source of a discharge time series through the origin Extended rating curve calculation (if this is not the case, make up for it now!).
- Click on the toolbar icon **I** (Temporary calculation).

Then a **new time series** having the name "**Q***(<name of the stage time series>) is displayed. This time series can be edited like a 'normal' time series.

• With the 🖬 icon the *Q* values edited before (and only those ones!) are reversely calculated into *S*.

With that you can view the effect modified discharge values have on the S time series directly in the graph (without saving).

Please note: Perhaps data points cannot be recalculated, if the discharge lies outside the Q range representable by the rating curves. As a result, gaps would be produced in the S time series – which, of course, is not desirable. Therefore, only those Q values changed before are reversely calculated into S.

Furthermore, reverse calculation may slightly differ from the original values since the Q-S reverse calculation possibly must be carried out iteratively.

- After that, activate again the S time series by the drop-down list in the
 I toolbar and
- save the reversely calculated *S* values with the 🖬 icon.

This special saving is a safety measure ensuring that you do not overwrite S values which shouldn't be overwritten.

By analogy with the above, only those S values are overwritten the Q of which was edited before.

- If necessary, activate the icon 🕤 if you wish to undo the total Q value editing and the reverse calculation into S (if you are not content with the result of your Q editing).
- Analogous to that, you can restore your last *Q* editing with the *c* icon.
- If you edit Q and perform a reverse calculation into S and then edit the recalculated S time series, you can again switch to the Q time series and update it by the w (Recalculate) icon.

APPENDIX

How to use the Boyer method

Contents of this chapter:

Requirements	413
Definitions	413
Actions	414

Г

16 How to use the Boyer method

This example will involve creating a stage discharge relation and a relation between stage height and an adjustment factor.

16.1 Requirements

- A freely defined parameter must have been created,
- it should have a sub-daily time series with the same time series configurations as the water stage time series (e.g. 60 minutes, equi-distant).
- The sub-daily time series should have an origin of **Rating curve**. Please refer to exisiting use cases and the comprehensive **WISKI** and **SKED** documentation/online help.

16.2 Definitions

The following definitions are relevant for the Boyer rating curve method.

Qm		measured flow
Qc		flow for steady flow conditions
dh	= stage at end - stage at start	change of stage during a measurement
dt	= end time - start time	duration of a measurement
Sm		measured energy slope
Sc	= Sm - 1/vw * dh/dt	energy slope for steady flow conditions
vm		measured flow velocity
VW	= 1.3 * vm for natural channels	wave velocity
af	= 1/(Sc * vw)	adjustment factor

How to use the Boyer method Actions



Fig. 274 Boyer method: Theoretical background

16.3 Actions

To carry out a flow measurement correction in **SKED** according to the Boyer method, act like this:

The Boyer method should first be activated in SKED. This can be done as follows:

- Click the **SKED** main menu **Tools** and select **Settings** from the drop-down menu:
- In the **Settings** dialog, click the **<Advanced settings...>** button.

 $|X\rangle$

How to use the Boyer method Actions

Settings 🛛 🗙
Method for calculation of the profile value
Flow year Start month of the water year 11 *
Rating table resolution C Automatically C Eixed distance
Power law function Force calculation No deviations Deviation according Nobilis Exact solution
Graph settings
OK Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 275 Boyer settings

- Now click the drop down list next to the Boyer Method and change this to Yes.
- Click <**OK**> to leave the dialog.
- Click <**OK**> in the **Settings** dialog to save the changes.

vances settings		
Mathoden Boyer-Methode kind of rating curves Forver kaw in sections Allowed deviation of the source value Allowed deviation of the target value	no no yes 1e-005 0.0001	Cancel

Fig. 276 Boyer advances settings

• Open the **SKED** rating curve management.

- Select the gaugings time series and click the **<Plot>** button.
 - The values should now be plotted on the development screen as stage and flow pairs.

The next step is to calculate the change in head over change in time value for every gauging flow value. The values may already exist in the dh/dt time series in the gaugings time series or may need to be calculated.

• Open a table of the Gauging results by clicking on the table icon Ensure that a column is present in the table called **dh/dt** [**m/s**]. If it is not visible it can be viewed by right mouse clicking over the column header and selecting **Configure columns**

W Ende [m]	W Bening (m)	Transiant	· -*-*	dh/dt [m/s]	W corected	Slop
	Select a	n column	nent		76.0	
	Font	n Dag	T° nent		80.0	
	Print	Ctrl	+d nent		62.0	
	Configu	re columns	nent		64.0	
		- Me	asurement		62.0	
		. Me	asurement		62.0	
		Me	asurement		92.0	

Fig. 277 Cinfigure columns

Ensure that the **dh/dt** column has been moved from the **Columns not displayed field** over into the **Displayed columns** field.

Fixing the selection and	d order of column s	×
Zeitreihenname:		
Test the West.Q.Kennw	ert	_
Columns not displayed:		Displayed columns:
af []	<u>R</u> emove selected <	Messende W Ende [m]
Error	R <u>e</u> move All <<	W Beginn [m]
Protocolld4 Protocolld5	Djsplay All >>	dh/dt [m/s]
Protocolido Protocolido	Display selected >	Slope [o/oo]
	· ·	
Überne	hmen	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 278 Fixing the selection and order of clumns

The values in the **dh/dt** column can now be calculated.

- From the **SKED** main menu **Tools** select **Boyer method** and then **Calculate dh/dt from high resolution time series**.
- Now select the appropriate water stage time series and click <OK>.

ast / W / Tesl	the West.W.1	I (01/01/199	8-10/03/1	998)	
est / W / Test	the West.W.1	-2			
est / W / Les	the West Wit		50-28/02/	1998)	
est / W / Test	the west.w.t	50. jop (UT7UT 501 (0170171	71998-017	0371998]	
est/w//Test	the West W F	ormel (08/01	1/1990.28	/02/1998)	
est / W / Test	the West W.9	Summe (01/0	1/1950-01	/01/1950)	
est / W / W.1	min negui für F	ormel (01/01	/1998-20/	02/1998)	
eet / W / ym H	mport (01/11/	1980.027017	(1981)		
	est / W / Test est / W / W	est / W / Test the West W. 1 est / W / Test the West W. 3 est / W / Test the West W. 3 est / W / W. 1 min requi fun F	sal/ w/ Teat the West w/ 10/07/3 sst/ w/ Teat the West w/ 10/07/3 sst/ w/ Teat the West w/ 50/08/07/19 sst / w/ Teat the West w/ 50/07/19 sst / w/ Teat the West w/ 50/10/17/1 sst / w/ Teat the West w/ Formel (08/07 sst / w/ Teat the West w/ Formel (08/07 sst / w/ Teat the West w/ Some (01/07 sst / w/ Yest the West w/ Formel (01/07 sst / w/ Yest the West w/ 1/9900/20/1 sst / w/ Yest the West w/ 1/9900/20/1	earl w / Test the West W. 1-2 est / W / Test the West W. 1-2 est / W / Test the West W. 50 io [01/01/1930-28/02/ est / W / Test the West W. 50 io [01/01/1930-11/ est / W / Test the West W. 50 io [01/01/1930-28, est / W / Test the West W. Summe [01/01/1930-28, est / W / Test the West W. Summe [01/01/1930-28, est / W / W. Imin nequi für Formel [01/01/1930-20, est / W / W. I	ear/ w / Test the West W:1-2 est/ W / Test the West W:1-2 est/ W / Test the West W:0-1 est/ W / Test the West W:60 jop (01/01/1998-01/03/1998) est / W / Test the West W:60 jop (01/01/1998-01/03/1998) est / W / Test the West W:Formel (08/01/1990-28/02/1998) est / W / Test the West W:Formel (08/01/1990-28/02/1998) est / W / Test the West W:Formel (01/01/1998-01/02/1998) est / W / W: Thin neguli für Formel (01/01/1998-02/02/1998) est / W / W: Thin neguli für Formel (01/01/1998-02/02/1998) est / W / W: Thin neguli für Formel (01/01/1998-02/02/1998) est / W / W: Thin neguli für Formel (01/01/1998-02/02/1998)

Fig. 279 Select time series

The values are then calculated and should then be visible in the dh/dt column when the gaugings table is opened.

Т	W Beginn [m]	Transient status	dh/dt [m/s]	W corected	Slope [0/00]	QC
-		Measurement		80.0		
-		Measurement		64.0		
-		Measurement	0.000000	52.0		
-		Measurement	0.000000	198		
)	0.20	Measurement	0.000000	52.0		
-		Measurement	0.000000	50.0		
-		Measurement	0.000000	54.0		
-		Measurement	0.000000	58.0		
-		Measurement	-0.000001	82.0		
-		Measurement	0.000033	62.0	0.1	
-		Measurement	0.000001	56.0	0.2	
-		Measurement	0.000000	118	0.3	
-		Measurement	-0.000001	50.0	0.4	
-		Measurement	0.000000	50.0	0.5	
-		Measurement	-0.000001	48.0	0.6	
-		Measurement	-0.000041	42.0	0.7	
-		Measurement		50.0		
-		Measurement		48.0		
+		K. A		40.0		

Fig. 280 Table

The gaugings can now be labled with the dh/dt values.

- With the values displayed on screen, right mouse click and select **Plot properties**.
- From the label tab-page, select **dh/dt** from the label drop-down.
- Click <**OK**>.

Plot properties		×
Plots: Qmeas Ameas Vmeas Preas K*sqrt(i) Areg*Vreg Preg*K*sqrt(i)	↑ ↓	Style Regression sections Symbol styles Label Grid Axis ✓ Activate label Alignment: Diagonal (\) ▼ Label: dh/dt (m/s) ▼ Ø corrected (m²/s) ● Ø corrected (m²/s) ● Ø go corrected (m²/s) ● Ø go (m²/s) ● Ø go (m²/s) ● Ø go (m²/s) ● Ø go (m²/s) ● B go (m²/s) ● Ø f() Type Symbol style ▼
OK Apply		Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 281 Plot properties

The dh/dt values are now displayed on screen.

The next stage is to calculate the correction of the flow. This is done as follows:

• Select the main menu Tools \bigcirc Boyer Method \bigcirc Correction of measurement according to Boyer

The adjustment factor values are now plotted.

How to use the Boyer method Actions



Fig. 282 Graphic Boyer

• Zoom into the plot (Qmeas layer active).



Fig. 283 Graphic Boyer Zoom

Some values have been assigned with an arrow. This is the correct flow value according to Boyer. The end of the value is the value that exists in the **Qci** column in the gaugings table.

A regression now needs to be developed between Qci and the adjustment factor.

- Select **Regression C Regression options**.
- Click <OK> to accept the default linear regression option.
 A regression line should now have been displayed over Qci (the corrected flow measurement).
- Select the option Regression Correct measurement. This allows measurements to be shifted.
- Click the Modify plots icon 💉
- Select a value on the Qmeas plot and drag it to the regression line. The movement is then represented by a black arrow. The head of the arrow is now the corrected value. It can then be observed that the adjustment factor is shifted correspondingly.

This process can be continued until the adjustment factor scatter is minimised.

The next step is to create a suitable rating curve of the type **Free formula**. This would firstly be done for the Q parameter and would be carried out in the standard way. It is also necessary to create a rating curve for the **adjustment factor**. As the adjustment factor has been given an origin of **Extended rating curve calculation**, it can be dealt with as a rating curve as a standard Q parameter. The creation of an Adjustment factor rating curve is slightly different and is described below:

- Ensure that the AF (Adjustment factor) values have been fitted with an appropriate regression.
- Ensure a rating curve template (from the AF parameter version: **free formula**) has been loaded onto the development screen.

How to use the Boyer method Actions

Rating curve management	
New 🔺	6
<u>"</u> ∰" Validities	F
🖻 🥎 Time series	
🗄 📥 Test the West.Q.AllgKennwerte	L C
🗄 📥 Test the West.Q.Kennwert	
🗄 📥 Test the West.Q.Kennwert2	
i ⊡ – Test the West.Q.60	9
W/Test the West.Basisganglini	
ĒŴ AF	-
E Cal Hating curves	0
	L C
🕀 🗠 🖉 Test	
Test the West,AF,JahrMin	
Test the West,AF,JahrMittel	
Test the West,AF.Momentanwerte	
Test the West.AF.MonatMax	
Test the West.AF.MonatMin	
Test the West.AF.MonatMittel	
Test the West,AF,TagMax	
Test the West,AF,TagMin	
	_
	_

Fig. 284 Rating curve management

• Set the AF rating curve to the active layer in **SKED**.

The AF curve can now be saved as a rating curve:

• Select **Tools** ⊃ **Boyer method** ⊃ **Save correction factor as rating curve**. The final stage is then to calculate the flow.

ſ

How to use the Boyer method Actions

Г

Γ

APPENDIX

How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method

Contents of this chapter:

Requirements	
Actions	
Summary	431

Г

17 How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method

The time-related hysteresis rating curve method can be an accurate means of deriving flow values from stage. The procedure relies on having a large number of gaugings, which have been carried out on the rising and falling limb of a flood hydrograph. Consequently, it can be observed that for one stage value, two potentially different flow values can be determined. The higher of the two flow values would be recorded on the rising limb. This relates to the variation in the slope of the energy line on the rising and falling limbs of the flood hydrograph. The procedure is generally only relevant to very large rivers.



Fig. 285 Time-related hysteresis rating curve

A time-related hysteresis rating curve will typically be loop-shaped. Where the gaugings for one single-peaked event are plotted, a line will be drawn through the points in chronological order. As the flood event peaks, so the rating curve will loop back down. As the stage falls, any gaugings recorded will typically have a lower flow value than gaugings recorded at the same stage, but on the rising limb.

This example will involve creating a free formula rating curve, plotting gaugings and then using the hysteresis curve options to create a suitable fit.



Fig. 286 Time-related hysteresis rating curve: Expected result

17.1 Requirements

• A large number of gaugings measured on the rising limb and falling limb of a flood hydrograph.

17.2 Actions

Follow these steps to create a time-related hysteresis rating curve and use this to generate flow values:

 Create a new rating curve version of the type Free formula The process of creating a rating curve is covered in SKED use case 002. How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method Actions

Rating curve management		x
/ Test Hysteresis ① ① ① [Selection] ③ ③ Rating curves ④ ④ ▲ Hysterese ○ △ Akima ○ △ CubSpline ○ └ □ Linear ○ └ Parametric □ ▷ Training	Station E Ratin Date changed: Image: Type: Image: Version: Image: Upper limit: Image:	Ig curve 🗠 Version
Hysteresis Param Neu Neu Widities Hysteresis Vidities Vite series Wite serie	Lower limit: Beyond limit: Comment:	cm Extrapolate and flag as beyc Get as active version
	Last changed by:	produktora233

Fig. 287 Rating curve management: New rating curve version of type Free formula

• In the rating curve manager select the gaugings time series and click the <**Plot**> button to load these values onto the **SKED** development screen

Rating curve management			X
CubSpline CubSpline	Station Parameter River: Catchment area size: Distance from confluence: Station height in m OD: Station number: Cartesian Easting: Cartesian Northing:	Time series 0 0 200097	
07/04/2002 To: 18/08/2005 Plot	rotected Close	Cancel	Apply

Fig. 288 Rating curve managment: Selecting gaugings time series

The filter window will become active and the gaugings to be displayed can be filtered as appropriate (please refer to **SKED** use case 003).

The gaugings now need to be given a label showing the date that each measurement was made.

- Right mouse click over the graph and select Plot properties
- Select the Label tab-page
- Ensure that the label drop-down list has been set to Date

How to use the time-related hysteresis rating curve method Actions

Plot properties	×
Prois.	Style Regression sections Symbol styles Label Grid Axis ✓ Activate label Alignment: Diagonal (\) ▼ Label ▼ ▼ ✓ Show line
OK Apply	Cancel <u>H</u> elp

Fig. 289 Plot properties: label set to Date

- Click <**OK**> to activate the setting and leave the dialog.
- Click the regression icon and then select the option **Time dependent hysteresis** The hysteresis interpolation dialog is opened. A suitable interpolation method should be selected for fitting the curve through the gaugings.
- Select **Parametric spline**.

Confi	igure hyste	resis curve		×
_ In	terpolation m	ethod		
In	Interpolation: Parametric spline			•
	ОК	Apply	Cancel	<u>H</u> elp

Fig. 290 hysteresis interpolation dialog: Parametric spline

- Click <**Apply**> to view the results.
- Click <**OK**> to close the dialog.

It can now be seen that the spline has joined the gaugings in chronological order.

The next step will involve saving the hysteresis results as a rating curve.

- Return to the **rating curve management** dialog.
- Select the newly created version for the hysteresis.
- Click < Plot> to load the version template onto the development screen.

Rating curve management	×
Rating curve management	Station Kiver: Catchment area size: Distance from confluence: Station height in m OD: Station number: 200037 Catch from confluence: Station from from from from from from from from
	Cartesian Easting: Cartesian Northing:
07/04/200% To: 18/08/2008 Plot	write Close Cancel Apply

Fig. 291 Rating curve managment: plotting new rating curve version

• Ensure that the rating curve is now the active layer in the drop-down list

饕 ts-qs-1 - Remo	ote Desktop	
SKED - [/ To	est Hysteresis/Q - 0	Graph]
[Eile Edit View	v <u>T</u> ools <u>R</u> egression	<u>W</u> indow <u>H</u> elp
) 🗞 🔨 🖻 目	X Pa 🖻 🎒	# # 🗟 🛛
Q/Hysteresis.V	1	•
M Omeas	_	
🛛 🗹 Q/Hysteresis.V	1	

Fig. 292 Plotting new rating curve version: set as active layer

Summary

- From the main menu **Regression**, select the option **Save regression as reference curve**
- Confirm the following message box by clicking <**Yes**>. The formula of the hysteresis curve can now be viewed.
- Click the **12** icon to open the free formula dialog.

The formula is displayed in the upper field of the dialog. In the lower field **Time dependent formula**, a measurement grid can be entered in seconds. This will influence the display of the curve.

		_
Free formula rating curve		12
Formula	224 D49 cm	后
function CalcS(float Ri_float Si_float Ti_float Vi_float V) :	2/01/1998	100
float S		100
float S_Leil float S Floor		
float DeltaY		* 1
float DeltaY_Floor		Ź₩
float Y_Floor float Y_Ceil		朣
float Y_AtS		
float allowedError		4
		1624
Lower limit: 33.0012 [cm] X. [cm] Example Formula: 1.5 ^ (0.21 - x) 1.5		
Upper limit: 224.049 [cm] y: [m ² /s] Example KiBasic Script: result = 1.5 * (0.21 -x) ^ 1.5		0
Integration / Deviation		i land
Eormula Integrate lower limit: 0 [cm] ∀iew result formula	[Her .
deviate		<mark>elf(x)</mark>
Time dependent formula		£.(8)
Independent variable is the time Measurement grid in [s] Formula example: Section 2.1		I¥Ťž
Valid from 04/01/1998 V To: 27/02/1998 V result = sin(t)		1 ×
		F()>
Convert to KiBasic OK Cancel Apply <u>H</u> elp		遨
	35.0813 cm	20-

Fig. 293 Formula of the hysteresis curve

• Save the rating curve.

17.3 Summary

A hysteresis rating curve has been created. Flow can subsequently be generated by giving the flow time series the standard rating curve origin.

The final step would be to define an appropriate validity period for the curve. The validity period may well be relatively short, covering only the period of the specific flood event which has been covered with a large number of gaugings.

One approach to the calculation of flow values would be to have the default flow calculation based on a standard rating curve. The flows could then be calculated at a later date using the hysteresis method by creating a curve and only making it valid for the time period covering the flood event. Following this event the source of the flow calculation could revert back to the previous rating curve.
APPENDIX

Calculating the Discharge by the Stage-Fall Method

This example explains how to use the stage-fall method to create relations between stage and discharge in **SKED** under consideration of variable backwater conditions.

Contents of this chapter:

Technical background, definitions	435
Example scenario	437
Requirements	437
Step by step solution	437
WISKI basic data	437
Creating parameters and time series in WISKI	438
Working in SKED	
Result	454

ſ

18 Calculating the Discharge by the Stage-Fall Method

The stage-fall method can be used if you want to calculate the discharge at gauges with variable backwater conditions. The backwater is recorded via the stage slope which is determined between the main gauge and a downstream staff gauge. With the stage-fall method you can take backwater conditions into account, resulting e.g. from weed growth in the river, downstream cross-section constrictions or backwater effects from receiving water course. This method can be applied only to stationary conditions.

The stage-fall method was developed in the USA. It is described in the USGS Water-Supply Paper 2175, Measurement and Computation of Streamflow: Volume 2: Computation of Discharge.



Fig. 294 Stage-fall method

18.1 Technical background, definitions

The discharge Ω is calculated with the stage-fall method as follows:

Qm = Qr * (Fm/Fr)d

with:

Γ

- Qm measured discharge (discharge measurements) or stage calculated by the stage-fall method, respectively.
- Qr discharge calculated via the rating curve
- Fm measured slope
- Fr slope calculated via the rating curve
- d exponent





Fig. 295 Stage-fall method

18.2 Example scenario

Let's have a look at a gauge with variable backwater and a staff gauge downstream. A stage-discharge relation is developed with the stage-fall method. This stage-discharge relation depends on the recorded slope.

18.3 Requirements

- Station (main gauge) with stage and discharge parameters.
- A downstream station (staff gauge) with the stage parameter by which one can calculate the slope at the base gauge.
- A sufficient number of flow measurements at the main gauge with which variable backwater conditions have been collected.

18.4 Step by step solution

First of all you have to check the settings for the main and staff gauge in the **WISKI** basic data. Then you create the required parameters and time series in **WISKI** so that the stage-fall method can then be applied in **SKED**.

18.4.1 WISKI basic data

The formulae in the stage-fall method refer to the distance of the stations from the confluence. Therefore make sure that the basic data of the stations used contain the necessary data.

• To do so, activate the station basic data for the main and staff gauge and open the **Position** tab page. For further information about the basic data management, see the **WISKI** User's Guide.

n Stations					_ 🗆 🗙
Stations	StageFall Base Gauge	4422	Surface water station	n @Template River / -001	-
P. Pad Land Dama (400009	Name	Number	Station type	River	
Black Lane TBB/300021	3480242 5417775		0 06/02/2008 🚑	00/00/0000	
🗄 🛅 Bochum/300011	Easting Northing	Gauge datum	Station created S	Station shutdown Valid since	
🗄 🧰 Boyer River/200023	Constant Constant	la la	le i le	. [
⊕	General Location Position Heigh	Observer Gau	ge Discharge Parami	eter Additional attributes	
Elat Pivera End/200022	Map type 1:25K:,			•	
	Man type 1:50K:			T	
🗄 🚠 Greim/200003					
⊕ 📅 Ground water site/990854321	Distance to confluence: 66.55	km			
E Cahnhof-Geiersgrund/5115901	River kilometres: D	km T	lo reference point:	•	
Maintlingen/24/00325	Distance to river: D	km	Position at water:	•	
⊕ manazz25166167	Coordinates				
🗄 🧰 Munster/MU01	Doint number		Suppy:	00.00.00.00.00.00	
🖻 🏦 Oberhausen/300014	Point number.		Survey. [06/02/2006 00.00 -	
🗄 🎰 Old's Man Bridge/200005	Meridian:	`	Coordinate system:	·· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
B-C Plochingen/200011	Easting: 3480242		Longitude:	000:00:00	
Guality Flag Station 1/200007	Northing: 5417775		Latitude:	00:00:00	
+ f Quality Site 1/500001	Remark:				
🗄 🚠 RainfallStation/9988778899	Edit				
🖻 🧰 Raunheim/2490010					
B S/s					
E In SUDA Station/20004					
E StageFall Base Gauge/4422					
					1
	Sorted view			Cancel	Help

Fig. 296 Basic data of station: Specify the distance to the confluence

18.4.2 Creating parameters and time series in WISKI

- First of all, create the parameter **Fall** at the main gauge. For details about how to create parameters, see the **WISKI** User's Guide.
- Choose the parameter type **Freely defined parameter**, --- as the type and Fall as the name.
- The parameter must have the unit "m".
- Now assign the parameter with a time series type (equidistant/non-equidistant, mean value/instantaneous value) and a time interval that suit the stage parameter.

Г



Fig. 297 Creating parameters and time series in WISKI

- Activate **<Finish>** to create the parameter.
- Delete all time series that were automatically created for this parameter. The next step is to create the required time series for the **Fall** parameter. For how to create time series, see the **WISKI** User's Guide.
- First of all you create the time series for the measured slope, in our example SF Base Gauge.Fall.15.meas.
- *Make sure* that the type and time interval of the created time series suit the stage time series of the main and staff gauge.

Parameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water station () / @Template R	liver		_ 🗆 🗙
Parameter of stations Stagef all Base P FA ♥ FA ♥ FA ♥ FA ♥ FA ♥ Fa ₩ Ja Reports ₩ Ja Statica ♥ Q ♥ Ton seles ♥ Yassbilly checks ♥ Y	Gauge / Surface water station () / @Template R Time series Additional attributes Name: SFBG-Fall.15 Unit: mRounding 3 c Production values Path of origin High-resolution: Day level: Month level: Calculate time series with priority	liver Igits, according Properties Time level: Distance: Type: Begin: Year:	Ident: [1565652 to ini high resolution equidistant, 15 min Mean values	
	CanCulate time series with promy Conf. database statistics Data exchange number.	Year:	valuee into DB	
<u>o</u> k			Cancel	Help

Fig. 298 Time series for the measured slope

• Proceed as follows to configure a formula origin for the time series:

Parameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water station () / @Template River	_ 🗆 🗵
	Gouge / Surface water station (→) / @Template River Type Valid from Active Calculate automatically Formula © COUCOCODO 001 ● ✓ Name: Formula Formula ✓ Delete destination before calculation Name: Formula Formula ✓ Delete destination before calculation Delete destination before calculation Time series Delete destinetion Time series <t< td=""><td></td></t<>	
<u>O</u> K	[D 숲 D 숲 10]	Help



Г

• The formula to be entered is:

```
result = (value(1)/100.0 + valuepnp(1)) - (value(2)/
100.0 + valuepnp(2))
```

• The next time series to be created is that for the theoretical gradient.

Rearameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water station () / @Template R	liver		
G: ♥ ETA G: ♥ Fal G: ♥ Jal G: ₱ Jal File Jal File Jal Jal	Time series Additional attributes Name: SFBG Fall 15 theor. Unit: Production values Path of origin High-resolution: Day level: Month level: Calculate time series with priority Conf. database statistics Data exchange number:	Igits, according Properties Time level: Distance: Type: Begin: Year: I ²⁷ Transfer	Ident: [1566654 g to ini high resolution equidistant, 15 min Mean values 	
<u>o</u> k			Cancel	Help

Fig. 300 Time series for the theoretical gradient

• Its origin is **Rating curves enhanced**.

ſ

Parameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water st	ation()	/ @Template Rive	r			
er-vŷ ETA ⊡-vŷ Fal #- ₦ ₽ Reports #-fj, Statistics #-lant Long term values #-Aam thresholds	C Type Rating Curves enhanced	F	Valid from 01/01/1970 00:1-	Active Calculate	automatically		
	- Rating Curves enhanced Name: Source: ETA: Delta S: External:	Rating Cur SFBC S.11 No entry No entry	ves enhanced 5		× ×	Selection.	
						Cancel	Help

Fig. 301 Time series for the theoretical gradient: Configure origin

• The last time series created for the **Fall** parameter is the time series for the exponent of the stage-fall method with the origin **Unknown**:

Г

⊕ ♥ ETA ⊕ ♥ Fal Time series Additional attributes

Fig. 302 Time series for the exponent of the stage-fall method

Parameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water station () /	@Template River	
⊕ ♥ ETA ⊕ ♥ Fal ⊕ ■ Reports ⊕ ₱, Statistics ⊕ Ibst L concterm values	Type	Valid from Active Calculate automatically	
Alar Miresholds A	Unknown		
■ Origins ✓ Plausibility checks B→① 0 B→① 0 B→① 5			
<u>o</u> k			Cancel <u>H</u> elp



ſ

• The last time series to be created is that for the discharge corrected by the stagefall method. It gets a formula origin.

Rearameter of station: StageFall Base	Gauge / Surface water station () / @Template R	River
	auge / Surface water station () @ Femplate R Time series Additional attributes	Iter Intervalues into DB
B SFBG U KorMMas B SFBG U KorMMas	Card exchange routes.	CancelHelp

Fig. 304 Time series for the discharge corrected by the stage-fall method

1 provint 1 provint 20 proprint 5 provint 20 proprint 5 provint 20 proprint 1 provint 20 provint 1 provint 21 provint 1 provint 22 provint 2 provint 23 provint 1 provint 24 provint 1 prov	7 ETA	Tune Valid from Active Co	alculate automatically
20 Partonia 20 Partonia 20 Partonia 21 Constant reservatoria 22 Partonia 23 Partonia 24 Name: 25 SFB0.0 15 25 SFB0.0 15 26 SFB0.0 15 27 Partonia 26 SFB0.0 15 27 Partonia 26 SFB0.0 15 27 Partonia 27 Partonia 28 SFB0.0 15 29 Partonia 29 Partonia 20 Partonia 20 Partonia 20 Partonia 29 Partonia 20 Partonia 21 Partonia 22 Partonia 23 Partonia 24 Partonia 25 Partonia 24 Partonia 25 Partonia 25 Partonia <t< td=""><td>7 rai 7 N</td><td></td><td>accurate automatically</td></t<>	7 rai 7 N		accurate automatically
e Los SFBC Q YearMax D ♣ D ♣ 10	N Pice Reports Fig., Statistics Ima Long term volves Statistics Statistics Ima Long term volves Statistics Statistics Ima Long term volves Statistics Statistics Ima Statistics Statistics Statistics Ima Stat	Formula Image: Control 1/1970 0.00 € Image: Control 1/19	ete destination before calculation
+ rv prou.u. reamin VI	B SFBG.Q.YearMean	<u></u>	1

Fig. 305 Time series for the discharge corrected by the stage-fall method: Configure formula origin

Г

• Enter the formula:

```
rem result = value(1) * (value(2) ^ 0.5) / (value(3) ^ 0.5)
float d
d = valuebefore(4)
result = value(1) * (value(2) ^ d) / (value(3) ^ d)
```

Г

18.5 Working in SKED

Г

After you have created all necessary time series, activate **SKED** to construct here the rating curves needed for the stage-fall method.

- Start **SKED** for the Q parameter of the main gauge (for how to start **SKED** see page 67.).
- In the SKED wizard activate the <Plot flow measurements> button and select the required discharge measurements. You should especially select those discharge measurements that were carried out with different backwater conditions and discharges. For how to filter measurements, see "Loading/selecting/filtering measurements" on pages 139
- Before you start with the stage-fall method, you have to check whether this method is unlocked in **SKED**. Activate for this from the main menu the function **Tools** ⊃ **Settings**.
- In the **Settings** form activate the **<Advanced settings>** button where you can activate under **Methods** the stage-fall method with **yes**.
- Now the first step of the stage-fall method is performed: calculating the slope of the single discharge measurements. Start for this the function **Curve fitting** ⊃ **Stage-fall method** ⊃ **Determine stage from high-resolution time series**.
- In the following dialogs you have to choose the parameter and the time series that is used to calculate the slope. Select "Fall" as the parameter and the time series of the measured slope.

Para	meter auswählen
-	
SF	Basispegel. Gefälle
SE	Basispedel N
ler	Pasispaga())/
Jor	basispegei. w
	OK Abbrechen Hilfe

Fig. 306 Calculate the slope from high-resolution time series: Select parameter

Zeitrei	he auswählen
Wähle	en Sie die Zeitreihe:
SF B SF B SF B	stispegel / Gefälle / SF Basispegel Gefälle. 15.gem (01.01.2000-18.01.2006) ssispegel / Gefälle / SF Basispegel Gefälle. 15.theor (31.12.1999-18.01.2006) ssispegel / Gefälle / SF Basispegel Gefälle.Exponent (31.12.1999-31.12.1999)
	OK Abbrechen Hilfe

Fig. 307 Calculate the slope from high-resolution time series: Select time series

 Activating the icon you can view the calculation results in the gauging table of the discharge measurements.

	Gefälle [m]	a	Qci [m3/s]	afi [—]	Sc	∨w [m/s]	dh/dt [m/s]
		0	19,4279	0		1,29841	
	6,81	0	36,5626	0		1,80445	
)	6,79	0	24,9413	0		1,4855	
5	6,76	0	42,1761	0		1,93328	
3	6,68	0	62,7775	0		2,19491	
1	6,77	0	31,2594	0		1,65894	
	6,81	0	20,9607	0		1,33027	
		0	13,6071	0		1,06358	
		0	11,5146	0		0,999695	
5	6,86	0	15,7377	0		1,15968	
1	6,87	0	13,7815	0		1,0802	
)	6,79	0	26,7576	0		1,53316	
3	6,83	0	19,0322	0		1,27787	
)	6,80	0	9,70273	0		0,895909	
ز	6,85	0	11,3933	0		1,00604	
1	6.85	0	7 90104	0		0.800726	

Fig. 308 Calculate the slope from high-resolution time series: View results

- If the column **Fall** is hidden in the table you have to unhide it: Open the context menu of the column heads with the right mouse button and activate the function **Configure columns**. In the **Fixing the selection and order of columns** form opened now make sure that the column is shown under Displayed columns.
- The next step of the stage-fall method is to create a rating curve for the stage-fall relation. It is assumed that a rating curve already exists for the Q parameter which can be selected directly in the rating curve management. Choose the desired rating curve version and activate **<Show**>.



Fig. 309 Showing the Q rating curve for the stage-fall relation

The rating curve of the correction factor **Fall** is created by the <u>s</u> icon: Select in the **Choose the target parameter** form the desired station from the stations edited last, choose **Fall** as the target parameter and activate <**Next**>.



Fig. 310 Selecting the target parameter Fall

Γ

- In the What do you want to do? form opened now activate the <Create new rating curve> button to create a rating curve for the Fall parameter. Follow the instructions of the wizard (see page 85.).
- After you have created this rating curve, activate the rating curve management and represent the rating curve in the **SKED** graph which already contains the discharge measurements and the rating curve.
- The SKED graph now contains the following basis for your further activities:
 - The selected flow measurements (Qmeas)
 - A rating curve for the Q parameter and an empty rating curve for the Fall parameter
- Activate now the rating curve for the Q parameter and start the function Curve fitting ⊃ Stage-fall method ⊃ Display Qm/Qr to Fm/Fr.
- Choose in the next dialog Select slope rating curve the rating curve to be used.
- The result in **SKED** is a three-part graph.



Fig. 311 Stage-fall method: Display Qm/Qr to Fm/Fr

• The lower left graph contains the information represented up to now (Qmeas, Q rating curve, fall rating curve). The lower right graph represents the measured slope for the single discharge measurements, plotted against the stage. The upper left

graph contains a representation of Qm/Qr against Fm/Fr and lines for various exponents.

• First choose the slope rating curve and shift it into the right partial graph.



Fig. 312 Stage-fall method: Rearranging the fall rating curve

• The next step is to construct the rating curve for the slope. For this you have to develop a regression relation for **Fall**.

Γ

SKED - [Beispielpege Datei Bearbeiten Ar	l / SF Basispegel/Q - Gra hsicht Werkzeuge Kurver	ilk] anpassung Fenster ?				_ [] ×
🦮 🔍 🚅 🔚 🐰	h R 4 4 4 6 b	. 💡 🛛 🗹 Gefä	le	•		
Regression: Gefälle	[m] = f(W [cm])			×	 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	100
Segment	Regres	sion				
von	bis	Тур	Grad/Versch.	Korrelations- koeffizient r	hlossen	2
1. 17,9926 ÷	353,149 🛨 Polynom		v 3		ka	K
ausschließen	anschließen value('Gefä	lle [m]") = 6,78 + 0,00351 × va	lue(W korrigiert [cm])^1 - 5,23		122
					biossen	28-
	Polynom				kt	
ausschließen	anschließen j				(Gefälle/l.1)	ĝ↓
3.	Polynom		¥			1
🗖 ausschließen	anschließen					
	Line was Kauala	innek neffizient für den menne	ton Dateshousish	0.030630		1
	Cincular Konola	onexoonizioni nui den gesan	Ken batenbereich	1 0,00000		_ K
Statistik				_		5
Statistische Auss	vertung	Anzeigen kein Interva	. –	1 -fach	• 21.12.1	
1.0.4	1				21.12	н <u>6,3</u> Тенг
OK Uben	nehmen Löschen	Abbrechen		Hilfe	22.12.19	s internet
00	20.1	100 -			15.01	2 1
07.04.1987	24.03.1988		1		10.0	pa(8)
0 1 17 05,1984	24.03.1988	. • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	+	+	~	3 🗰
0 100	200 300 400	500 Q [m3/s]	0 2	4	Gefälle [m] € ►
-/Ausschließen	Zoom-	aktor (x/y): 100,00% / 10	10,0	6,97:38	1,87 NUI	м

Fig. 313 Regression relation for slope

• Now apply the results of the regression analysis for the construction of the rating curve. In our example, a rating curve of the type **Descriptor points** was constructed by setting spline points. How to construct rating curves is described in detail in "Developing Rating Curves" on pages 137 Save the rating curve.

ſ



Fig. 314 Stage-fall method: Constructing the fall rating curve

- Assign the fall rating curve with a suitable validity. This procedure is described in "Specifying validities for rating curves" on pages 107 in detail.
- The last step of the stage-fall method is to specify the exponent d for the formula to calculate Q. For this you activate in the upper left partial graph the function Curve fitting ⊃ Stage-fall method ⊃ Qm/Qr = Fm/Fr^d for fixed d display.
- Define a value in the dialog. If you do not know which value you should set, see the **SKED** graph. Hold the **<Shift>** key down and move the mouse over the graph. The respective exponent **d** of the single curves is displayed.

Qm/Qr = Fm/Fr ^ d for fixed d di	play	×
Exponent Please enter the required exponent. typically between 0.4 and 0.6 thoug this in exceptional circumstances.	The exponent lies it can vary from	0.5
	K Car	ncel Help

Fig. 315 Stage-fall method: Specifying the exponent d

- Finally you have to save the value found for the parameter **d**. The value is saved in the time series **Fall.Exponent**. There are two ways of entering the value in the time series table: either in **WISKI** or in **SKED**. Here we describe the procedure in **SKED**.
- Open the rating curve management, choose the time series **Fall.Exponent** and a suitable time range. It is important that the value for the exponent is saved at the beginning of the time range for which the stage-fall method is applied. The time range can be set at the bottom border of the rating curve management. The check box **write protected** must be deactivated.



Fig. 316 Stage-fall method: Opening the time series for the exponent d

- Activate <**Plot**> to show the time series in the graphic window.
- Make sure that the time series <u>IF Basis.Gefälle.Exponent</u> in the graphic window is active and activate the <u>IF</u> icon in order to open the time series table.
- Enter the value in the table and save it.

SKED - Beis	spielpegel / SF Ba	asispegel/Q			
Datei Bearbei	ten Ansicht We	rkzeuge Kurv	enanpassung Fenst	er ?	
👋 🔨 🗃	🔒 👗 🖻 👘	1 6 4 4	ō 🖪 🕴	SF Basis.Gef	älle.Exponent
美 単 世	腰豚面氏	▼ 1.118 1000 ≪ < 10000		· * 🕩 🖭 + i	
🖉 Beispielpe	gel / SF Basispe	gel/Q:1 - Grat	fik		
TI					
II <u>7</u> <u>₹</u>	🖉 Beispielpege	l / SF Basispe	egel/Q:2 - SF Basis	.Gefälle.Exponent -	Tabelle
Į į	Datum	Zeit	— [-]	Status	Bemerk.
∎ 8 <u>∃</u>	10.01.1992	00:00:00	0,600	U ed	

Fig. 317 Stage-fall method: Entering exponent d

• Now you have finished the creation of a stage-discharge relation with the stage-fall method.

18.6 Result

Г

If one compares the discharge calculated by the stage-fall method with the discharge calculated by the same rating curve, one can clearly see the effect the slope has on the calculated discharges.



Fig. 318 Stage-fall method: Final result

I

Calculating the Discharge by the Stage-Fall Method Working in SKED

Г

Γ

I

APPENDIX

Recalibration of Q

This example explains how to recalibrate in **WISKI** and **SKED** the flows that were calculated from the continuous stage time series and defined rating curves.

Contents of this chapter:

Theoretical background	459
Calculation method/procedure	459
More working options in SKED	464



19 Recalibration of Q

19.1 Theoretical background

In natural river cross sections with variable cross section geometry it is often necessary to recalibrate the flows calculated from the continuous stage time series and defined rating curves. Use for this the origin **Recalibration** for the continuous Q time series.

The flow Q is calculated in two steps. Within the calculation all relevant stage and flow time series are stored in the database:

Stage original time series	e.g. S.15.O		
Stage production time series	e.g. S.15		
Stage independent stage correction (dS)	e.g. S.dS		
Flow from rating curve, possibly with stage correction (dS	5)		
	e.g. Q.15.		
Stage related stage correction	e.g. S.Stage shifted		
	correction		
Corrected (calibrated) stages	e.g. S.15.corrected		
Flow from rating curve with S related stage correction			
	Q.15.calculated		
Flow related Q calibration	e.g. S.QrelCor		
Corrected (calibrated) flows	e.g. Q.15		

19.2 Calculation method/procedure

The first step is to calculate a preliminary Q from the production values of the measured stages S, a correction value dS and the valid rating curve. First the correction value dS is calculated from the flow measurements by the origin **Delta SQ**. It describes the stage difference between measurement and rating curve for the same Q. A linear change between the measurements is assumed. In order to record also spontaneous changes of the dS value resulting for example from weed removal or jam

Г

and to correct faulty dS values, the calculated dW values are applied into a production copy. Here they can be edited.

The second step is to determine stage related corrected S values to calculate the Q values that are published. The stage related correction is carried out by specifying three correction points Smin/deltaSmin, Sbreak/deltaSbreak Smax/deltaSmax. The correction value is linearly interpolated between the correction points; under Smin one assumes deltaSmin, above Smax one assumes deltaSmax to be constant.

The corrections are determined in **SKED**. Here you need only one graph to represent flow measurements, the rating curve and also the corrected rating curve together with the correction points and the correction values dS resulting from the measurements. The correction values can be edited graphically. The corrected rating curve is updated immediately allowing you to check the quality.

The correction values are each valid for one point of time. Between two sets of correction values the stage correction is linearly interpolated over the time.

The production time series of the stage and the stage related correction values are used to calculate a corrected stage "S.15.corrected" by the origin **Stage correction**. That stage is the initial value of the Q calculation.

The Q is calculated by the rating curve, correction values are not considered. The result is the arithmetical Q that yields the look-up table value for the corrected stage.

Then the Q is recalibrated using a linear calibration equation.

An example: A station (surface water station) with at least one S (stage) and Q (flow) parameter with continuously measured stages and discharge measurement results (gaugings) must exist in the database (in our example: **TestRecalibration**).

- To calculate the Q values that are to be published, the stage related corrected S values are determined first. To enter the stage related correction you have to create a new time series (Station.S.Stage shifted correction) at the S parameter.
- Select in the **WISKI** Explorer on the left-hand side the station where you want to create the new time series. Open the context menu with the right mouse button and choose the function **Edit**.
- Open the context menu of the tree entry **Time series** at the S parameter. Activate the entry **Add time series**.
- Choose in the time series configuration wizard the entry S correction.
- Activate <Next> and then <Finish>.
- A newly created time series has no origin by default. For the manual entry of time series data in the table or graph, the origin **Unknown** must be created.

- The three correction points Smin/deltaSmin, Sbreak/deltaSbreak and Smax/ deltaSmax are saved in that new time series. The correction value is linearly interpolated between the correction points; under Smin one assumes deltaSmin, above Smax one assumes deltaSmax to be constant.
- Specify in the **WISKI** Explorer the time range for which you want to record the correction factors and open the table for the S correction time series.
- Enter in the table the date, time and the three S value pairs for correction (by double-clicking in the table, entry via keyboard).
- Save the changes on closing the table.
- The corrections are determined in **SKED**. Here you need only one graph to represent flow measurements, the rating curve and also the corrected rating curve together with the correction points and the correction values dS resulting from the measurements. The correction values can be edited graphically. The corrected rating curve is updated immediately allowing you to check the quality.
- Open SKED.
- Load the S related correction time series into the SKED graph by the function Curve fitting ⊃ Rating curve shift ⊃ Stage shifts from time series. Use the main menu and select the respective shift time series.

Select shift or time se	ries			×
Shift time series:	Greim.S.Stage sh	ifted correcti		Select
Shifts:	Shift			Close
15/01/2008 00:00:00	Date 15/0	1/2008 Time	00:00:00	Cancel
	S min 1	23.00 d S	-10.00	<u>H</u> elp
	S Break	35.00 d S	5.00	Marriada 10
	S max	49.00 d 9	10.00	Delete shift

Fig. 319 Recalibration Origin: Loading S related correction time series

 That configuration dialog allows you also to add new shifts or to delete existing ones.

The correction values are each valid for one point of time. Between two sets of correction values the stage correction is linearly interpolated over the time.

The production time series of the stage and the stage related correction values are used to calculate a corrected stage "S.15.corrected" by the origin **Stage correction**. That stage is the initial value of the Q calculation.

• For this, configure in **WISKI** at the time series **TestNE.S.60 corr** the origin **Stage correction** with the source time series **TestNE.S.60** and **TestNE.S.Stage shifted correction**:

The result could be as follows:



Fig. 320 Origin Recalibration: correction time series (result)

The Q is calculated with that corrected stage time series by a rating curve (as origin) without considering any correction values. The result is the arithmetical Q that yields the look-up table value for the corrected stage.

Then the Q is recalibrated using a linear calibration equation.

• For this, create a correction time series at the Q parameter. Choose in the parameter and time series configuration dialog the tree entry **Time series** under the Q parameter and open the context menu. Add a new time series **Q related** correction.

A newly created time series in **WISKI** has no origin by default. For the manual entry of time series data in the table or graph, the origin **Unknown** must be created (see above).

• Configure the origin Unknown for the new time series.

The new time series "Q dependent correction" contains the following parameters for the calibration equation:

- Date
- Time
- Smin
- Qmin
- factor Fmin for Qmin
- summand Smin for Qmin
- Qmax
- factor for Qmax
- summand Smax for Qmax

One calibration is valid for one point of time each. The following applies to the calibration parameters Smin and Qmin as well as Smax and Qmax:

• Smin:

When Smin is edited, Qmin is automatically calculated according to the valid rating curve and vice versa.

• Smax:

When Smax is edited, Qmax is automatically calculated according to the valid rating curve and vice versa.

The calibration values are each valid for one point of time. Between two sets of calibration values the calibration results are linearly interpolated over the time. The calibration time series can be opened in **WISKI** in the table as well as in the

graph, like all other time series.

- Open the new time series for the respective time range in the table. Enter in the table the date, time and the parameters of the calibration equation (by double-clicking in the table, entry via keyboard).
- Save the changes on closing the table. The time series of the flow to be published (**TestNE.Q.60**) gets now the origin **Recalibration** with the source time series arithmetical flow (**TestNE.Q.60** calculated) and calibration factors (**TestNE.Q.0** related correction).
- Configure at the time series to be published the new origin **Recalibration**:

Г

	Туре	Valid from	Active	calculate automatically
Recalibration	-	00.00.0000 00:1🚝	v	
Recalibration				
blanaa	Desclibertion			
ivame.	recambration			
Source:	Gre.S.Stage shi	fted correction		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Calibration:	No entry			•
	,			_

Fig. 321 Creating the origin Recalibration

This origin calculates as follows:

```
Q < Qmin:
Q.target = Q.source * Fmin + Smin
Qmin< Q < Qmax:
Q.target= Q.source * (Fmin+ (Fmax-Fmin)/(Qmax-
Qmin)*(Q. .source -Qmin)
+ (Smin+ (Smax-Smin)/(Qmax-Qmin)*(Q.source -Qmin)
Q > Qmax:
Q.target = Q.source * Fmax + Smax
```

19.3 More working options in SKED

There are two further working options:

• Activating the function **Curve fitting** ⊃ **Rating curve shift** ⊃ **All stage shifts as table** displays all values of the S related correction time series as a **WISKI** table.

• With **Curve fitting Curve shift Show shifted rating curve** you can recalculate the rating curve on the basis of the S related correction time series.



Please note: These functions create only temporary rating curves that cannot be saved!

Г

Recalibration of Q

Г

I

APPENDIX

Creating Normalized Rating Curves

This example illustrates how to calculate rating curves for standardised cross sections (e.g. tube profiles) from normalized rating curves for h, A, v, Q semi-automatically.

Contents of this chapter:

Requirements	
Overview of the procedure	
Step-by-step procedure	470
Possible functions for editing rating curves:	473

ſ
20 Creating Normalized Rating Curves

This example illustrates how to calculate rating curves for standardised cross sections (e.g. tube profiles) from normalized rating curves for h (0–100%), A, v, Q (height, area, velocity and flow) semi-automatically.

The resolution of h is set to a maximum of 1‰.

Standard fill is based on the Pecher normalized rating curves in the current version. The curves are not versioned.

This functionality can be used for all standardised cross sections, except for pressure pipes. It is mainly used for, however not restricted to, closed sewer pipes.

Related topics:

20.1 Requirements

You require:

- a WISKI station, type sewer station,
- a cross section profile assigned in **WISKI** (in the station basic data, tab page **Cross** section profile).
- For the target parameters of the v, Q, b rating curves a parameter with at least one time series and the **Rating curve enhanced** origin must exist at the station.
 If **SKED** opens a parameter without the valid origin **Rating curves enhanced**, you get a warning message.
- At least one calibration measurement from the **Q.Gaugings** time series with the values h and v to adjust the rating curve to slope and roughness.

20.2 Overview of the procedure

- \boxtimes
- in WISKI: 1. Create a station with parameters h, v, Q, A
- 2. Specification in the station basic data on the Cross section profile tab page:
 - h at complete filling; use the text boxes Max. height and Max. width.
 - A at complete filling; use the section Calculated max. flow values.

- Profile type according to the **WISKI** key list **Profile type**; use for this the dropdown list box **Cross section profile**.
- in **SKED**: 3. determine A(h) rating curve with the aid of correction factors from the presetting.
- 4. determine v(h) rating curve with the aid of correction factors from the presettings and the v(h) measurement.
- 5. determine Q(h) from A(h) * v(h).

20.3 Step-by-step procedure

0.0.0.1 The wizard for the creation of rating curves

• Start the rating curve wizard for the parameter Q, A or v; activate the **<Create normalized rating curve**> button.

What do you want to do?		X
	睝	Create new rating curve
		Create normalized rating curve
	2	Open rating curve manager
HH CO	1918	Plot flow measurements
LHT I	1	Show all rating curves
	世	Show all rating curve validities
	1	Create graph
	×	Further assistance
< <u>B</u> ack	:	Next > Cancel Help

Fig. 322 Create a normalized rating curve: Start

SKED loads from the **WISKI** station basic data (from the **Cross section profile** tab page) the cross section profile type and the maximum height and width.

Create new normalized rati	ng curve	×
	Station name: Char Station number: 998	nnel1 6556
	Profile type:	Egg section
HHT	Maximum height [m]:	2.000000
	Maximum width [m]:	5.000000
	Cross-sectional area [m²]:	28.000000
< <u>B</u> ac	k Next>	Cancel Help

Fig. 323 Create a normalized rating curve: Loading station basic data

• Activate <Next>.

Create normalized rating cu	urve	×
	Create area rating curve Number: Create velocity rating curve Number: Create flow rating curve Number: Create flow rating curve Number: Calibration 15/01/2000 Calibrated with C Velocity Rating curve valid from:	Version: 1 IVVe Version: Version: 1 Version: 1 8 00:00:00 • y • Flow 15/01/2008 •
< <u>B</u> ack	k <u>N</u> ext> (Cancel Help

Fig. 324 Create a normalized rating curve: Loading calibration measurement

• Initiate the generation of one to three spline rating curves from the basic data and a measurement. The other parameters can respectively be activated via check box. As result all generated curves will be displayed.

For the specification of the valid rating curve at a station from out of the normalized rating curves you can address flow measurements in the **Q.gaugings** rating time series. At least one measurement with values for h and v is needed. If there are multiple measurements, one can be selected.

- Choose the calibration measurement to be used from the existing discharge measurements in the drop-down list.
- Decide whether the calibration is carried out with velocity or with flow; activate the respective option button.
- Change the start of the rating curve validity, if necessary. The default setting is the date of the calibration measurement that is used according to the gaugings time series.
- Activate <**Next**>.

Spline construction for norr	nalized rating curve	×
	Number of descriptor points Image: Construction of the descriptor points in the lower 33 % One third of the descriptor points in the next 33 % One third of the descriptor points in the next 33 % The rest in the remaining value range Interpolation type: Image: Construction of the point of the poi	
	< <u>B</u> ack Finish Cancel Help	

Fig. 325 Create a normalized rating curve: Descriptor points/interpolation type

- Specify the number and distribution of the descriptor points for the rating curve construction.
- When creating normalized rating curves for the first time, 30 is preset; if you change this value and create a new normalized rating curve, the new value is preset as default for the next rating curve.

- Activate the check box if you want to represent the calculated rating curves in a graph.
- Activate the check box, if you want to show the discharge measurements as well.
- Activate the **<Finish>** button.

The rating curves are saved; their status is "preliminary".

SKED opens then the graph with up to three rating curves (area, velocity, discharge).



Fig. 326 Create a normalized rating curve: Result

20.3.1 Possible functions for editing rating curves:

 \times • Displaying the calibration measurement (h/v) and h/A, h/b, h/Q, if existing

- Copying of an automatically generated rating curve to a new editable version or curve (e.g. as spline).
- Linking of derived rating curves by means of a formula (e.g. Q = A * vcorrected)

APPENDIX

Creating a User defined Evaluation

This example explains how to define an own report or evaluation. This can be performed in **SKED** through **KiBasic** programs.

Contents of this chapter:

Theoretical background	477
Generating a simple example report	477
Command reference	479
Variables	479
Functions	479

21 Creating a User defined Evaluation

21.1 Theoretical background

The **SKED** rating curve editor supports a lot of evaluations and reports. In special cases however, it may become necessary to define a new report or a new evaluation. This can be performed in **SKED** through **KiBasic** programs.

21.2 Generating a simple example report

- Start **SKED** from the **WISKI** Explorer for the Q parameter.
 - Choose in the rating curve wizard the option **Further assistance** and then **User defined evaluation**.

User-defined evaluation	Available user-	-defined evaluations	×
	Name	Description	
	Validities	report on RC validities	
~ ~~			4
	New	Delete Edit	
< <u>B</u> ack	. Finisł	h Cancel Help	

Fig. 327 Starting the user defined evaluation

- Activate <New> to define a new evaluation.
- Enter a name and optionally a description for the report.
- Start entering the **KiBasic** functions.

• Please note: The KiBasic functionality is described in



Fig. 328 User defined evaluation: Entering the KiBasic script

- Confirm with <**Ok**> and the new report is shown in the list.
- Activating <**Next**> generates the report which is displayed in the print preview and can be printed.

Γ

Print <u>N</u> ext Pag	e Pre <u>v</u> Page <u>I</u> wo Page	Zoom In Zoom Dut	<u>C</u> lose		
	Black For Parameter Q	rrest/Greim Stator unber: Rie: Rie: Rie: No: Rie: Rotation:	200003 River Ro Fu 003	Carlesin Easting: Carlesin Northig: Neastring pint leight Carbimentarea:	2526320 5640320 55.57 NN+m 3380.00 km =
	Gaugings Overview about val add airce from the buy of t	katiba I			

Fig. 329 User defined evaluation: Result

21.3 Command reference

The following commands are available in **SKED** in addition to the standard **KiBasic** commands:

21.3.1 Variables

• int rcmanager

Global access variable needed for the access to rating curves, measurements, validities etc.

• int rccurrentaccess

Global access variable assigned to the plot currently selected in the graph.

int rcwizard

Global access variable that can be used to add configuration elements to the evaluation.

21.3.2 Functions

• int rcgetperiods (int rcmanager)

Returns an access variable for an access object of the rating curve validities.

- rcmanager: here you have to enter the global access variable rcmanager.
- int rcgetgaugings (int rcmanager)

Returns an access variable for an access object of the discharge measurements.

- rcmanager: here you have to enter the global access variable rcmanager.
- int rccreatecalculationobject (int rcmanager, float startts, float endts) Returns an access variable for a calculation object.
 - rcmanager: here you have to enter the global access variable rcmanager.
 - **startts und endts**: define the time range for which the calculation is performed.
- float rcratinggetyfromx (int rating, float value)

Calculates the discharge for a stage using a specific rating curve version.

- rating: here you have to enter the access object.
- value: the stage for which a discharge is to be calculated.

If the value cannot be calculated, errorvalue is returned.

• float rcratinggetxfromy (int rating, float value)

Calculates the stage for a discharge using a specific rating curve version.

- **rating**: here you have to enter the access object.
- **value**: the discharge for which a stage is to be calculated.

If the value cannot be calculated, errorvalue is returned.

• float rccalcgetyfromx (int calcobject, float time, float value)

Calculates the discharge for a stage using the rating curve validities.

- **rating**: here you have to enter the access object.
- **time**: the time stamp for which the discharge is to be calculated.
- **value**: the stage for which a discharge is to be calculated. If the value cannot be calculated, **errorvalue** is returned.
- float rccalcgetxfromy (int calcobject, float time, float value)

Calculates the stage for a discharge using the rating curve validities.

- rating: here you have to enter the access object.
- **time**: the time stamp for which the discharge is to be calculated.
- value: the stage for which a discharge is to be calculated.

If the value cannot be calculated, errorvalue is returned.

• float rccreatereport (string title)

Generates a report and returns the access variable.

- rcreportaddvaluebuffer (int report, int valuebuffer, string title)
- rcshowreport (int rcchart, int report)

Represents a report.

- rcchart: here the global access variable rcchart must be handed over.
- report: the access variable of the report that is shown.
- **int accgetvaluebuffer (int accessobject)** Returns the access variable of a value buffer for an access object.
 - **accessobject**: the access variable of the access object
- string accgetname (int accessobject) Returns the name of an access object.
 - accessobject: the access variable of the access object

Creating a User defined Evaluation

Г

7 Explanation of Terms: The Glossary



22 Glossary

runoff coefficient

(1) Ratio of runoff depth to precipitation depth

(2) Coefficient used in the rational method formula (dimensionless) (from IHP/OHP-Berichte, Heft 12 Koblenz 1998, International Glossary of Hydrology, Second Edition 1992, Version English/German, Deutsches Nationalkomitee für das Internationale Hydrologische Programm (IHP) der UNESCO und das Operationelle Hydrologische Programm (OHP) der WMO, ISSN 0177-9915).

Quotient of the height of the direct runoff (effective rainfall) and the precipitation height of the related precipitation event (definition according to DIN standard.)

power law function

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

The power law function is the n-point method (formerly 7-point method). The power law function is one of the possible methods used to develop rating curves.

power law in sections

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

extended power law

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

table (power law)

One of the methods to develop rating curves; equivalent to the English log-by-log type.

Here, a power law function $f(x)=a(x-c)^b$ is calculated between all descriptor points, with c being fixed for all areas and a and b being calculated by means of the descriptor points.

table (linear)

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

table (spline)

Table linear connects the descriptor points through straight lines.

table (spline)

One of the methods used to develop rating curves. Table spline connects the descriptor points through cubic splines.

free formula

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

V notch weir

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

rectangular weir

One of the methods used to develop rating curves.

depth of runoff

Runoff volume from a drainage basin, divided by its area, in a specified time.

rating curve

Curve showing the relation between stage and discharge of a stream at a hydrometric station. If digitized, it is a rating table.

specific discharge

The specific discharge is the discharge referring to one square kilometre of the catchment area; usually, the specific discharge along a river is a typical one and with the catchment area becoming bigger, it is more and more reduced. Since the plausibility of the runoff value can be checked better by the relation of runoff and catchment area, one can switch between the value columns in the graphical display of measured data. However, this is possible only, if there are several value columns in the measured value tables.

arithmetic mean

Sum of a set of values $x_1, x_2, ..., x_n$ divided by their number *n*.

compensating reservoir

Secondary reservoir reducing discharge fluctuations due to peak-load operation of the principal reservoir.

autocorrelation

Internal correlation between members of a series of observations ordered in time or space.

autocorrelation coefficient

Measure of the autocorrelation between pairs of a series given by their covariance divided by the variance of the series.

automatic station

Station at which instruments make and either transmit or record observations automatically, the conversion to code form, if required, being made either directly or at an editing station.

bar

Bank of sediment, e.g. sand or gravel, deposited on a stream bed or at its mouth, which obstructs flow or navigation.

base width of a flood hydrograph

Time interval between the beginning and the end of the direct runoff produced by a storm.

vigil basins

Series of small (up to 25 km²) observational areas, mainly for long-term monitoring of hydrological, geomorphological and related characteristics.

datum level

Horizontal surface used as a reference to which elevations are related.

data exchange number

The data exchange number (DE number) serves to identify time series for the data exchange. This number ensures that the data of a time series is written into a time series of the same name or the same station. The DE number allows a unique identification, if e.g. numbers of transducers or stations are not unique.

The DE number is used by the application Service Provider (e.g. WSP) for data exports and partly also for imports.

database

Comprehensive set of related data files for a specific application, usually on a direct access storage device.

data collection system

Coordinated system for collecting observations from a hydrological network and the transmission of the observations to a data processing facility.

data processing

Handling of observational data until they are in a form ready to be used for a specific purpose.

duration curve

Graph representing the time during which the value of a given parameter, e.g. stage, is equalled or exceeded, regardless of continuity in time.

flow

Volume of water flowing through a river (or channel) cross-section in unit time.

ebb

Falling tide.

real-time processing

Concurrent processing of data upon their reception.

calibration tank

Tank containing still water through which a current meter is moved at a known velocity for calibrating the meter.

catchment

Drainage area of a flowing water or lake.

abstraction

Removal of water from any source, either permanently or temporarily.

extreme value series

Hydrological series which includes the largest or smallest values, with each value selected from an equal time interval in the record.

cross-section of a stream

Section of a stream at right angles to the main (average) direction of flow.

hydrograph

Graph showing the variation in time of some hydrological data such as stage, discharge, velocity, sediment load etc.

area precipitation

Precipitation in a specific area expressed as the average depth of liquid water over this area.

ground level (GOK)

Height of the natural area at the measuring station, the (measured) area at the groundwater sounding pipe where the surface of land meets the sounding pipe. For example, to find out whether plant roots do still reach the groundwater (GW), the distance between GW and surface of the ground, the so-called depth of groundwater level, is of interest. With the depth to groundwater level measured, this is "depth to groundwater level + MPH - GOK", with the stage measured (GOK - MPH + stage), i.e. in terms of figures, exactly the other way round.

Please see also the glossary entries gauge datum (SGZ), top edge of pipe (ROK) and measuring point height (MPH).

groundwater

Subsurface water occupying the saturated zone.

main station

Hydrological station, established in any country or natural area to collect consecutive series of hydrological observations that are relatively uninfluenced by previous or future artificial changes.

table of primary values

Tabular list of primary values.

historical data

Hydrological and meteorological data of events which occurred in the past.

flood

1. Rise, usually brief, in the water level in a stream to a peak from which the water level recedes at a slower rate.

2. Relatively high flow as measured by stage height or discharge.

3. Rising tide.

flood crest

Highest (peak) elevation of the water level during a flood.

altitude

Vertical distance of a level, a point or an object considered as a point, measured e.g. from mean sea level.

enveloping curve

Smooth curve which represents the boundary within which all or most of the known data points are contained.

hydrological year

Continuous 12-month period selected in such a way that overall changes in storage are minimal so that carry-over is reduced to a minimum.

annual runoff

Total volume of water that flows during a year, usually referring to the outflow of a catchment area or river basin.

annual flood

1. Highest peak discharge in a water year.

2. Flood which has been equalled or exceeded n times in n years on average.

turn of the tide

Change from flood current to ebb current and vice versa.

climate

Synthesis of weather conditions in a given area, characterized by longterm statistics (mean values, variances, probabilities of extreme values, etc.) of the meteorological elements in that area.

covariance

First product moment of two variates about their mean values.

correlation

Interdependence or relationship between two measurable variates.

correlation coefficient

Measure of the interdependence between two variates. The productmoment correlation coefficient is the covariance of the variates divided by the product of their standard deviations.

Glossary

cross-correlation

cross-correlation

Interdependence or relationship between two stochastic processes.

long term values

Long term values are a summary of primary values beyond the year level (e.g. decade). Primary values are summarized here on daily, monthly, half-yearly and yearly level.

The long term values can be collected for all station types and parameters manually and can also be calculated from the base time series or the primary values respectively; for this purpose, they are firmly assigned to the special parameter.

The long term values are calculated without error only if you enter here 100 %. All other minimal cover settings allow inaccuracies in evaluation!

humidity

Water-vapour content of the air.

current meter

Instrument for measuring the velocity of water at a point. Traditionally the term refers to instruments with cups or propellers.

data collection platform

Automatic station with a radio transmitter to provide contact via a satellite with a reception station.

measuring point height (MPH)

Height to which measured values are referred to (e.g. depth to groundwater level measured downwards by a vertical, stage measured upwards by a pressure sensor); sometimes identical with the top edge of pipe (ROK).

MPH and GOK are of use in **WISKI** from the hydrological view (for example display of the GOK in the graph or display of the GW absolute height (MPH – depth to groundwater level or MPH+stage) in the graph or export of the depth of groundwater level to the SURFER to create a groundwater chart).

MPH are maintained in **WISKI** in the position data of a GW station with history. They can be overwritten in the height data of the GW parameter. If a GW parameter is added to another station type, the GOK can be maintained only in the parameter details.



Fig. 330 Connection between measuring point height, ground level and top edge of pipe

low water

State of the tide when the water level is lowest for any given tide (tidal) cycle.

parameter

Coefficient in some hydrological model, formula or other relationship which may be adjusted to apply the general model, etc. to particular cases. For example fitting a rainfall-runoff model to a particular catchment will involve determining parameter values appropriate to that catchment.

gauge datum (SGZ)

Elevation at which a water level gauge zero is set. Please see also the glossary entry measuring point height (MPH).

Glossary gauge height

gauge height

Height of water surface above a gauge datum. It is used interchangeably with the terms stage and water level.

gauging site

Location on a stream where measurements of water level and discharge are regularly made.

position cursor

Selection of a particular time series value on the curve in a time series graph when synchronising graph and table.

top edge of pipe (ROK)

In addition to the gauge datum (SGZ) and ground level (GOK) the top edge of pipe – the top edge of the installed groundwater sounding pipe (sometimes identical with the measuring point height (MPH)) – is the third value that is saved at usual GW wells. From hydrological view, it does not yield much information, but often serves as auxiliary point when measuring the well in the field. First of all, the top edge of pipe is measured by the levelling instrument instead of the ground level. Afterwards, the distance between top edge of pipe and ground level is measured by a meter rule. This is the easier way from the technical view. Furthermore, measuring point heights are often determined relatively to the top edge of pipe, since measurement is carried out with standardized extensions or baffles. That means that the measuring point height is calculated as follows: ROK + n cm of the extension or ROK - n cm of the baffles.

The top edge of pipe can be entered as text only for stations of type **groundwater**. Hence, it cannot be collected for other station types.

float

Any natural or man-made body which is supported and partly or fully immersed in water, its vertical motion indicating the changes in water level or its horizontal movement indicating the velocity of water at the surface or at various depths.

Glossary bed profile

bed profile

Shape of a stream bed in a vertical plane; it may be longitudinal or transversal.

heavy fall of rain

Rain of a high precipitation rate, compared with its duration, and thus occurring rarely, e.g. max. twice a year on average.

backwater curve

Longitudinal profile of the water surface upstream in a stream where the water surface is raised by a natural or artificial obstruction.

mass curve

Curve of an accumulated quantity versus time.

tide

Periodic rise and fall of water in the seas or in large lakes due to the gravitational attraction of the moon and the sun.

tidal range

Difference in height between high tide and a consecutive low tide.

storage gauge

Storage gauges are precipitation meters which collect the precipitation over more than one day since a daily reading is not possible. When evaluating this storage gauge measurements, monthly sums of the precipitation are determined.

tracer

Easily detectable material which may be added in small quantities to flowing surface water or groundwater to depict the path lines or to serve in the measurement of characteristics of flow, e.g. velocity, transit times, age, dilution, etc.

Glossary

transition

transition

The idea of transition curves is to interpolate the flow calculated from two rating curves. One valid before the transition period (e.g. RC1), one after (e.g. RC2).

For interpolation a weighted mean of the both flows Q1(t) =f(S(t), RC1) and Q2=f(S(t), RC2) is used

Q(t) = a(t) * Q1(t) + (1-a(t)) * Q2(t)

The weight a(t) is estimated for a transition period from a start time t_s to an end time t_e with a linear weighting formula

 $a(t) = (t_e - t) / / (t_e - t_s)$

For $t = t_s$ the weight a will be 1. This means only RC1 is used. For $t = t_e$ the weight a will be 0. This means only RC2 is used. In the middle of the transition period the weight will be 0.5. This means, that both rating curves are used with the same weight.

The effect of this transition will be a smooth change of flows during the transition period for more or less constant water stage.

For your hydrological information system (like **WISKI**) it doesn't matter how long such a period lasts. This depends on the hydraulic conditions. In case of for example very slow sedimentation processes, the transition can be active for weeks or month. Otherwise if there are wash out effects during a flood, the transition can be active for some minutes or hours.

bank

Rising land bordering a river, margin of a channel at the left-hand (right-hand) side when facing downstream.

stage

Vertical distance of the water surface of a stream, lake, reservoir (or groundwater observation well) relative to a gauge datum.

active basin area

Basin area excluding undrained parts.

time series

Set of observations, in order, taken at successive points of time, commonly at a fixed interval.

Glossary

Γ

Γ

time series

I

Index A

Index

A

Active version 94, 101, 103 Ameas 89, 238 Analysis of fit 15, 227 Area 89, 238 Artificial data points 35 display (with/without time stamp) 34 Assign measuring points to a rating curve 222 Automatic format recognition 52 Axis representation 255 Axis settings 120

B

Balancing module 227 Base time series 89 BIBER 25, 26 Boyer method 21, 29 Break points 260

C

Calendar to specify the time range 88, 124, 125, 213, 401 Caption plots 167, 256 Confidence intervals 243 Consider the profile area 205 Context menus 32 Control bar 262 Coordinate system 23 Copy a rating curve 104 Copy a rating curve version 104 Copy rating curve 104 Copy rating curve version 104 Copy the function into the formula 193 Copy version 104 Correlation coefficient 155, 230

ſ

Index D

Course of the plot261Create cumulative deviation graphs232Create derivation graphs15, 22, 30, 227, 229Create deviation plots15, 22, 30, 86, 227, 230Cross section profiles203

D

Delete rating curves 103 Deletion of rating curves 103 Delta S time series 459 Derivations 229 Descriptor points 20, 43, 137, 171, 193, 195, 263, 472 Deviation according to Nobilis 209 **Deviation** graphs 230 Deviations 26 31 Dialogs Discharge 23 23 Discharge measurements Display artificial data points with date and time stamp 34 Display gaugings with date and time stamp 34 Distort 265 Double logarithmic view 130 dS time series 459

E

Envelope curve 25, 94, 202 FTA fixed 212 Eta method 18, 21, 24, 26 FTA time series 64 Evaluation Create cumulative deviation graphs 232 Create deviation plots 230 **Evaluations** Confidence intervals 243 Standard error (x times) 15, 243 evaluations 477

Index

F

Extended power law 137 Extended power law method 43 Extrapolation 15 Extrapolation according to Manning-Strickler 399 Extrapolation point 19, 152, 165

F

Fix axes 121 Flip 265 Flow 431 flow 425, 426 Force a zero crossing 43, 191, 192 Formula in sections 43, 137, 193, 194, 379 Free formula 43, 137, 193

G

Gap beginning 260 Gap end 260 Gauge datum 23, 493 Gauge Wizard 69 Gauging time series 139, 253 Gaugings 59, 60 General editing 30 Geo history 92 GOK 489 Graph Insert a bitmap file 276 Insert graphical elements 267 Print 128 Set units 258 Use cross hairs 259 Ground level 489

H

Height system 92 Historical data 60

Т

History 92 HTML document 220 Hysteresis 21 hysteresis 425, 429, 431

Γ

Impoundage value curve24Impoundage value method24Insert a bitmap file276Insert user defined graphical elements267Interpolated descriptor points472

L

Least square method of the logarithmic values 43, 191, 192 Legend display 256 Save position 258 List view 59 Local extremes 260 Long term values 492

Μ

Main menu 28 Manning-Strickler 209, 400 Extrapolation 399 Mean depth 89 Mean values (long term) 492 Measuring point height 492 Modifying values 24 MPH 492

N

Normal values 492

0

Optimisation of break points 155, 169

Index

Ρ

Origin Rating curves enhanced 441 Single curve 64 459 Origin Delta SQ Origin Extended rating curve calculation 409 Origin Rating curve 409 Origin Rating curve enhanced 63, 246 Origin Rating curves enhanced 63, 66, 246 **Origin Recalibration** 459 Origin Stage correction 460, 462 Origin Unknown 442

P

Perspectives 31, 95 Plot display Show caption 167, 256 Specify symbols 167, 256 Plot ranges 253 Plot style 167, 256 Pmeas 89 Power law function 20, 43, 137, 193 Power law in sections 20, 33, 43, 137, 193 Print Graphs/tables 128 Product curve 206 Profile area 399 Profile coefficient 206 Profile value 89, 209, 400

Q

Q calibration 459 Q related correction 459 Qmeas 89, 238

R

Range of rating curve fluctuation 26

Rating curve 96 Assign measuring points 222 Envelope curve 94, 202 Status 91, 96, 336 Version 96 Rating curve comparison 15, 227, 239 Rating curve for a fixed ETA 212 Rating curve origin 246, 409 Rating curve relation 22 Rating curve wizard 85 Rating curves enhanced 66, 441 Rating curves. 23 459 Recalibration Rectangular weir 44, 137 Regression Copy the function into the formula 193 **Regression analysis** 15 Relation 23 477 reports Representation of legend 257 Reversal 195 Rinsum 209 ROK 494 Runoff coefficient 18, 21, 24, 26, 64

S

Г

Save the legend position 258 Scatter plot 23 Scroll bar 261 Search function 260 Select 263 Set failure as status between two rating curves 108.109 Set start date of a validity between two rating curves 108, 109 Set transition as status between two rating curves 108, 109 Set units 258 SGZ 493 SGZ History 92 Shift 264
Index

T

Show discharge measurements 238 89, 238 Ameas Mean depth 89 Pmeas 89 Qmeas 89 Vmeas 89, 128, 238 Show gaugings 238 Single curve 23 Specify rating curve type 42, 94, 96, 102, 174, 177, 179, 191, 195, 197, 198, 199, 451 Specify symbols 167, 256 Specify time range 88, 124, 125, 213, 401 Specify validities for rating curves 107 Specify validities in the rating curve management 108 Set status 109 SQ graph 23 SQ relation 23 Stage correction 462 Stage-discharge table 23 Stage-fall method 21, 435 Standard error (x times) 15, 243 Statistical evaluations 220 Status of a rating curve 91, 96, 336 Statuses 99 Student-t-Test 245 Surface run-off 23 Synchronisation of graph and table 281 Graph Synchronise 494 Synchronise 128

T

Table
Print128Table with linear interpolation43, 137, 171, 174, 175Table with power law function (log-log)43, 137, 171, 174, 175Table with spline interpolation43, 137, 171, 174, 175Time dependent hysteresis21Time ranges124

ſ

Index

U

time-related 425, 426 Toolbars 29 Top edge of pipe (ROK) 494 Tree view 59

U

Г

unknown origin 442 Use cross hairs 259 Search function 260 User administration 33

V

V notch weir 43, 137 v(S) representation 205 Version 96 Versions 101 Vmeas 89, 128, 238

W

Water stage 23 Web browser 220 Weed growth 24 Window area 27 Wizard for curve validities 110

X

x-axis values 23

Y

y-axis values 23

Z

Zoom 261 Zoom rectangle 261